Public Document Pack

Agenda
Planning Committee
Date:

Wednesday, 6 January 2021

Time:

10.00 am

Venue:

Virtual Meetings

To:

Councillors J Richards (Chair), J Guy (Deputy Chair), J Clarke, T Holyoake, G Berry,
T Watkins, R White, V Dudley, J Jordan, C Townsend and C Ferris

Item

Wards Affected

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Minutes of the meeting held on 2 December 2020 (Pages 3 - 6)

4.

Development Management: Planning Application Schedule (Pages 7
- 194)

5.

Appeal Decisions (Pages 195 - 200)

6.

To view the live meeting, please click link below
Live meeting

Contact: Neil Barnett, Governance Officer
Tel: 01633 656656
E-mail: democratic.services@newport.gov.uk
Date of Issue: Wednesday, 30 December 2020
This document is available in welsh / Mae’s ffurflen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

This page is intentionally left blank

Public Document Pack

Agenda Item 3.

Minutes
Planning Committee
Date:

2 December 2020

Time:

10.00 am

Present:

Councillors J Richards (Chair), J Guy (Deputy Chair), T Holyoake, G Berry,
T Watkins, R White, V Dudley, J Jordan, C Townsend and C Ferris

In Attendance:

Tracey Brooks (Head of Regeneration, Investment and Housing), Matthew Sharp
(Acting Development Services Manager), Joanne Davidson (East Area
Development Manager), Joanne Evans (Senior Solicitor), Michelle Aspey
(Housing Strategy Manager) and Gail Parkhouse (Senior Planning Officer Neil
Barnett (Governance Officer)

Apologies:

Councillors J Clarke

1.

Declarations of Interest
Councillor Deborah Davies declared a personal and prejudicial interest in application
20/0739.

2.

Minutes of the meeting held on 4 November 2020
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 November 2020 were submitted.
Resolved
That the minutes of the meeting held on 4 November 2020 be taken as read and confirmed.

3.

Development Management: Planning Application Schedule
(1) That decisions be recorded as shown on the Planning Applications Schedule attached as
an Appendix A
(2) That the Development Services Manager be authorised to draft any amendments
to/additional conditions or reasons for refusal in respect of the Planning Applications
Schedule, attached.

4.

Appeal Decisions
Members’ attention was drawn to the appeals report, for information.

The meeting terminated at 12.27 pm

Page
3 ffurflen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg
This document is available in welsh
/ Mae’s

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4

Appendix A
PLANNING COMMITTEE – 02 12 2020
DECISION SCHEDULE
No

Site/Proposal

Ward

Additional Comments

Decision

20/0696

Site: Ye Olde Oak Stave, Ruskin Avenue, Rogerstone,
Newport

Rogerstone

This item is being
presented to Committee
as it is a major planning
application

Deferred to allow further time to
consider whether the planning
contributions should be varied.

Stow Hill

This item is being
presented to Committee
as Council owned land

Granted with conditions and subject to
a Section 106 legal agreement

Proposal: Demolition of existing public house and
construction of 21no. flats within 3no. blocks and
associated infrastructure works
Recommendation: Granted with conditions with legal
agreement
20/0734
(FULL)

Site: Newport Provisions Market, High Street, Newport

Page 5
3

Proposal: Refurbishment of Newport Market to comprise
market stalls, food and drink court and flexible workspace
and reconfiguration of existing building to accommodate
residential flats and leisure uses, servicing arrangements
and associated works

Mr Simon Baston – Agent,
spoke in support of the
application.

Recommendation: Granted with conditions with S106
agreement
Site: Newport Provisions Market, High Street, Newport
Proposal: Refurbishment of Newport Market to comprise
market stalls, food and drink court and flexible workspace
and reconfiguration of existing building to accommodate
residential flats and leisure uses, servicing arrangements
and associated works
.
Recommendation: Granted with conditions subject to
CADW

Stow Hill

This item is being
presented to Committee
as Council owned land
Mr Simon Baston – Agent,
spoke in support of the
application.

Granted with conditions subject to
CADW.
The committee indicated that
condition 14 for works to the stain
glass window would need to be
determined via committee approval.

Minute Item 3.

20/0735
(LISTED
BUILDING)

20/0739

Site: 38 Brynderwen Road
Proposal: Change of use of 5 no. bedroom dwelling to 4
no. studio flats and 1 no. one bedroom flat
Recommendation: Granted with conditions

Victoria

Presented to Committee
as Councillor Deb Davies
is a neighbor consultee.
Cllr Deb Davies –
Resident, had to leave the
meeting on Council
business so the Chairman
read a statement on her
behalf
Cllr Majid Rahman – Ward
Member, spoke against
the application.

Granted with conditions.

Page 6
4

Agenda Item 4.

Report
Planning Committee – Virtual Meeting
Part 1
Date:

6th January 2021

Subject

Planning Application Schedule

Purpose

To take decisions on items presented on the attached schedule

Author

Acting Head of Regeneration, Investment and Housing

Ward

As indicated on the schedule

Summary The Planning Committee has delegated powers to take decisions in relation to
planning applications. The reports contained in this schedule assess the proposed
development against relevant planning policy and other material planning
considerations, and take into consideration all consultation responses received.
Each report concludes with an Officer recommendation to the Planning Committee
on whether or not Officers consider planning permission should be granted (with
suggested planning conditions where applicable), or refused (with suggested reasons
for refusal).
The purpose of the attached reports and associated Officer presentation to the
Committee is to allow the Planning Committee to make a decision on each application
in the attached schedule having weighed up the various material planning
considerations.
The decisions made are expected to benefit the City and its communities by allowing
good quality development in the right locations and resisting inappropriate or poor
quality development in the wrong locations.

Proposal

1. To resolve decisions as shown on the attached schedule.
2. To authorise the Development and Regeneration Manager to draft any
amendments to, additional conditions or reasons for refusal in respect of the
Planning Applications Schedule attached

Action by Planning Committee
Timetable Immediate
This report was prepared after consultation with:




Local Residents
Members
Statutory Consultees

The Officer recommendations detailed in this report are made following consultation as set out in
the Council’s approved policy on planning consultation and in accordance with legal requirements

Page 7

Background
The reports contained in this schedule assess the proposed development against relevant planning
policy and other material planning considerations, and take into consideration all consultation
responses received. Each report concludes with an Officer recommendation to the Planning
Committee on whether or not Officers consider planning permission should be granted (with
suggested planning conditions where applicable), or refused (with suggested reasons for refusal).
The purpose of the attached reports and associated Officer presentation to the Committee is to allow
the Planning Committee to make a decision on each application in the attached schedule having
weighed up the various material planning considerations.
The decisions made are expected to benefit the City and its communities by allowing good quality
development in the right locations and resisting inappropriate or poor quality development in the
wrong locations.
Applications can be granted subject to planning conditions. Conditions must meet all of the following
criteria:
 Necessary;
 Relevant to planning legislation (i.e. a planning consideration);
 Relevant to the proposed development in question;
 Precise;
 Enforceable; and
 Reasonable in all other respects.
Applications can be granted subject to a legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). This secures planning obligations to offset the impacts of the
proposed development. However, in order for these planning obligations to be lawful, they must
meet all of the following criteria:
 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
 Directly related to the development; and
 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.
The applicant has a statutory right of appeal against the refusal of permission in most cases, or
against the imposition of planning conditions. There is no third party right of appeal against a
decision.
Work is carried out by existing staff and there are no staffing issues. It is sometimes necessary to
employ a Barrister to act on the Council’s behalf in defending decisions at planning appeals. This
cost is met by existing budgets. Where the Planning Committee refuses an application against
Officer advice, Members will be required to assist in defending their decision at appeal.
Where applicable as planning considerations, specific issues relating to sustainability and
environmental issues, well-being of future generations, equalities impact and crime prevention
impact of each proposed development are addressed in the relevant report in the attached
schedule.
Financial Summary
The cost of determining planning applications and defending decisions at any subsequent appeal is
met by existing budgets and partially offset by statutory planning application fees. Costs can be
awarded against the Council at an appeal if the Council has acted unreasonably and/or cannot
defend its decisions. Similarly, costs can be awarded in the Council’s favour if an appellant has
acted unreasonably and/or cannot substantiate their grounds of appeal.

Page 8

Risks
Three main risks are identified in relating to the determination of planning applications by Planning
Committee: decisions being overturned at appeal; appeals being lodged for failing to determine
applications within the statutory time period; and judicial review.
An appeal can be lodged by the applicant if permission is refused or if conditions are imposed. Costs
can be awarded against the Council if decisions cannot be defended as reasonable, or if it behaves
unreasonably during the appeal process, for example by not submitting required documents within
required timescales. Conversely, costs can be awarded in the Council’s favour if the appellant
cannot defend their argument or behaves unreasonably.
An appeal can also be lodged by the applicant if the application is not determined within the statutory
time period. However, with the type of major development being presented to the Planning
Committee, which often requires a Section 106 agreement, it is unlikely that the application will be
determined within the statutory time period. Appeals against non-determination are rare due to the
further delay in receiving an appeal decision: it is generally quicker for applicants to wait for the
Planning Authority to determine the application. Costs could only be awarded against the Council if
it is found to have acted unreasonably. Determination of an application would only be delayed for
good reason, such as resolving an objection or negotiating improvements or Section 106
contributions, and so the risk of a costs award is low.
A decision can be challenged in the Courts via a judicial review where an interested party is
dissatisfied with the way the planning system has worked or how a Council has made a planning
decision. A judicial review can be lodged if a decision has been made without taking into account a
relevant planning consideration, if a decision is made taking into account an irrelevant consideration,
or if the decision is irrational or perverse. If the Council loses the judicial review, it is at risk of having
to pay the claimant’s full costs in bringing the challenge, in addition to the Council’s own costs in
defending its decision. In the event of a successful challenge, the planning permission would
normally be quashed and remitted back to the Council for reconsideration. If the Council wins, its
costs would normally be met by the claimant who brought the unsuccessful challenge. Defending
judicial reviews involves considerable officer time, legal advice, and instructing a barrister, and is a
very expensive process. In addition to the financial implications, the Council’s reputation may be
harmed.
Mitigation measures to reduce risk are detailed in the table below. The probability of these risks
occurring is considered to be low due to the mitigation measures, however the costs associated
with a public inquiry and judicial review can be high.

Page 9

Risk

Decisions
challenged at
appeal and
costs awarded
against the
Council.

Impact of
risk if it
occurs*
(H/M/L)
M

Appeal lodged
against nondetermination,
with costs
awarded
against the
Council

M

Judicial review
successful
with costs
awarded
against the
Council

H

Probability
of risk
occurring
(H/M/L)
L

L

What is the Council doing or
what has it done to avoid the
risk or reduce its effect?
Ensure reasons for refusal can
be defended at appeal.

Who is
responsible
for dealing
with the risk?
Planning
Committee

Ensure planning conditions
imposed meet the tests set out
in Circular 016/2014.

Planning
Committee

Provide guidance to Planning
Committee regarding relevant
material planning
considerations, conditions and
reasons for refusal.

Development
and
Regeneration
Manager and
Senior Legal
Officer

Ensure appeal timetables are
adhered to.

Development
and
Regeneration
Manager

Avoid delaying the
determination of applications
unreasonably.

Planning
Committee
Development
and
Regeneration
Manager

L

Ensure sound and rational
decisions are made.

Planning
Committee
Development
and
Regeneration
Manager

* Taking account of proposed mitigation measures
Links to Council Policies and Priorities
The Council’s Corporate Plan 2017-2022 identifies four themes, including the aim to be a Thriving
City. In order to achieve this, the Council is committed to improving:
 jobs and the economy
 education and skills
 fairness and equality
 community safety and cohesion
 the environment, transport, culture and social well-being
Through development management decisions, good quality development is encouraged and the
wrong development in the wrong places is resisted. Planning decisions can therefore contribute
directly and indirectly to these priority outcomes by helping to deliver sustainable communities and
affordable housing; allowing adaptations to allow people to remain in their homes; improving energy
efficiency standards; securing appropriate Planning Contributions to offset the demands of new
development to enable the expansion and improvement
Page 10 of our schools and leisure facilities; enabling

economic recovery, tourism and job creation; tackling dangerous structures and unsightly land and
buildings; bringing empty properties back into use; and ensuring high quality ‘place-making’.
The Corporate Plan contains the Council’s Well-being Statement and well-being objectives, which
contribute to the achievement of the national well-being goals. The Corporate Plan also links to
other strategies and plans, the main ones being:
 Improvement Plan 2016-2018;
 Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (Adopted January 2015);
Under Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 all planning applications
must be determined in accordance with the Newport Local Development Plan (Adopted January
2015) unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Planning decisions are therefore based
primarily on this core Council policy.
Options Available and considered
1) To determine the application in accordance with the Officer recommendation (with
amendments to or additional conditions or reasons for refusal if appropriate);
2) To grant or refuse planning permission against Officer recommendation (in which case the
Planning Committee’s reasons for its decision must be clearly minuted);
3) To decide to carry out a site visit, either by the Site Inspection Sub-Committee or by full
Planning Committee (in which case the reason for the site visit must be minuted).
Preferred Option and Why
To determine the application in accordance with the Officer recommendation (with amendments to
or additional conditions or reasons for refusal if appropriate).

Comments of Chief Financial Officer
In the normal course of events, there should be no specific financial implications arising from the
determination of planning applications.
There is always a risk of a planning decision being challenged at appeal. This is especially the case
where the Committee makes a decision contrary to the advice of Planning Officers or where in
making its decision, the Committee takes into account matters which are not relevant planning
considerations. These costs can be very considerable, especially where the planning application
concerned is large or complex or the appeal process is likely to be protracted.
Members of the Planning Committee should be mindful that the costs of defending appeals and any
award of costs against the Council following a successful appeal must be met by the taxpayers of
Newport.
There is no provision in the Council's budget for such costs and as such, compensating savings in
services would be required to offset any such costs that were incurred as a result of a successful
appeal.

Comments of Monitoring Officer
Planning Committee are required to have regard to the Officer advice and recommendations set out
in the Application Schedule, the relevant planning policy context and all other material planning
considerations. If Members are minded not to accept the Officer recommendation, then they must
have sustainable planning reasons for their decisions.

Comments of Head of People and Business Change
Within each report the sustainable development principle (long term, prevention, integration
collaboration and involvement) of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act has been fully
considered.
From an HR perspective there are no staffing issues to consider.

Page 11

Comments of Cabinet Member
The Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Housing has been made aware of the report.

Local issues
Ward Members were notified of planning applications in accordance with the Council’s adopted
policy on planning consultation. Any comments made regarding a specific planning application are
recorded in the report in the attached schedule

Scrutiny Committees
None

Equalities Impact Assessment and the Equalities Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 contains a Public Sector Equality Duty which came into force on 06 April
2011. The Act identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age; disability; gender
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation; marriage
and civil partnership. The new single duty aims to integrate consideration of equality and good
relations into the regular business of public authorities. Compliance with the duty is a legal
obligation and is intended to result in better informed decision-making and policy development and
services that are more effective for users. In exercising its functions, the Council must have due
regard to the need to: eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other
conduct that is prohibited by the Act; advance equality of opportunity between persons who share
a protected characteristic and those who do not; and foster good relations between persons who
share a protected characteristic and those who do not. The Act is not overly prescriptive about the
approach a public authority should take to ensure due regard, although it does set out that due
regard to advancing equality involves: removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people
due to their protected characteristics; taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected
groups where these differ from the need of other people; and encouraging people from protected
groups to participate in public life or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately
low.

Children and Families (Wales) Measure
Although no targeted consultation takes place specifically aimed at children and young people,
consultation on planning applications and appeals is open to all of our citizens regardless of their
age. Depending on the scale of the proposed development, applications are publicised via letters
to neighbouring occupiers, site notices, press notices and/or social media. People replying to
consultations are not required to provide their age or any other personal data, and therefore this
data is not held or recorded in any way, and responses are not separated out by age.

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being and Future Generations (Wales) Act seeks to improve the social, economic
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. Public bodies should ensure that decisions take
into account the impact they could have on people living in Wales, in the future. The 5 main
considerations are:
Long term:

Decisions made by the Planning Committee balances the need to improve the
appearance of areas as well as meeting the needs of residents in order to make
places safe to live in and encourage investment and employment opportunities.
Planning decisions aim to build sustainable and cohesive communities.

Prevention:

Sound planning decisions remove the opportunity for anti-social behaviour and
encourages a greater sense of pride in the local area, thereby giving the City
potential to grow and become more sustainable.

Integration:

Through consultation with residents and statutory consultees, there is an
opportunity to contributes views and opinions on how communities grow and
develop, thereby promoting greater community involvement and integration.
Planning decisions aim to build integrated and cohesive communities.

Page 12

Collaboration:

Consultation with statutory consultees encourages decisions to be made which
align with other relevant well-being objectives.

Involvement:

Planning applications are subject to consultation and is regulated by legislation.
Consultation is targeted at residents and businesses directly affected by a
development, ward members and technical consultees. Engagement with the
planning process is encouraged in order to ensure that the views of key
stakeholders are taken into consideration.

Decisions made are in line with the Council’s well-being objectives published in March 2017.
Specifically, Objective 9 (Health and Well Being) of the adopted Newport Local Development Plan
(2011-2026) links to this duty with its requirement to provide an environment that is safe and
encourages healthy lifestyle choices and promotes well-being.

Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions
on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area. It is
considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a
result of the consultation of these guidance documents.

Consultation
Comments received from wider consultation, including comments from elected members, are
detailed in each application report in the attached schedule.

Background Papers
NATIONAL POLICY
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 10 (December 2018)
Development Management Manual 2016
‘Welsh National Marine Plan November 2019
PPW Technical Advice Notes (TAN):
TAN 1: Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (2015)
TAN 2: Planning and Affordable Housing (2006)
TAN 3: Simplified Planning Zones (1996)
TAN 4: Retailing and Commercial Development (2016)
TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
TAN 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010)
TAN 7: Outdoor Advertisement Control (1996)
TAN 8: Renewable Energy (2005)
TAN 10: Tree Preservation Orders (1997)
TAN 11: Noise (1997)
TAN 12: Design (2016)
TAN 13: Tourism (1997)
TAN 14: Coastal Planning (1998)
TAN 15: Development and Flood Risk (2004)
TAN 16: Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009)
TAN 18: Transport (2007)
TAN 19: Telecommunications (2002)
TAN 20: Planning and The Welsh Language (2017)
TAN 21: Waste (2014)
TAN 23: Economic Development (2014)
TAN 24: The Historic Environment (2017)
Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN) Wales 1: Aggregates (30 March 2004)
Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN) Wales 2: Coal (20 January 2009)
Welsh Government Circular 016/2014 on planning conditions

Page 13

LOCAL POLICY
Newport Local Development Plan (LDP) 2011-2026 (Adopted January 2015)
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG):
Affordable Housing (adopted August 2015)
Archaeology & Archaeologically Sensitive Areas (adopted August 2015)
Flat Conversions (adopted August 2015) (updated January 2020)
House Extensions and Domestic Outbuildings (adopted August 2015) (updated January
2020)
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) (adopted August 2015) (updated January 2017)
New dwellings (adopted August 2015) (updated January 2020)
Parking Standards (adopted August 2015)
Planning Obligations (adopted August 2015) (updated January 2020)
Security Measures for Shop Fronts and Commercial Premises (adopted August 2015)
Wildlife and Development (adopted August 2015)
Mineral Safeguarding (adopted January 2017)
Outdoor Play Space (adopted January 2017)
Trees, Woodland, Hedgerows and Development Sites (adopted January 2017)
Air Quality (adopted February 2018)
Waste Storage and Collection (adopted January 2020
Sustainable Travel (adopted July 2020)

OTHER
“Newport City Council Retail Study by Nexus Planning (September 2019) “ is not adopted policy but
is a material consideration in making planning decisions.
’The Economic Growth Strategy (and associated Economic Growth Strategy Recovery Addendum)
is a material planning consideration’.
The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017 are
relevant to the recommendations made.
Other documents and plans relevant to specific planning applications are detailed at the end of
each application report in the attached schedule

Page 14

1.

APPLICATION DETAILS
No:

19/1212

Ward:

Caerleon

Type:

Full+Env Statement

Expiry Date:

6th May 2021

Applicant:

Emyr Davies

Site:

University Of Wales College Newport College Crescent
Caerleon Newport NP18 3NS

Proposal:

PARTIAL DEMOLITION, REFURBISHMENT AND CONVERSION
OF MAIN BUILDING TO 44 FLATS, CONVERSION OF TJ WEBLY
BUILDING TO 2NO. DWELLINGS, CONVERSION OF TY HYWEL
BUILDING TO 2NO. RESIDENTIAL UNITS (1 FLAT AND 1 HOUSE),
CONVERSION OF FELTHORPE TO 1NO. DWELLING,
DEMOLITION OF OTHER EXISTING BUILDINGS AND
CONSTRUCTION OF 170 NO. DWELLINGS, OPEN SPACE,
LANDSCAPING, ENGINEERING AND INFRASTRUCTURE WORKS
TO INCLUDE RETENTION OF LISTED GATE PIERS

Recommendation: GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS AND SUBJECT TO A S106
AGREEMENT WITH DELEGATED POWER TO REFUSE THE
APPLICATION IF THE S106 AGREEMENT IS NOT SIGNED WITHIN
4 MONTHS OF THE COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION TO GRANT
PLANNING PERMISSION
1.
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application has been submitted following the refusal of another redevelopment scheme
in 2018 on this site for traffic, air quality and amenity reasons. This application is different
for a number of reasons:









It is submitted in full by the future housebuilder Redrow (the previous application
was part full/part outline and submitted by the University of South Wales);
It is for 219 residential units (the previous application was for 310 residential units
and commercial use of 1600sqm of existing floorspace);
It has used a baseline for traffic and air quality assessment based upon a fallback
position agreed with officers (no fallback was previously agreed and baselines
were disputed by officers);
It has provided a phasing scheme that confirms the completion programme for
the conversion of the heritage assets (this was not confirmed previously);
it proposes to replace the former pitch with a formal kick about area and equipped
area of play (the former pitch was to be retained on the previous submission);
It includes electric charge points to all new build units and provision in visitor
spaces (not proposed previously);
The developer proposes that the access to site off College Crescent will be a
priority two way junction and initial phases will be accessed via this route by
residential traffic with all construction traffic using Lodge Road access;
Construction traffic will be routed via College Glade and neighbouring streets to
avoid the AQMA.

Some of the above differences contribute directly to changes in officer assessment of air
quality and highway effects specifically,
Pagethese
15 being the primary issues on the last

application. As the application has been provided in full, officers are able to assess the
details of layout and design having regard to placemaking and both national and local
planning policy. Many aspects of the scheme have been subject to pre application discussion
and ongoing dialogue with the applicant. There are many material matters to be considered
in this assessment and it is noted that the scheme attracts significant local interest and
concern.
2.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY
17/0781 HYBRID APPLICATION SEEKING FULL PERMISSION FOR PARTIAL
DEMOLITION, REFURBISHMENT AND CONVERSION OF MAIN BUILDING TO 42NO.
FLATS, CONVERSION OF TJ WEBLY BUILDING TO 2NO. DWELLINGS, CONVERSION
OF TY HYWEL BUILDING TO 2NO. DWELLINGS (1NO. FLAT AND 1NO. HOUSE),
CONVERSION OF FELTHORPE HOUSE TO 1NO. DWELLING, AND EXPANDED USE OF
KEGIE BUILDING TO INCLUDE B1A (OFFICE); AND OUTLINE PERMISSION FOR
DEMOLITION OF OTHER EXISTING BUILDINGS AND CONSTRUCTION OF UP TO 263
NO. DWELLINGS, 2,400SQM OF FLEXIBLE B1A/D1 NON RESIDENTIAL INSTITUTION
FLOORSPACE (KEGIE BUILDING PHASE II), CHANGING ROOM FACILITY,
ALTERATIONS OF ACCESSES OFF LODGE ROAD AND COLLEGE CRESCENT,
RETENTION OF EXISTING RUGBY PITCH AND COLLEGE ROAD GATE PIERS, AND
PROPOSED OPEN SPACE, LANDSCAPING, ENGINEERING AND INFRASTRUCTURE
WORKS WITH ACCESS TO BE CONSIDERED AND ALL OTHER MATTERS RESERVED
– refused for the following reason:
The proposal will have a significant adverse effect upon interests of acknowledged
importance, namely highway safety, the free flow of traffic, residential amenity and human
health by reason of an increase in traffic generation, lack of highway capacity at Station Road
and New Road/ High Street/Caerleon Road with associated increases in congestion, and an
adverse impact upon air quality in the Caerleon Air Quality Management Area. The
information provided does not migitate this objection and the proposal is contrary to policies
SP1, SP2, GP2, GP4 and GP7 of the adopted Newport Local Development Plan (2015).
17/0782
LISTED BUILDING CONSENT FOR THE PARTIAL DEMOLITION,
REFURBISHMENT AND CONVERSION OF A) MAIN BUILDING TO 42NO. FLATS, B) TJ
WEBLY BUILDING TO 2NO. DWELLINGS AND C) TY HYWEL BUILDING TO 2NO.
DWELLINGS (1NO. FLAT AND 1NO. HOUSE); DEMOLITION OF BUILDINGS ATTACHED
TO THE MAIN BUILDING, REMOVAL OF EXISTING GATES ON LISTED PIERS AND
CONSTRUCTION OF LEVEL PEDESTRIAN ACCESS BETWEEN RETAINED GATE PIERS
– Granted with conditions
19/0299 CHANGE OF USE FROM EDUCATIONAL FACILITY (D1) TO FILM STUDIO (B1)
FOR TEMPORARY PERIOD – granted with conditions.
20/0178 PRIOR NOTIFICATION OF PROPOSED DEMOLITION OF 8NO. RESIDENTIAL
BLOCKS AND 2NO. ANCILLARY LAUNDRY BLOCKS (PHASE 1 ONLY) – Prior approval
required and refused.
20/0683 PRIOR NOTIFICATION OF PROPOSED DEMOLITION OF 8NO. RESIDENTIAL
BLOCKS AND 2NO. ANCILLARY LAUNDRY BLOCKS (PHASE 1 ONLY) – prior approval
is not required.

3.
POLICY CONTEXT
3.1The following LDP allocations or policy definitions apply to the site:
The site is wholly within the defined settlement boundary.
The site is within the Archaeologically Sensitive Area.
The rugby pitch is allocated as an Environmental Space.
The tennis courts are not allocated within the LDP, but are identified as contributing to formal
play provision in the Caerleon ward in the Assessment of Outdoor Play Space.

Page
It is within the 40% Affordable Housing
sub 16
market area.

The site is considered to meet the definition of previously developed land set out in PPW.
However, as accepted in PPW, this does not mean the whole area of the curtilage is
appropriate for redevelopment. Where the footprint of a building only occupies a proportion
of a site of which the remainder is open land, amenity space or in recreational use, the whole
site should not normally be redeveloped.
There are a number of TPOs on the site.
Caerleon High Street Air Quality Management Area Planning Buffer Zone
Four buildings within the grounds of the campus were given Grade II listing during March
2017
o

87726 – Principal’s Residence of the University of South Wales, Caerleon Campus
(Ty Webley).

o

87727 – Caretaker’s/Gardener’s Lodge of the University of South Wales, Caerleon
Campus (Ty Hywel).

o

87728 – Gate Piers at the University of South Wales, Caerleon Campus/

o

87729 – Former Caerleon Teacher Training College Building (Main Building).

Local Planning Policy
Adopted Local Development Plan
The following LDP policies are considered to be relevant to the redevelopment of the Caerleon
Campus site:


SP1 – Sustainability



SP2 – Health



SP4 – Water Resources



SP9 – Conservation of the Natural, Historic and Built Environment



SP10 – House Building Requirement



SP12 – Community Facilities



SP13 – Planning Obligations



SP15 – Integrated Transport



SP18 – Urban Regeneration



GP1 – Climate Change



GP2 – General Amenity



GP3 – Service Infrastructure



GP4 – Highways and Accessibility



GP5 – Natural Environment



GP6 – Quality of Design



GP7 – Environmental Protection and Public Health



CE3 – Environmental Spaces and Corridors



CE6 – Archaeology



H2 – Housing Standards



H3 – Housing Mix and Density



H4 – Affordable Housing – 40% sub market area

Page 17



T4 – Parking



CF1 – Protection of Playing Fields, Land and Buildings Used for Leisure, Sport, Recreation
and Play



CF2 – Outdoor Play Space Requirements



CF12 – Protection of Existing Community Facilities



W3 – Provision of Waste Management Facilities in Development

Adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance
Planning Obligations SPG – August 2015
Affordable Housing SPG – August 2015
Archaeology and Archaeologically Sensitive Area SPG – August 2015
Wildlife and Development SPG – August 2015
Parking Standards SPG – August 2015
New Dwellings SPG – August 2015
Outdoor Play Space Provision – January 2017
Air Quality SPG – February 2018
Trees, Woodland, Hedgerows and Development Sites – January 2017
Sustainable Travel SPG
Waste Storage and Collection SPG
DEVELOPMENT CONSIDERATIONS
Principle of Development & Proposed Uses
SP1 – Sustainability
SP10 – House Building Requirement
SP12 – Community Facilities
SP17 – Employment Land
SP18 – Urban Regeneration
The application proposes a residential redevelopment of the former Caerleon Campus site. The mix
and type of uses proposed are considered appropriate in principle to the locality which is
predominantly residential in character. However, whilst the use type proposed are considered to be
compatible with the locality, the acceptability of the scale of the development and in particular the
traffic movements and air quality issues associated with this will require further consideration to
satisfy the relevant policies.
The site is previously developed land within the defined settlement boundary and its redevelopment
is therefore acceptable in principle subject to satisfying any development constraints associated with
the site. Note 1 of PPW’s definition of previously developed land is also considered to be of relevance
to the redevelopment of this brownfield site. Within the curtilage of the site there are wooded areas,
ornate gardens and formal play provision. The buildings and structures occupy only a proportion of
the site. The retention of these spaces as proposed in the outline masterplan is supported and
considered to be consistent with national guidance.

Page 18

The provision of 219 dwellings would contribute to the LDP’s housing requirement, specifically the
windfall allowance of the housing supply figures. The Council currently has an annual average
requirement to provide 690 units for LDP monitoring purposes.
Whilst the redevelopment of the site satisfies sustainability and urban regeneration issues relating
to use of land, it does however, raise other sustainability concerns such as highways and air quality.
These will need to be addressed for the proposals to fully satisfy policy SP1 – Sustainability.
Impact on Caerleon’s Highways Network


SP1 – Sustainability



SP15 – Integrated Transport



GP2 – General Amenity



GP4 – Highways and Accessibility



T4 – Parking & Parking Standards SPG

The impact on Caerleon’s highways network is a significant constraint with the proposed
redevelopment. The views of the Highways Section should be sought on the application and
supporting Transport Assessment and Travel Plan to ensure the requirements of transport related
policies are satisfied.

The proposal is also required to comply with the Council’s parking

requirements are set out in the Parking Standards SPG. The introduction of new pedestrian access
points to allow pedestrian and cycle access on all boundaries of the site is welcomed.
Impact on Caerleon’s High Street Air Quality Management Area


SP1 – Sustainability



GP2 – General Amenity



GP7 – Environmental Health and Public Protection

A section of Caerleon High Street has been declared as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).
The site is located within the Air Quality Management Area Planning Buffer as set out in the adopted
Air Quality SPG. This designation of an AQMA is done if levels of pollution are found to be above
government targets. A major contributor to the pollution was found to be road traffic. A key matter
is that of fall back and the SPG sets out in paragraph 4.5.10 that a fall-back position may be
considered but this must have the possibility to occur and be capable of carrying appropriate weight
in the decision making process. The views of Environmental Health and relevant statutory consultees
should be sought to ensure the relevant policy requirements are satisfied.
Quality of Design


GP6 – Quality of Design



H2 – Housing Standards



H3 – Housing Mix and Density

Policy GP6 – Quality of Design sets out key design principles the Council wishes to achieve in
development. The applicants need to ensure these principles are addressed in the proposed design
of the site, although it is acknowledged that the majority of the proposal is seeking outline permission.
Of particular relevance is criterion (i) requiring development to be sensitive to the unique qualities of
the site. A number of existing features of Caerleon
campus provide an opportunity to provide a
Page 19

unique environment and high quality housing development. In particular, the historic buildings and
associated ornamental gardens are a significant central feature of the site and their retention is
supported and is considered to contribute significantly to creating a high quality development.
Similarly, the mature trees on and bordering the site, provide an already established high quality
setting for future development. The proposed incorporation of many of these natural features into
the redevelopments design is welcomed.
The proposed mix of dwelling types and sizes is supported and will help meet a range of housing
needs. A density of at least 30 dwellings per hectare is required for the housing element of the
proposals. A density of 16 dwelling per hectare is achieved when calculated on a whole site basis.
However, when the developable area is used as a basis for calculation the density achieved is
approximately 25 dwelling per hectare. The figures are below the required 30dph requirement and
therefore the applicant will need to satisfy the policy requirements of policy H3.
Impact on Listed Buildings


SP9 – Conservation of the Natural, Historic and Built Environment

The application site includes 4 Grade II Listed Buildings. The retention and re-use of these is
therefore supported and is considered to enhance the overall environment of the development. A
Listed Building Consent (17/0781) was granted for the conversion of the main building and two
lodges. It is noted that the addition of two flats in what was proposed as a village hall in the previous
outline application will require a further listed building consent to be obtained.
Loss of the Sports Centre


SP12 – Community Facilities



CF1 – Protection of Playing Fields, Land and Buildings Used for Leisure, Sport, Recreation
and Play



CF12 – Protection of Existing Community Facilities

The application proposes the removal of the Sports Centre and associated tennis courts.

In

accordance with Policies CF1 and CF12 the removal of such facilities will be permitted where
alternative provision of the same benefit is provided or the land or building(s) is surplus to
requirements.
Rugby Pitch


CE3 – Environmental Spaces and Corridors



CF1 – Protection of Playing Fields, Land and Buildings Used for Leisure, Sport, Recreation
and Play

National and local policy protects the rugby pitch from development unless it can be demonstrated
that it is surplus to requirements, enhancements are made elsewhere on site or alternative provision
can be provided in the immediate locality. There is a deficit of formal play provision in Caerleon and
whilst redevelopment does not need to meet this deficit it should not make the situation worse.
The proposed residential development is also required to provide open space and play facilities in
accordance with policy CF2 – Outdoor Play Space Requirements. Given the existing deficit in the

Page
20 but related to the population generated as
locality this should be in addition to the existing
provision,

a result of the development. The methodology and standards of which are set out in the Outdoor
Play Space SPG.
The acceptability of the proposed approach should be discussed with the Planning Contributions
Manager as the rugby pitch is already included in the levels of provision for Caerleon prior to
development, for which a shortfall exists. Play provision to satisfy the demand generated by the new
resident population should be in addition to existing provision in the locality. Full play space
requirements, maintenance and management arrangements should be agreed with the Planning
Contributions Manager.
Natural Environment


SP1 – Sustainability



GP5 – Natural Environment

The mature trees bordering the south east boundary and the grouped trees known as the arboretum
on the northern boundary are an important natural feature of the site and there retention is supported.
There are also a number of TPOs located on site. Retention of these would greatly enhance the
design quality of the scheme and provide ecological benefits in terms of connectivity and habitats.
The requirements of the Council’s Green Services section should be sought to satisfy Policy GP5.
Additional details in respect of survey seasons etc. can be found in the Trees, Woodland and
Hedgerows SPG and Wildlife and Development SPG.
Archaeology


CE6 - Archaeology

The campus lies within the designated Archaeologically Sensitive Area.

The applicants are

therefore required to undertake an Archaeological Impact Assessment. For further advice the
applicants are advised to contact the Glamorgan-Gwent Archaeological Trust.
Service Infrastructure


GP3 – Service Infrastructure

The applicants will need to demonstrate that all necessary service infrastructure can be provided to
serve the redevelopment.
Planning Obligations


SP13 – Planning Obligations



H4 – Affordable Housing



CF2 – Outdoor Play Space Requirements

In order to mitigate the impact of development, S106 planning obligations will be sought in relation
to the redevelopment of the site. A full list of potential contributions is set out in Policy SP13 –
Planning Obligations. The site falls within the 40% Affordable Housing sub-market area. Policy CF2
– Outdoor Play Space Requirements, requires developments to make provision for open space in
accordance with the Fields in Trust Standards of 2.4 ha per 1000 population. Further details of
Planning Obligations can be found in the Planning Obligations SPG, Affordable Housing SPG and

Page 21

Outdoor Play Space SPG. A detailed breakdown of requirements is to be provided by the Planning
Obligations Manager.
Conclusion
The redevelopment of the campus site meets a number of key sustainable regeneration objectives,
including the reuse of a brownfield site. The proposed land use is considered acceptable within the
locality and the regeneration of the listed buildings is supported and considered to enhance the
overall scheme. However, Planning Policy is not in a position to fully support this application until
the issues relating to the impact on the highway network, open space and the Air Quality
Management Area have been agreed with the relevant consultees.
4.
4.1

CONSULTATIONS
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES:
We continue to have significant concerns with the proposed development as
submitted. We recommend you should only grant planning permission if the
following requirement is met and you attach the following condition to the
permission. Otherwise, we would object to this planning application.
Requirement 1: Updated Construction Environmental Management Plan
Condition 1: To ensure land contamination and protection of controlled waters are
managed satisfactorily.
Requirement 1: Designated Sites
The watercourse the Afon Lwyd is to the East of the site and is a tributary to the River Usk
SAC and SSSI. We welcome the measures proposed in the Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) for pollution prevention during construction of this site, which aim
to protect the watercourses near this development. In particular, we note the information
under Section 12) Drainage Plan – Watercourses and Silt management.
We note the following statement in Section 12:
‘All sediment, chemical or other pollution incidents will be recorded and notified to the
relevant authority (the LPA and / or Natural Resources Wales).’
This should be amended to state all pollution incidents must be reported to the NRW
Incident Communication Centre immediately by calling 0300 065 3000.
We note the Incident communication number is provided in the Contacts section 15 but the
contact number is incorrect in Section 2 (the number in Section 2 is the Environment
Agency contact number in England).
Subsequent to the above amendments being made, we would request that the CEMP be
included within the condition identifying approved plans and documents on the decision
notice.
Condition 1: Land Contamination
We have reviewed:
1. Construction Environmental Management Plan. Redrow, September 2020.
2. Drainage Strategy. Hydrock, October 2020.
3. Site Investigation Report. Intégral Géotechnique (Wales) Limited, March 2019.
Overall we accept the conclusion of the site investigation report, that the risk to controlled
waters is low from the development site. However, the ground under buildings has not been
investigated. We therefore request the following condition and informative be imposed on
any planning permission granted. This condition would address significant concerns that we
have identified and we would not object provided you attach it to the planning permission.
Condition
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the
site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be carried out as
approved.
Justification
Page 22

To ensure the risks associated with previously unsuspected contamination at the site are
dealt with through a remediation strategy, to minimise the risk to both future users of the
land and neighbouring land, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely
without unacceptable risks.
Informative/ advice to applicant:
The treatment and disposal of contaminated soils and groundwater is regulated by waste
legislation and requires an environmental permit.
Excavated materials that are recovered via a treatment operation can be re-used on-site
under the CL:AIRE Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice. This
voluntary Code of Practice provides a framework for determining whether or not excavated
material arising from site during remediation and/or land development works are waste.
Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised
both chemically and physically, and that the permitting status of any proposed on site
operations are clear. If in doubt, Natural Resources Wales should be contacted for advice
at an early stage to avoid any delays.
European Protected Species
requests an informative is attached to any planning permission granted by the Authority
warning that an European protected species (EPS) Licence is required for this development.
CAERLEON CIVIC SOCIETY: Response to reconsultation as follows:
The Civic Society has reviewed the amendments to application 19/1212 and the
Supplementary Environmental Statement.
The Civic Society considers that the changes that have been made do not provide the
basis for amending our objections to the application lodged in December 2019. Therefore
our objections remain as stated.
The Civic Society remains extremely concerned that the impact of the development on
future air quality in High Street and Castle Street has been underplayed and strongly
consider that the requirements of LDP Policy GD7 (air quality) will not be met.
The Civic Society considers that the entrance route for HGV’S related to construction
activity at the site over the next 6 years via College Glade, Eastfield Drive and Anthony
Drive is totally impractible and unacceptable. In addition the exit route for construction
HGVs via the Lodge Road railway bridge and Angel crossroads is considered
unacceptable.
We see no further evidence in the supplementary supporting statement that the mitigation
measures will have the projected effect on modal shift or the take-up of active travel. We
consider that an important aspect of the Active Travel Plan - to link the development to the
National Cycle network via a new cycleway from Lodge Road - has been fundamentally
compromised by the alternative provision of a cycle lane along Lodge Road via unsafe
junctions with Lodge Hill and Roman Way.
The Civic Society appreciate the suggestions made by a range of other consultees to
attempt to improve the scheme, and the efforts made to integrate these suggestions into
the revised plans. However, taken as a whole, the Civic Society does not consider that they
lift the scheme to the standard that Caerleon, and Newport, deserves and should expect.
Response to original consultation is as follows:
Our response to Redrow’s pre-application consultation remains the Civic Society’s
statement of principle regarding the Campus development. It should be read in conjunction
with our comments on the current planning application, below.
We were expecting Redrow to respond fully to our suggestions at the pre-application stage
and that their proposals might be modified accordingly. However, very little has changed
between the pre-application proposals and those now included in the planning application.
Crucially, we do not consider that Redrow has responded adequately in 3 main areas:1. Looking at the impact of the development on traffic and air quality, our contention is that
forecasts should be based on the current scale of problems experienced by the community.

Page 23

2. Looking at the design of the proposals, our contention is that this major and iconic site in
our community (and, indeed, in Newport as a whole) requires an innovative development of
the highest design and environmental quality.
3. Looking at mitigation proposals, our contention is that the environmental impact of the
development should be minimised.
We are particularly concerned that Redrow has, although apparently meeting the letter of the
statutory requirements, not engaged with the community in any meaningful fashion – no
exhibition, no newsletters, no meetings with interest groups in the community. This has
resulted in a lack of understanding of Caerleon’s current needs, with the evidence and
assumptions culled from secondary sources and not the community itself. We consider that this
approach does not meet the spirit of the Well-Being legislation in that communities should be
more fully involved in the decisions which affect their future.
We note that in the Council’s formal pre-application response to Redrow (quoted in paragraph
3.2 of the report entitled ‘Planning Statement’ in the submitted documents) that the Council is
broadly satisfied with the proposals and that they are acceptable in planning terms.
We, however, do not accept this position and object to the proposals on the following grounds
:1. Traffic.
Despite the applicant’s assertion that the impact of providing 218 homes on traffic flows
and congestion in our community will be negligible, we consider that there will remain a
number of locations which will cause problems during the construction period and when the
development is completed – problems not necessarily of ‘driver delay’ but of public health
and public safety.
We object to the proposals as they do not meet the access requirements set out in the
LDP.
We urge the Council to closely examine the forecasts of traffic flows and assess the extent
to which the mitigation proposals are likely to be effective.
2. Air Quality.
The developer states (Environmental Statement – non technical summary, paragraph 5.12)
that ‘at the time of full occupation….no new exceedences of the air quality objectives are
created and no significant worsening of existing exceedences will be caused by the
development at any time’). However, there is no significant improvement either in the air
quality within the Air Quality Management Area, especially in the ‘canyon lengths’ of High
Street and Castle Street.
We object to the proposals as they will have an effect on air quality within the Caerleon
AQMA to the detriment of residents and visitors, including schoolchildren.
We urge the Council to closely examine the air quality forecasts and assess their
acceptability.
3. Social Infrastructure.
The developer claims that there is sufficient capacity in terms of doctors and dentists in our
community. This is not our day-to-day experience.
We urge the Council to ensure that the comments of the Local Health Board on this
application are comprehensive and robust.
There is widespread concern that the schools in our community, especially Caerleon
Comprehensive School, will not cope with the extra pupils from this development.
We urge the Council to use the Section 106 agreement to the full in order to create
satisfactory educational facilities locally.
The future use of the ‘listed building outbuilding’, to the rear of the main block is potentially
one that could benefit the new residents and the wider community.
We urge the Council to pursue this option in future discussions with the applicant.
We object to the proposals as they do not meet the needs of either current residents or
future residents of the development.
4. Conversion of the listed buildings.
The phasing document submitted by the developer raises the issue of the timing of the
demolition and remedial work adjacent to the listed buildings and the subsequent
conversion work.
We urge the Council to ensure that this phase of the development is, in fact, implemented
in the planned timescale.
WELSH WATER: capacity exists within
the 24
public sewerage network to receive the domestic
Page
foul flows only from the development. A water supply can be made available to serve the

development. The development is crossed by a 24 inch trunk and 150mm distribution
watermain. An easement width of 6m is required either side of 24 inch main and an easement
of 4m either side of the 150mm main.
SPORT WALES: wants to see evidence that a replacement pitch is being provided or there
is no need to retain it as there is sufficient provision in the area. Without suitable evidence,
objects.
FIRE SERVICE: standard comments regarding developer should consider adequate water
supplies to site and access for emergency firefighting appliances.
HEALTH AND SAFETY EXECUTIVE: the site does not lie within the consultation distance
of a major accident hazard and HSE does not need to be consulted.
TORFAEN COUNTY COUNCIL: no objection.
WILDLIFE IN NEWPORT: no response.
WELSH GOVERNMENT PLANNING DIVISION: no response.
WELSH GOVERNMENT TRANSPORT DIRECTORATE: no direction issued.
ARCHITECTURAL LIAISON OFFICER (GWENT POLICE): no response.
GWENT WILDLIFE TRUST: no response.
GLAMORGAN GWENT ARCHAEOLOGICAL TRUST: We have no objection to the
determination of the consent as long as these conditions are attached and implemented.
We recommend that a survey is made prior to work commencing. To ensure that work is
carried out in a suitable manner, we therefore suggest that a condition worded in a manner
similar to model condition 73 given in Welsh Government Circular 016/2014 is attached to
any consent that is granted in response to the current application. This condition is
worded:No works to which this consent relates shall commence until an appropriate programme of
historic building recording and analysis has been secured and implemented in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority
The justification for the imposition of the condition would therefore be: Reason: As the buildings are of architectural and cultural significance the specified records
are required to mitigate impact.
The second condition will require the applicant to submit a detailed written scheme of
investigation for a programme of archaeological work to protect the archaeological resource
should be attached to any consent granted by your Members.
We envisage that this programme of work would take the form of a targeted watching brief
during the groundworks required for the development, with detailed contingency
arrangements, including the provision of sufficient time and resources to ensure that any
archaeological features or finds that are located are properly investigated and recorded; it
should include provision for any sampling that may prove necessary, post-excavation
recording and assessment and reporting and possible publication of the results. To ensure
adherence to the recommendations we recommend that the condition should be worded in
a manner similar to model condition 24 given in Welsh Government Circular 016/2014
No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title,
has secured agreement for a written scheme of historic environment mitigation which has
been submitted by the applicant and approved by the local planning authority. Thereafter,
the programme of work will be fully carried out in accordance with the requirements and
standards of the written scheme.
Reason: To identify and record any features of archaeological interest discovered during
the works, in order to mitigate the impact of the works on the archaeological resource.

Page 25

We also recommend that a note should be attached to the planning consent explaining
that:
The archaeological work must be undertaken to the appropriate Standard and Guidance set
by Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (CIfA), (www.archaeologists.net/codes/cifa) and it
is recommended that it is carried out either by a CIfA Registered Organisation
(www.archaeologists.net/ro) or an MCIfA accredited Member.
CADW ANCIENT MONUMENTS: no response.
CADW HISTORIC BUILDINGS AND LANDSCAPES: no response.
REGIONAL AMBULANCE OFFICER: no response.
NEWPORT LOCAL HEALTH BOARD: no response.
5.
5.1








INTERNAL COUNCIL ADVICE
SCIENTIFIC OFFICER: Air Quality / Sustainable Travel
Background
Newport has eleven Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) across the city, all of which
are due to excessive nitrogen dioxide; and all due to road traffic emissions. In Caerleon the
air quality objective for nitrogen dioxide has been exceeded since at least 2005 when the
AQMA was first declared.
In 2019 Newport City Council adopted a Sustainable Travel Strategy that brings together
the aims of carbon reduction, air quality improvement and noise reduction from our
transport network. Work will continue on delivering the strategy in Caerleon and across the
city.
Progress so far includes:
Air Quality Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)
Sustainable Travel Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) (Draft)
Supporting Newport Transport implement electric buses (through Caerleon)
Installing Electric Vehicle Charging Points in the public domain (that will include Caerleon)
Promoting Clean Air Day and other public engagement projects
Joining the EcoStars Scheme
(For further updates see www.newport.gov.uk/airquality)
Air Quality Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)
Newport City Council adopted Air Quality Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) in 2018
which designated the whole of Caerleon under an air quality planning buffer. The Air
Quality SPG attempts to maintain a balance in road traffic and associated air pollution
generated from new developments.
For example: If a proposal was received for a development on undeveloped land this would
have a net increase in road traffic. The traffic generated would have little choice but to
travel through the Caerleon AQMA contributing to the exiting air quality issue. Whereas
redeveloping an industrial site to residential would on balance remove polluting vehicles
(HGVs) and replace them with cars – overall this would be a net benefit to air quality.
Air Quality SPG and the USW Campus
Applying the principle of the Air Quality SPG to the proposed development - If the
application were for undeveloped land, there would be a net increase in road traffic that
would impact the AQMA. Under the Newport Air Quality Supplementary Planning Guidance
this situation should be avoided.
However, the development is proposed on a brownfield site (former university campus) with
an accepted fall-back position. If the application is refused and the fall-back position
implemented - the air quality impact is likely to be near equivocal. This is demonstrated in
the submitted air quality assessment and proposed mitigation measures.
Air Quality Trend
Nitrogen Dioxide levels in Caerleon and across the city have improved. The graph below
provides a summary of the annual average peak results for Caerleon 15 High Street
compared to Malpas Road over the same period.

Page 26




The air quality assessment compares the fall back vs the development in 2022 and 2027.
The air quality assessment goes on to consider the reduction of the impact through
mitigation measures.
Mitigation A – relates to the construction phase of the development for 2022.
Mitigation B – relates to the operational phase of the development for 2027.
2022 [Table E5.6]
Compared to the fall back - in 2022 the development will have a negligible impact upon the
majority of the receptors, in the case of High Street (A1) there is a substantially beneficial
impact on air quality.
The reason for this substantially beneficial impact - If the fall-back position were enabled
the site could generate traffic instantaneously. Whereas, the proposed development will not
generate traffic until it becomes operational (NB. construction traffic is an issue which will
be discussed later). The table below is based upon Table E5.6 of the Air Quality
Assessment.

Location
High Street
(A1)
High Street
(A2)
Castle
Street (A)

Annual Mean NO2 (µg/m3)
2022 Future
2022 with
Impact of
Baseline
Development
Development
AQMA

Worst Case
Receptor

2017

AQMA15

60.3

48.5

47.8

-0.8

Substantially
beneficial

AQMA24

31.7

25.7

25.4

-0.3

Negligible

AQMA3

39.2

30.9

30.5

-0.4

Negligible

IAQM
Descriptor*

Gyratory (Outside AQMA)
High Street
(w)
High Street
(n)
Mill Street
Castle
Street

ER97

27.9

22.4

22.2

-0.2

Negligible

ER73

20.3

15.4

15.4

0.0

Negligible

ER6

25.6

17.0

17.1

0.1

Negligible

ER31

17.7

12.4

12.5

0.1

Negligible

North of Gyratory
Station
Road
Usk Road
College
Crescent
Broadwalk
Lodge Road
Future

ER2

21.8

15.9

15.9

0.0

Negligible

ER81

20.7

14.4

14.4

0.0

Negligible

ER56

16.4

12.2

12.2

0.0

Negligible

ER93
ER45

18.2
19.1

0.0
0.0

Negligible
Negligible

PD1

14.5

13.6
13.6
13.8
13.8
Proposed Development
10.6
10.6

0.0

Negligible.

* Institute of Air Quality Management Descriptor (Non Statutory Guidance)
Page 27
2027 [Table E5.7]

Compared to the fall back – in 2027 the development will have a negligible impact upon all
receptors. The table below is based upon Table E5.7 of the Air Quality Assessment.
Location

High Street
(A1)
High Street
(A2)
Castle
Street (A)

Annual Mean NO2 (µg/m3)
2027 Future
2027 with
Impact of
Baseline
Development
Development
AQMA

Worst Case
Receptor

2017

AQMA15

60.3

39.8

39.9

0.1

Negligible

AQMA24

31.7

21.8

21.8

0.1

Negligible

AQMA3

39.2

25.4

25.5

0.1

Negligible

IAQM
Descriptor*

Gyratory (Outside AQMA)
High Street
(w)
High Street
(n)
Mill Street
Castle
Street

ER97

27.9

18.9

18.9

0.0

Negligible

ER73

20.3

15.4

15.4

0.0

Negligible

ER6

25.6

17.0

17.1

0.1

Negligible

ER31

17.7

12.4

12.5

0.1

Negligible

North of Gyratory
Station
Road
Usk Road
College
Crescent
Broadwalk
Lodge Road
Future

ER2

21.8

15.9

15.9

0.0

Negligible

ER81

20.7

14.4

14.4

0.0

Negligible

ER56

16.4

12.2

12.2

0.0

Negligible

ER93
ER45

18.2
19.1

0.0
0.0

Negligible
Negligible

PD1

14.5

13.6
13.6
13.8
13.8
Proposed Development
14.5
10.6

0.0

Negligible.

* Institute of Air Quality Management Descriptor (Non Statutory Guidance)
It should be noted that AQMA15 – High Street (A1) is predicted to have a nitrogen dioxide
level of 39.8 µg/m3 in 2027 [the air quality objective is 40µg/m3]. The impact of the
development without mitigation is predicted to be +0.1 at this receptor in 2027 – the
development will do harm.
The Institute of Air Quality Management guidance considers a 0.1 increase as negligible.
However it is important to remember that air quality legislation and guidance requires
compliance with the air quality objective in the shortest possible time. Therefore even a
+0.1µg/m3 should be of a concern at a location that is predicted to be near borderline in
2027. To remove this impact the development has proposed the following mitigation Mitigation
[Paragraph E7.5] The traffic data provided for the assessment included scenarios in which
the effects of mitigation are taken into account, it is predicted by 2027 there will be  12% model shift for development related traffic
 2% global reduction in traffic flows associated with wider benefits of the travel plan
Focusing on the High Street (A1) AQMA15 in 2027 Table E.7.3 states –
Location

Worst Case
Receptor

2027
Future
Baseline

High
Street
(A1)

AQMA15

39.8

Annual Mean NO2 (ug/m3)
2027 with
2027 with
Impact of
Development
Development
Development
Mitigated (C)
AQMA
39.9

39.5

-0.4

IAQM
Descriptor*
Slightly
Beneficial

The combination of 12% modal shift, 2% global reduction in traffic and the proposed
mitigation will deliver a Slightly Beneficial reduction of -0.4 ug/m3. However in my view the
12% modal shift, the 2% global reduction must be treated with caution. High Street (A1)
AQMA15 indicates compliance in 2027 is marginal, the slightest deviation from the
predicted improvements may jeopardise compliance.
The application has proposed the following mitigation measures for the construction phase
and operational phase:
Construction Phase
Page 28



Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) which will include the routing of HGV
vehicles to avoid inappropriate routes through villages or along narrow lanes that do not
have the capacity to accommodate them. Avoiding the Caerleon AQMA and gyratory
system, limiting site access to Lodge Road and Ponthir Road/Station Road. (Chapter L:
Mitigation and Monitoring P2)



Best practice dust suppression measures applied through the Construction Environment
Management Plan (CEMP). This includes measures on: General Dust Management
(including a dust management plan), site management and monitoring, preparing and
maintaining the site, operating vehicle/machinery and sustainable travel (including a
construction logistics plan and travel plan), operations, waste management, measures
specific to demolition, earthworks, construction and track out. (Chapter L: Mitigation and
Monitoring P2)
A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) is acceptable method of limiting
the impact of the onsite construction. However there appears to be an issue with the
proposed Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) – the air quality assessment
proposes that construction traffic avoids the Caerleon AQMA. However the submitted CEMP
routes traffic directly through the AQMA (Page 37 & 38). Within the air quality report it states:
Environmental Statement - E5.6 (P.25) “A detailed construction plan for the proposed
development has not yet been developed. However, it is estimated that the number of HGV’s
accessing the site will be less than 50 but potentially more than 10 on any given day…”
It is unclear if the impact of the estimated 10 – 50 HGVs have been included in the air quality
modelling assessment, and if so, which route are the HGVs taking? Irrespective of air quality
modelling, routing HGV traffic away from the AQMA will limit the air quality impact – this is a
manageable and avoidable situation. I recommend the management and routing of
construction traffic is discussed with highways. Furthermore operators of construction traffic
should be encouraged to join the FREE Ecostars fuel economy scheme.
Operational Phase
 Sustainable Travel Initiatives including providing the existing PRoW on the northern
boundary to provide a 3m footway/cycleway,


Electric charging point provided for each dwelling (E6.8) Opportunities for communal / onstreet electric vehicle charging infrastructure will be discussed with highways (E6.8).



Enhanced on-road cycle link from the site via Lodge Road to Roman Reach, linking with
the National Cycle Network (E6.7).



Junction upgrades including lining and signing at the Station Road / High Street mini
roundabout.



Provision of a new bus stop outside the site (E6.10).



Infrastructure improvements including improvements at High Street / Station Road junction
will reduce emissions from vehicles through a reduction in the duration of queuing (E6.11)



Funding for Clean Air Day Activities and presentations, coordinated with International Clean
Air Day for the local primary school to raise awareness of air quality in Caerleon and the
benefits of active travel. Funding provided for 3 years at a level to be agreed with by NCC
and secured through planning condition. (E6.12)



Travel Plans
o

Residential / B1 Travel Plan (E6.9 1).

o

Personalised Travel Planning (PTP) for new residents and also existing residents in
Caerleon (E6.9 2).

Page 29

o

A commitment to work with St Cadoc’s Hospital to provide travel planning as part of
a comprehensive package of sustainable benefits for Caerleon (E6.9 4).

School travel planning for the primary schools (which aligns with the Council and
Welsh Government’s aspirations for Welsh Network of Healthy School Schemes)
(E6.9 3)[Travel Plan with school-specific travel planning measures, which could
include a walking bus scheme, organised bike/school to school days, provision of
secure / sheltered scooter and cycle parking and provision of high visibility gear for
children and parents (Chapter L Mitigation and Monitoring Page 3)].
The proposed mitigation measures are acceptable. However this is based upon a predicted
12% modal shift and 2% reduction in traffic – is this optimistic?
Every effort should be made by the development to secure the predicted improvement for
which I recommend innovative mitigation measures are employed – this could include
offsite electric vehicle charging points in the local area [such as the amphitheatre car park]
and improvements to cycleway and pedestrian access round and through the site and
opportunities to engage with innovative and emerging schemes to support active travel.
Summary
Air quality in Caerleon is breaching the air quality objective for nitrogen dioxide and will
continue to do so for some time. However, across the board air quality is slowly improving.
With the continued implementation of Newport’s Sustainable Travel Strategy - electrification
of vehicles (buses and cars) and similar improvements air quality is likely to improve
further.
The agreed fall-back position is likely to have a similar air quality impact to that of the
proposed development. This approach is consistent with the principles of Newport’s air
quality Supplementary Planning Guidance.
By 2027 when the development is operational without mitigation the air quality impact will
be +0.1ug/m3 at the most vulnerable location. With mitigation and the combination of 12%
modal shift, 2% global reduction in traffic will deliver a Slightly Beneficial reduction of -0.4
ug/m3. The 12% modal shift and 2% global reduction must be treated with caution. The
predicted High Street (A1) AQMA15 compliance in 2027 is marginal - the slightest deviation
from the predicted improvements may jeopardise compliance.
Mitigation measures have been proposed for both the construction and operational phase
of the development. There is uncertainty regarding the routing of HGV traffic during the
construction phase which needs to be resolved. Operators of construction traffic should be
encouraged to join the Free EcoStars fuel economy scheme.
The operational phase should include innovative mitigation measures to secure the
predicted 12% modal shift and 2% global reduction – for example offsite electric vehicle
charging points in the local area and improvements to cycleway and pedestrian access
round and through the site and opportunities to engage with innovative and emerging
schemes to support active travel.
Overall, once the points outlined above have been resolved - I consider the proposed
development acceptable in terms of air quality.
Additional comments received December 2020
I have been running through 2019 finalised data and starting to look at 2020 data now
albeit 2020 is an anomalous year.
In respect of the four Caerleon tubes that have historically exceeded the air quality
objective I have the following observations:
The tube named High Street has now been compliant for 2 years and continues a
downward trend.
Three out of the four tubes exceeding the AQO are continuing to improve and also show a
downward trend (15 High St,18 High St & High St)
One tube shows a flat trend at present however there is no reason why it should not follow
the same trend as the others and may just be a reflection of the degree of accuracy
associated with diffusion tube monitoring.
It is hoped that a continuous real time sensor will be installed at High Street in 2021 so that
further information can be obtained regarding the diurnal changes in pollutant levels. This
will provide further context for the work of those involved with the Sustainable Transport
Strategy and forthcoming Air Quality Action Planning work during 2021.
o






Page 30

HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (HIGHWAYS): received December 2020
On site highway comments:
Layout
Previous highway comments dated 02 April 2020 noted that ‘A significant part of the road
infrastructure has effectively been formed into a cul de sac. In accordance with Manual for
Streets, a block structure should be utilised. A circulatory route within the site should
therefore be provided to limit the requirement for reversing manoeuvres’, however this
layout has been considered and as the failure to provide a block structure is not a reason
for refusal the proposed layout will be acceptable in design terms.
However, drawing 18137(05)1101 Rev J Proposed Site Plan shows that the layout still
effectively provides a cul de sac layout and this raises safety concerns as a vehicle
blocking the access road to the east of College Road near Ty Hywel would prevent access
for emergency services to the remainder of the site and this is detrimental to highway
safety. A secondary emergency access should therefore be provided to ensure the
development can be accessed in an emergency should the main access become
obstructed. The applicant may consider providing a 3m wide shared foot/cycleway from the
end of the cul de sac spur adjacent to Plot 111 onto St Cadocs Close, which although
unsuitable for a residential access would be acceptable for very occasional emergency
vehicle use. The shared foot/cycleway would need to be constructed for emergency
vehicle usage and secured to prevent vehicles generated by the development rat running.
[ the applicants have subsequently provided details to address this concern and, subject to
an appropriate condition to secure the detail, the Head of City Services has agreed their
proposal for an emergency access between plots 120 and 123]
The development should have a design speed of 20mph which will require that speed
reducing features are incorporated into the layout every 60m. The applicant should
consider introducing raised tables at junctions to encourage reduction in speeds around the
site.
College Road is one of the accesses into the site and is a long, straight road which will
require a speed reducing feature to maintain the design speed of 20mph and comprises a
5.0m wide avenue with verges, trees and footways. Trees should be located so that they
do not encroach upon visibility splays from the dwellings.
Previous highway comments also noted that there are a number of proposed routes with
only one footway and required that ‘where a road will have properties located on both
sides, two footways must be provided in order to prevent pedestrians being forced to use
the carriageway’.
The kerb build out on College Road at the entrance to the site is not required to meet
highway design or traffic calming standards, however, as it has been provided to protect
the listed gate piers it will be acceptable.
Manual for Streets states that “Consultation with the community and users, particularly with
disability groups and access officers, is essential where any shared surface scheme is
developed. Early indications, are that, in many instances, a protected space, with
appropriate physical demarcation, will need to be provided, so that pedestrians who may be
Page
unwilling to negotiate priority with vehicles
can31
use the street safely and comfortably”.

Roads should have 2 footways where properties are located on both sides, however, due to
the low number of dwellings served, the roads that run between Plots 64-81 and 49-62
would be acceptable, on this occasion, if redesigned to provide a similar layout to the road
between Plots 31-44 which shows a kerbed 2m footway to one side of the carriageway
which will provide some level of appropriate physical demarcation.
The highway layout shows 2 cul de sacs which almost meet outside Plots 76 and 90 and
would form a through road. A robust barrier between the 2 cul de sacs should be provided.
Similarly, there is a cul de sac that forms a junction with the footway adjacent to Plot 91
which will also require a robust barrier to prevent vehicles overrunning the footway to gain
access to the cul de sac. Amended drawings are required. A knee rail will be acceptable.
Refuse Collection
Drawing 18137(05) 1113F Refuse Collection Strategy Layout shows the location of the bin
collection points which should be relocated to the junction of the adoptable highway with
the private drives. Revised drawings will be required which should include details of
enclosure to prevent wheelie bines encroaching upon the adoptable highway.
Refuse collection vehicles/refuse collectors cannot enter private drives without indemnity
and therefore the bin collection point will need to be located within the private drives at the
junction of the adopted highway so that refuse collectors can gain access without the need
to enter the private drive.
The right angle outer kerb line between Plots 91 and 106 provides a redundant area of
highway which is likely to cumulate debris and is unacceptable. This can be decided at
section 38 highway agreement stage.
The applicant has submitted Sustainability Assessment: Version 2 which provides the
distances from local facilities to each phase of the proposed USW development. The
method of measurement for walk distances has been confirmed and whilst there is room for
discrepancy regarding the award of sustainability points, further analysis of the parking
requirements for the site result in the acceptance that the location of the site, close to most
amenities, will justify the award of a minimum of 7 points in all phases, allowing a 1 parking
space per unit reduction across the site with a minimum of 1 parking space per unit.
Therefore 3 bedroom dwellings which are allocated 2 parking spaces and 2 bedroom
dwellings which are allocated 1 parking space will now be acceptable
44 parking spaces are provided for the conversion of the listed building which equates to 1
parking space per dwelling which is acceptable for the 1 and 2 bedroom dwellings.
However, the conversion includes 1 x 3-bedroom flat which will require 1 additional parking
space.
The application proposes a total of 219 dwellings which will require 44 visitor spaces to
comply with Newport City Council SPG Parking Standards (August 2015). An additional 21
visitor parking spaces will be required.
The on-site highway comments dated 09 December 2020 state that a good degree of safe
on-site visitor parking can be accommodated and that the project team will demonstrate
this.
[the applicant has provided a plan to show that the visitor spaces required can be
accommodated on street but this has not been agreed by the Head of City Services]
The proposals for the internal site layout only submitted with this application are likely to be
acceptable on highway grounds, subject to receipt of an acceptable Sustainability
Assessment mitigating the reduced parking and the revised plans required to address the
above comments.
[ a revised sustainability assessment has been provided]
Highway network assessment
2024 has been used as the design year and was agreed with the NCC. Vehicle counts
data has been submitted for 2014, June 2016, Feb 2019 and Nov 2019. The data collected
demonstrates some variation on the surveyed traffic flows however, it’s determined that
sufficient evidence has been submitted to demonstrate that traffic growth has stagnated in
the areas assessed between 2016 Page
and 2019.
32

1.
2.
3.
4.

5.
6.
7.

8.

It’s been determined from the data that due to the stagnation in traffic growth between 2016
and 2019 there would be no reason why this trend would not continue through to 2024, and
therefore traffic growth for the years 2019 – 2024 should not be applied as it would ‘buck
the trend’. An independent assessment of the TA has agreed with this approach and
therefore it’s deemed acceptable.
Off site mitigation
The TA discusses modal shift and proposals to decrease the reliance on the private motor
vehicle for travel. To summarise they are as follows:
A residential masterplan which reflects the user movement hierarchy with pedestrians and
cyclists at the forefront of design
Improved pedestrian linkages from the site to Lodge Road
Improvement to the existing PRoW on the northern boundary of the site to provide a 3m
footway/cycleway
A commitment to fund an enhanced on-road cycle link from the site via Lodge Road to
Roman Reach, hence linking with the National Cycle Network [this has now been removed
from the proposal]
New bus stops outside of the site with the southbound bus stop relocated on Lodge Road
Electric charging points for at least each newly erected building
Inclusive Travel Planning comprising:
 Personalised Travel Planning (PTP) for new residents and also existing residents in
Caerleon
 School travel planning for the primary schools (which aligns with the Council and Welsh
Government’s aspirations for Welsh Network of Healthy School schemes5)
 working with St Cadocs Hospital to provide travel planning as part of a comprehensive
package of sustainable benefits for Caerleon
Remove some of the parking on High Street near the junction with Station Road and
relocating the existing zebra crossing further west away from the junction [this has been
removed from the proposal]
Further clarification is required in regard to the proposal to provide “New bus stops outside
of the site with the southbound bus stop relocated on Lodge Road”.
Consideration can only be given to the proposals which can be secured via condition,
therefore I would suggest that the following cannot be considered however the planning
officer will need to confirm:
 Personalised Travel Planning (PTP) for existing residents in Caerleon
 School travel planning for the primary schools (which aligns with the Council and Welsh
Government’s aspirations for Welsh Network of Healthy School schemes5)
 working with St Cadocs Hospital to provide travel planning as part of a comprehensive
package of sustainable benefits for Caerleon

Trip Forecast
The resultant traffic impact has been assessed in the AM and PM peak. Whilst this
approach is broadly acceptable, there have been objections relating to traffic associated
with the drop off and collection of pupils at the local schools. It is my understanding that
the traffic generation associated with the proposed dwellings would be less when compared
to the existing fall back positon (scenario 2). For the purposes of transparency, and to fully
demonstrate this, I request that the applicant compare and submit details relating to these
times.
Existing
Three baseline scenarios have been used to test the net effect of the proposed
development on the highway networks, these are:
1. Scenario 1 – 100% former use on the site
2. Scenario 2 – Future Baseline
3. Scenario 3 – Zero former use on the site
It is my understanding that it’s been agreed with the planning officer that scenario 2
represents the most realistic scenario for the purposes of assessing the impact of traffic
when compared to the existing fall-back position. This is detailed in table 5.7.
Table 5.7 - Forecast traffic generation (Scenario
Page 2)
33of reuse of former buildings on site.

Proposed
Table 5.4 details the vehicular+ Trip generation associated with the proposed 218
dwellings.
Table 5.4 - 218 Dwellings




Table 5.9 shows that the proposed development has +5 and +17 vehicular trips in the AM
and PM peaks respectively when compared to Scenario 2. Whilst there is an increase, it is
agreed that that the increase is minimal.
What can be derived from the data is that there is an increase of 44 arrivals in the PM and
88 departures in the AM. Given that the traffic impacts of the development are based on
junction models, I’m confident that the tidal impacts have been considered. That being said
further clarification from the applicant is required.
Junction analysis
The scope of the assessment was agreed with the Council as part of the previous
application and of those assessed it was identified that there were issues associated with
the following junctions:
Station Road/High Street Mini Roundabout (existing & proposed
Caerleon Road/New Road.
Station Road/High Street mini Roundabout
The impact of the development (2024 + development) at the roundabout will result in an
increase from 6PCU’s to 9 PCU’s when compared to scenario 2. The impact is therefore
considered acceptable.
For 2024 + development the existing configuration and the proposed configuration do not
demonstrate a significant change in RFC/PCU’s. This therefore raises the question around
the proposed changes and the benefit that they will provide in traffic terms. The applicant
must therefore provide further information in regard to the proposed mitigation at the
roundabout and justification for the proposed changes.
A stage 1 safety audit must be submitted for any changes to the roundabout.
Caerleon Road/New Road
The level of queuing in the 2024 + Development scenario compared to Scenario 2 results
in -5 and +5 PCUs in the AM and PM peaks respectively on New Road. It’s been agreed
that scenario 2 is a more realistic scenario of the former use and therefore the small
increase in PCU’s is considered negligible.
Sensitivity Test
The applicant has submitted three sensitivity tests in order to consider the effects of the
Travel Plan and sustainability measures proposed as part of the overall mitigation. Whilst
any resultant modal shift in Caerleon would be welcomed, it cannot be quantified or
guaranteed as its purely aspirational. The sensitivity tests will therefore be given limited
weight.
It’s noted that the acceptability of the proposal is not reliant on the modal shift as detailed in
the sensitivity test. I would however request that the applicant outlines this clearly in their
submission. I would however state that any proposals which could potentially result in
modal shift for existing travellers to and from Caerleon would be welcomed. Therefore
should it be possible to condition the proposals, or include them within the S.106
agreement, this should be done.
Notes
Should planning approval be granted the applicant must contact City Services to facilitate
the appropriate legal agreement for works within the adopted highway. No works can be
undertaken until the agreement is in place and final approval has been given by the
highways authority.

Page 34









Any works carried out within the adopted highway may require a stage 2/3 safety audit and
therefore should planning approval be granted, the highways authority must be contacted
to confirm this.
Conditions
Should they be deemed necessary, the works to the mini roundabout at Station Road/High
Street must be completed prior to first occupation. [ this has been removed from the
proposals]
Proposed improvements at the junction of College Crescent/Ponthir Road must be
completed prior to first occupation.
A residential masterplan which reflects the user movement hierarchy with pedestrians and
cyclists at the forefront of design;
A commitment to fund an enhanced on-road cycle link from the site via Lodge Road to
Roman Reach, hence linking with the National Cycle Network must be secured via S.106 This will however need to be agreed with the Active Travel Officer.[this has been removed
from the proposal at the subsequent request of the Head of City Services]
A travel plan for the proposed dwellings must be submitted for approval prior to first
occupation.
Submission of proposed upgrades to bus stops of Loge Road (northbound/southbound) to
be submitted for approval. Approved design to be implemented prior to first occupation.
CEMP
The applicant has submitted a CEMP which is considered acceptable subject to the
construction vehicle movements being restricted so that they do not conflict with the drop
off and collection times associated with the local schools. The applicant will need to submit
details for approval and I recommend that the local schools are contacted to determine the
appropriate times when the restrictions should apply.
I would also state that a jet wash must be on site at all times and not just when considered
necessary as proposed.






Other comments
The applicant must note that the section of existing road which runs from College Crescent
is a Private Street (privately maintained public highway). No works can take place within
any public highway until the relevant highways agreement is in place and approval has
been given by the highways authority. City Services must therefore be contacted should
planning permission be granted.
Conditions
Should the application be approved the following conditions are required.
No structures or planting will be permitted within any visibility splays above a height of
600mm above carriageway level.
Full details of traffic calming measures must be submitted for approval
Full details in regard to tactile crossing provision must be submitted for approval.
Submission of barrier scheme for cycle routes to slow/dismount cyclists approaching roads
or standard footways. Also to prevent vehicles using the shared cycleway/footway.

Updated comments received December 2020
I refer to the above planning application received on 21 October 2020, previous application
17/0781 for this site, the Redrow email response dated 26 November 2020 and the Technical
Note addressing NCC feedback received on 04 December 2020.
The Technical Note addresses 6 main points as detailed below:
1. The TA relies on modal shift for mitigation
The Technical Note declares that ‘The TA and transport case offers improvements to the
walking, cycling and public transport infrastructure in accordance with good practice and policy
but is not reliant on these particularly given the location of the site relative to existing facilities’.

Page 35

The application can therefore be assessed without reliance on modal shift which will be
acceptable.
2. The site fails as it cannot connect to the National Cycle Network
The Technical Note states that the proposal is to provide 1.5m advisory cycle lanes within the
existing carriageway on Lodge Road which will reduce the effective width of the Carriageway
for vehicles, albeit in a shared sense when a cyclist is present, as set
out in drawing 184326A_A05A which shows that 1.0m wide cycleways are provided from
Roman Reach to Lodge Hill which are not acceptable. The applicant has also drawing
184326A_A05C which shows 1.5m wide cycleways but does not reduce the carriageway width
which is inconsistent and unacceptable.
The applicant has also submitted a Stage 1 Safety Audit but this does not address the narrow
carriageway and cycleway widths which will cause cyclists and cars into the path of opposing
vehicles, including buses, and is therefore not accepted.
3. The proposed amendments to College Road / Ponthir Road appear to restrict the free
flow of traffic from College Crescent into Ponthir Road and are unacceptable. The
junction should be remodelled to cover the 1500-1600 school peaks.
The Technical Note states that the proposals are to modify this junction to improve the junction
for all users in particular the forward visibility from the junction with visibility to the south being
increased from 20m to 43m south by creating a single lane entry. The applicant has submitted
a capacity analysis with a summary being provided in Table 1 – Summary of Capacity
Analysis: College Crescent, Ponthir Road, Station Road which demonstrates that the junction
can work effectively with a maximum queue length of 3 vehicles which will be acceptable.
4. The TA should be remodelled to include the worst case 1500-1600 peak.
Previous highway comments requested that the Transport Assessment should be remodelled
to accommodate the school peak between 15.00 and 16.00. the applicant has submitted
evidence in Figure 3 – Comparison of ATC Traffic Flows by Hour which shows that the peak
traffic flow occurs at 17.00 which will be acceptable and the Transport Assessment will not
therefore be required to be remodelled.
5. The Sustainability Assessment is unacceptable and should be revised to provide travel
distances from the centre of each phase
A revised Sustainability Assessment has been provided and is acceptable.
6. Construction Environmental Management Plan
Previous highway comments have stated that the submitted CEMP is considered acceptable
subject to the construction vehicle movements being restricted so that they do not conflict with
the drop off and collection times associated with the local schools. The applicant has
submitted. The Construction Environmental Management Plan Rev C has been amended and
now states that ‘No construction HGV movements to/from the site shall take place prior to
9.30am or after 2.30am on a school day’ which is incorrect (typo?) and should be changed to
read prior to 9.30am or after 2.30pm’ which will be acceptable. [Revision G of the CEMP has
addressed this point]
The updated CEMP includes drawing 184326A-AT_A13 REV D Swept Path Analysis which
demonstrates HGVs and buses passing on the proposed route. However, the drawing does
not account for areas along this route where on-street parking and pavement parking
commonly occur which will encroach upon the swept paths shown causing conflict between
oncoming vehicles
The drawing also shows locations on the drawing where OS mapping does not correspond with
what was observed during walkover survey and also states that a topographical survey will be
carried out to confirm. The topographical
survey
Page
36showing the revised Swept Path Analysis will
be required prior to any approval and should include provision for on-street parking.

Additional comments received 14th December:
The developer has stated that the site does not rely on the provision of the cycle route on
Lodge Road to connect the site to the National Cycle Network and it has been agreed that the
site is not relying on modal shift to mitigate additional vehicle movements from the site.
However, I am unable to give approval for the Lodge Road cycle route due to the proposed
substandard design which is likely to give rise to highway safety issues and the developer
cannot therefore provide this facility. The comments propose that the £30k sum allocated for
the cycle route can now be put towards alternative S106 provision, possibly education and this
will not be acceptable as the proposed zebra crossing should still be provided to improve
pedestrian links to the site with any remaining funds also being used to improve sustainable
modes of transport related to the site.
The CEMP has been amended to correct a typing error and is acceptable. The HGV route is
not ideal due to its residential nature but unfortunately there appears to be no alternative.
Whilst I accept the developers comments regarding a revised swept path analysis for the
proposed HGV route to include parked vehicles I feel that, whilst not essential, the provision of
additional swept path drawings may help at Planning Committee when this matter is raised by
objectors.
HEAD OF LAW AND STANDARDS (ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH): Response to first
consultation - I can advise that I have appraised the proposals and in particular the Noise
Planning Report provided by Hydrock Ref: E14704-ACO-EJ-20190819, November 2019.
With regard to external noise I note that the report has predicted 6 plots located adjacent to
Ponthir Road where outdoor living area levels are expected to marginally exceed the upper
threshold limit of 55 dBA. I request the applicant provides the predicted external noise levels for
plots 22, 30 and 134 which appear to have the potential for similar exceedances given the façade
levels provided in Figures 9 and 11.
Once this has been clarified I can advise that I have no objection subject to the following
conditions:
 Prior to the occupation of any of the dwellings the noise mitigation measures to the building
fabric and façade glazing detailed in Part 7 of Hydrock Noise Planning Report, Ref: E14704ACO-EJ-20190819, November 2019, are to be undertaken, or an alternative scheme
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the development
commencing.
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected.
 A mechanical ventilation strategy for all dwellings subject to glazing mitigation measures as
detailed in Part 7 of Hydrock Noise Planning Report, Ref: E14704-ACO-EJ-20190819,
November 2019, is to be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
and then implemented prior to first occupation of the dwellings.
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected.
 No development, other than demolition, shall commence until a scheme has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide that the maximum day
time noise level in outdoor living areas exposed to external road traffic noise, shall not exceed
55 dBA Leq 16 hour [free field]. The scheme of noise mitigation as approved shall be
constructed in its entirety prior to the first occupation of any dwelling and shall be retained
thereafter in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected.
 Prior to the commencement of development, to include demolition, a Construction
Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Construction Environmental Management Plan shall identify the steps
and procedures that will be implemented to minimise the creation and impact of noise, air
quality, vibration, dust, water run-off and waste disposal resulting from the site preparation,
groundwork and construction phases of the development and manage Heavy Goods Vehicle
(HGV) access to the site. It shall include details of measures to be employed to prevent the
egress of mud, water and other detritus onto the public highway. It shall also include measures
to minimise the impact on air quality, for example HGVs serving the site will avoid routes
through Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) and avoid vehicle idling. Care should also
be taken to ensure water run-off into rivers and watercourse is avoided. The approved
Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be adhered to at all times, unless
otherwise first agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
* The applicant should have regard to BRE guide 'Control of Dust from Construction and
Demolition, February 2003
Page 37

** The Institute of Air Quality Management http://iaqm.co.uk/guidance/
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that the amenities of occupiers of
other premises in the vicinity are protected.
Response to reconsultation:
Further to the Noise & Neighbourhood Team comment on the 13th February 2020 in relation
to planning application 19-1212. The applicant has made further representation, I refer to the
Hydrock report reference:
04414-HYD-ZZ-XX-RP-Y-1010-Noise Planning Report
Addendum- External Areas-PO1, dated 21 February 2020.
This report provides the predicted external noise levels for plots 22, 30 and 134, assuming a
1.8m high solid fence is provided. Therefore, I recommend that the 1.8 metre High Solid fence
around the site is conditioned by planning to ensure that the maximum day time noise level in
outdoor living areas exposed to external road traffic noise, shall not exceed 55dBA Leq 16
hours (free field) as per Hydrock Noise Planning Report, Ref: E14704-ACO-EJ-20190819,
November 2019 and 04414-HYD-ZZ-XX-RP-Y-1010-Noise Planning Report AddendumExternal Areas-PO1, dated 21 February 2020. The fence should be installed prior to
occupancy and retained thereafter in perpetuity
The applicant has now changed the site layout and increased the number of residential
dwellings within the development. Part 7 of Hydrock Noise Planning Report, Ref: E14704ACO-EJ-20190819, November 2019 (Figure 7) provides details of the noise mitigation
measures to the building fabric and façade glazing. The applicant will need to provide further
information to demonstrate what noise mitigation measures are to be applied considering
the revised site layout and increased plot.
HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (ACTIVE TRAVEL OFFICER): As described in the supporting
information the site and development has potential to support sustainable travel options.
Within the design and access statement and travel plans it is acknowledged that cycling and
walking should be promoted as the primary mode of transport.
However, in order for this to take place it is essential that there is a consistent and viable
network of safe, and where possible, segregated cycle lanes or shared use paths
throughout the development. These should be visible and accessible from all major
entrances and routes through the site. It is not clear from the current designs that this will be
the case and therefore the potential for sustainable modes of transport to be promoted to
their fullest extent is uncertain.
The improvements to the existing PROW running along the northern boundary will provide a
positive contribution to Active Travel. These improvements should ensure the route is safe,
attractive and welcoming through the addition of lighting and ensuring that it is not
immediately bordered by vertical barriers such as fencing. If this is the case then additional
width must also be provided.
Along this route it will be important to provide connecting links into the development and at
Bellin Close. Furthermore, future connecting links through the open space to the north of the
development should be considered and incorporated. Due to the steep gradient of the
section joining Ponthir road, the suitability of utilising this as a cycling route should be
investigated. It would be desirable to provide a connecting pedestrian/cycle link to the
proposed route through the woodland. Although there may also be gradient constraints with
this path, the possibility of upgrading this to a cycle link should be explored.
Any potential upgrading work to the existing public right of way should be included in earlier
phases of development to encourage sustainable transport at the earliest possible date.
This will also ensure that current users of the route from nearby residential areas are not
prevented from using it during construction of the wider site.
Outside the development connections to the Active Travel network will be crucial,
particularly to the National Cycle Network route 88. A route sharing the Hospital entrance off
Lodge road, opposite College Crescent has been identified as a “suggested route” on the
Integrated Network Map and would provide the most suitable link onto NCN route 88.
The indicative plan and indication ofPage
106 contributions
for the upgrading of on-road cycle
38
links to Roman reach are encouraging. However, the provision of these at a width of 1m is

not acceptable under the Active Travel design guidance which specifies that a width of at
least 1.5m should be used for single direction cycle lane. However, given the width of the
available carriageway, the provision of such cycle lanes is not recommended.
Therefore, the possibility of constructing a single segregated shared use cycle/pedestrian
path should be fully explored along this link. It is felt that this is achievable along this road
providing a carriage way width of at least 6m is maintained.
The travel plan indicates that a total of 12 cycle parking stands will be provided to serve the
apartments; to encourage the use of these and cycling from residents of the apartments,
these cycle stand should be covered, secure and located in visible and accessible areas.
The provision of areas to support future cycle hire schemes is supported. This station
should be located in an area with links directly onto segregated or shared use paths.
In summary;





Further details on cycling routes throughout development are required,
Phasing of work should be adjusted so that route along the northern boundary is completed
at earliest stage possible.
Clarification on location and type of cycle storage that will be provided
Full consideration and enhancements of connecting route options needed.
HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (PROW OFFICER): As identified in the design and access
statement the path along the northern boundary of the site is a Public Footpath.
Works required to improve this path, and wider development will require a temporary
closure under Road Traffic Regulation ACT 1984. Application for this can be obtained
through Newport City Council for a 6 month closure, with the possibility of extending via
further application to Welsh Government. The duration of any closure should be kept to a
minimum to minimise disruption to existing users. Should the line of the existing route need
to be permanently moved at any point this will require a diversion order under the Highways
Act 1980 s119. Due to the enclosed nature and steep gradient of the section connecting to
Ponthir road, links from this to the proposed route through the woodland should be
considered in order to provide a more pleasant and enjoyable walking route.
HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (LANDSCAPE OFFICER): the site is challenging in terms of
site levels and some streets have significant longitudinal gradients. It is not clear how
significant level difference will be accommodated on narrow strips of land left between the
roads and houses. Retaining walls are likely to appear at frontages. Some footpaths have
significant cross falls of up to 10%. This is not suitable for all users. Some streets see
blank brick walls and houses without windows or decorative elements at ground floor level.
Landscape treatment of these areas would be beneficial. The current planting plan does
not confirm which trees are small, medium and large. A cross section with clearly shown
tree pits is required.
It is advised to condition the landscape plans for each phase separately. Some points
require clarification, the design of front private gardens is standardised and may include too
much shrub planting. The hedge should be retained but a more sustainable form of front
garden treatment should be considered. There are a number of narrow lanes with low
natural surveillance. Additional lighting to improve safety should be considered. Some
planting beds are very narrow, often under 1m wide and will struggle to establish and are
not recommended. Some large shrubs are considered in very small areas. A different
approach is required.
Screen planting for the long 1.5m high north east facing retaining wall would be beneficial.
Is the bugger between it and the swale to be planted? Improvements of the existing
arboretum are proposed as part of phase 4 but may be better included at phase 2 or 3.

Page 39

The existing footpath includes a 30m section with steep gradient. A fully DDA compliant
access route connecting to Ponthir Road is required. The detailed design of this whole
area should be conditioned.
Recommends that landscape plans be conditioned for each phase; a detailed level plan
with contours at 100mm intervals and scale bar be provided; plans showing existing trees
with root protection area; a plan showing service runs, boundary treatments, soft landscape
with planting schedule, tree pit sections including method of support as a minimum to show
– measures to protect surfaces from root damage, avenue tree planting, tree planting with
use of underground cells to increase root volume, hard landscape plan and 5 year
landscape management, likely water regime in landscape area.
HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (ECOLOGY OFFICER): concerned regarding proximity of
swales to woodland. The excavation and/or making up ground for the swale is likely to be
in the root protection area of the woodland in some area. The temporary protective fence
to the woodland will be within the working area for the swale and information is not
sufficient to assess the impacts of development on the retained woodland habitat. The
Arboricultural report also refers to retaining walls and includes a plan extract 7 which shows
a wall in the woodland (G23). Defer to the Tree Officer on this point.
A LEMP has been provided which includes suitable methods to manage habitats going
forward.
HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (TREE OFFICER):
The cross sections should clearly show the relationship between the swales and the trees .
The difference and extent of the existing ground level change needs to be clearly shown.
The layout plan still shows infringements of the RPAs by the proposed swales .
It is not clear how the swales are be constructed without altering the drainage patterns
around the trees.
Areas of tree canopy are above the swales currently – how is the excavation work to proceed
without damaging the tree canopies . This needs to be fully described within the AIA .
Regarding – the trim trail through the woodland – it is confirmed that this is to be of a no
dig construction and kept away from tree RPAs?
[all of the above is dealt with in proposed conditions to the satisfaction of the Tree Officer]
Landscaping
No landscaping works (including machine /hand cultivation) whatsoever, are to take place within
the RPAs of trees . This includes grass seeding/wildflower, shrub planting , tree planting etc .
This is to avoid both ground compaction and damage to the fragile tree roots near the ground surface.
Revised AIA December 2020
The language must be enforceable and rather than saying “should “ which sounds optional - the AIA
should read as a series of clear instructions.
[this is secured by condition to the satisfaction of the Tree Officer]
Significant Japanese Acer glade and standard Magolia grandifloras
There have been several discussions about these trees on site and transplanting them to the woodland areas –
Redrow agreed to this which is really good , however ,this does not appear to be mentioned in the AIA.
A methodology requires to be submitted for this together with after care .
[this is secured by proposed planning condition to the satisfaction of the Tree Officer]
The species ie Japanese maple of magnolia should be clearly indicated on the landscaping sheet .
TPO 53 Deodar Cedar indicated in black - above ground constraints need to be considered as part of
BS 5837:2012
By placing car parking bays beneath the canopy of the cedar – a species well known to shed branches ,
is poor practice and should be avoided .
It will result in repeated TPO applications to trim( at the very least) this tree thereby negating it’s value
as a TPO’s tree ie it’s canopy shape will be forced to change .
This is not acceptable and the car parking should be re sited .
HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (WASTE MANAGER): for 44 flats the bin store should be
large enough to house at least 13 x 1100ltr bins. In the event roads on site are not adopted
by NCC the applicant may need to indemnify NCC to enable a waste recycling collection
service to take place. Developers or
owners
of all new units will need to purchase bin
Page
40
provision to meet the Council’s specification.

LEISURE SERVICES MANAGER: the leisure contribution offered on the former Caerleon
Campus site, is well below that which would be expected if the calculations in the Outdoor
Play Space Provision SPG were fully applied. We understand that there are viability issues
with the proposed development and understand that the offer is reasonable in the
circumstances. However, the proposed contribution is too low for the development of a
premium formal sports facility, so in order to make best use of the fund we request a slight
amendment to wording for the offsite contribution to allow the fund to be able to be used on
off-site formal sport and leisure/play facilities. This would enable the funds to provide
improvements and new sport and play facilities in Caerleon, which would respond to public
need, benefit the whole community and be endorsed through consultation. Should the
development go ahead we will ensure that facility improvement with the sport and leisure
fund is clearly identified as a contribution from this development and is used to the best
possible effect within the community.
HOUSING DEVELOPMENT MANAGER: I support the proposal to provide residential
accommodation in this area. Newport's current Local Housing Market Assessment shows
an annual unmet need of 45 affordable housing units in the Caerleon ward. In addition to
this there are currently 1,643 households with active housing applications seeking
affordable housing in this area. The provision of an element of affordable accommodation
on this site will make a valuable contribution to meeting this need.
CHIEF EDUCATION OFFICER: The Education Service notes with some disappointment
that the education sum offered is well below that which would be expected were the SPG
fully applied. However we are aware of the viability issues regarding the proposed
development and understand that the offer is reasonable in the circumstances.
In respect of the triggers for instalments to be paid these seem reasonable. Regarding the
proposed wording we would suggest a small amendment: “The Education Sum shall be
used towards improvement/upkeep of primary schools and / or secondary schools within
serving the Caerleon ward.” This would enable the funds to be used to provide Welshmedium education facilities if deemed appropriate (the catchment Welsh-medium schools
are not in the Caerleon ward). Should the development go ahead we will ensure the
education contribution received is used to the best possible effect.
CONSERVATION OFFICER:
As you are aware, I have been involved in discussions with the applicant which have led to
amendments to the scheme; these have been summarised in the Environmental
Statement. In its current form, considered in the context of pre-existing buildings on the
site, I am content that the development should preserve the setting of the grade II listed
Former Caerleon Teacher Training College Building as well as the Caretaker’s / Gardener’s
Lodge, Principal’s Residence and Gate Piers which are also listed at grade II.
Whilst the proposed new houses are to a generic suburban design which makes no
reference to the historic architecture of the site or any elements of local distinctiveness, the
layout of the site has been properly considered to allow key views to and from the listed
building to be appreciated, and elements of the scheme such as the development of an
“avenue” to the historic main approach to the site and the loss of the large modern building
to the left in favour of more subservient buildings should in fact represent an enhancement
compared to the existing situation with somewhat utilitarian buildings along one side of the
main vista. It is unfortunate that there is no intention to reinstate the historic gates that were
attached to the listed piers or even keep the modern replicas, though I understand that the
removal of the modern gates has previously been consented.
In the most part, I consider that the precise impact of the proposals can be considered
through the listed building consent process and through the imposition of appropriate
conditions regarding hard and soft landscaping, boundary treatments and materials to be
used. However, I am concerned that the phasing plan allows for demolition of buildings
attached to the listed building within phase 2, but delays the making good until phase 3. It is
unclear why this needs to be the case and it poses a risk that the listed building may not be
made good if, for any reason, phase 3 does not progress in a timely fashion. Unless clear
reasoning can be provided for this approach and future restoration can be adequately
secured by legal agreement, the listed building should be made good prior to the
occupation of houses in the same phase that involves the demolition of those buildings
attached to it.
Additional Comments received November 2020:
updated phasing document is acceptable.

Page 41

DRAINAGE MANAGER: no response.

6.
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS
NEIGHBOURS:
All properties within 50m of the application site were consulted (127 properties), 2 site notices
displayed, and a press notice published in South Wales Argus. 49 objections and 1 letter of
support received in response to first consultation, 15 objections received in response to
reconsultations (most of these were follow ups to objections raised in first consultation). A
petition with 194 signatures objecting to the routing of HGV/construction traffic has also been
received. Points raised in neighbour comments include the following:





















Serious Air Quality issues already exist through the village of Caerleon that you as the
planning authority are aware of and to date have not come forward with any suggestions to
solve this serious health issue. An AQM Zone is in place in the High Street. Linked to the
above, serious traffic hold ups at peak times - particularly in relation to the two schools in
the village - again something as the planning authority you are aware of.
Caerleon village has a mediaeval street system, which is narrow and in some places there
are no pavements for pedestrians.
The proposed development will result in over 390 additional traffic movements per day
through the one way system in the village of Caerleon, where its development impact will
be mostly felt.
The Caerleon Road Bridge is increasingly unfit for purpose for the volume and size of
vehicles that are now using it.
The narrowness and access to the Bridge is unsafe and has resulted in many vehicle
collisions and as I write this on Saturday 4 January 2020- the Bridge is closed due to a
major traffic incident with Police and Fire Services in attendance , as a cyclist has been
struck and badly injured by a motor vehicle.
Having read the Planning Application Environmental Statement and can only surmise that it
is fake and bogus. The Planning Authority are clearly aware of the very serious
environmental issues that exist here in Caerleon and should challenge the nonsense
contained in the developer funded environmental statement.
Traffic movements have increased through the village, since the closure of the University.
Significant increases in traffic volume and types of traffic movements have the potential to
have detrimental impact on air quality, potentially creating new AQMAs or impacting on
existing ones.
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015) is about improving the social,
economic and cultural well-being of Wales.
The TA has not demonstrated that local facilities are within walking distance of the centre of
the development.
Traffic count data has been attained for assumed AM peak of 8-9 and PM peak of 5-6. This
fails to acknowledge local traffic factors and the fact that Caerleon experiences 3 distinct
traffic peaks. As any resident of Caerleon will attest to, the period of greatest congestion
and traffic queuing on the local road network occurs at the school pick up times. This leads
to a mid PM peak for traffic between 3-4 PM. During this period traffic queues regularly
extend through the High Street and over the river bridge. This period puts the greatest
stress on the AQMA and junction capacity throughout the Caerleon village.
The council should not accept the Transport Assessment or proceed to determine the
application without the 3-4PM period being investigated.
In the TA the data shows a stagnation of traffic growth and the applicant concludes from
the data that it suggests there been a modal shift. The TA acknowledges that Caerleon is
heavily car dependant and suggests that there is scope to influence and alter travel
behaviour, however the Welsh Government’s own data would refute this assertion.
Statistical evidence indicates that there has been no trend across Wales to move to any of
the active/sustainable travel modes available in Caerleon, if anything there has been a
reduction. It is also shown that car ownership and traffic is forecast to continue growing
through to 2050. There is no evidence to suggest that Caerleon is an exception to these
trends.
There has been a reduction in the level of bus service provision to Caerleon as part of
austerity measures resulting in reductions in bus subsidy.
There is no rail service in Caerleon so bus travel is the only form public transport available
in Caerleon.

Page 42































The cycle path that links Caerleon to Newport opened in 2011, so any one-off benefits to
changes in travel behaviour as a result of this being opened are likely to have
occurred prior to traffic count data recordings.
We won’t be able to park outside West Hill on College Crescent due to changes in parking
markings and safety concerns for junction of Station Road and Collect Crescent. There
should be enforced restriction on speeding along Station Road;
Reason for refusal (on last application) is still pertinent as the development will result in
significant increase in road traffic and decrease in air quality. Public transport infrastructure
to support the development is not in place. Schools are at capacity and local GPs can
barely cope with current demand. The proposal will offer no facilities to the wider
community and object on sustainability, lack of supporting infrastructure and negative effect
on wellbeing of residents;
New residents will have over 300 new cars, visitors and deliveries. Caerleon is noted for its
traffic problems. The additional traffic has to be assessed in terms of other developments.
The turning of vehicles from College Crescent to Ponthir Road has not been adequately
thought through. Likely to result in queues up to the junction with Ponthir Road and higher
levels of noise and air pollution to residents on College Crescent. A safer alternative would
be to create a new main exit further up Ponthir Road. A related concern is the health
impacts of pollution from traffic. Facilities in the village will be unable to cope without further
investment. Caerleon has lost access to the USW sports and community facilities that are
not being replaced.
High pollution is still a major concern, the secondary school is still suffering regarding its
facilities, the traffic is congested, access points to the village are still of high concern, and
peoples health.
Concerned an old access close to 78 Roman Way will be re-opened and become a rat run
and additional foot and car traffic generally will occur past house. Noise and air pollution
and health consequences of this.
There is no decent access into and out of Caerleon. Putting the odd electric bus on the
route through Caerleon cannot impact positively on the reason for refusal. If planning is
passed it smells of something amiss. Give the site to the community for their own use or a
site for a new comprehensive school.
I suffer from severe lung problems and am worried about exceptionally high air pollution
and poor air quality. This application does not honestly address and negate the reasons for
which it was previously refused.
No objection to development but Caerleon school catchment should be reduced to
Caerleon only to reduce traffic coming in, GP provision is at capacity, access routes into
and out of village are to stay the same but could developer consider new link road off
Ponthir Road or Roman Way. Can the open space include a park or maybe a
football/rugby pitch?
The proposal is contrary to SP1, SP2, GP2, GP4 and GP7.
The pans show 2 exits from development, one at Lodge Road that will add to queuing
traffic into Caerleon, and second at College Crescent where a right turn is required with
poor visibility onto Ponthir Road.
There is not sufficient affordable housing for families in Caerleon and there are plenty of
school places for children in catchment.
The building is derelict and an eyesore and do not want it sitting empty.
In favour so long as ample help to buy properties and a road leading onto Ponthir Road
instead of Lodge Road.
Bus timetable frequency and reliability is not conducive to travel by public transport.
Nox levels have not dropped since closure of campus.
Local Authorities have a legal obligation to adhere to EU legislation.
There are no leisure facilities in the village.
There will be noise from demolition activities.
Increased housing will put increased demands on inadequate drainage system.
Road surfaces in area are in a poor state or repair.
There is nothing for older children to do and hardly any amenity space for dogs and dog
walkers.
There is no rail station.
Cyclists will be put off using Lodge Road due to more traffic.
Page
43 people.
Caerleon bridge cannot provide access
to anymore






















There is irrefutable evidence that children’s respiratory health is affected by high air
pollution levels and these adverse effects are not reversed by small improvements in air
quality.
This contravenes the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act as will exacerbate well
documented issues regarding air quality.
The development will continue the change of the village from a distinct place with its own
identity towards becoming a characterless Newport dormitory suburb.
The council should refute the extrapolation of neutral traffic growth in to the future based
only on assumptions. Junction modelling should be undertaken on a prudent basis allowing
for normal growth factors.
The TA casually dismisses the local peak hour congestion as not significant however as
indicated prior it has not accounted for the major traffic peak of 3-4PM and has
extrapolated zero future traffic growth on erroneous assumptions.
The TA appears to be suggesting that mitigation measures to reduce the traffic impact of
the development will be achieved changing the travel behaviour of third parties namely
local schools, hospitals and existing local residents. There are serious flaws in this
approach and it should be disregarded. It cannot reasonably be conditioned and cannot
therefore be considered.
There is a strong local sentiment against this development and many residents are likely to
resist changing their travel behaviour in order to facilitate it.
All of the study data, as shown in table 4.3 is more than 6 years old and prior to the
implementation of The Active Travel Wales Act 2013.
The implementation of the cycle track in Caerleon was in 2011 supported by sustrans.
Sustrans have already been actively engaged in the area already to encourage walking and
cycling.
Has the applicant considered that the schools and hospitals may have already considered
or implemented travel plans and any benefits have already been attained?
Trip generation from the proposed development is compared to scenario 2, which is
considered to be the realistic future baseline scenario. In this comparison The TA shows an
increase in traffic at both the observed AM and PM peaks. But it also demonstrates it to be
significantly higher at the critical congestion times. Based on the data in table 5.9 there is
an overall AM increase of 3.1% and an overall PM increase of 14.7%.
Unfortunately the TA somewhat obfuscates the impact of the development by
amalgamating departures and arrivals in a single table 5.9. This however discounts the fact
that scenario 2 has a very different tidal flow to the proposed development.
It can clearly be seen that at the critical peaks the development is far from traffic neutral
and will significantly increase congestion in Caerleon. The development will clearly be
detrimental to the free flow of traffic in Caerleon at peak times and negatively impact the
Caerleon AQMA.
The projection of zero traffic growth is based on refutable assumptions regarding modal
shift. Junction modelling should be undertaken for the design year 2024 with consideration
of normal growth factors.
The applicant seeks to mitigate traffic pressures by changing the travel behaviour of third
parties. A solution that is not within the power of the applicant to control and cannot be
suitably conditioned or enforced. Furthermore the data referenced is out of date and the
applicant has not considered that the benefits aspired to in their proposed measures may
have been achieved already at a local level therefore nullifying the effect of these
measures.
the proposed route for deliveries is through the residential College Glade area, this glade
was never intended for HGV traffic, we have witnessed several Newport City bus accidents
outside our house, one very recently hit a neighbour’s parked van!
Should further accidents inevitably happen on all of the residential roads included on this
suggested route, the blame would be entirely attributed to a misguided planning decision
should it ever be granted.

6.2 COUNCILLOR HUGHES AND GILES: We thank those who have shared their views and
concerns with us, which we have taken into account. We, therefore, wish to object to the
above application on the following grounds:
Air Pollution –

Page 44

•
•
•

Caerleon is an ancient historic town internationally renowned for its Roman remains, which
attracts over 80,000 tourists and visitors annually. Regardless of its extremely restricted
road infrastructure, there has been significant housing development resulting in huge and
consistent increases in traffic and its areas of significant air pollution (High Street and
Castle Street), in the designated Air Quality Management Area. Air pollution is already
constantly well above current EU limit resulting in residents and hundreds of school pupils
experiencing air pollution every day. Health risks associated with air pollution are very well
documented including increased respiratory illness which has serious adverse health
impacts particularly on childhood health due to the smaller lung volume in children and
ultrafine particle concentrations, as well as other diseases such as heart disease and
cancer.
Pollution is also increasing in other areas such as the junction of New Road and Caerleon
Road. Studies by Newport City Council have identified the amount of traffic and the type of
road infrastructure result can reduce traffic flow, increasing congestion, which raises the
pollution levels. This is very obvious at peak times, particularly with school traffic and,
despite works that have been undertaken by Newport City Council such as removal of a
bus stop, extension of another bus stop, improved road markings, 20mph limit and school
crossing the serious impact of any increase in pollution levels arising from the development
cannot be underestimated nor overlooked. Even at present levels further mitigation is
urgently needed.
In addition since 2016 the drop in traffic using the Campus site has been negated by the
new developments on Ponthir Road and the further builds along Lodge Road/Trinity View.
Added to this there has been increased traffic at the St Cadoc’s site.
There is very little parking space in Caerleon and irresponsible and inconsiderate parking is
widespread which continues to put pedestrians, including school children, at risk.
Traffic and Parking
Protecting the whole community Caerleon is already overdeveloped, with very little open
public space other than that owned by CADW. Clearly this proposed development will
result in hundreds of additional car journeys adding to air pollution, traffic and parking
problems.
Every street in Caerleon is affected by each new home built and the cars associated with it.
All roads are adversely affected by poor traffic flow, including ingress and egress on to
main roads to Newport areas and Cwmbran, and further on to the M4. Pollution and traffic
levels in New Road and Belmont Hill, Caerleon, across the bridge from the main town, are
increasing to significant levels. Traffic jams from the Ship Inn up Belmont Hill are now a
daily occurrence, both morning and evening, with traffic queues causing regular tails back
over the top of Belmont Hill and congestion on New Road. Given the narrow rail bridge on
Lodge Road increase traffic could result in increased congestion.
The new hospital build in Llanfrechfa is due to open, which can be accessed via Ponthir
Road, Caerleon. We have raised our concerns directly with the Chief Executive of Aneurin
Bevan University Health Board that visitors, staff and any other associated vehicles should
not use Caerleon and a ‘drive through’ when there is access via the dual carriageway. We
were assured this is being taken into account and all information and advice will include
such directions.
A main concern and criticism that have been raised over decades is the fact that planning
applications are decided as individual cases and do not take into account unique conditions
such as those found in Caerleon. It is not about Nimbyism; it is about protecting and valuing
the whole community before every inch of it is built on!
The effects of each new development is increasingly detrimental.
Public concerns also continue in regard to:
Caerleon’s roads and historic bridge by increases traffic and heavy vehicles.
Pressure on local schools: Caerleon Comprehensive School, Charles Williams Church in
Wales Primary School and Caerleon Lodge Hill Primary School. It is vital that there are
sufficient funds raised via any 106 Agreement.
GP and dental services: - these are already stretched by the existing population, with
residents reporting 4 week waits for an appointment. The removal of the sports facility
continues to be strongly criticised, particularly at a time public health is such a priority.
Public Transport
Public transport is very limited across Caerleon, the town centre fairs better than other
areas such as Home Farm and the Lodge.

Page 45

The bus timetable frequency is considered to be unreliable and in places infrequent which
is not conducive to travel by public transport
The need for a train station/ Halt in Caerleon is widely accepted and the further
development of the walk and cycleway route, to include the campus site would be highly
beneficial. Councillor Giles was involved with the original proposed route through St
Cadoc’s hospital, which unfortunately was refused by the Health Authority despite its health
and community benefits. It is very much hoped that the walk/cycleway can be completed.
There must be an effective Active Travel Plan.
Design and development
The campus site is positioned in a key location in the town, joining the historic central area
and the ‘newer’ areas to the north. Any additional traffic resulting from a new development
would predominantly either be adding to the pollution problems in the centre or adding to
the traffic and congestion problems in Pillmawr Lane.
Nonetheless, it is clear that the site cannot remain as it is.
As we have stated and submitted in previous applications there is an absolute necessity
that the development is of the highest quality. There is disappointment that the house
designs do not appear to reflect the Flagship development which was expected, and
Redrow has successfully provided elsewhere with their more prestigious innovative design
and building, in keeping with Caerleon’s conservation area, scheduled monument status
which would enhance Caerleon as a whole.
The mix of housing proposed must also meet the needs of the community whether
providing sufficient affordable houses at the 40% recommended level, assisting first time
buyers or those who need larger properties. It should be fully inclusive.
It must meet the expectations of the Well-being and Future Generations Act and meet
Conservation Area status to ensure the highest level of environmental, ecological and wide
biodiversity benefits.
The general open site design including the pitch area, landscaping, arboretum area and
active play provision, ‘shared space’ approach, 20 mph speed restriction and cable
provision will be a positive addition to the community. We also welcome the electric car
chargers for each property for all properties and request that this is developed throughout
the town. Unfortunately, maintaining the wall around the site will counteract the open
space, inclusive, approach that is presented for the site itself and should be removed or at
least reduced.
The conversion of the listed buildings, demolition and remedial work adjacent to the listed
buildings and the subsequent conversion work must be implemented in keeping with the
planned timescale. Lorry and van movements to and from the site and noise as a result of
demolition and building of the new properties over a period of time need to be kept to the
absolute minimum.
The Travel Plan must effectively mitigate the potential impact on the road system, traffic,
pedestrian and cycling safety including safe routes to schools and Caerleon AQMA. We
note the submitted baseline which would provide a considerably lower level of traffic impact
on our community.
There are concerns about access and egress to the site as well as the proposed right
turning traffic at the College Crescent/ Ponthir Road junction and the knock on effect along
Ponthir Road and Station Road. Station Road constantly suffers from interruptions in traffic
flow due to parking on both sides of the road, particularly near the shops at the mini
roundabout junction with High Street. In addition, there are two junctions onto the side
streets, Broadwalk and Uskvale. It already requires traffic to give way while at the same
time concentrating of vehicles negotiating turning traffic and pedestrians visiting the shops,
crossing junctions. In addition the proposed two way access to College Crescent will
require turning on the top of the incline which is also a sharp bend. We do not believe the
proposed mitigation to the ban will be sufficient and taking into account that when there
Page
46changed for safety reasons into a one way
university traffic using College Crescent
it was

junction. Public safety should not be compromised for convenience. Pedestrian crossings
at site entrances and a mini roundabout will improve pedestrian safety.
Given our ongoing concerns particularly in relation to traffic, congestion and air pollution,
we, therefore, request that this application is refused.
COUNCILLOR WATKINS: With regard to the application by Redrow to develop the
Campus site in Caerleon please note my comments as follows.
As per previous failed application re this site my concerns are in respect of the
infrastructure issues affecting the development.
I feel this site will need to be developed at some stage and probably in the not too far
distant future, as otherwise it will simply degrade, a process I am led to believe which may
already be happening. However my concerns giving rise to objection of the application are
in respect of a number of issues
Traffic volumes and air quality are a very big concern given the AQMA currently in place is
recording high levels of pollution throughout the one way system, a system which will have
to be used by traffic travelling to and from the Campus site.
Education, an influx of this number of dwellings will put pressure on schools in Caerleon
where capacity currently is giving rise to concern.
Health provision is currently very stretched, there are 3 weekly waits for routine
appointments at local GP surgeries , not an acceptable situation currently and the GP's
working here are readily admitting they are struggling to cope. An influx of a considerable
number of new patients will be a pressure which cannot be met.
I am mindful that there is a need for more housing particularly more social housing in this
area and the application as it stands does not prioritise enough properties in that category.
Finally I would not be raising objection should all the infrastructure concerns be met and
resolved however as things stand I cannot support the application.
Additional comments received December 2020:
The proposal to access this site as an alternative to vehicles travelling through the village is
ludicrous!! The air quality already poor and a matter for serious concern through high St
and the whole of the one way system will of course be further impacted by years of HGV’s
travelling daily on that route, however the alternative route proposed is totally unacceptable
on the grounds it will see these vehicles and in high volumes travelling through a residential
area, an area I might add which consists of high quality housing with owners paying
substantial sums in Council tax and entitled to a peaceful environment.
To push vehicles via this new proposed route is absolutely unacceptable and I am fully
supportive of the petition against the proposal which I believe has been submitted to you. I
am referring of course to College Glade, Eastfield Road, Anthony Drive and Lodge Road
7.
7.1
7.1.1

ASSESSMENT
General
Having regard to the information provided in support of this application and the significant
amount of comment provided by consultees, there are several matters that are to be
considered material to the evaluation of the proposals. Some of these are positive and clear
merits of the scheme. Some of these are potential negative impacts. The following sections
of this report will provide more detail on the project itself, set out the merits of the scheme
and officer consideration of these, and confirm those matters to be considered alongside the
planning merits. Some of these are considered to be key (primary issues) to the
determination of the application, others less so (secondary issues). Those considered key
or primary are generally considerations where consultees have raised objections to the
information supplied, were reasons for refusal previously or, having regard to the fact that
this project is EIA development, have previously been considered likely to have significant
effects on the environment. Secondary or lesser issues are those matters that are material
considerations considered unlikely to have significant effects on the environment, were not
reasons for refusal previously or those matters where technical consultees have raised no
objections or matters that can be resolved or mitigated by planning condiiton if necessary.
The report will set out officer consideration of the planning balance (i.e. the weight to be
afforded planning merits and objections) in this case before making its recommendation to
the Planning Committee.
Page 47

7.1.2

The application is for the development as described by this report and whilst officers are
mindful that the community may have its own ideas for the best future use of the campus
site, some of which are reflected in the neighbour representations summarised in this report,
officers have considered the development applied for. Discussion of alternative options
considered by the applicant occurs in the Environmental Statement.

7.2

The Proposal

7.2.1

What is the residential development proposed?
As confirmed in the report introduction, this is a major development project. Unlike the
previous submission, this is a full application. Previously, the Council considered a hybrid
submission (part full, part outline) with the elements relating to the listed building for example,
submitted in full form. These details remain the same this time and no changes have been
made to the conversion proposals for the listed buildings except for the conversion of a
detached existing building at the rear of the main building to 2 apartments (previously
proposed as a communal space). However, we now have full details of the remainder of the
scheme rather than just an illustrative masterplan with matters reserved for subsquent
consideration as we did previously. The breakdown of all residential units proposed are as
follows:

7.2.2

How does this compare to the previously refused application and the heritage asset works?

Page 48

This compares to a total of 310 residential units in the previous refused application (47 in
converted listed buildings and 263 new build). Key elements of this application and
differences between it and the previously refused submission are summarised in the
introduction. Notably, no objections were previously raised to the partial demolition,
refurbishment and conversion of the listed buildings on site (the heritage assets) and the
retention of the listed gate piers. Nothing has altered in respect of these aspects and listed
building consent has been given for these works (excluding the listed building outbuilding
conversion to 2 apartments) over the intervening period. The buildings were vacated by the
University in 2016 but parts of the main building in particular have been used on and off since
then by a film production company. The buildings are not currently at risk and the site is
currently secure but clearly the retention and re-use of the listed buildings is welcomed in
principle.
7.2.3

The list description for the principal building states: “Caerleon Teacher Training College
building is listed for its special architectural interest as a well preserved example of early
C20 educational architecture, a teacher training college of fine quality and character. Its
form and appearance reflects the functions of the College and the requirements of teacher
training during this period.” The other buildings are also stated to have similar architectural
interest, and all are considered to have group value.

7.2.4

Areas of the building to be demolished range in age and include the sports hall, a fairly recent
construction given planning permission in 2007 and the Rathmell building that has been
described elsewhere as a “cascade of steel and glass”. The latter is a dominant feature of
the site when viewed from wider range vantage points to the north and west in particular. It
appears as a glazed, tiered and angular extension to the more traditional form of the main
listed building. It may be well regarded by some but its form and materials jar with the main
building and it offers an imposing aspect from the internal road and is in a poor state of repair.
Its removal along with other later additions open up the opportunity to enhance the setting of
the main listed building.

7.2.5

Less works are required to the smaller listed builidngs on site that stand either side of the
central driveway to the teaching block’s (the main listed building) main entrance. These
buildings along with the listed gate piers, Felthorpe House (an attractive building located
adjacent to the listed gate piers but not identified in the Cadw listing schedule) and the layout
of the vehicular and pedestrian access routes and open spaces around the listed buildings
make for a very impressive setting to proposed development. The heritage assets are part
of the site’s identity and their character and context inform the wider development. The land
is now under the ownership of a single housebuilder who has expressed a wish to develop
the site in its entirety and whilst there is no reason at all to doubt this prospect there is also
no planning control mechanisms that could robustly make the applicant develop out the
whole site. There will always be uncertainty in the housing and business markets that may
affect housebuilder’s plans. That said, this scheme is clearly developed with a single
housebuilder in mind and has all the hallmarks of a Redrow development.

7.2.6. A phased programme of development including the refurbishment of the listed building shows
that it is the intention of Redrow to not allow occupation of all the new build houses until the
listed building conversion is complete and whilst it is reasonable to include a degree of
flexibility to the build programme having regard to the work and costs involved in heritage
conversion, it is also appropriate to ensure that this aspect of this scheme is appropriately
secured and that there is incentive to undertake building repairs and making good (postdemolition) in the early stages and building conversion completion prior to all new units being
occupied to ensure the buildings do not fall into a worse state during the construction
programme and conversion works are completed as part of the full scheme. Works to the
listed building and the timing of these is also controlled by the listed building consent. It is
proposed that the repair and making good is completed by final occupation in phase 3 and
no more than 165 of the 170 new units will be occupied by the time the refurbishment and
conversion works to the listed buildings are completed and units capable of occupation. The
phasing plan provided is shown below with separate phasing document that clarifies the
intentions with the listed building over the construction period:

Page 49

The works to the listed buildings proposed by end of phase 3 are as follows:

The proposals are considered to comply with Policy SP9 of the Local Development Plan
which requires the Council to seek the conservation, enhancement and management of
recognised sites in all proposals and are in line with the extant listed building consent.
7.2.7

What about open space?
In addition to the heritage assets, the former rugby pitch is to reconfigured to provide an area
of open space to include a formal kick about grassed area and equipped area of play. This
aligns with the preferences of the Head of City Services (Leisure) in terms of long term public
usability and maintenance. It has the added benefit of maintaining an open vista to the listed
buildings from College Crescent access. It is compatible with Placemaking objectives that
seek to reinforce publicly accessible and inclusive spaces for day to day kick about, walking
and meeting up. Notwithstanding, the pitch is protected by reason of its previous function as
a playing field (policy CF1) but also as an Environmental Space (policy CE3) for the purposes
of the Local Development Plan. It is not currently in use and has not been available for use
since the University closed. However it forms part of the Council’s current formal space
calculations for the ward. Retention of open space here is welcomed and the current layout
is considered to serve a purpose and be integral to the development. For the purposes of
Page
50 the environmental qualities of the site and
policy CE3 the proposal is considered
to improve

the pitch will be replaced with a recreational and open space resource that is considered
more inclusive than the existing facility. Consquently, policy CE3 is met.
7.2.8

For policy CF1 of the LDP it is clear that the pitch is not surplus to requirements as the ward
has a deficit of formal space provision, irrespective of the fact the pitch is not accessible at
present. However, an off site contribution towards the provision of alternative formal play
provision has been agreed through section 106 discussion. The way in which this money is
spent and the type of formal play facility it contributes towards, will be a matter for the Council.
In its current form, the pitch is unlikely to prove attractive to local sports clubs as has no
associated changing or welfare facilities. Furthermore, a pitch will be less useful to local
residents generally as sport usage will generally put off users such as dog walkers and
informal child’s play and add long term pressure for floodlighting and fencing to maximise its
sports potential thereby raising potential long term concerns for its wider accessibility and
residential amenity considerations. The current layout better integrates the open space into
the development and will provide play facilities and space that the wider public can also
access. The proposed arrangement has added long term maintenance benefits for the
Council. The proposed arrangement is considered to be more aligned with current
placemaking principles. Therefore, whilst it is considered that CF1 is not strictly met, the
policy clearly relates to the overarching SP2 (Health) and SP12 (Community Facilities)
policies that seek to retain or enhance existing community facilities and maximise positive
contribution to health and wellbeing through, amongst other things, green infrastructure. We
know that in the past, use of the pitch has been in conjunction with the University or University
facilities but going forward this will no longer apply and it is the intention for the Council to
manage and maintain this space in the long term with appropriate commuted sums secured
by way of section 106 legal agreement. A contribution towards off site formal provision is
however necessary to mitigate harm in this respect. In addition to this on site formal area an
arboretum is proposed in the north eastern section of the site where an embankment runs
down from the existing on site access road to Ponthir Road. This area includes a number of
protected trees and is a welcome green space on the embankment and runs alongside part
of the public right of way that adjoins the site’s northern boundary. It offers opportunities for
informal walks and play amongst an ecologically rich environment. This area is also
proposed to be passed to the Council for management and maintenance with associated
commuted sums. The applicants will provide a trim trail through this area with opportunities
for exercise and this part of the arboretum can also reasonably be regarded as formal open
space provision (the remainder is more akin to woodland). Although the trim trail will likely
not be suitable for those with mobility impairments due to topography, it will provide an
alternative access to the existing footpath and added permeability between the development
and the Ponthir Road alongside a public recreational facilty/space. The Landscape Officer
has encouraged a DDA complaint route in this area but it poses significant engineering
difficulties and an over engineered route through this area will potentially affect amenity, tree
and ecological factors and it is considered that the more naturalistic trail proposed is
acceptable.
Maintenance of other open areas within the site and notably the formal gardens around the
listed building will be by private management company and this is acceptable in principle but
would need to be further controlled by planning condition if permission were to be given as
the openness and formality of these gardens enhance the setting of the listed building and
contribute to development amenity in general. To enclose such spaces with high fencing for
example would be prejudicial to this benefit, albeit that it is accepted that during the
construction phases, appropriate protection of the listed building assets will likely include
temporary hoardings.

7.2.9






In terms of open space, the proposals are as follows:
Equipped Playspace – 0.04 Ha (406m2)
Informal Playspace – 1.5 Ha (14,679m2)
Formal – 0.9 Ha (9,008m2) – the existing pitch is 0.94ha
Additional/woodland space – 2 Ha (19,793m2)
Total Open Space – 4.44 Ha

Page 51

Based upon an approximate generated population of 663 people (based upon market unit
numbers) the scheme generates a total provision of 1.2ha excluding informal space as the
ward has a surplus of this type of open space. Broken down this is 0.18ha of equipped
play space and 1.03ha of formal space. In terms of informal space, the proposal is well
provided for, however the scheme falls short on formal and equipped space. Whilst
additional open space is provided and the scheme overall provides well above the total
requirement of open space against adopted standards, the formal and equipped deficit is
noted and the applicants propose to provide off site financial contributions to leisure
(£350,000) along with dedication of formal and equipped spaces to the Council with an
associated £352,000 commuted sum payment based on calculations provided by the
leisure service. It is also noted that the existing pitch (formal provision) is comparable in
size to the proposed formal spaces. Overall, Caerleon has a deficit of formal open space
provision to serve the existing population. However, on balance it is considered that with
the implementation of the proposed spaces, the enhancements to and dedication of some
open space to the Council, associated commuted sums for future maintenance and
contribution to upgrade or enhance existing formal provision in the locality, the scheme is
acceptable and policies SP2 and SP12 are met in this respect.
7.2.10 What is the impact of new built development on the setting of the heritage assets, existing
open spaces and public vantage points?
In addition to potential merits associated with the retention of open space in lieu of the former
pitch, the absence of built development here offers visual merit particularly from the vantage
point at the listed gate piers and it offers the potential to maintain high amenity value by
maintaining a green landscaped outlook and a general feeling of space. Buildings to the
opposite side of the access road off College Crescent are currently student halls of residence
to be demolished as part of this proposal. There is no objection to their demolition and prior
approval has already been given for these works. This approach to the listed buildings from
College Crescent is an important view point and the proposal for an avenue style street with
tree planting and verges on both sides, the removal of existing hard surfaced parking bays,
use of more traditional boundary treatments such as hedges and horizontal bar fencing,
consistency of materials and building line, consistent voids between units, the setting back
of garages to minimise the intrusion of parked cars forward of the dwellings, are all welcome
and has the support of the Conservation Officer. The robustness of planting here and
elsewhere is critical to design quality overall.

Photomontage by applicant – view from College Crescent gate piers looking up to main listed
building
7.2.11 The Conservation Officer has advised that he is “content that the development should
preserve the setting of the grade II listed Former Caerleon Teacher Training College
Building as well as the Caretaker’s / Gardener’s Lodge, Principal’s Residence and Gate
Piers which are also listed at grade II. Whilst the proposed new houses are to a generic
suburban design which makes no reference to the historic architecture of the site or any
elements of local distinctiveness, the layout of the site has been properly considered to
allow key views to and from the listed building to be appreciated, and elements of the
scheme such as the development of an “avenue” to the historic main approach to the site
and the loss of the large modern building
the left in favour of more subservient buildings
Pageto52

should in fact represent an enhancement compared to the existing situation with somewhat
utilitarian buildings along one side of the main vista. “
7.2.12 It is proposed to develop the existing redgra parking area adjacent to the Lodge Road
access point and situated between the rugby pitch and Lodge Road itself. The established
landscaped belt situated along the site boundary with the rear of properties along College
Crescent is shown as retained and the embankment between the redgra car park and
Lodge Road is retained. The site of the existing security lodge will be redeveloped to form
a crescent-like row of detached dwellings set round a water storage feature. The existing
Kegie building will be demolished. This was a purpose built 1600sqm teaching block
completed in approximately 2006 with consent also granted under application reference
05/0808 for a second phase of 2400sqm. Officers consider that as phase I was
implemented and occupied, the consent for phase 2 remains live and can lawfully occupy
D1 uses (Non-residential Institutions) which includes clinics, health centres, crèches, day
nurseries, day centres, schools, art galleries (other than for sale or hire), museums,
libraries, halls, places of worship, church halls, and law courts. The Kegie building is set
over 3/4 stories on a sloping site with its gable end facing the Lodge Road access. Its
removal will allow for a more consistent form to the development and potentially afford
better views of the listed buildings backdrop when seen from Lodge Road access.
Opportunities for visual enhancement in this area are particularly acute. The mass of
student blocks, the security lodge, the modern kegie and the redgra combined, contribute
little to the appearance of the site from Lodge Road. The introduction of green space and
well designed housing and associated infrastructure will create development that better
integrates with neighbouring development in accordance with policy GP6. Although the
existing wall to Lodge Road and St Cadoc’s Close is to remain, landscaping is proposed
behind this and views into the site from the Lodge Road access will be opened up by the
removal of the security building. Although houses here will be elevated compared to the
level of Lodge Road, they are 2 storey compared to the 4 storey student blocks and the 3-4
storey Kegie building. Notwithstanding, boundary treatments will be important in this area
and it is recommended they be controlled by condition. Overall the demolition and
associated redevelopment of the site will have an urban regeneration benefit (in
accordance with policy SP18) by reusing a vacant site, providing residential opportunities in
the urban area and developing community spaces.
7.2.13 Further along into St Cadocs Close the wall ends and a Laurel hedge is present. There is
no plan to extend the wall but the hedge will be removed to provide an enlarged green
verge/bank. From its junction with St Cadocs Close, the footpath/right of way will be
widened to 3m to allow cycle access (it is currently 2m wide). This widened right of way will
continue to Bellin Close. An emergency access is required by the Head of City Services
and will be provided on site via a route otherwise for use as shared cycleway/footway. This
access will enable fire tenders to access via this route should the main estate road be
blocked during an emergency event thereby obstructing access to some phases of
development. The Head of City Services requires details of this emergency access to be
secured by planning condition. Existing fencing that segregates the site from the footpath
effectively channelling the path between the rear fences of houses on Roman Way and the
palisade fencing surrounding the site, will be removed. This is beneficial in terms of the
amenity of the footpath/cycleway and the integration of the proposed development with the
wider community and accords with policy GP4 (general development principles – highways
and accessibility) criteria i), ii), iv), v) and placemaking principles.

Page 53

Photo montage provided by applicant showing Lodge Road access with new housing and
water storage feature
7.2.14 To the rear of the security building is the existing halls of residence proposed to be
demolished. Existing green areas that include protected trees are shown as being retained.
These will be informal open areas managed by private management company and will
contribute to the overall amenity of the estate. This theme is continued to the rear of the
main building with existing parking areas adjoining the sports centre, the sports centre and
associated tennis courts all being developed for housing. No new vehicular access points
are proposed however the pedestrian access along the public pathway off St Cadocs Close
leading to Ponthir Road will be retained and several crossing points established from the
footpath to site along the northern boundary.

Photo montage provided by the applicant showing the junction of St Cadocs Close and Lodge
Road with the proposed new development and retained wall
7.2.15 An arboretum is retained in the northern corner of the site where the existing steep
embankment down to Brooklea exists. Much of this area is constrained by a woodland Tree
Preservation Order and topography. A landscape plan, Arboricultural assessment and
ecological management plan have all been provided and this area, amongst other open
spaces on site will support the protection of biodiversity and ecological connectivity, mitigate
potential impacts arising from the proposed development and ensure no significant adverse
effects on areas of nature conservation and landscape quality overall. Trees and woodland
of amenity value are to be retained and works to secure the development and associated
drainage requirements will require suitable protective measures and methodology to
safeguard these important assets. Outstanding queries in relation to the effects of swale
construction on nearby trees can be mitigated by planning condition. The development is
Page 54
considered to accord with policy GP5.

7.2.16 Several respondents have referred to possible construction vehicle access here (as an
alternative to the route proposed) but as the photos below suggest, topographical and
tree/ecological constraint factors make this option inappropriate.

Extract from sections drawings below showing typical sloping street alongside arboretum area and
associated “stepping” of units to accommodate slope along with part retaining walls at boundaries
and/or frontages. Officers consider that access up and along the arboretum area on the right of the
section shown below would not be acceptable.

What are the key design principles?

Page 55

7.2.17 The applicant confirms the key principles of development in the DAS as follows:

7.2.18 All the above are sound and acceptable principles for the site’s future development.
Planning Policy Wales and current guidance on Placemaking confirm that the development
management system needs to support developments which are sited in the right locations,
where they can be easily accessed by active and sustainable travel modes without the
need for a car. It must maximise opportunities for people to make sustainable and healthy
travel choices for their daily journeys and leisure. This is in line with policy SP1 of the
adopted LDP. There are six principles of the Placemaking Wales Charter to which Newport
City Council is a signatory. These are:
People and Community
Location
Movement
Public Realm
Identity
Mix of uses
7.2.19 The planning system must ensure the chosen locations and resulting design of new
developments support sustainable travel modes and maximise accessibility by walking and
cycling (location and movement principles). New development should improve the quality of
place and create safe, social, attractive neighbourhoods where people want to walk, cycle
and enjoy. We should not be promoting sites which are unlikely to be well served by
walking, cycling and public transport. This will always be more challenging in suburban
environments where public transport options are likely to be less in number and range and
local facilities less able to cater for the everyday needs of inhabitants. A sustainability
appraisal has been provided for consideration in this case and updated subject to
comments from the Head of City Services who is satisfied that the site scores points for
sustainability that will allow reductions in parking expectations. This is discussed further
below. In this case, the site is currently an enclosed site, not open to the public and
occupying a large and prominent elevated
It is surrounded by Lodge Road to the
Page position.
56

west, Ponthir Road to the east, College Crescent to the south and a public right of way to
the north. Opportunities to open up the site to encourage routes through, into and out of
the site exist along all boundaries. These have the potential to enhance existing pedestrian
routes from Lodge Road to Ponthir Road in particular. Whilst people cannot be made to
walk, cycle or use the bus, developments that facilitate a move towards more sustainable
modes of travel and an active leisure and recreational environment, are to be encouraged.
More direct access to the local cycle network leading to central Newport is constrained by
third party land matters and has been subject to much discussion with officers.
Unfortunately, a favoured direct route to the cycle network can only be achieved over third
party land and cannot be progressed at this time. A scheme to white line part of Lodge
Road has been rejected by the Head of City Services who considers it to be unsafe. In
short, no changes are proposed to link the site to the national cycle network as no viable
options exist at present to enable this to happen. Whilst this is disappointing, it is not critical
to the acceptability of the scheme.
7.2.20 What about the amenity of future occupiers and general layout and density considerations?
The proposed mix of dwelling types is favoured and will meet a range of housing needs.
Having regard to the developable area of the site, the density appears to be approximately
25 dwellings per hectare which falls below the 30 dwellings per hectare requirement set out
in policy H3. However, this policy acknowledges that on site constraints can often justify
lower density and in this case we have constraints relating to open space, protected trees
and root protection areas, listed buildings and their settings and site topography. Add to
this the known concerns relating to off site traffic and air quality in the locality and minimum
density expectations are reasonably reduced and the proposal is considered to accord with
policy H3.
7.2.21 New houses will be two storey with the only lower and higher elements being the listed
buildings. The materials proposed across the site are predominantly brick (2 types) with
some roughcast render on some front elevations. Roof tiles will be red and grey (3 types
total). The proposed materials are considered acceptable and compatible with good design
policy GP6. Garden sizes are considered acceptable and whilst some gardens will include
slopes, overall the layout makes best use of this space and many gardens are generously
proportioned with many also having open green space directly adjoining their property or a
very short distance from it.
7.2.22 On site road layout shows a clear hierarchy of main, shared and private roads with several
cul de sacs proposed (public realm principle of placemaking). There are no objections to
the on site road layout from the Head of City Services and where necessary, track testing
has been provided for consideration and conditions recommended to deal with any matters
still outstanding. Refuse collection points have been identified and the Waste Manager has
raised no objection but notes that access to private or shared spaces will require an
associated indemnity agreement if Council refuse vehicles are to use these for bin
collection. The applicant has confirmed that access by refuse vehicles to shared or private
drives will not be required as all bin collection points are within suitable walk distance for
refuse operatives from the carriageway. The proposal is considered to accord with policy
W3.
7.2.23 In landscape terms the site is fortunate in having well established landscape features on
site that add significant amenity value to it and have the potential to facilitate a high quality
redevelopment scheme. Many of the established tree areas and many individual trees are
protected by way of TPO thereby constraining the overall area for future development.
Some trees on site represent the only examples or the best examples of their species in
Newport. The landscape proposals along with sustainable urban drainage features provide
a green buffer along the site perimeter that is beneficial to the amenity on site and wider
amenity for development that borders the site and accessible spaces within and that border
the site. The layout itself is considered to have no adverse effects on neighbouring
residents (wider highways and air quality matters are considered separately) in terms of
overlooking, visual amenities of nearby occupiers, the character and appearance of the
surrounding area, loss of light or overbearing effect. It seeks to design out opportunities for
Page
57and provide acceptable standards of
crime and disorder, encourage inclusive
design

amenity for future occupiers. These factors accord with public realm, mix of uses and
identity principles of the placemaking charter and accords with policy GP2. The
fundamental principles laid out in the supporting information to this application show an
awareness of these features and associated sensitivities and protected trees are shown as
being retained.

7.2.24 The proposal results in a reduction in the amount of impermeable hardstanding within the
site and therefore a reduction in run-off volumes. Further betterments to drainage will be
required to satisfy the sustainable drainage approving body (SAB) as part of its, separate
application process. At time of writing, pre application dialogue with the SAB has been
completed and an application submitted and is pending determination. The Planning
Authority will not duplicate the control of the SAB but is suitably reassured that the scheme
being considered for planning is consistent with the drainage proposals before the SAB and
any changes required as a result of this separate permitting process will not fundamentally
alter the scheme being considered.
7.3

The Scheme Merits (key elements underlined for ease of reference)

7.3.1

The conversion of the heritage assets is a merit of the scheme and the retention and re-use
of these buildings is both encouraged and supported. Having regard to consideration of the
heritage assets elsewhere in this report, this is a merit of the scheme afforded significant
weight and the retention of these assets and their re-use are a major contributor to the
site’s identity and a key asset in its overall development from a placemaking perspective.

7.3.2

The site is previously developed land located within the urban settlement for the purposes
of the adopted LDP and proposes mixed use development with a variety of house sizes
and types. This development is acceptable in principle subject to mitigation of constraints
and potentially significant environmental effects. Its sustainability is a matter to be
considered having regard to material considerations but the site is accessible and the
proposal includes elements to improve accessibility and facilitate modal shift. These
aspects are merits of the scheme. Planning Policy Wales provides national planning policy
in relation to sustainability whilst the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act places a legal
responsibility upon decision makers to undertake its duties sustainably. It sets out a range
of objectives that Authority’s should address in their decision making. This is further
supported by Newport’s published Local Wellbeing Plan which identifies improvement of air
quality and health as separate priorities along with others relevant to this proposal. One of
the 4 identified objectives of the Council is to ensure Newport has healthy, safe and
resilient environments. In terms of the Wellbeing Plan identifying interventions to encourage
the use of ultra-low/zero emission vehicles for example it identifies support for the
installation of electric charging points across the city and to support and encourage the
Newport Taxi fleet to move to zero Page
(or ultra-low)
58 emission taxis and develop a HGV/LGV
fuel economy partnership scheme. In 2019 Newport City Council adopted a Sustainable







7.3.3

Travel Strategy that brings together the aims of carbon reduction, air quality improvement
and noise reduction from our transport network. Work will continue on delivering the
strategy in Caerleon and across the city.
Progress so far includes:
Air Quality Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)
Sustainable Travel Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)
Supporting Newport Transport implement electric buses (through Caerleon)
Installing Electric Vehicle Charging Points in the public domain (that will include Caerleon)
Promoting Clean Air Day and other public engagement projects
Joining the EcoStars Scheme
Whilst the above matters are not part of this proposal, they are relevant considerations
when having regard to air quality and sustainable travel considerations in particular.
In terms of amenity for future occupiers, this is considered acceptable and also a merit of
the scheme. The Housing Officer considers the proposed affordable housing units
acceptable. In relation to the heritage asset in particular (as there is no minimum house
size in adopted guidance), of the 24 1 bedroom flats proposed in the Main building
conversion, 2 fail to meet minimum floorspace standards of 45sqm set out the adopted
SPG on Flat Conversions (2015). Of the 18 2-3 bedroom flats, 3 fail to meet the minimum
60sqm standard. In several cases the shortfall is relatively significant and these flats are
clearly constrained by the layout of the listed building and the intention to minimise
alterations. 1 x 1 bedroom flat for example (FF7) is approximately 34sqm. In contrast, the
majority of flats greatly exceed the standards and in the case of the smallest unit, there
may be some scope to enlarge it by reconfiguration but it is also served by generous
communal areas proposed as part of the conversion. External green spaces and courtyards
also compliment residential amenities. Having regard to all these factors, on balance, the
failure of all flats to meet the standards set out in the SPG does not give officers cause to
object to the scheme. This view is consistent with the Council’s consideration of the
previous residential application on this site and the proposal generally is considered
compliant with policy H2 (housing standards) of the adopted LDP.

7.3,4

Parking required to serve the conversions is based upon adopted SPG standards and a
submitted sustainability note/test in accordance with the SPG. The Head of City Services
confirms that the latter allows for a 1 space reduction. Each flat is provided with the
minimum one space for residents and at least 10 visitor spaces. One 3 bed flat should have
2 spaces but has 1 space, however on balance this shortfall is considered insignificant. All
new build dwellings will have 2/3 spaces with some garages not being large enough to
meet minimum internal dimension standards. Whilst the sustainability test will support a 1
space reduction a minimum standard of 2 spaces is desirable and achieved with many
units providing 3 spaces. Whilst visitor spaces fall short of SPG requirements, the applicant
has shown that sufficient on site opportunities exist for such parking to occur without
prejudicing free flow of traffic and amenity. Parking provision is considered to accord with
policy T3.

7.3.5

An electric charging point will be installed in all new build units and the applicant agrees to
include charging points in communal/visitor spaces subject to a future specification that will
be required by condition. Four charging spaces are proposed in the communal parking
area serving the proposed flats. The provision of charging points is consistent with national
policy and guidance but goes beyond the minimum requirements to be expected at this
time. The provision of charging points to all new build units is welcomed as supports
national and local government emphasis upon encouraging use of ultra low emission
vehicles across the transport sector and accords with placemaking goals. The proposal is
accompanied by a travel plan and provides for access to and improvements of facilities for
public transport, walking and cycling in line with policy SP15 (integrated transport).

7.3.6

The development will provide space for 36 secure and sheltered bike spaces in the
basement of the listed building for use by future residents of the converted buildings along
with 12 visitor bike spaces south of the main listed building. Space has also been identified
and kept available north of the LEAP for future bike hire/car share space(s) to facilitate roll
out of Nextgen or similar schemes in Newport and the wider region by the Council. These
too contribute towards encouraging future residents to make choices that work towards
lowering carbon emissions generally.

Page 59

7.3.7

The site is previously developed land in the urban area and has several inherent
sustainability positives including, for example, its accessibility by public transport, proximity
to local services, re-use of existing buildings, etc. Walkable distances and routes from site
boundaries and site centre to local services will facilitate support for sustainable choices. It
is proposed to retain a lot of existing landscaping and associated ecological habitat.
However, we know that set against these positives in sustainability terms, there are key
issues relating to air quality and traffic impacts in the wider area and the effects of
development on general health and wellbeing in the community that all have the potential to
render the development unsustainable on balance. In fact, Planning Policy Wales (edition
10) stresses the importance of a plan led system of planning and consideration of
placemaking goals and outcomes in meeting wellbeing objectives. It talks about good
design as follows:
Good design is fundamental to creating sustainable places where people want to live, work
and socialise. Design is not just about the architecture of a building but the relationship
between all elements of the natural and built environment and between people and places.
To achieve sustainable development, design must go beyond aesthetics and include the
social, economic, environmental, cultural aspects of the development, including how space
is used, how buildings and the public realm support this use, as well as its construction,
operation, management, and its relationship with the surrounding area (para. 3.3).
7.3.8 At present, the site contributes little to the local community. It is unsightly in many
respects with large student accommodation blocks lying vacant and visible from public
vantage points. Its redevelopment will have regeneration benefit. Security and anti social
behaviour incidents have been reported associated with trespassing and theft and the site
is closed to public access thereby making no contribution to amenity overall. It is
considered that the scheme is able to show consideration of and support for placemaking
and some of these matters are discussed above. For example:













7.3.9

Provision of charging points across the site (movement);
Improvements to site permeability and linkages to the wider community and access for
pedestrians and cyclists (movement and access);
Improvements to the existing north and southbound bus stops on Lodge Road with
provision of raised kerbs and shelters (movement and access);
A new zebra crossing to Lodge Road;
Walkable access to green spaces for recreation and leisure (movement, character,
community safety, access and inclusivity goals);
Safeguarding and access to existing landscaped areas with associated biodiversity interest
( environmental sustainability, community safety and character);
On site play space (community safety, character and movement);
Dedicated cycle storage facilities in excess of Council cycle storage standards
(movement);
Retention and refurbishment of heritage assets and associated spaces and their re-use
(environmental sustainability and character);
Incorporation of sustainable urban drainage (subject to separate approval by the SAB) to
minimise risk of local surface water flooding and provide added recreational and ecological
benefit (environmental sustainability);
Off site infrastructure contributions to leisure, education, air quality and highways works
(discussed in more detail later in this report);
Travel Planning (discussed in more detail below).
Planning Policy Wales confirms air quality as a material consideration and confirms the
Council’s obligations to monitor air quality and identify AQMAs. It is a key contributory
factor to overall health and wellbeing. So, for the purposes of affording merit to the scheme
as being sustainable and in accordance with policies SP1 and SP2 of the adopted LDP,
this can only be concluded further to an assessment of air quality and traffic effects of the
development in the wider environment in particular.
The Fallback

Page 60

7.3.10 The applicants have discussed and agreed a fallback position with officers that provides a
reasonable scenario of future occupancy of some of the site should an application for
residential re development be rejected. There is considered to be a very real prospect of
other uses lawfully occupying parts of the site and this “fall back” has an effect on
subsequent modelling of traffic and air quality. So in terms of fall back, the site can lawfully
be re-occupied for other purposes within the D1 use class but moreso, there is a likelihood
that this would occur. Whilst there is no actual agreement (other than the current film
production use) for alternative use on the site, the nature, layout, location, accessibility,
size and accommodation on site means that the fallback agreed is considered to have a
reasonable prospect of occurring and is arguably conservative. To presume a nil use on
the site in future is considered unrealistic irrespective of the outcome of this application and
officers have agreed that assessment of both traffic and air quality should use baselines
that have regard to a realistic fallback position. This is the correct approach as set out by
UK Courts that have confirmed that having identified a fallback, decision makers must ask
themselves:
is the proposed development in its implications for impact on the environment, or other
relevant planning factors, likely to have implications worse than, or broadly similar to, any
use to which the site would or might be put if the proposed development were
refused?[extract from R. v Secretary of State for the Environment and Havering Borough
Council Queen's Bench Division 10 June 1997
7.3.11 Unlike the previous submission on this site evidence has been provided in terms of the
traffic and air quality effects of an alternative or smaller fallback proposal and officers have
been able to assess whether these would be less or more sustainable than the current
application. The applicants have also considered a nil development option and a former
university use option. The latter 2 were considered as part of the previous application and
neither were considered representative of what was likely to occur in reality over future
years. Economically the site will not be allowed to remain fallow irrespective of ownership
and any current or future owners would seek to maximise income for uses that either do not
require permission or that they consider would obtain planning permission. Officers have
also agreed that beyond the fallback given by the applicants being a material consideration
there is more than a mere possibility of this occurring in practice if this particular scheme is
refused. Consequently, the fallback can be afforded weight in the decision making process
and it is reasonable to include this as a baseline from which effects can be assessed. The
fallback set out and agreed by officers is as follows:
the existing Main Teaching building could be used for as a conference centre (1,125m2),
the Kegie office building comprising 1600m2 could be subdivided into a dentist (400m2),
clinic (400m2) and nursery (800m2), the sports centre could be used as a gym(600m2) and
Felthorpe House as a doctors surgery (200m2).
7.3.12 Clearly some of the buildings are already currently used on an ad-hoc basis for a number of
different uses and there is doubt over the future use of the sports centre as a gym
However this fallback does not include, for example, the additional build out of the kegie
block and only amounts to approximately 8% of available floorspace on the site. In relation
to the potential use of the sports centre as a gym, previous assessment has indicated that
this was more unlikely than likely however the applicants have only assumed a small gym
use, some 600sqm of a building that is over 3000sqm in total.
7.3.13 To clarify, officers are satisfied that the uses identified would be lawful uses of the
building(s) and, as a fallback, are a material consideration. The likelihood of the sports
centre use has been questioned and the weight that may be afforded this may be affected,
however all parties agree that the quantum of floorspace considered as part of the fallback
is low/conservative. Therefore, the traffic generation associated with these uses is a
reasonable baseline for transport assessment purposes, particularly having regard to
officer support for the conversion of the listed buildings which has not been factored into
the baseline.
7.3.14 Why is the issue of fallback important? It sets the baseline for assessing traffic generation
(and air quality effects) associated with this traffic generating proposal. It allows
comparison with realistic future trafficPage
potential61
of the site without any planning control and

this is a reasonable basis from which to determine likely effects, negative or otherwise, of
the scheme being considered.
Other Potential Merits of the Scheme
7.3.15 Other potential merits considered by officers include the provision of housing on site to
include 10% affordable units. Windfall site allowances that this site would contribute to
facilitate the Authority’s achievement of its housing delivery targets. That said, in a plan led
system, any decision must be made in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. The provision of affordable housing is also
welcomed and is a merit of the proposal as, based upon the Housing Officer comments,
there is high demand for social housing in this area and its provision is to be given
significant weight as will provide a variety of neutral tenure and low cost ownership homes.
However, the 10% falls short of the adopted LDP requirement of 40%. This will be
discussed further in the section 106 paragraphs of this report. The development could also
potentially bring benefits associated with job creation during the construction phase and
associated economic benefits in the town of Caerleon. This is given limited weight as a
merit of the scheme as is not considered significant as is relatively short term and actual
jobs created or maintained by this scheme are not tangible.
7.3.16 Officers confirm that ecology matters have been addressed and subject to appropriate
conditions requiring development to proceed in accordance with supporting information
there is no demonstrable adverse impact on protected species and appropriate
enhancements are proposed. The proposal to retain large areas of woodland and open
space and propose an integrated on site sustainable urban drainage system contribute to
ecological and habitat creation and maintenance.
7.3.17 In relation to noise, the Head of Law and Regulation has raised no objections subject to
specified conditions and suitable noise mitigation in some properties affected by traffic
noise from Ponthir Road.
7.3.18 Health provision in the locality is a key point raised by neighbour objectors who have
pointed to long wait times for appointments. There is one GP practice in the area (Isca
Medical Centre on High Street) that confirmed as part of the previous application that their
patient numbers declined by about 300 with the closure of the campus and the Practice had
approximately 9400 patients with 4 full time equivalent doctors in 2018. No comments
have been received by the Practice in relation to this application. This was consistent with
the Health Board’s response at that time which raised no objections to the information
supplied in this respect then. No further comments have been received from the Health
Board in respect of this application. Consequently, there is perceived excess demand upon
local health services at present according to some objectors but officers have no evidence,
other than the 3 week wait for some appointments cited, to demonstrate significant harm
arising from this proposal and the wait times in themselves are comparable to other GP
surgeries in other parts of Newport and are not unique to Caerleon. The impact upon
health services in this case does not weigh against a favourable decision.
7.3.19 Turning to air quality and highways matters these are critical to the acceptability of this
scheme in officer opinion and having regard to the previous reason for refusal. Whilst,
potential enhancements offered by the applicant to bus stop location and quality,
cycleways, pedestrian routes, electric charging points and other travel planning measures
are noted, these are best dealt with in the context of discussion on highways and air quality
as are proposed to generally mitigate effects of development on these matters. Changes
are proposed at the College Crescent/Ponthir road junction to enhance existing visibility
which is particularly poor looking south at present (at about 20m). By changing this
junction to a one lane exit by white lining, it effectively pushes egressing junction north of
the junction thereby approximately doubling visibility southward. No objections are raised
to these improvements by the Head of City Services. The next section sets out the
key/primary issues and those matters considered to be secondary issues for consideration
alongside the merits or matters identified above.
7.4

62
Primary and Secondary Issues toPage
be considered

7.4.1

Primary Issues
1. Traffic generation and whether or not traffic generated by the development during
both construction and operational phases can be safely and sustainably
accommodated on the highway network;
2. Air quality impact upon the Air Quality Management Area of Caerleon and its wider
environs arising from traffic generated by the development during both construction
and operational phases (and therefore directly connected to point 1 above) and
whether the development is likely to have an adverse effect on air quality and
prejudice the Council’s legal requirements in respect of air quality in the AQMA;
3. Infrastructure impacts and the ability of local services (including schools, leisure and
health provision) to accommodate the demands placed upon it by the development.
4. Impact upon on site protected trees and whether or not impacts identified by the
Council’s Tree Officer can be mitigated.
Secondary Issues
1. Heritage impact and whether the proposed works to the listed buildings and their
proposed future use are acceptable having regard to the need to preserve the
building’s special character.
2. Visual impact and whether or not the details provided and associated documents
demonstrate that an acceptable form of development can be achieved in visual and
design terms.
3. Other matters including noise, ecology, archaeology, drainage and contamination.

7.4.2

The above matters are dealt with in turn.

7.4.3

Traffic generation and whether this can be safely and sustainably accommodated on
the highway network
The Head of City Services (Highways) had raised a number of concerns in relation to this
scheme that have required amendments or additional information on traffic matters.
However, concerns are either resolved or are mitigated by recommended conditions and no
outstanding objections remain. His response is set out at section 5.1 of this report.

7.4.4

Firstly, the Transport Assessment provided by the applicants models 3 scenarios for
comparison with traffic generated by the development. These are:
 Scenario 1 - 100% former use on the site;
 Scenario 2 – a Future Baseline with a quantum of development on the site
commensurate to about 50% of the former use traffic generation; and
 Scenario 3 – zero former use on the site.
This differs to the assessment with the previous application as includes an additional
scenario 2. In the previous officer report an additional scenario was recommended as
potentially more realistic as we stated:
Whilst there is a possibility that education type uses may occupy the site in future, it is entirely
unrealistic to believe that a University akin to the operation of USW would do so. It is
debatable whether such a scenario is actually material but if it is, it can carry very limited
weight in planning fall back terms as even if it can be demonstrated that a mere possibility
exists, the likelihood of it occurring is nil to negligible at best. No other baseline scenario with
trips generated from the site has been modelled for the purpose of the Transport Assessment
and therefore a potentially more realistic option of future trip generation being somewhere
between the baseline (the University traffic) and the “sensitivity” baseline of a no
development scenario, has not been modelled.

7.4.5

The Transport Assessent still adopts a sensitivity test against a vacant site scenario 3 at
2024 (this being the year when documents suggest development will be complete although
the documents are inconsistent in this respect as some refer to a 6 year development
programme from 2019). They have then added the effects of traffic estimated to be
generated by the development to the scenario 2 baseline and scenarios 1 and 3. The models
used to assess traffic flows and impacts in the TA have not been disputed by the Head of
City Services and appear to be well accepted
the industry for traffic forecasting. Based on
Page in63

TRICS data, scenario 2 appears to show approximatey 50% of trip rates compared to
scenario 1 ( previous university use). It is also noted that traffic forecast associated with the
Llanfrechfa hospital have been factored in to the assessment based upon the transport
assessment undertaken for that development. It is also noted that if anything has likely
changed between the timing of the assessment (pre Covid), now (during Covid) and in the
future (post Covid) it will likely be increased working from home and increased use of local
amenities for recreational and leisure activities.
7.4.6

Modelling does not accurately reflect the impact of slow moving traffic. It focuses upon
vehicles categorised as stationary. This potentially underestimates the real effects witnessed
by the community or the perceived congestion experienced. It perhaps highlights the
limitations of modelling generally but is not a reason for objection itself. Most junctions
previously modelled as part of the 2017 application operated well within their capacity and
as traffic associated with this proposal is reasonably expected to be lower (by reason of fewer
unit numbers and removal of the office elements), these junctions have not been reassessed.
However, several issues were significant on the previous application. These included the
applicant’s projection that the Station Road junction with the roundabout would exceed its
capacity with the previously proposed development in 2025 and it also showed the Caerleon
Road/New Road and New Road/High Street reaching capacity.

7.4.7

In relation to Station Road the new modelled results show no significant change between the
no development scenario and the fallback scenario in terms of queuing traffic and junction
capacity and more importantly no significant change between the proposed development
traffic and either the nil development or fallback scenarios. Whilst the loading on the junction
will increase, particularly in the AM peak, it is forecast to remain within capacity with up to 4
additional queuing vehicles on the Station Road arm, taking this from 5 to 9 vehicles. It will
however be at theoretical capacity. The PM peak shows less queuing and loading on the
junction compared to the fallback baseline. This may be due to the tidal flow of traffic for
example, going out from site in the morning and back in the PM compared to the opposite
flow for commercial uses on site. As previously proposed changes to this junction appear to
have no discernible beneficial effects on its operation based upon the modelled results, these
works have been removed from the proposals and no works are proposed to this junction as
part of this development.

7.4.8

In relation to New Road/High Street/Caerleon Road junction, the modelling relays these
areas separately as models vehicles turning left out of New Road onto Caerleon Road and
vehicles turning right from New Road onto High Street (the latter being the greater intensity
of movement but all vehicles stuck in the same queue). In the 2016 model presented with
the previous application, these roads were shown as at or close to capacity with RFCs of
0.85 or above at both areas in both peaks (0800-0900 & 1615-1715) with the highest queue
modelled at up to 15 vehicles at New Road/High Street during the PM peak. At the previously
modelled 2025 sensitivity/nil development scenario this was forecast to worsen to 28 vehicles
at New Road/High Street during AM peak and 45 vehicles at PM peak. The current model
with nil development (scenario 3) shows worsening of loading at this junction but differs in
queuing vehicle numbers with11 vehicles in the AM peak and 21 vehicles in the PM peak. It
also uses PICADY at this junction and ARCADY at the Station Road junction. It agrees with
the previous assessment that with no development at all on site, this junction will reach
capacity. Some neighbour concerns have noted the absence of the third peak or the school
end/pick up peak of traffic that occurs in Caerleon. However, the applicants have confirmed
that that the survey results show that the busiest periods for traffic flows in Caerleon are the
peaks identified and the school “peaks” do not generate traffic flows over and above those
identified during the peaks that have informed junction capacity modelling. The Head of City
Services is satisfied on this point.

7.4.9

If we look at the future baseline (scenario 2) this being the agreed fallback position of some
use on site, the situation understandably worsens with queuing of 20 vehicles in the AM peak
and 31 in the PM peak with the junction further exceeding its capacity. From this baseline
we must assess the impact of development on the junction. The model/forecast presented
by the applicant shows impacts in the AM peak decreasing with 15 queuing vehicles
compared to 20 with the fall back (again likely due to tidal flow of traffic differences between
residential and commercial uses onPage
the site)64
and an increase in queuing during the PM peak
(36 vehicles, an increase of 5 vehicles compared to the fallback/baseline). The previous

scheme modelled a substantial worsening at this junction with the development forecast to
give rise to 50 queuing vehicles in the AM peak and 78 vehicles in the PM peak, all well
above highway capacity and significantly worse than the current proposals. Whilst the issue
of junction capacity remains, vehicle queue lengths are significantly lower with the current
modelled scenarios and importantly, record negligible differences between the “2024 with
development” scenario and the fall back scenario. Obviously the difference between the nil
development scenario and “with development” scenarios is greater, notably during the PM
peak, but not as great as the impacts forecast with the previous proposal and a contributing
factor in the refusal of it. The applicant has applied additional sensitivity testing to forecast
the effect modal shift and reduction in background traffic may have as a result of travel
planning and other factors proposed to encourage more sustainable travel choices. These
show some reductions in queuing traffic but consideration of traffic reductions arising from
personal choices must be treated with caution and cannot be guaranteed.
7.4.10 A key difference between the previous modelling undertaken for the last application and the
modelling undertaken for this application, are the outcomes of two traffic surveys in February
and November 2019. These surveys, when compared to older surveys, show no increase in
background traffic flows through the modelled areas and indicate zero traffic growth around
the one way system. Consequently, the applicants have based their transport assessment
on a continued absence of traffic growth to 2024. This appears to be consistent with apparent
improvements in air quality monitoring results confirmed by the Scientific Officer for the 2019
period and whilst this may be due to improving emissions from private vehicles and electric
buses for example (rather than reduced traffic numbers), there is no evidence that would
dispute a zero growth basis for modelling. Comments made by neighbour representatives
on this matter specifically have been considered by the Head of City Services and the
assessment has been scrutinised accordingly. However, no objection is raised on this basis.
7.4.11 The absence of any factored in background traffic growth along with the reduced traffic
generated by this proposal compared to the previously refused scheme mean that the
impacts on these junctions are less signifcant and based upon the modelled results for this
proposal against the agreed baseline, the impact in traffic terms is negligible in relative terms
and in the AM peak is better than the potential alternative use of the site. Differences in
modelling, outcomes of surveys and associated assumptions must all be rightly scrutinised
and these matters have been considered by officers and subject to questionning of the
applicant’s transport consultant the Head of City Services is satisfied with the transport
assessment submitted and additional information regarding the “third peak” in Caerleon, this
being the 3-4pm school traffic peak, has also been provided and considered acceptable.
It should be noted that all traffic survey work and modelling was undertaken well before the
Covid related adjustments to traffic that may have occurred and before 2020.
7.4.12 Much of this area of New Road junction is within the AQMA and increased congestion or
more prolongued queuing traffic will impact upon air quality and residential amenity with both
Tollgate House and Gwent Cottage directly affected by queuing around the junction of
Caerleon road/New Road. No mitigation is proposed to improve the flow of traffic at Caerleon
Road/New Road. Indeed, there may be no suitable mitigation that could be provided here
that does not give rise to other impacts elsewhere on the network. The significance of this is
that based upon the existing geometry of the junctions, modelling by the applicant’s
consultants shows that the proposal when considered together with existing and projected
traffic flows would result in a Ratio of Flow to Capacity (RFC) above 1.00. An RFC of 1.00
or above indicates that a junction is operating over capacity and any additional traffic would
be likely to give rise to a significant increase in queuing vehicles. Anything over an RFC of
0.85/0.9 would suggest a lack of road capacity for growth with the junction nearing or at
capacity. The Environmental Statement does in this regard, show that the Station Road arm
of the mini roundabout junction will reach an RFC of 0.95 in the AM peak rising from 0.84
with no development on site and 0.87 with the fallback use. The New Road junction will
exceed a RFC of 1 in all scenarios so even with no traffic growth and no development on site
this junction is set to exceed capacity and the amont it does so is comparable in terms of the
impact of the proposal when compared to the fallback, albeit the peak demands are reversed
because tidal flow of traffic will be out of the site in the morning with residential development
and into the site in the morning with commercial
Page 65use on site for example. Relevant tables
from the Transport section of the ES provided with this application and compared to the ES

of the previously refused application are provided below. However the current transport
consultant is keen to stress that these should not be compared as the level of calibration, the
nature of interpretation etc undertaken by the transport consultant on the last application are
not known. Notwithstanding, officers consider it important to show the Committee what would
have informed officer recommendation and committee decision last time and how this
appears alongside the information (not factoring in any modal shift arising from travel
planning and other mitigation) provided this time:
Table 1: Peak hour queues by number of cars and RFC (in brackets)
Location

2016
2016
2025
traffic traffic without
university
traffic

2025
without
university
traffic

Peak hours
High Street
(Goldcroft
Common)
Station Road

AM
3
(0.75)

PM
3.9
(0.7)

AM
4.8 (0.83)

4.1
(0.82)
1
(0.85)

1.9
(0.55)
2.1
(0.96)

8.9
(0.95)

14.5
(1)

New
Road/Caerleon
Road
New
Road/High
Street
Location

PM
4.8 (0.74)

2025 with
the
previously
refused
development
AM
1.5 (0.58)

2025 with
the
previously
refused
development
PM
1.2 (0.54)

10.5(0.97)

3 (0.64)

27.1 (1.12)

2.6 (0.73)

2.8 (1.14)

3.6 (1.1)

3.3 (1.33)

4.8 (1.22)

27.2
(1.16)

44.8
(1.16)

49.7 (1.36)

77.5 (1.29)

2024 + 2024 + 2024 with nil 2024 with nil 2024
2024
fallback fallback development development with this with this
traffic
traffic
on site
on site
develop- development
ment
AM
PM
AM
PM
AM
PM
5 (0.85)
5
5 (0.85)
5 (0.75)
5 (0.85)
5 (0.75)
(0.75)

Peak hours
High Street
(Goldcroft
Common)
Station Road
6 (0.87) 6 (0.87)
5 (0.84)
4 (0.74)
9 (0.95)
4 (0.79)
New
2 (1.16) 3 (1.10)
1 (1.02)
3 (1.04)
2 (1.08)
3 (1.12)
Road/Caerleon
Road
New
18
28
10 (1.02)
18 (1.04)
13 (1.08) 33 (1.12)
Road/High
(1.16)
(1.10)
Street
[yellow highlighted areas were used previously to emphasise key concerns previously in
terms of increasing traffic at junctions and are highlighted in the bottom table to show
changes in assessment results this time along with the effects associated with the fallback
scenario]
Tables adapted from information contained within Transport Assessment Addendum by
Calibro (26th April 2018) for application 17/0781 and Transport Assessment by Vectos for
application 19/1212 for ease of comparison.
7.4.13 The applicants propose a Travel Plan to encourage modal shift to more sustainable forms of
transport by site occupiers in order to mitigate effects. This is welcomed and the Plan
appears to include key principles advised by Technical Advice Note 18 (Transport). They
suggest a 12% reduction in vehicle trips can be achieved with the implementation of the
Travel Plan and associated measures. This includes initiatives such as improved pedestrian
Page
66
linkages from the site to Lodge Road;
improvement
to the existing PRoW on the northern

boundary of the site to provide a 3m footway/cycleway; new bus stops outside of the site with
the southbound bus stop relocated on Lodge Road; and electric charging points for at least
each newly erected building; Inclusive Travel Planning comprising: A residential travel plan;
Personalised Travel Planning (PTP) for new residents and also existing residents in
Caerleon;informative leaflets about active travel routes and nearby pedestrian cycle and
pedestrian routes, improvements to cycleways in the immediate vicinity of the site. It
anticipates securing the delivery of the Travel Plan objectives by way of legal agreement
attached to any planning permission and a commitment period of 8 years with this assuming
first occupations in 2020, final occupations in 2025 and 3 years after. Whilst any
encouragement and offers that may facilitate modal shift are welcomed, the information
supplied does not include evidence to demonstrate that such a modal shift is reasonably
likely in practice in this particular location. The applicant has confirmed that Sustrans
personal travel planning survey work has suggested in excess of 12% modal shift arising
from this aspect of the mitigation measures alone (including reference to new housing in
Cardiff, however without any real comparison to the location, site context and methodology
of survey work and when such surveys were done (and whether such effects are lasting)
cannot be ascertained and consequently must be treated with caution. Tangible physical
works to enhance connectivity and accessibility will facilitate the use of alternative modes of
travel and may change the perceptions of some, particularly if working alongside strategic or
national measures to encourage modal shift. In reality schools serving the site are within
walking distance but this does not mean people will walk. There may be a number of reasons
for this, not least that they undertake drop offs as part of longer trips to places of employment
for example. Similarly whilst the site may be well served by buses to Newport at present,
there is more to a persons consideration of bus travel when it requires transport to areas
further afield (bus changes required, times and frequency etc). It is agreed that the site is
located within walkable distance of some local facilities but topography will be a factor in
some people’s decisions in relation to walking and cycling as will the quality and reliability of
local services. Furthermore, the Travel Plan is partly reliant upon third parties and matters
not readily controlled in any meaningful way by planning. For example, whilst discussions
with schools and the hospital site are all laudible aims and are welcomed in principle, the
planning system cannot make either of these happen in practice. If the mitigation and travel
matters show a less than 10% reduction in 8 years there are no consequences of this for the
applicant and no enforceability of any measures to rectify it. In short, the Travel Plan
includes incentives to encourage people to use alternative modes of transport other than the
car and this may encourage a degree of modal shift by some, however, this may not be long
term. The physical changes to improve bus stops, general permeability through the site, the
amenity of the footpath, the inclusion of charging points will at least provide some visible
improvements that may change occupant views but these would need to be delivered in early
phases. The impact of Covid may well have already demonstrably affected a modal shift as
if people do not need to use their car for work, they are potentially less likely to use it for
travel generally, opting instead to walk if only for financial and wellbeing reasons. The modal
split used for the transport assessment and based on the 2011 census shows 0% of the
proposed development population working from home. This is likely to have altered.
Therefore the forecast vehicle trip generation for the development is based on 81% using a
car to get to work. Arguably, the traffic forecasts upon which the transport assessment is
based offer a pre Covid and more gloomy prediction of car traffic flows generally. To
conclude the Travel Plan is clearly good practice but in this case, where traffic generation is
a critical issue to the acceptability of the scheme, the ability of the Travel Plan to secure a
12% reduction in traffic flows associated with the scheme must be treated with caution and
this effects the weight given to it. Officers recommend that the weight given to the travel plan
assumption of 12% modal shift based upon the travel planning measures outlined be given
very limited weight. However, to ignore the fact that other major factors may have altered
travel choices since the transport assessment was completed, would be unwise as even if
the actual effects are unknown (as have not been modelled) we can reasonably predict a
reduction in traffic forecast that may result in longer term changes notably arising from more
people working from home.
7.4.14 Queuing at Lodge Road and Station Road is in part due to right turn movements of vehicles
into the High School and Broadwalk respectively. These manouvres are observed rather
than intended to be a more technical assessment but do appear to confirm that the period
from 0800 to 0915 is busy at presentPage
(moreso67
0830 to 0915) during site visit observations
and whilst this was not all school traffic related, the presence of 3 schools in this area

invariably has a significant impact on traffic with many people observed parking to walk
children to the primary school on High Street for example.
7.4.15 Officers therefore appreciate the traffic concerns raised by neighbours however the TA
suggests that even with the traffic associated with the proposed development, the highway
network will accommodate it. For those 2 junctions/areas that are predicted to exceed or
approach their capacity during peak periods, no mitigation is proposed as the changes are
negligible and do not warrant it. Whilst, some drivers will adapt their route or times of travel
to avoid traffic congestion and likely do so now (this is referred to as peak traffic spreading
which has the effect of expanding the period over which high traffic volumes can be
expected), the impact of this development on the free flow of traffic and traffic
congestion/residential amenity is shown as minimal compared to the traffic impacts of the
fallback. It is unlikely that significant numbers of vehicles will choose alternative routes to
reach or leave site bearing in mind how the road network works in this area and converge to
the historic core. Additional traffic to Pillmawr Lane is not to be encouraged as this is a single
track lane of poor horizontal and vertical alignment and will not be an option for many. Drivers
and residents experience road capacity through discernible and significant increases in traffic
queues, potentially longer periods of peak traffic flows and whereas this impact was
significant and adverse and weighed heavily against the previously refused scheme, there is
no such demonstrable effects in this case.
7.4.16 Turning to other highway matters, the applicants propose to make the College Crescent
access to the site a priority 2 way junction, essential if the listed gate piers are to be retained.
This will give priority to vehicles entering the site off College Crescent. Those egressing the
site will have to observe the prevailing one way system, turning left into College Crescent to
the junction with Ponthir/Station Road. It is reasonable to expect that College Crescent will
see an increase in traffic flow associated with the development. Early phases of development
will be served by this access for visitors, occupants, deliveries etc. However, this is an
existing access and served as a bus route for the University. The applicants propose
changes to the junction and the carriageway of College Crescent (which will need to be
subject to a separate highway agreement). This includes changes to facilitate safe
pedestrian movement and direct traffic to use the northern most half of the junction with
Ponthir Road where visibility is best. Existing on road parking close to the junction will be
reduced on both sides to keep areas clear of obstruction both close to and opposite the
junction. Objections have noted concerns regarding these works and the effects of additional
traffic on the junction, queuing traffic on the Crescent and associated effects. The Head of
City Services has confirmed that modelled data and assessment provided by the applicant
is acceptable in this respect and shows no adverse effects.
7.4.17 Traffic flows associated with this scheme will give rise to some limited additional congestion
on some junctions/roads during peak periods. Mitigation is proposed to remedy this but
officers are cautious that at least some of the Travel Plan initiatives will have real effect and
give rise to long term and enforceable change in personal choice by themselves. That said,
to determine that the mitigation measures proposed will have no effect whatsoever would
also be too harsh, hence the advice to members that the travel plan itself be given limited
weight. With the layout of the site including large areas of open and accessible space,
greater permeability to the neighbouring community, close access to public transport
connections and the provision of infrastructure to allow greener travel choices with scope to
provide more in future (with the identification of space for car club or bike hire on site albeit
that only the space for it is proposed as part of this scheme as relies on other parties to
action) there is incentive to reduce car travel. Some sort of modal shift, even if not the 12%,
will have an effect on traffic generation arising from the development and the consequences
of this in practice. Having regard to the above, the operational traffic associated with the
proposals are considered to comply with Policies SP1, GP2 and GP4 of the adopted Local
Development Plan and previous objections relating to highway capacity and highway safety
associated with the 2017 hybrid proposals for this site have been addressed. In relation to
construction phase traffic, this is considered separately below.
7.4.18 Regarding construction traffic routing, this is also discussed at paragraphs 7.5.22 to 7.5.24
of this report. We know that in this case it is proposed to route construction traffic via
residential roads to avoid the air quality
management
area and associated effects. The Head
Page
68
of City Services has commented on this but raises no objection. In highway safety terms,

sufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the route works and can
accommodate construction vehicles in a safe manner.
7.5

Air quality impact upon the Air Quality Management Area of Caerleon and its wider
environs arising from traffic generated by the development and whether the
development is likely to have an adverse effect on air quality;

7.5.1

Firstly, we perhaps need to clarify what we consider in terms of air quality matters and why
this is relevant in this case. Firstly we know that Caerleon is one of eleven air quality
management areas in Newport. All are a result of road emissions. In Caerleon the air
quality objective for nitrogen dioxide has been exceeded since at least 2005 when the
AQMA was first declared.
7.5.2 Particulate matter is a term that refers to tiny particles of varying chemical composure. When
inhaled, some particles can penetrate, and get deposited in, the human upper respiratory
tract; the smallest particles can penetrate deep into the alveoli of the lungs. Both have the
same biological mechanism which causes the lining of the lungs to become inflamed. A
process of oxidative stress places pressure on, and compromises the function of, various
body systems. Short-term exposure can result in eye, nose and throat irritation, asthma
symptom exacerbation, headaches and nausea. Long-term exposure increases morbidity
and mortality risks from heart disease and strokes, respiratory diseases, lung cancer and
other effects.

7.5.3

Particulate matter from road transport sources comprises primary particles emitted directly
to atmosphere from combustion sources, tyre and brake wear, and secondary particles
formed by chemical reactions in the air.
In relation to nitrogen dioxide, sulphur dioxide and ozone. These gases irritate the airways
of the lungs, increasing symptoms of those suffering from lung diseases. Short-term
exposure to dioxide is associated with increased cardiovascular and respiratory morbidity.

7.5.4

The site is not located within an AQMA however parts of the Caerleon one way system and
nearby junctions/road are. It extends along parts of High Street, Castle Street, New Road
and Caerleon Road. A plan showing the extent of the AQMA is shown below:

Page 69

7.5.5

7.5.6

7.5.7

7.5.8

Within the AQMA, air quality is consistenly below regulatory thresholds and this requires the
Council to take steps via an Air Quality Action Plan to remedy the situation.
Newport City Council adopted Air Quality Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) in 2018
which designated the whole of Caerleon under an air quality planning buffer. The Air
Quality SPG attempts to maintain a balance in road traffic and associated air pollution
generated from new developments.
For example: If a proposal was received for a development on undeveloped land this would
have a net increase in road traffic. The traffic generated would have little choice but to
travel through the Caerleon AQMA contributing to the exiting air quality issue. Whereas
redeveloping an industrial site to residential would on balance remove polluting vehicles
(HGVs) and replace them with cars – overall this would be a net benefit to air quality.
Applying the principle of the Air Quality SPG to the proposed development - If the
application were for undeveloped land, there would be a net increase in road traffic that
would impact the AQMA. Under the Newport Air Quality Supplementary Planning Guidance
this situation should be avoided.
However, the development is proposed on a brownfield site (former university campus) with
an accepted fall-back position. If the application is refused and the fall-back position
implemented - the air quality impact is likely to be near equivocal. This is demonstrated in
the submitted air quality assessment and proposed mitigation measures.
The Scientific Officer has confirmed that Nitrogen Dioxide levels in Caerleon and across the
city have improved.

7.5.9

Policy GP7 of the adopted Local Development Plan relates to public health and relates to
the strategic policy SP2(health) which requires proposals to minimise any negative effects
on health and wellbeing. Policy GP7 states:
DEVELOPMENT WILL NOT BE PERMITTED WHICH WOULD CAUSE OR RESULT IN
UNACCEPTABLE HARM TO HEALTH BECAUSE OF LAND CONTAMINATION, DUST,
INSTABILITY OR SUBSIDENCE, AIR, HEAT, NOISE OR LIGHT POLLUTION,
FLOODING, WATER POLLUTION, OR ANY OTHER IDENTIFIED RISK TO
ENVIRONMENT, LOCAL AMENITY OR PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY.

7.5.10 Planning Policy Wales edition 10 states:
In proposing new development, planning authorities and developers must, therefore:

•
•

address any implication arising as a result of its association with, or location within, air
quality management areas, noise action planning priority areas or areas where there are
sensitive receptors;
not create areas of poor air quality or inappropriate soundscape; and
seek to incorporate measures which reduce overall exposure to air and noise pollution and
create appropriate soundscapes.
Officers consider that it is not for the developer to resolve air quality issues that already
exist but rather to address any implication/effect arising from it on the AQMA and to not
create additional areas of poor air quality.

7.5.11 PPW adds:
Good design [and]… Other mitigation measures must be capable of being effectively
implemented for their intended purpose, and could include those related to:


traffic management and road safety;

ensuring progress towards a shift to low or zero emissions means of road
transport, such as electrical charging points;


supporting low or zero emissions public transport;



providing active travel infrastructure; and

Page 70


incorporating green infrastructure, where it can improve air quality by
removing air pollution and aiding its dispersal.
Proposed development should be designed wherever possible to prevent adverse effects to
amenity, health and the environment but as a minimum to limit or constrain any effects that
do occur. In circumstances where impacts are unacceptable, for example where adequate
mitigation is unlikely to be sufficient to safeguard local amenity in terms of air quality and
the acoustic environment it will be appropriate to refuse permission.
[Distinctive and Natural Places, Section 6 PPW10]
7.5.12 Although the Council’s LDP pre-dates PPW10 officers are satisfied that LDP policy aligns
with PPW and accords with its obligation to sustain compliance with or contribute towards
meeting limit values or national objectives for air pollutants taking account of Air Quality
Management Areas and the cumulative impacts on air quality from individual sites in local
areas. There is no doubt at all that air quality impact is a material consideration and
moreso, it can be a reason to refuse planning permission. We know from previous
assessment and case law (Gladman Developments Limited v SSCLG and others) that
some forecast modelling scenarios can reasonably be considered optimistic in the absence
of firm data on the rate at which reductions in NO2 emissions from traffic is likely to occur
generally.
7.5.13 Air quality limit values identified in law are 40 micrograms per cubic metre for the annual
mean concentration of nitrogen dioxide (NO2). This does not represent a threshold
between clean and unclean air but rather the limit over which directive thresholds are
breached and action must be taken. AQMAs are areas where air quality is already
unacceptable and authorities are obliged to formulate a Plan outlining necessary steps to
address factors that are causing unacceptable air quality in the interests of safeguarding
human health. The Council has adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance in relation to
air quality and provides advice in relation to need for and preparation of Air Quality Impact
Assessments. This application is supported by such an Assessment as part of the ES.
7.5.14 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015) and the Council’s own Wellbeing
Plan are also relevant.
7.5.15 In its ES, the applicants have therefore modelled a number of scenarios with sensitivity
testing consistent with the transport assessment but have adopted assessment years of
2022 and 2027 as these are considered to be likely years when tangible operational or new
population traffic will affect the network (i.e. it excludes construction traffic and initial
construction phase). Having regard to officer consideration of the fall back, modelled
scenario 2 is considered to be a realistic baseline from which to assess effects. Officer
assessment has therefore focused upon scenarios 2 (fallback) and 3 (with proposed
development).
7.5.16 Compared to the fall back - in 2022 the development will have a negligible impact upon the
majority of the sensitive air quality receptors, in the case of High Street (A1) there is a
substantially beneficial impact on air quality.
The reason for this substantially beneficial impact? If the fall-back position were enabled
the site could generate traffic instantaneously as it will utilise existing infrastructure on site
and the time lag associated with the construction of a new development will delay loading
of the network associated with the proposed development. The proposed development will
not generate traffic until it becomes operational.
Compared to the fall back in 2027 the development will have a negligible impact upon all
receptors. The Scientific Officer has reproduced relevant tables in his response and these
are included in the consultation section of this report.
7.5.17 The Institute of Air Quality Management guidance considers a 0.1 increase as negligible
which would appear to be compliant with PPW advice that proposals be“designed wherever
possible to prevent adverse effects to amenity, health and the environment but as a
minimum to limit or constrain any effects that do occur”. However it is important to
remember that air quality legislation and guidance requires compliance with the air quality
71even a +0.1µg/m3 should be of a concern
objective in the shortest possible time.Page
Therefore




at a location that is predicted to be near borderline in 2027. To remove this impact the
development has proposed the following mitigation The traffic data provided for the assessment included scenarios in which the effects of
mitigation are taken into account, it is predicted by 2027 there will be 12% model shift for development related traffic
2% global reduction in traffic flows associated with wider benefits of the travel plan
We know from our assessment of the transport assessment that a 12% modal shift is
considered to be likely optimistic although some modal shift is accepted to arise from the
mitigation works proposed by the applicant as part of this scheme. It is therefore
considered more likely that the effects will be equal to 2027 baseline rather than slightly
beneficial. The Scientific Officer supports this precautionary view.

7.5.18 The Caerleon AQMA is defined to incorporate the area of Caerleon that has consistently
shown elevated and unacceptable air quality pollution levels which appear to focus on the
High Street and Castle Street areas. Both national and local government are responsible
for ensuring compliance with air quality objectives in the shortest possible timeframe. With
this in mind, the previous application on this site that was refused by the Council showed 6
receptor locations having moderate to substantial impacts of the development. This was
equivalent to a 2-3.25% increase in NO2 at 18 High Street and 6-7 Castle Street, 1 Castle
Street, 21 High Street and 96 Mill Street. Consequently, we considered that at best the
impact of the previous development proposal on 3 properties in particular (compared to a
no development scenario) was moderate. This is in areas where emissions were already
exceeded. We have no such recorded effects this time and effects are predominantly
negligible being equal to the fallback baseline effects.
7.5.19 Moderate or substantial effects at receptors are likely to have a significant effect on human
health. In this case the effect is negligible in all cases. We also know, based on the
Scientific Officer analysis of diffusion tube data, that some sensitive receptors are showing
a downward trend in pollution levels since 2015 (excluding 2020).
7.5.20 Having regard to the New Road/Caerleon Road/High Street transport modelling (which
shows this area at capacity with some forecast increases in queuing traffic and possible
delays, albeit not significant), the Council previously considered that the air quality impact
at Tollgate House was likely to be negligible by reason of the fact that Tollgate House is not
located within a canyon like those along High Street and Castle Street and therefore natural
air dispersal reduces the impact of NO2. This does not appear to have been a major factor
in air quality considerations for the 2017 application when the likely impact of the refused
development was modelled as considerably higher.
7.5.21 The Scientific Officer has agreed the methodology of air quality assessment and the data
outcomes and conclusions unlike the previous submission. He agrees caution is to be
applied to mitigation through the travel plan and associated effects and has queried the
impact of HGV traffic from the construction phase which does not appear to be included in
the air quality assessment. This will be discussed further below. He concludes:
Air quality in Caerleon is breaching the air quality objective for nitrogen dioxide and will
continue to do so for some time. However, across the board air quality is slowly improving.
With the continued implementation of Newport’s Sustainable Travel Strategy - electrification
of vehicles (buses and cars) and similar improvements air quality is likely to improve
further.
The agreed fall-back position is likely to have a similar air quality impact to that of the
proposed development. This approach is consistent with the principles of Newport’s air
quality Supplementary Planning Guidance.
By 2027 when the development is operational without mitigation the air quality impact will
be +0.1ug/m3 at the most vulnerable location. With mitigation and the combination of 12%
modal shift, 2% global reduction in traffic will deliver a Slightly Beneficial reduction of -0.4
ug/m3. The 12% modal shift and 2% global reduction must be treated with caution. The
predicted High Street (A1) AQMA15 compliance in 2027 is marginal - the slightest deviation
from the predicted improvements may jeopardise compliance.

Page 72

Mitigation measures have been proposed for both the construction and operational phase
of the development. There is uncertainty regarding the routing of HGV traffic during the
construction phase which needs to be resolved. Operators of construction traffic should be
encouraged to join the Free EcoStars fuel economy scheme.
The operational phase should include innovative mitigation measures to secure the
predicted 12% modal shift and 2% global reduction – for example offsite electric vehicle
charging points in the local area and improvements to cycleway and pedestrian access
round and through the site and opportunities to engage with innovative and emerging
schemes to support active travel.
Overall, once the points outlined above have been resolved - I consider the proposed
development acceptable in terms of air quality.
On the basis of the above and subject to controls to secure mitigation measures, albeit that
a 12% modal shift is considered unlikely, the proposal is compliant with policy GP7 as there
is no demonstrable adverse effect upon air quality within the AQMA compared to the
agreed fallback.
7.5.22 What about Construction phase effects?
We must now consider the construction phase. The submitted CEMP shows that
construction traffic will be routed to avoid the AQMA. This is to avoid the emissions from
additional HGV diesel and large vehicles undermining air quality in the management area
for the duration of construction activities and is critical to the acceptability of this scheme in
air quality terms as the Air Quality assessment has not modelled traffic impacts with HGV
construction vehicles using the AQMA. However it is reasonable to assume that
construction phase impacts of HGVs in particular along the “canyon” type layout of the
AQMA would have an adverse impact on air quality in this area. All HGV construction
vehicles are proposed to access site via the Lodge Road entry point having travelled off
Ponthir Road, College Glade, Eastfield Drive, Anthony Drive and Lodge Road. A 6 year
construction period is envisaged but this must be considered a guide as the developers
may complete the site quicker than this or take longer. Construction works will take place
between 8am and 6pm weekdays and 8am and 1pm on Saturdays only although a one
hour window either side of these hours has been requested for site start up and close
down. Deliveries will be managed to occur outside school peak pick up and drop off times
but elements of the CEMP have been subject to discussion with officers. Heavy goods
vehicles associated with the construction phase will not use this route to access site before
9.30am or after 2.30pm and this is confirmed in the revised CEMP. This is to avoid
potential conflict with school related traffic in particular where deliveries and larger vehicles
have the potential to conflict with elevated traffic and parking levels linked to school pick
ups or drop offs. The nature of these streets is such that issues associated with conflict are
more likely and the Chief Education Officer has pointed to some incidents occurring during
the building of the school itself when deliveries arrived at site outside agreed times. The
route is also a bus route and therefore already has larger vehicles running along it. It is
considered that whilst the developer understandably wants to limit curtailment of the
construction hours to maximise site efficiency and avoid construction delays, a balance
must be struck between this traffic and residential amenity and overall safety. The CEMP
has been updated to reflect the hours favoured by officers and must be subject to a
condition to ensure works progress in accordance with the CEMP. It also confirms up to 5
one way HGVs per day using the route during the restricted hours set out. This will be
additional to any HGV traffic associated with demolition activities (confirmed as maximum 3
movements per day as part of the prior approval application for phase 1 demolition). Even
having regard to the additional vehicles likely during the overlap of demolition and
construction activities from phase 2 for example, the HGV movements fall well within the 40
2-way HGV movements assessed in the Transport section of the environmental statement.
The latter concluded only negligible effect, at worst, on the highway network arising from
such movements and this has not been disputed by the Head of City Services. It appears
clear that the highway network can accommodate these vehicles without causing harm in
transport terms. Clearly there will be occasions when traffic may be acceptable in technical
terms but may not be favoured for amenity reasons. However, there would need to be
compelling evidence of adverse amenity effects arising from such traffic if, in all other
respects, it is technically acceptable. For clarity, the ES states at section D5.5:

Page 73

For the purposes of assessment, it is expected that there would be an average of 40 twoway HGV movements per day with construction worker vehicles amounting to
approximately 50-70 movements per day.
A large number of construction worker trips would occur before 8:00am, and therefore
outside of the AM peak period, similarly they would be made outside the PM peak period.
Given the low quantum of construction worker vehicle movements expected, the overall
impact on the local network would be negligible.
Delivery of construction plant would occur during a limited period of time during the initial
and final stages of the construction phase. This would generally involve the installation of
temporary site offices and the mobilisation of earth moving equipment and alike. Whilst
some changeover of plant can be anticipated during the construction phase, it is generally
accepted that the mobilisation of plant is a one-off event and the impact on the local
highway network would be negligible.
The increase in the number of HGV movements on the surrounding network is not likely to
exceed around 40 two-way movements per day. This level of change is well within any
daily variation in traffic flows, and this additional level of traffic would not be a change in
terms of total traffic flow or HGV proportion on any of the assessed highway links nor would
it be noticeable to pedestrians and cyclists. Therefore, impacts in relation to HGV
movements are considered to be negligible.
Therefore the overall significance for traffic effect and severance during the construction of
the development is considered to be Negligible.
7.5.23 The construction routing via residential streets north of the site is consistent with the routing
for phase 1 demolition traffic and was agreed having regard to the number of vehicles
expected and the short duration of phase 1 demolition works, i.e. weeks instead of years. It
was also considered having regard to track testing of relevant junctions which show
capacity for up to 16.5m long articulated lorry. The routing of larger construction vehicles in
particular via these streets requires careful consideration. On the existing highway network
it appears to be the only feasible alternative to the one way system at this time. This route
is also comparable with the construction route associated with the approved Lodge Hill
replacement primary school and the education service has confirmed no major issues
arising from this (over and above the matter raised in the preceding paragraph of this
report) and have raised no objection in respect of the routing of such traffic past the school
itself subject to certain times being avoided. Construction traffic was not a key
consideration for the replacement school development as it was considered that the effects
of such traffic would be of relatively short duration. Officers also noted at that time that
supplier vehicles associated with the construction phase would not be subject to site
manager control as would choose their own routing. The same principle applies here. So it
is possible that third party suppliers will not adhere to route controls. The developer has
advised that consistent breaches in routing requirements by their suppliers could result in
termination of or unpaid contracts, but this is not a matter ordinarily controlled by planning
conditions. The applicants have included a notice in the CEMP that it will give to all HGV
and deliveries associated with site that clearly sets out risks to the contract should routing
not be adhered to. Every effort by the applicant to control this is welcome and inclusion of
a document in the CEMP setting out routing is recommended for conditional control.
However, penalties imposed by the applicant for breaches is a matter for the parties and
not planning. What is possible though is enforceability of HGV vehicle traffic numbers,
routing and timings generally. It is these vehicles specifically that give rise to potential
concern if unchecked. The comings and goings of private cars and vans for example, does
not raise concern. However, if HGV numbers regularly exceed a reasonable limit imposed
for such daily movements by condition this would technically be enforceable in officer view.
A reasonable limit, having regard to the dual process of construction and demolition on site,
is considered to be 8 HGVs per day or 44 per week, whichever is the lower number.
Having a weekly and daily limit acknowledges that some days may have a maximum of 8
HGVs and some days have one, depending upon site activities at the time. 8 HGVs every
day Monday to Friday and 4 on Saturday half day would accord with the weekly limit and
Page
would have regard to anticipated limits
of 5 74
HGVs per day for construction and 3 for

demolition activities. However, if the Council receives reports of breaches in the numbers of
HGV vehicles or the timing of such vehicles along the route, or it receives complaints
regarding HGVs to site using the AQMA or deliveries regularly occurring outside approved
time periods, it is considered that conditional controls requiring compliance with the factors
set out in the CEMP are enforceable.

Construction delivery route taken from CEMP revG
7.5.24 If amenity effects are assessed on the basis of a maximum of 44 HGV vehicles per week
which assumes no more than 5 construction HGVs per day Monday to Saturday plus
additional scope for 14 demolition HGV vehicles in any week when such overlap occurs
(with no day exceeding a maximum of 8 HGV vehicles per day using the route) but officers
find that figure is regularly exceeded, this would represent an enforceable breach of control.
This number limit would be well within the 40 2-way movements per day (20 one way
movements per day) set out in the ES as having negligible impact on the highway network
but is considered to be a reasonable upper limit having regard to the amenity effects
associated with such traffic movements in the locality. With the potential for an altered
parking situation (arising from more people working from home for example, the
acceptability of construction traffic on these residential streets is a key consideration in
highway safety terms as the duration of potential construction and demolition activities on
this site will exceed those considered at Lodge Hill School and phase I demolition.
However, the applicant has assessed the route and provided swept path analysis based on
parking circumstances during COVID and officers have also visited and inspected the route
separately. No objections to the route are raised by the Head of City Services or the Public
Protection Manager. Furthermore, the applicant has looked at other routes previously and
it is clear that these pose greater threats/risks than the proposed route for a variety of
reasons. The upper limits applied by the condition are potentially only necessary when
activities on site are most intense so, for example, when construction and demolition traffic
is being undertaken simultaneously. It equates to less than 2 HGVs per hour over the 5
hour window for such vehicles and further limitation on the largest vehicles is
recommended.
7.5.25 The applicants have confirmed that the site manager will write to neighbours close to each
phase prior to commencing works and will provide contact details for relevant personnel on
site should neighbours wish to query matters or raise concerns. Welfare and construction
compound facilities will be located in the existing parking area adjacent to St. Cadocs
Close. Subject to appropriate construction hour and lighting restrictions this is considered

Page 75

acceptable and will utilise existing hard standing space that will avoid areas where
constraints such as trees or heritage assets may be at risk.
Concerns have been expressed by local members regarding routing and officers consider
that the use of such streets for construction traffic is never ideal as arterial or major
highways are always preferable. However this route is considered to be the only option to
enable any development at this site at this time. More importantly, there is no technical
objection to the route and no demonstrable adverse effects that officers could rely on to
defend an objection to it. Even recent assessment of the route, arguably when on street
parking may be higher, there are no overriding concerns that would justify refusal. In
highway terms, there are some pinch points along the route which may cause oncoming
traffic to have to give way as a result of on road parking for example. However, this is not
in itself unusual, or excessive in this case and is not reason for refusal. It is preferable to
using the AQMA/one way system and other potential routes that have been suggested and,
subject to suitable conditions to control the timing and number of vehicle movements, no
technical objections arise. Whilst officers are very mindful of residential amenity
considerations along the route and the expectations of residents along the route, the
presence of larger vehicles in suburban residential streets cannot be prevented per se and
larger vehicles already use or have used this route to access other developments. That
said, the size and construction period of this particular proposal warrants reasonable
conditional controls to prevent excessive and potentially harmful intensification of HGV
traffic along streets that are not arterial and where the primary purpose is clearly for
residential traffic not heavy construction vehicles. Officers are also mindful that an inability
to access site by construction vehicles associated with any redevelopment scheme on this
site or an unreasonable restriction on the number or type of construction vehicles able to
use this route could lead to significant or complete curtailment of development along with
the scheme merits set out in this report.
7.6

Infrastructure impacts and the ability of local services to accommodate the demands
placed upon it by the development

7.6.1

Officers have already assessed the above having regard to health services. In relation to
the loss of the sports hall, this closed in July 2016. Its loss is regrettable as a modern gym
facility is lost. However, the sports centre was built to primarily serve the University and
whilst it would have been unlikely, public use of the facility could have been prevented at
any time. The applicants confirm that the adjoining tennis courts were entirely integrated
into the sports centre and this appears to be the case based on officer site visits.

7.6.2

The ES confirms that the centre was heavily reliant upon subsidy by USW and USW staff
and students with some 325 community members per annum of the gym over the last 4
years of operation. We know from the previous submission that whilst the community used
the facilities, this was never at a level sufficient for them to be self supporting.

7.6.3

Other recreational facilities exist within Caerleon and there are other health and fitness type
facilities at the Celtic Manor and in Caerleon itself and based upon the information provided
officers considered previously that the demolition of the sports centre had been justified
and that the impact of its removal upon the wider health and wellbeing of the Caerleon
population, even if adverse, was not demonstrably significant. This has not changed. On
site open space is to be preserved at the former rugby pitch but will be reconfigured into a
kick about type area and equipped play area in accordance with recommendations made
by the Head of City Services during the pre application discussions on this application. As
previously noted, a trim trail will be provided by the applicant in the proposed arboretum
area which will then be subject to transfer to the Council along with the LEAP and kick
about area for long term public benefit. Also, the applicant has agreed to provide a
financial contribution to the enhancement or provision of off site public open space over
and above proposed on site informal, formal and equipped areas of play.

7.6.4

Turning to schooling, 3 schools are located within the catchment, these being Caerleon
High School, Charles Williams Primary School and Lodge Hill Primary School. Charles
Williams is a faith school and is not subject to the management of the Council. The
76Road and Caerleon High schools in
development will exert pressure onPage
the Lodge

particular and that current capacity figures indicate cannot be accommodated. The Chief
Education Officer has confirmed that a financial contribution to the improvement of these
schools to accommodate the additional demands placed upon them by this development,
will be required and that this should at least be in accordance with the Council’s
Supplementary Planning Guidance on Planning Obligations. In reality, she suggests, the
cost of providing additional places at these schools, will be higher.
7.6.5

Officers consider that contribution requests in line with the adopted SPG are first
preference but in this case a viability case has been submitted by the applicants and
considered by officers and subject to independent evaluation by the District Valuer. This
viability case has informed the Heads of Terms agreed with the applicant and set out later
in this report. In short, contributions to infrastructure are less that the SPG requirements
and 10% affordable housing provision against the 40% target is justified.

7.6.6

Having regard to the applicant’s Environmental Statement, officers consider that the
proposal will place demands upon local services and contributions are required to mitigate
the harm arising from this. It will assist in developing a more sustainable community by
making contributions proportionate to the development scale and location. The package of
contributions agreed under the Head of Terms is consistent with the viability appraisal and
is affordable. This accords with SP13 (Planning Obligations) of the adopted Local
Development Plan. More information specific to the section 106 is included below.

7.7

Impact upon on site protected trees

7.7.1

The Council’s Tree Officer has commented that insufficient information has been provided
to show that the construction of some swale features will not have an adverse impact on
protected trees amongst other matters. It is considered that these issues are resolvable
with the submission of additional details along with some other matters of concern raised
by the Tree Officer who agrees that conditions will mitigate the objection. She retains an
objection to the provision of parking under a protected Cedar tree to serve one of the
converted listed buildings. The applicants state that such an arrangement already exists
but further information in this respect will be required as the proposal formalises a parking
arrangement that conflicts with the Tree Officers consideration of best practice. Many of
the protected trees are sited in areas of the site that will be retained as woodland amenity
areas or areas of informal open space. Trees on this site are of significant amenity value
and the layout appears to use the larger specimens in particular as opportunities for open
space within the estate to improve resulting amenity and future outlook of residents.
Opportunities to view and be close to attractive areas of accessible open space have
positive consequences for overall wellbeing and health and are welcomed. No objections
have been raised by the Tree Officer in relation to the Arboricultural information provided
with this application and associated tree protection methodology subject to some matters
being ensured by condition or subject to revised details, also securable by condition.

7.7.2

It is considered that in many respects the applicant’s development layout shows a clear
awareness of the value of retaining on site trees and has acceptably accommodated them
into drawings. With an appropriate conditioning regime to secure the good practice
information set out in the supporting statements, officers are satisfied that the impact upon
protected trees is acceptable.

7.8

Secondary Issues

7.8.1

Insofar as matters identified as secondary are concerned, these have been referred to in
other parts of this report but are considered further below.

7.8.2

Heritage
This has been discussed earlier in this report. A key point in relation to heritage matters is
how, in any development, the heritage assets would be brought forward bearing in mind
viability issues raised by the applicant as part of this application. A phasing plan has been
provided and is considered acceptable and will be subject to a condition.

7.8.3

Page
The Council’s Conservation Officer has
raised77
no objection to the scheme.

7.8.5

Conversion of the TJ Webly building is now enhanced compared to the previous proposals
as is no longer compromised by its proximity to the Kegie buildings with outlook at the rear
currently dominated by this building. This building lends itself to residential conversion so
this is, in principle, acceptable.

7.8.6

Converstion of the Ty Hywel building to 2 units is also acceptable and requires minimal
interventions. In amenity terms, standards are good. The rear apartment at ground floor is
dominated by a large protected tree that will comprise part of the apartment’s curtilage. This
tree is shown as retained and appears to be in good condition. It is a large specimen that will
invariably cast shade over some of this unit’s windows and external amenity space. Whilst
this does not adversely affect the heritage asset, it may have longer term implications for the
tree in terms of pressure to trim and reduce it. However, on balance it is considered that this
risk is manageable.

7.8.7

The proposed treatment of spaces around the listed buildings is considered acceptable and
well designed. These spaces will be subject to Private Management Agreement and this
would need to be secured by condition or by way of legal agreement. The retention of the
gate piers and removal of the modern gates was not previously welcomed by the conservaton
officer. Nonetheless, this does not weigh heavily against the scheme as part of this
application. The gates would have a purely cosmetic purpose as could not realistically be
closed. This raises issues of maintenance in the longer term and bearing in mind they are
modern additions in any event, their loss is not considered significant.

7.8.8

Overall, the scheme provides an acceptable standard of amenity for future occupiers whilst
at least preserving the heritage asset and this is of significant merit. The impact upon the
special character of the listed buildings has been further considered in more detail as part
of the Listed Building Consent which has been granted subject to conditions, but for the
purposes of this application, the proposal represents an acceptable reuse of the listed
buildings and Felthorpe House and does not adversely impact their setting. It accords with
Policy SP9 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

7.8.9

Visual
The applicant has provided a comprehensive set of images associated with a Landscape
and Visual Impact Appraisal and this is welcomed. Views are generally accepted as being
medium to high in sensitivity terms. The site is located on a prominent ridge in the town
and the LVIA suggests that the replacement of large scale buildings on site with new
housing that follows the landform and is of a scale which is more in keeping with the
surrounding residential areas, results in a positive visual effect. Officers agree.

7.8.10 The LVIA imagery confirms some areas are particularly sensitive. For example, the redgra
pitch area is elevated in comparison to Lodge Road. These units will clearly be seen from
Lodge Road albeit with a large set back. The units are orientated to face the Road thereby
limiting potential for high and unsightly boundary treatments and providing an active
frontage to the embankment that runs down to the existing boundary wall. Units to the
north of the site facing Brooklea and the units adjoining the woodland edge will all be
challenging due to topography and the need for retaining wall features in these areas is
inevitable. However cross sections provided by the applicants show appropriate and
effective grading to limit high retainers in proposed streetscenes. Several houses will turn
corners and a variety of boundary enclosures have been chosen having consideration to
the various relationships of streets to the heritage assets. A mix of walling and close
boarded fencing is proposed in less sensitive vistas and ball top railings and horizontal bar
railings are shown along streets that are seen more readily in the context of the listed
buildings.
7.8.11 The Council’s Landscape Officer has raised a number of points regarding proposed
landscaping in particular. The quality of landscaping on this site will be particularly
important in achieving a high quality urban environment. Whilst the areas for new
Pageacceptable,
78
landscape are, in themselves considered
the effectiveness of shrub and tree

planting in smaller areas is questioned and will be affected by plant/tree sizing and bed
preparation/pit size and depth. A 1.5m high retaining wall required adjacent to the
proposed swale on the north eastern boundary (where we currently see split level student
blocks) is recommended for planting to soften impact. However this wall is close to a
drainage swale and the space between the swale and wall is too small to achieve any
robust planting although natural greening or re-vegetation of this area may be expected in
time. However the wall abuts the sloped woodland and arboretum in which trees are to be
retained and further planting proposed. This means that wider views from beyond the site
will see the wall in the background of well vegetated space and is appropriate softened and
of limited visual impact. From within the open space immediately next to the retaining wall,
the affect will also be limited by existing and proposed landscaping within the space but
also the fact that public access routes and the trim trail are located further northward so
there is no walking trails or paths proposed alongside the retaining wall itself. The need for
some retaining walls on site appears inevitable due to site topography and many exist on
site already and when seen against the backdrop/foreground of existing
buildings/landscaped areas, they are suitably absorbed and do not appear unduly
obtrusive. A condition to secure details of the retaining wall is considered necessary.
7.8.12 Other issues: Noise
The Council’s Public Protection Manager has expressed no objection in relation to noise
impacts subject to recommended conditions and clarification on matters relating to the
proposed development and its exposure to noise. Officers concur with the need for
conditions. In terms of future development, areas subject to the effects of road traffic noise
will require some additional mitigation but this can be secured by planning condition.
Construction noise is likely and to be expected bearing in mind the works proposed. The
Construction and Environmental Management Plan proposes construction traffic routing,
dust, waste and noise mitigation, wheel washing and vibration controls/management as a
minimum. It also controls contractor parking and the location of site operative welfare
facilities. Construction hours are regulated by Environmental Health. Based upon the
above, the proposal will have an adverse effect over the construction period on some
nearby sensitive receptors and potentially future housing on the site itself but the effects
can be reasonably managed and having regard to site size and no development buffers
along some boundaries, such effects will not be significant.
7.8.13 Other matters: Ecology, Archaeology, Drainage and Contamination
In relation to ecology a separate license from NRW will be required and we have confirmed
elsewhere in this report that ecological impacts are acceptable. In relation to archaeology
the site is located in an archaeologically sensitive area and the Council’s technical advisors
on this matter have advised no objection subject to 2 conditions relating to building
recording and a written scheme of investigation for a programme of archaeological works.
One of these conditions is already a control on the listed building consent and directly
linked to the listed building works so is not required on this permission. In relation to
drainage, Welsh Water has raised no objection on the basis that the application supporting
information shows reduction of impermeable surface area and a reduction in flows to the
public sewer. Buffer zones for infrastructure on site are observed. Sustainable Urban
Drainage Systems will be subject to separate approval by the SAB. Natural Resources
Wales has raised concerns regarding potential contamination on site and risk to controlled
waters and has recommended a condition to deal with this and this condition is included.
7.9

Section 106 Planning Obligation matters
Summary
In accordance with Policy SP13 of the adopted Newport Local Development Plan 20112026 and the adopted Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Guidance,
development will be required to help deliver more sustainable communities by providing, or
making contributions to, local and regional infrastructure in proportion to its scale and the
sustainability of the location. In this case, section 106 planning obligations are required to
mitigate the impact of the development in accordance with the table below.

Page 79

Service
Area that
requires
planning
obligation
Chief
Education
Officer
Head of
Regen,
Investment
and
Housing

Head of
City
Services
(Leisure)

Head of
City
Services
(Highways)

Purpose of
planning
obligation

Planning obligation
initially sought by
Planning Authority

Summary Heads of
Terms agreed by
applicant(s)

Viability
Issues?

To fund the
provision of
education
enhancement
To provide
on site
affordable
housing

£2,177,028

£1,016,233

Yes

40% on site at no
more than 50%ACG

10% on site.
16No. units to be
neutral tenure and
transferred at 50%
of appropriate ACG
figure.
6No. units to be Low
Cost Home
Ownership and
transferred at 70%
of Market Value.

Yes

To fund
enhancement
of off site
formal open
space

£768,300

On site
dedication of
open space
(LEAP &
Aboretum)
and
associated
commuted
sum.

£352,035 (based on
the detailed
breakdown by
Leisure not the SPG
formula)

£352,035

Off site
highway and
active travel
works (works
to College
Crescent to
be funded by
Redrow)

£355,000

£355,000

yes
£350,000

Heads of Terms Agreed by Applicant
The following obligations are based upon a proposal for 219 dwellings, comprising:
a. 22 affordable units, comprising 8 x 1 bed apartments, 8 x 2 bed houses and 6 x 3 bed houses.
Of these, 16 will be Neutral Tenure and 6 will be Low Cost Home Ownership
b. 197 market units, comprising 24 x 1 bed apartments, 20 x 2 bed apartments, 1 x 3 bed
apartment, 1 x 2 bed house, 48 x 3 bed houses, 102 x 4 bed houses and 1 x 5 bed house;


Please Note:
In accord with Council policy, no leisure or education obligations are generated by the
affordable dwelling element of the development. As such, the figures below reflect the fact
that 10% of the development does not contribute towards education and leisure
contributions;

Page 80



The Councils s106 requests have to be tested against the CIL regulations 122 and 123 i.e.
1) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 2) directly related to
the development; and 3) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development;



The current proposal is at a lower density to the previous application, in order to overcome
the grounds for refusal (i.e. air quality and transport). The loss of units relates to new build
only and not the conversion of the Listed Building, whilst the commercial development that
generated revenue is no longer proposed;
2. Financial Viability
S106 planning obligations are normally required to either carry out works or contribute
financially towards measures that mitigate the impact of the development i.e. to make an
unacceptable proposal acceptable in land use planning terms. However, financial viability is
an important material planning consideration on the potential scope and scale of planning
obligations. Certain proposals may be eligible for discounted or reduced contributions, if it
can be proven that the level of contribution required will jeopardise a proposal’s viability.
This is most likely to be the case on brownfield land (especially with listed building works),
and the development of the site is considered to be a significant regeneration benefit and/or
additional planning benefits for the City.
Typically, for developments of residential housing, a developers profit rate of 15% is
commonly adopted, whereas a flatted scheme would attract a rate in the region of 17.5% to
20%. As the proposed scheme largely consists of dwelling houses, but includes the
conversion of a listed building and the site is brownfield, the District Valuer (DV) believes a
rate of 17.5% fairly reflects the perceived risk attached to this scheme.
An ‘open book’ viability appraisal has been provided by the Applicant. This information is
considered to be ‘commercial information supplied in confidence’. To enable a thorough
scrutiny of the Applicants viability appraisal, the District Valuer (DV) was appointed by the
Council to undertake an independent viability assessment (The DV is a specialist property
arm of the Valuation Office Agency who provide independent, impartial, valuation and
property advice across the entire public sector).The viability assessment included
assessments of anticipated costs against anticipated income, to produce a residual land
value. It concluded that a 17.5% profit for the Applicant would enable the delivery of 10%
affordable housing provision and a residual value of £2,076,268 towards infrastructure
provision.

3. Education
‘School Capacity’ is calculated taking account of current school capacities, demand
generated by extant permissions and/or Joint Housing Land Availability supply, as well as
future pupil number projections over the lifetime of the related planning permission.
The development falls within the catchment area of Caerleon High School (deficit of 292 pupil
places, as at 2024) and Caerleon Lodge Hill Primary School (deficit of 5 pupil places, as at
2024). Taking into account the scale and type of development, £1,130,158 (for 38 secondary
pupils) would normally be generated for Caerleon High School and £1,046,870 (for 55
primary pupils) would normally be generated for Caerleon Lodge Hill Primary School
However, a reduced sum of £1,016,233 has been agreed for primary and secondary
education. The Education Service notes with some disappointment that the education sum
offered is well below what would be expected were the SPG fully applied. However, they are
aware of the viability issues regarding the proposed development and understand that the
offer is reasonable in the circumstances.
Notwithstanding the financial viability of the development, there are some other mitigating
factors to consider when assessing a reduced contribution for education services:
1. It can be expected that a proportion of primary pupils (approx. 5% / 3 pupils) would attend
Ysgol Gymraeg Ifor Hael (surplus of 33 pupil places, as at 2024). Unfortunately, Ysgol Gyfun
Gwent Is Coed is predicted to have a large deficit in 2024, so it is assumed that no pupil
places would be available. In addition, whilst not a state maintained school (and, therefore,
pupil admissions are controlled by the governors and not the Council), it can be assumed
that an (unknown) proportion of pupils would also attend Charles Williams Church in Wales
Primary School (surplus of 58 pupils, as at 2024). A study in 2019 showed that 25% of pupils
were from in-catchment;
2. The 21st Century Band B Schools Programme (2019-2024) at Caerleon Comprehensive,
Pagein81
proposes a long-term qualitative investment
school buildings, including the demolition of

demountable and outdated buildings, while providing new sporting facilities and a teaching
block;
3. Since Redrow purchased the site and the planning application was submitted, there have
been significant changes in the secondary education contribution, as a result of changes to
the Planning Obligations SPG. This has resulted in an increase in secondary education
contribution sought by approx. £500,000.
Taking account of the above factors, the sum of £1,016,233 is deemed to be fair and
reasonable. This sum will be used for the improvement/upkeep of primary schools and/or
secondary schools serving the Caerleon ward.
Sum to be paid in 3 instalments upon occupation the 50th, 100th and 150th dwelling. This
sum will be index linked to the BCIS
4. Leisure
NB: one bed apartments are exempt from contributing towards Equipped Play provision.
Whilst there is surplus of Informal Play provision within the Caerleon ward, there is a deficit
of Formal and Equipped Play provision. Whilst the development does not need to meet this
deficit, its provision should be directly related to the population generated by the
development. In accord with the Outdoor Play Space Provision Supplementary Planning
Guidance (2017), the scale and type of dwellings proposed would normally generate the
following requirements:
Formal Play
 Provision of 1.03 hectares of Formal Play provision and an associated 20 year maintenance
sum of £768,030. This sum could be utilised on-site and/or off-site for facilities serving the
development
Equipped Play
 Provision of 0.18 hectares of Equipped Play provision and an associated 20 year
maintenance sum of £413,863
The Sports Centre (and associated tennis courts), were considered surplus to
requirements, as they were not considered to be a viable proposition once the university
closed. Additionally, it is considered that the rugby pitch has limited community use, given
that there were no changing rooms and local rugby clubs already have their own facilities.
As such, the rugby pitch is to be reconfigured to provide an area of open space to include a
Formal kick-about area and a Locally Equipped Area of Play. This aligns with the
preferences of the Head of City Services (Leisure), in terms of long-term public usability
and maintenance.
A bespoke study was been undertaken by City Services, Environment and Leisure,
assessing the on-site provision of open space. It concluded that £352,035 is required to
maintain the Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP), the Formal kick-about area and the
Aboretum for a period of 20 years (£150,000 for the maintenance of the LEAP and Formal
kick-about area and £202,035 for the maintenance of the Arboretum). A Private
Management Company (PMC) will maintain all other open space areas. Consequently, the
development is providing:
 0.9 ha of on-site Formal Play (Kick-about area and trim trail), plus a 20 year maintenance
sum (the existing pitch is 0.94ha);
 £350,000 for off-site Formal Play
City Services, Environment and Leisure note that the planning contribution sum for Formal
Play is below that which would be expected if the calculations in the Outdoor Play Space
Provision SPG were fully applied. However, they recognise that there are viability issues
with the proposed development and understand that the offer is reasonable in the
circumstances. They’ve requested a slight amendment to wording for the offsite
contribution to allow the fund to be able to be used for off-site formal sport and leisure/play
facilities;
 0.04 ha of Equipped Play (LEAP), plus a 20 year maintenance sum;
 1.5 ha of Informal Play (Aboretum), plus a 20 year maintenance sum;
 2 ha of woodland areas and formal garden area around the main listed building to be
managed by a Private Management Company;
 new pedestrian access points to allow pedestrian and cycle access on all boundaries of the
site and improvements to the existing PROW running along the northern boundary

Page 82

The £352,035 commuted sum to be paid upon transfer of the Local Equipped Area of Play
(LEAP), the Formal kick-about area and the Aboretum to the Council. The £350,000 Formal
Play sum to be paid upon occupation of the 75th dwelling
Leisure Sums will be index linked to the Retail Price Index
4. Affordable Housing
The site lies within the Housing Target Area of Caerleon and Rural Newport. Subject to
financial viability, up to 40% of the development would normally be required to be
affordable housing. However, due to financial viability limitations, the DV concluded that a
reduced amount of 10% affordable housing provision should be requested. This 10%
comprises 16 neutral tenure dwellings (transferred at 50% of ACG) and 6 Low Cost Home
Ownership dwellings (transferred at 70% of market value). These dwellings will be
transferred to a Registered Social Landlord (zoned to develop in Newport) and allocated
through the Common Housing Register. To be delivered in accordance with the Phasing
Plan. The Housing Manager Strategy supports the proposal to provide residential
accommodation in this area. Newport's current Local Housing Market Assessment shows
an annual unmet need of 45 affordable housing units in the Caerleon ward. In addition to
this, there are currently 1,643 households with active housing applications seeking
affordable housing in this area. The provision of an element of affordable accommodation
on this site will make a valuable contribution to meeting this need.
5. Sustainable Travel
Developer to provide in-kind contributions and commuted sums (totalling £354,500) for
Sustainable Travel measures. These include:
1. Developer to provide an electric charging point for each new build private home
(costing a total of £124,100). Each charging point to be completed prior to first
occupation of each home;
2. Developer to provide personalised travel planning for:
 New residents. Submitted for approval prior to first occupation and commence by
occupation of the 30th dwelling and run for a minimum period of 2 year (costed at
£30,000);


Local primary schools (£15,000 per school). Submitted for approval prior to first
occupation and commence by occupation of the 30th dwelling and run for a
minimum period of 2 years (costed at £30,000);



St Cadoc's Hospital. Submitted for approval prior to first occupation and commence
by occupation of the 30th dwelling and run for a minimum period of 2 years (costed
at £15,000)
3. Prior to occupation developer to pay the Council £65,400 towards bus pass or cycle
voucher. Voucher to be made available to the first occupiers of each unit;
4. Developer to widen a section of PROW along northern boundary (These works are
factored into the general site works, so no specific allowance is made for this widening);
5. Developer to pay the Council £30,000 for zebra crossing on Lodge Rd (to the east of
Roman Way) and a traffic order. Payment by occupation of the first dwelling. Any
remaining funds also being used to improve sustainable modes of transport related to
the site;
6. Developer to pay the Council £30,000 for two new bus stops on Lodge Road
(northbound and southbound), one relocated stop and another stop to be enhanced
with raised step and shelter. Sum received and approved design to be implemented
prior to first occupation;
7. Ponthir Road / College Crescent pedestrian and visibility upgrades, to include new
footway, kerbing, drop kerbs and white lining (estimated cost £30,000). Works to be
completed (via a s278 agreement) by the developer prior to first occupation;
8. Land safeguarded for Next Bike or similar scheme
Any Sustainable Travel sums will be index linked to the Building Cost Information Service
all in tender price index.
6. Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SuDS)
Prior to the beneficial occupation of the first dwelling, a Maintenance Scheme (setting out
details of how the SuDS will be repaired and managed) to be agreed in writing with the
Council. Redrow to be responsible for the repair and maintenance of the SuDS unless and

Page 83

8.

until transferred to an organisation (first approved by the Council) to manage and maintain
in accordance with the Maintenance Scheme.
7. Administration Fee
£3,000 Administration Fee is to be charged for monitoring the S106 agreement. This is to be
paid within one month of commencement of house building
8. Listed Buildings
The repair and making good of all listed buildings to be completed by final occupation in
phase 3 and no more than 165 of the 170 new units will be occupied by the time the
refurbishment and conversion works to the listed buildings are completed and units capable
of occupation.
Conclusion
Whilst it is noted that some consultees are disappointed that the figures do not match SPG
requirements, they also note that viability can effect the level of infrastructure requests.
Whilst it is a matter of degree and judgement, it is considered that the above terms are
necessary and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development, thereby enabling a
sustainable development and preserving existing heritage assets.
OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in
its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result
of the proposed decision.

8.2

Equality Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age;
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual
orientation; marriage and civil partnership.

8.3

Having due regard to advancing equality involves:
 removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected
characteristics;
 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ
from the need of other people; and
 encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

8.4

The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It
is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon persons who
share a protected characteristic, over and above any other person, as a result of the
proposed decision.

8.5

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language)
Section 31 of the Act clarifies that impacts on the Welsh language may be a consideration
when taking decisions on applications for planning permission so far as it is material to the
application. This duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this
application. It is considered that there would be no material effect upon the use of the Welsh
language in Newport as a result of the proposed decision.

8.6

Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on public bodies to
carry out sustainable development in accordance with the sustainable development principle
to act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This duty has been
considered during the preparation of Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23, which was signed
off on 1 May 2018. The duty imposed by the Act together with the goals and objectives of
Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23 have been considered in the evaluation of this
application. It is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon
Page
the achievement of wellbeing objectives
as 84
a result of the proposed decision.

9.
9.1

CONCLUSION
The proposal will have a negligible impact upon interests of acknowledged importance,
namely highway capacity and the flow of traffic and human health. Whilst the significant
concerns regarding the routing of construction traffic have been given much consideration
and concerns are understandable, officers consider that demonstrable harm arising from this
route will not be significant, subject to suitable controls being exercised in accordance with
the submitted CEMP and added controls over vehicle numbers and types. Adverse effects
that may occur must be weighed against the signficant merits of the scheme proposed and
as laid out in this assessment. Inability to access the site by construction vehicles prevents
its redevelopment in the long term and this would have significant long term implications for
the heritage assets, regeneration considerations, housing supply and overall amenity.
Officers have considered the merits associated with the proposal (both significant and less
so) carefully and noted these in the report. Officers have also considered whether the
adverse impacts identified can be suitably addressed by way of planning conditions or legal
agreement and where they consider this possible, the report confirms it. Officers consider
that the benefits arising from the proposal are significant and the applicant has shown that
impacts upon the local highway network, residential amenity and the air quality management
area are manageable. Accordingly, reasons for refusing the previous scheme for this site
have been addressed by the changes made to the proposal and the supporting information
provided with this application. It is therefore recommended that permission be granted
subject to conditions and a legal agreement.
10. RECOMMENDATION
GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS AND SUBJECT TO A s106 AGREEMENT WITH
DELEGATED POWER TO REFUSE THE APPLICATION IF THE S106
AGREEMENT IS NOT SIGNED WITHIN 4 MONTHS OF THE COUNCIL’S
RESOLUTION TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION
01 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the following plans and
documents:

Document
Application Form
Site Location Plan
Existing Site Plan
Proposed Site Plan
External Finishes Layout
Enclosures Layout
Existing Site Sections
Proposed Street Elevations 1
Proposed Street Elevations 3
Enclosure Details (sheet 1 of 2)
Enclosure Details (sheet 2 of 2)
Affordable Tenure Layout
Refuse Collection Strategy Layout
Storey Heights Plan
Demolitions
General Arrangement
Internal Layout – General Arrangement
sheet 1 of 3
Internal Layout – General Arrangement
sheet 2 of 3
Internal Layout – General Arrangement
sheet 3 of 3
Two Way Working SPA Sheet 1 of 3

Author
Lichfields
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Vectos
Vectos

Reference
pp-08026178
18137(05)1090
18137(05)1100
18137(05)1101
18137(05)1103
18137(05)1104
18137(05)1105
18137(05)1106
18137(05)1108
18137(05)1109
18137(05)1115
18137(05)1110
18137(05)1113
18137(05)1114
18137(05)1112
184326A – A01
184326A – A02

Rev

Vectos

184326A – A03

E

Vectos

184326A – A04

E

Vectos

184326A – AT_A03

B

Two Way Working SPA Sheet 2 of 3

Vectos

184326A – AT_A04

B

Two Way Working SPA Sheet 3 of 3

Vectos

184326A – AT_A05

B

Turning Head SPA Sheet 1 of 3

Vectos

184326A – AT_A06

D

Page 85

O
G
F
E
D
A
A
E
F
F
A
A
E

Turning Head SPA Sheet 2 of 3

Vectos

184326A – AT_A07

D

Turning Head SPA Sheet 3 of 3

Vectos

184326A – AT_A08

D

Fire Tender SPA Sheet 1 of 3

Vectos

184326A –AT_A09

C

Fire Tender SPA Sheet 2 of 3

Vectos

184326A –AT_A10

C

Fire Tender SPA Sheet 3 of 3

Vectos

184326A –AT_A11

C

Parking Bay Assessment SPA

Vectos

184326A –AT_A12

C

Landscape Strategy
Detailed Soft Landscape Plan
Design and Access Statement
Planning Statement

EDP
EDP
Powell Dobson
Lichfields

Edp5601_d016
Edp5601_d025
18137
17389243v9

d
H
2nd Issue
V9

Environmental Statement

Various

Non-Technical Summary
Chapter A – Introduction
Chapter B – Scope and Methodology
Chapter C – Site and Scheme Description /
Alternatives
Chapter D – Transport
Chapter E – Air Quality
Chapter F – Landscape & Visual
Chapter G – Arboriculture
Chapter H – Ecology
Chapter I – Cultural Heritage
Chapter J – Socio Economic
Chapter K – Residual and Cumulative
Effects
Chapter L – Mitigation and Monitoring
Drainage Strategy Report

Hydrock

CRE‐HYD‐XX‐XX‐R‐C‐ R3
0001

Sustainability Statement

Hydrock

UOSW-HYD-CA-XXRP-ME-0001

P02

Acoustic Report

Hydrock

CAE-HYD-ZZ-XX-RPY- 0003

P03

Structural Appraisal Report

Hydrock

04414-HYD-XX-XXRP-S-0001

P5

Noise Assessment

Hydrock

E14704-ACO-EJ20190819

1

Geo Environmental Risk Assessment
Outline Fire Safety Strategy
M & E Buildings Service Concept Design
Report
Redrow Homes Note on Fallback Baseline
Position
Construction Environmental Management
Plan
Phasing Plan Document
USW Caerleon Supplementary ES October
2020
USE Caerleon ES Non-Technical Summary
October 2020
Listed Buildings external repair and making
good
CGI Visualisations
Proposed Site Sections – Sheet 1
Proposed Site Sections – Sheet 2

WSP Parsons
Hydrock
Hydrock

0011

-

C-04414-C/R/ME001

P05

Lichfields

60230/01/GW/AE

26/11/19

Redrow

December 2020

Rev G

Redrow
Lichfields

December 2020
October 2020

Rev 4

Lichfields

October 2020

Redrow

September 2020

Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson

18135 (05) 1116
18135 (05) 1117

Page 86

A
B

Lodge Road Site Sections
Movement Plan
Hard Surfaces Plan
Swale sections – sheet 1

Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Hydrock

Swale sections – sheet 2

Hydrock

Swale sections – sheet 3

Hydrock

Basin sections 1-2

Hydrock

Drainage construction detail (Swale
crossing)
Landscape and Ecological Management
Plan
Meadow creation method statement
Detailed Soft Landscape Design with plot
planting
Proposed Footpaths Layout (trim trail area)
Engineering Layout Overall Plan

Hydrock

Technical Design Note – external Area
(Acoustic note)
After dig Knotweed Report
Final Gas Monitoring Report
Site Investigation Report
Redrow Sustainability Note

A
PO2

EDP

18137 (05) 1118
18137 (05) 1120
18137 (05) 1119
CAE-HYD-XX-XX-DRC-0214
CAE-HYD-XX-XX-DRC-0215
CAE-HYD-XX-XX-DRC-0216
CAE-HYD-XX-XX-DRC-0217
CAE-HYD-XX-XX-DRC-0403
Edp5601_r011

EDP
EDP

Edp5601_r010
Edp5601_d031

a
E

Quad
Quad

19399 C-306
19399 C-300-7

Rev 6
Rev 3

Hydrock

04414-HYD-ZZ-XXRP-Y-1001

P01

Elcot
environmental
Integral
Geotechnique
Integral
Geotechnique
Redrow

P03
PO2
P01
PO1
B

C2300
12363/JJ
12363/JJ/19/SI

0

December 2020

Rev 2

Bat Loft Void – Elevations (Felthorpe
Garage)
Bat Loft Void – Sections (Felthorpe Garage)

Redrow

3766-FHBH-001

A

Redrow

3766-FHBH-002

A

HT Amberley Plans
HT Amberley Elevations (Brick)
HT Amberley Elevations (Render)
HT Cambridge – Plans
HT Cambridge – Elevations (Brick)
HT Cambridge – Elevations (Render)
HT Henley + – Plans
HT Henley + – Elevations (Brick)
HT Letchworth Plans
HT Letchworth Elevations (Brick)
HT Letchworth Elevations (Render)
HT Oxford + – Plans
HT Oxford + – Elevations (Brick)
HT Oxford + – Elevations (Render)
HT Oxford Lifestyle Plans
HT Oxford Lifestyle Elevations (Brick)
HT Oxford Lifestyle Elevations (Render)
HT Richmond – Plans
HT Richmond – Elevations (Brick)
HT Stratford – Plans
HT Stratford – Elevations (Brick)
HT Stratford – Elevations (Render)
HT Warwick – Plans
HT Warwick – Elevations (Brick)
HT Warwick – Elevations (Render)
HT Welwyn + – Plans
HT Welwyn + – Elevations (Brick)
HT Welwyn + – Elevations (Render)
AFF HT 2-1-3 Plans and Elevations
AFF HT 4-2-2 Plans and Elevations
AFF HT 5-3-3 Plans and Elevations

Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson

18137(05)1200
18137(05)1201
18137(05)1202
18137(05)1203
18137(05)1204
18137(05)1205
18137(05)1206
18137(05)1207
18137(05)1209
18137(05)1210
18137(05)1211
18137(05)1212
18137(05)1213
18137(05)1214
18137(05)1215
18137(05)1216
18137(05)1217
18137(05)1218
18137(05)1219
18137(05)1220
18137(05)1221
18137(05)1222
18137(05)1223
18137(05)1224
18137(05)1225
18137(05)1226
18137(05)1227
18137(05)1228
18137(05)1231
18137(05)1232
18137(05)1233

A
D
D
A
E
D
C
C
C
C
C
C
C
C
C
C
D
D
C
C
C
C
C

Page 87

Dart – Plans & Elevations
Avon Floor Plans
Avon –Elevations
Garages – Single
Garages Double Twin
Garages Double
Listed Building Outbuilding – Plans
Listed Building Outbuilding – Elevations
(Sheet 1 of 2)
Listed Building Outbuilding – Elevations
(Sheet 2 of 2)
Existing Gate Piers
Proposed Gate Piers
Principals Residence Demolition Elevations
& Sections
Teachers Block First Floor Demolition Plan
Teachers Block Ground Floor Demolition
Plan
Teachers Block Demolition Elevation 17
Teachers Block Demolition Elevations 16
Teachers Block Roof Demolition Plan
Teachers Block Second Floor Demolition
Plan
Existing Basement
Existing Ground Floor
Existing First Floor
Existing Second Floor
Existing Third Floor
Existing Fourth Floor
Existing Roof
Teachers Block Proposed Elevations 18
Teachers Block Proposed Ground Floor
Plan
Teachers Block Proposed Elevation 17
Teachers Block Proposed Elevations 3 and
4
Teachers Block Proposed First Floor Plan
Teachers Block Proposed Elevation 16
Teachers Block Proposed Ground Floor
Plan
Teachers Block Proposed Roof Plan
Teachers Block Proposed Second Floor
Plan
Felthorpe House Existing Floor Plan
Caretakers & Gardeners Lodge Demolition
Elevations & Sections
Caretaker & Gardeners Lodge Demolition
Plans
Gardeners Lodge Proposed Elevation
Caretaker & Gardeners Lodge Proposed
Plans
Principles Residence Proposed Plans
Proposed Bin Store & Plant Room

Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson
Powell Dobson

18137(05) 1236
18137 (05)1234
18137 (05) 1235
18137(05)1250
18137(05)1251
18137(05)1252
18137(05) 1240
18137(05) 1241

-

Powell Dobson

18137(05) 1242

-

LHC
LHC
LHC

15024_GP_02.01
15024_GP_02.02
15024_PR_04.10

P1
P2
P2

LHC
LHC

15024_TB_02.12
15024_TB_02.11

P5
P5

LHC
LHC
LHC
LHC

15024_TB_04.30
15024_TB_04.29
15024_TB_02.15
15024_TB_02.13

P6
P5
P5
P5

Davies Surveys
Limited
Davies Surveys
Limited
Davies Surveys
Limited
Davies Surveys
Limited
Davies Surveys
Limited
Davies Surveys
Limited
Davies Surveys
Limited
LHC
LHC

2687

A

2687

A

2687

A

2687

A

2687

-

2687

-

2687

-

15024_TB_04.11
15024_TB_02.01

P4
P7

LHC
LHC

15024_TB_04.10
15024_TB_04.02

P5
P5

LHC
LHC
LHC

15024_TB_02.02
15024_TB_04.09
15024_TB_02.01

P6
P5
P7

LHC
LHC

15024_TB_02.05
15024_TB_02.03

P6
P7

LHC
LHC

15024_F_02.10
15024_CL_04.10

P1
P2

LHC

15024_CL_02.10

P3

LHC
LHC

15024_CL_04.01
15024_CL_02.01

P2
P4

LHC
LHC

15024_PR_02.01
19139 SK 200304

P6
-

Proposed Street Elevations Sheet 2 Powell 01.12.2020 18137(05)1107 D
Dobson
Visitor Parking / Traffic Calming
Powell 11.12.2020 18137(05)1122 Plan
Dobson
Construction Traffic Memo

Page07.12.2020
88
WSP
07 Dec 2020

-

Technical Note (HGV routes) and
probability analysis

Vectos

18.12.2020 184772/N02

Email confirming on-site cycle
route no longer possible based on
highway authority response.

Redrow 14.12.2020

-

Reason: In the interests of clarity and to ensure the development complies with the
submitted plans and documents on which this decision was based
02

Pre – commencement/construction conditions
No development (excluding demolition) shall take place until the applicant, or their agents
or successors in title, has secured agreement for a written scheme of historic environment
mitigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the local planning
authority. Thereafter, the programme of work will be fully carried out in accordance with the
requirements and standards of the written scheme.
Reason: In accordance with policy CE6 of the adopted Local Development Plan and to
identify and record any features of archaeological interest discovered during the works, in
order to mitigate the impact of the works on the archaeological resource.

03

No construction shall commence in phase 4 (as defined by the Phasing Plan Document)
until full plan details of an emergency access route to serve as a shared footpath and
cycleway adjacent to plots 120 and 123 (to include swept path analysis for a fire tender and
appropriate measures to prevent general vehicular access), have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The details shall include a programme
for implementation of these works as part of the phase along with an Arboricultural method
statement to address any works that extend closer to the root protection areas of existing
trees compared to the approved layout plan (revision O).
Reason: In the interest of public safety and in accordance with policy GP4 of the adopted
Local Development Plan.

04

Full details of the means of construction, structural calculations, design and finishing
materials to the retaining wall along the north eastern boundary of the built development
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to
commencement of its development. The wall shall be constructed in accordance with the
details agreed and retained in that state thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and public safety and in accordance with policy GP6 of
the adopted Local Development Plan.

05

Prior to the commencement of any development on site or ground preparation/clearance
works, the preparatory setting out and requirements associated with the installation of tree
protection and replanting measures shall be inspected by a suitably qualified officer of the
Council (i.e. the Tree Officer) along with the site Arboricultural Consultant and site manager.
Reason: To protect important landscape features within the site and in accordance with policy
GP5 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

06

No development, to include demolition, shall commence until an updated Tree Protection
Plan (in accordance with BS 5837:2012) has been implemented in accordance with the
Arboricultural Implications Assessment & Arboricultural Method Statement (to be Revision 3)
required by condition 07 of this permission.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Tree Protection Plan
and the fencing shall be retained for the full duration of the development, and shall not be
removed or repositioned without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect important landscape features within the site and in accordance with
policy GP2 and GP5 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

07

Notwithstanding the details submitted, no operations of any description, (this includes all
forms of development, tree felling, tree pruning, temporary access construction, soil moving,
temporary access construction and operations involving the use of motorised vehicles or
Page
89in connection within the development until
construction machinery), shall commence
on site

a detailed Arboricultural Method Statement ( ie revision 3) has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be carried out in full compliance with the revised and approved
Arboricultural Method Statement.
Reason: To protect important landscape features within the site and in accordance with policy
GP6 and GP5 of the adopted Local Development Plan.
08

Prior to the commencement of works to the swales affected by the plots identified below,
full details of specific construction methods of the swale to deal with and set appropriate
measures for any overhanging tree branches and preventing any drainage and/or oxygen
change to existing tree roots. The cross sectional details shall demonstrate the levels set
out of the engineering layout (19399_C-300-7 Rev 3) with sections through the nearest
tree, the swale and through to the nearest property at plots 15, 17, 18, 24, 35, 39, 75 and
76 and also section from nearest tree and relationship with plots 82, 104, 120, 139, 141
and 155.
Reason: To ensure that the retained trees are not adversely impacted from the development
and in accordance with policy GP6 and GP5 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

09

No development, to include demolition, shall commence until an Arboriculturalist has been
appointed, as first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to oversee the project
(to perform a Watching Brief) for the duration of the development and who shall be
responsible for (a) Supervision and monitoring of the approved Tree Protection Plan;
(b) Once the barrier fencing is erected, the approved Arboricultural Consultant must
inspect and “sign off” in writing and submit a copy of this to the Local Planning
Authority stating that the protective fencing is in the correct location and is fit for
purpose .
c) Ensuring that all tree work is carried out in accordance with the approved Arboricultural
Implications Assessment & Arboricultural Method Statement (to be Revision 3) required by
condition 07 of this permission.
d)Supervision and monitoring of the approved tree felling and pruning works;
e)Supervision of the alteration or temporary removal of any Barrier Fencing;
f)Oversee working within any Root Protection Area;
g)Reporting to the Local Planning Authority;
h)The Arboricultural Consultant will provide site progress reports to the Council's Tree Officer
at intervals to be agreed by the Councils Tree Officer.
Reason: To protect important landscape features within the site and in accordance with policy
GP5 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

10

Prior to their extraction from ground, full details of the methodology for pruning, lifting,
guying and replanting of the Japanese Maples and Magnolia Grandiflora and their
proposed location and future maintenance of each tree(s) to be translocated (as shown on
the approved Tree Protection Plan – Steve Ambler and Sons) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall accord with the
Arboricultural Method Statement required by condition 07 of this permission. The trees
shall be translocated and thereafter maintained in accordance with the details agreed.
Reason: To ensure valuable tree features on site are retained in more suitable positions in
the interest of amenity and quality of layout and in accordance with policy GP5 and GP6 of
the adopted Local Development Plan.
11 Prior to the commencement of any demolition activities on site (excluding Phase 1
demolition already consented) full details of demolition methodology, site restoration,
demolition timing and associated mitigation measures shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. Such details shall have regard to ecological,
landscape, environmental, amenity, health and safety and heritage considerations. All
demolition works shall be undertaken in accordance with the details agreed.
Reason: To safeguard interests of acknowledged importance and in accordance with policies
SP9, GP5 and GP2 of the adopted Local Development Plan.
Pre –occupation conditions

Page 90

12

The works to widen, add to and improve the public right of way along the northern boundary
hereby approved shall be completed no later than first occupation in phase 4 (as defined by
the Phasing Plan Document) of the development. These works shall be in accordance with
full details first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
details shall include scaled drawings of the route including sectional details of the widening,
cross overs including full details of how the pathway/cycleway will link with Bellin Close,
details of all measures to prevent use by unauthorised vehicles and slow/dismount cyclists
approaching roads or standard footways along with a timetable for the installation of such
measures and removal of the existing palisade fencing along the route, and a detailed plan
of the area between the end of carriageway at St Cadocs Close and the PROW to clearly
show works to be undertaken including relocation of existing street furniture if required.
The works shall be completed in accordance with the details agreed and retained in this
state thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and active travel and to facilitate permeability and ease
of access to and round the site and in accordance with policy GP6 and GP4 of the adopted
Local Development Plan.

13

Prior to occupation of any dwelling in phase 4 the trim trail located within the arboretum
shall be completed and available for use in accordance with details that shall first have
been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details
shall include an Arboricultural Method Statement to demonstrate how such works will be
completed without harm to existing tree features in the area and to safeguard such features
in the long term.
Reason: To deliver agreed improvements to recreational, open space and permeability
related aspects of the development and safeguard valuable tree features on site and in
accordance with policy GP4 and GP6 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

14

No flat in the main listed building hereby approved shall be occupied until the secure bike
spaces within the basement of the building hereby approved are complete and available for
use. These spaces shall be retained thereafter.
Reason: to ensure adequate provision is made for sustainable transport options on site and
in accordance with policy GP4 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

15

No residential unit shall be occupied until the associated off road parking to serve the unit
has been completed and is available for use.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and highway safety and in accordance with
policy GP4 of the adopted Local Development Plan.
.

16

Prior to occupation of any unit hereby approved, a scheme for the provision of traffic
calming measures for that phase of development shall have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include full details of
all traffic calming measures and a timetable for their completion. Such measures, as
installed, shall be retained thereafter.
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and public safety and in accordance with
policy GP4 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

17

Notwithstanding the requirements of condition 17 no residential unit shall be occupied until
the associated boundary enclosures for it have been erected in accordance with the
enclosure layout plan hereby approved. The enclosures shall be retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure a suitable means of enclosure is provided for residential amenity and to
safeguard future occupiers from unacceptable road noise nuisance (specific to plots 20, 24,
25 and 33) and in accordance with policy GP2 and GP6 of the adopted Local Development
Plan.

18

Notwithstanding the details provided on the approved site enclosures layout (revision F)
the following plots shall not be occupied until boundary enclosures have been completed in
accordance with alternative details for such treatments that have first been submitted to
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Plots 169/70
Page 91
Plots 106-13 (inclusive)

Plots 135-139
The approved boundary enclosures shall be retained thereafter.
Reason: The plots are located in prominent positions and details shown on the approved
layout are not acceptable. Alternative, high quality boundary enclosures must be provided
in the interests of visual and residential amenity and in accordance with policy GP2 and GP6
of the adopted Local Development Plan.
19

Notwithstanding the Noise Planning Report (Ref: E14704-ACO-EJ-20190819 November
2019) prior to occupation of plots 1, 2, 3, 4, 15-25, 33-41, 51-53, 112, 113, 130-132, 135144 and 163-170, an updated noise report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority. The report shall specify any noise mitigation measures to the
building fabric, façade glazing and mechanical ventilation and the plots shall be completed
with any noise mitigation measures required. The approved measures must be retained
thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected and in accordance
with policy GP2 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

20

Prior to occupation of the first unit in each phase (as defined by the Phasing Plan
Document) and notwithstanding the landscaping details provided, the following details
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for each
phase:
 a planting plan that confirms the size of all new trees to be planted;
 detailed hard and soft landscape plans to be accompanied by associated detailed
level plans;
 measures to protect surfaces from root damage and use of underground cells to
increase root volume where appropriate;
 a detailed water regime in landscaped areas;
 a detailed implementation programme;
 a 5 year landscape management plan.
Each phase shall be completed and maintained in accordance with the details agreed.
Reason: In the interests of visual and residential amenity, ecology, water management and
the setting of heritage assets and protected tree features and in accordance with policy GP5
and GP6 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

21

No house in the “avenue” of units in phase 1 (as defined by the Phasing Plan Document
and are the units located on the road leading to the listed buildings) shall be occupied until
their associated front gardens have been landscaped and enclosed in accordance with
details hereby approved or to be agreed pursuant to conditions of this permission. Such
features shall be retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure a high quality development and to safeguard the setting of and important
vistas to the listed buildings and in accordance with policy GP6 of the adopted Local
Development Plan.

22

23

24

No apartment shall be occupied until associated bin storage facilities have been completed
in accordance with details first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To ensure adequate bin storage space is provided in an acceptable location and of
acceptable design having regard to amenity and to safeguard the setting of the listed building
and in accordance with policy W3 of the adopted Local Development Plan.
The Travel Plan measures set out in the Transport Assessment hereby approved shall be
completed in accordance with a timetable for implementation that has first been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of any unit on
site.
Reason: to secure mitigation measures proposed, facilitate modal shift and limit impacts on
traffic and air quality and in accordance with policy SP1 and GP2 and GP4 of the adopted
Local Development Plan.
Prior to occupation of any residential unit on site, full details of the Private Management
Company that will be responsible for all communal spaces and associated works/structures
on site not within the control of the Local Authority, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
Such92
details shall include the title, contact details,
Page

structure and responsibilities of the Company insofar as these relate to the site and its
future maintenance.
Reason: In the interests of residential and visual amenity and to safeguard the long term
interests of the listed buildings and their setting and in accordance with policy GP6 and SP9
of the adopted Local Development Plan.
25

Prior to occupation of any unit within the listed buildings hereby approved, means of
preventing vehicular access to the formal gardens and associated spaces adjoining the listed
buildings shall have been installed in accordance with details first submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such measures shall be retained thereafter.
Reason: To prevent the encroachment of vehicles within open space and setting of the listed
buildings to the detriment of their amenity and character and in accordance with policy SP9
of the adopted Local Development Plan.

26

Prior to occupation of any unit on site, full details of the electricity sub station shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The sub station shall
be constructed in accordance with the details agreed and retained in that state thereafter.
Reason: To safeguard the setting of the listed building and in accordance with policy SP9 of
the adopted Local Development Plan.

27

Prior to occupation of any unit hereby approved, a scheme for the provision of electric
charging points in communal/visitor parking spaces shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include a minimum of 4 charging points in
the communal parking area serving the apartments along with a timetable or their completion.
The scheme shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and retained
thereafter.
Reason: to encourage the use of ULEV in accordance with policy SP1 of the adopted Local
Development Plan.
All non residential uses on the application site shall cease prior to first occupation of any
dwelling on site.
Reason: in the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with policy GP2 of the
adopted Local Development Plan.

28

29

30

No unit shall be occupied until the works to upgrade/alter the College Crescent access to the
site have been completed in accordance with the approved details. Such works shall be
retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that access into the site off College Crescent is completed prior to
occupation in the interest of highway safety and in accordance with policy GP4 of the adopted
Local Development Plan.
General conditions
No more than 8 HGVs per day with a total not exceeding 44 HGVs in a week (Monday to
Saturday only) whichever is the lower figure, shall use the construction vehicle route hereby
approved in association with this development. This shall include all such vehicles,
including those associated with demolition, site preparation, construction and associated
activities required by the development. For the purposes of this condition the largest HGV
vehicle permissible along the route will be a 6 axle articulated lorry of no more than 16.5m
length and no more than 5 of this type of vehicle will be allowed along the route in any
calendar week – Monday to Saturday only. Such vehicles shall only use the route in
accordance with the Construction Environmental Management Plan (revision G) and the
time and day restrictions contained therein.
Reason: To safeguard residential amenity and highway safety and in accordance with policy
SP1, GP2 and GP4 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

31

The applicant shall keep an up to date and legible log of all HGV, construction/demolition
and delivery traffic accessing site in association with the development and make this log
available for inspection by officers appointed by the Council upon request. This log must
record the number, type (of vehicle including size), registration number, time and date of
each vehicle entering site. The log shall be kept for the duration of development activity at
the site.
Page 93

Reason: To safeguard residential amenity and highway safety and in accordance with policy
GP2 and GP4 of the adopted Local Development Plan.
32

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at site
then no further development shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how
this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be carried out as
approved.
Reason: To ensure the risk associated with previously unsuspected contamination at the
site are dealt with through a remediation strategy to minimise the risk to both future users of
the land and neighbouring land, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safety
without unacceptable risks. In accordance with policy GP2 of the adopted Local Development
Plan.

33

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any order revoking or re-enacting that order),
schedule 2, part 2, class A, other than those approved no wall, fence, gate, hedge or other
means of enclosure shall be erected or planted without the prior written permission of the
local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area, the setting of the heritage assets
and protected trees and highway safety in accordance with Policy GP2 and GP6, policy GP5
and policy SP9 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).

34

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the Construction and
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) (revision G) that deals with the following matters:
 Construction Traffic Management Plan;
 General construction site information;
 Construction programme;
Storage & Compound Details;
 Fencing, Security & Site Hoarding Details;
 Noise & Vibration Management Plan;
 Dust, Emissions & Odours Management Plan;
 Cementious Materials Controls;
 Lighting Management Plan;
 Contaminated Material Plan;
 Construction Drainage Plan;
 Green Infrastructure Plan;
 Site Waste Management Plan; and
 Contacts & Complaints.
hereby approved and all recommendations or requirements stated therein unless a revised
CEMP is first submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority or unless
otherwise stated in conditions of this permission.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, the environment and public safety and in
accordance with policy GP2 and policy SP1 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

35

No structures or planting above a height of 600mm above carriageway level will be
permitted within any visibility splays hereby approved on the permitted site layout.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and in accordance with policy GP4 of the adopted
Local Development Plan.

36

The development shall be undertaken in full accordance with the Landscape and Ecology
Management Plan (LEMP) (Edp, October 2020) and
prescriptions/recommendations/measures contained therein and hereby approved unless a
revised LEMP is first submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority or
as otherwise specified or approved in conditions of this permission.
Reason: To safeguard ecological interests and ensure acceptable habitat management and
in accordance with policy GP5 and policy SP9 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

Page 94

37

All works affecting protected trees shall be undertaken under the supervision of the project
Arborist. Notwithstanding the details provided, no works or landscaping/seeding of any
description shall take place within the root protection areas.
Reason: To protect valuable tree features on site and in accordance with policy GP5 of the
adopted Local Development Plan.
The sequential phasing of the development including the works to the heritage assets shall
be undertaken in accordance with the Phasing Plan Document (Redrow, December 2020)
hereby approved unless a revised Phasing Plan Document is first submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
Reason: To ensure the delivery of the listed building conversions at an acceptable stage of
overall development and to safeguard these listed buildings, their setting, quality of
development and amenity generally and in accordance with policy GP2 and policy SP9 of
the adopted Local Development Plan.
Except where otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no existing trees
shall be felled, topped or lopped, and no existing hedges shall be removed.
Reason: To protect existing landscape features on the site and in accordance with policy
GP5 of the adopted Local Development Plan.
No excavation for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles, deposits
or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take place within the
Root Protection Area.
Reason: To protect important landscape features within the site and in accordance with policy
GP5 of the adopted Local Development Plan.
Nothwithstanding the layout plan hereby approved the single parking space serving the
building known as Ty Hywell and located entirely underneath the canopy spread of the
protected Cedar tree, shall be omitted and no hardsurfacing or parking facility provided in
this area. The area shall thereafter be kept clear of parking facilities.

38

39

40

41

Reason: Parking underneath this tree is not good practice and will increase pressure for
future lopping or potentially felling associated with resident fears of branch drop and
associated property damage. This would be to the detriment of the long term health and
maintenance of this visually impressive tree feature and in accordance with policy GP5 of the
adopted Local Development Plan.
No lighting shall be installed on site unless details have been first submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any such lighting shall be installed in accordance
with the details agreed and retained in that state thereafter.
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and the setting of the listed buildings and in
accordance with policy GP2, GP6 and SP9 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

42

NOTE TO APPLICANT
01

This decision relates to the documents and plan nos set out at condition 01 above.

02 The development plan for Newport is the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 – 2026
(Adopted January 2015). The following policies were relevant to the determination of this
application:


SP1 – Sustainability



SP2 – Health



SP4 – Water Resources



SP9 – Conservation of the Natural, Historic and Built Environment



SP10 – House Building Requirement



SP12 – Community Facilities



SP13 – Planning Obligations



SP15 – Integrated Transport



SP18 – Urban Regeneration



GP1 – Climate Change

Page 95



GP2 – General Amenity



GP3 – Service Infrastructure



GP4 – Highways and Accessibility



GP5 – Natural Environment



GP6 – Quality of Design



GP7 – Environmental Protection and Public Health



CE3 – Environmental Spaces and Corridors



CE6 – Archaeology



H2 – Housing Standards



H3 – Housing Mix and Density



H4 – Affordable Housing – 40% sub market area



T4 – Parking



CF1 – Protection of Playing Fields, Land and Buildings Used for Leisure, Sport, Recreation
and Play



CF2 – Outdoor Play Space Requirements



CF12 – Protection of Existing Community Facilities



W3 – Provision of Waste Management Facilities in Development

03 As of 1st October 2012 any connection to the public sewerage network (foul or surface
water sewerage) for the first time will require an adoption agreement with Dwr Cymru
Welsh Water. For further advice contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water on 01443 331155.
04 Environmental Statement was submitted with this application.
05 National marine planning policy in the form of the Welsh National Marine Plan (2019)
(WNMP) is not of relevance to the determination of this application.
06 Warning: An European protected species (EPS) Licence is required for this
development.
This planning permission does not provide consent to undertake works that require an
EPS licence. It is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS or to damage or
destroy their breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of any offences, you could be
sent to prison for up to 6 months and/or receive an unlimited fine.
To undertake the works within the law, you can obtain further information on the need for a
licence from Natural Resources Wales on 0300 065 3000 or at
https://naturalresources.wales/permits-and-permissions/protectedspecieslicensing/european-protected-species-licensing/information-on-europeanprotectedspecies-licensing/?lang=en.
Development should not be commenced until the Applicant has been granted a licence by
Natural Resources Wales pursuant to Regulation 55 of the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations (2017) authorizing the specified activity/development to go ahead.
Please note that any changes to plans between planning consent and the licence
application may affect the outcome of a licence application.
07

The treatment and disposal of contaminated soils and groundwater is regulated by waste
legislation and requires an environmental permit. Excavated materials that are recovered
via a treatment operation can be re used on site under the CL:AIRE Definition of Waste:
Development Industry Code of Practice. This voluntary code of practice provides a
framework for determining whether or not excavated material arising from site during
remediation and/or land development works are waste. Developers should ensure that all
contaminated materials are adequately characterised both chemically and physically, and
that the permitting status of any proposed on site operations are clear. If in doubt, NRW
Page
96 to avoid any delays.
should be contacted for advice at an
early stage

08

The archaeological work must be undertaken to the appropriate Standard and Guidance
set by Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (ClfA), (www.archaeologists.net/codes/cifa)
and it is recommended that it is carried out either by a ClFA Registered organisation or an
MClfA accredited member.

09

Works required to improve the PROW and wider development will require a temporary
closure under Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. Application for this can be obtained
through Newport City Council for a 6 month closure with the possibility of extending via
further application to Welsh Government.

Page 97

2.
APPLICATION DETAILS
No:

20/0686

Ward:

Gaer

Type:

Full

Expiry Date:

8th January2021

Applicant:

M Humphreys

Site:

Land West Of Tredegar Camp Bassaleg Road Newport South Wales

Proposal:

93 WESTERN AVENUE TO 26 WELLS CLOSE SHARED USE TRAVEL
ROUTE (3M WIDE) FROM BASSALEG ROAD THROUGH GAER PARK
ENDING AT WELLS CLOSE FOLLOWING EXISTING UNMADE
FOOTPATH NEW CROSSING POINTS AT WESTERN AVENUE AND ON
BASSALEG ROAD

Recommendation:

SEEK DELEGATED POWERS FOR THE HEAD OF SERVICE TO
APPROVE THE APPLICATION IN THE EVENT THAT NATURAL
RESOURCES WALES CONFIRMS THAT THE APPROPRIATE
ASSESSMENT IS ACCEPTABLE SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS.

1.
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application seeks full planning permission for the formation of a shared travel route from
Bassaleg Road, though Gaer Park connecting to Wells Close. The share route comprises a
linear route c.3.5 metres wide which extends approximately 1.3km in length from Bassaleg
Road at approximate NGR ST 28631 86971 in the north, to the end of a residential street
south of Wells Close at approximate NGR ST 29360 86261 in the south.

1.2

The purpose of the development is to provide a convenient, safe and attractive route for
pedestrian and cyclists, which are compliant with DDA standards and to meet Active Travel
objectives. The site has a number of constraints and designations including:  The site is within the urban settlement boundary defined in the Adopted Newport Local
Development Plan, within the Gaer Ward.
 The site is part of the Tredegar House Historic Park and Garden.
 The site includes the Tredegar Gaer Fort Scheduled Ancient Monument.
 The site forms the Gaer Fort Sites of Important Nature Conservation (SINC) and is also
adjacent to the Afon Ebbw River SINC and broadleaved semi-natural woodland
(Tredegar Camp Woodland)
 The site is designated as Environmental Open Space, according to the Local
Development Plan.

1.3

The application is being determined by Planning Committee as the majority of the land is
owned and controlled by Newport City Council. It was registered and advertised as a major
application, however, upon review of the application and further information submitted by the
applicant, which sets out that the site
is in fact
Page
98 under 1 hectare in area, the application can
actually be classed as a minor application.

1.4

The application received 3 representations with the main issues being with respect to the
works to the highway on Western Avenue. Officers reccomendation is to seek delegated
powers for the Head of Service to approve the application in the event that Natural Resources
Wales confirms that the Appropriate Assessment carried out as part of the Council’s duty
under regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) Habitat
is acceptable.

2.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY
None.

3.
3.1

POLICY CONTEXT
Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that in
determining a planning application, the determination must be in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development
Plan for the area comprises the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (Adopted
January 2015) and within which the following policies are of relevance:
Strategic Policies
SP1 Sustainability
SP2 Health
SP9 Conservation of the Natural, Historic and Built Environment
SP14 Transport Proposals
SP 15 Integrated Transport
General Policies
GP2– General Amenity
GP4– Highways and Accessibility
GP5– Natural Environment
GP6– Quality of Design
GP7– Environmental Protection and Public Health
Countryside Protection
CE1 Routeways, Corridors and Gateways
CE3 Environmental Spaces and Corridors
The Historic Environment
CE4 Historic Landscapes, Parks, Gardens and Battlefields
CE6 Archaeology
The Natural Environment
CE8 Locally Designated Nature Conservation and Geological Sites
Transport
T5 Walking and Cycling
T6 Public Rights of Way Improvement
Waste
W3 Provision for Waste Management Facilities in Development

3.2

PLANNING POLICY WALES:

3.2.1

National planning policy in the form of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, 2018) (PPW) is of
relevance to the determination of this Page
application.
99The primary objective of PPW is to ensure

that the planning system contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and
improves the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales.
The PPW (Edition 10 – December 2018) sets out the Welsh Government’s principles for
delivering the vision set out in Well-being of Future Generations Act and helps to ensure that
the planning decisions taken in Wales are going to improve lives of our current and future
generations. The emphasis is placed upon prosperity and resilience of Wales in terms of
support for: well-connected environments, healthy eco-systems, the national and global
environment and Health and wellbeing of the local communities. The principles include:


Measures to encourage and increase sustainable travel choices and promote
physical activity including walking and cycling to reduce dependency on the car for
daily travel (Para 4.11).



Figure 8 of the document highlights ‘The Sustainable Transport Hierarchy for
Planning’ which gives the highest priority to ‘Walking and Cycling’ and prioritises
access and movement by active and sustainable transport (Para 4.1.12)
.
Creating sustainable places that provide opportunities for improvement of health
and wellbeing of the local communities as well as providing places for social
interaction (para 4.1.25).





Making cycling and walking preferred option for travelling shorter journeys to and
from education, services and facilities in accordance with The Active Travel (Wales)
Act – 2013.



New developments to be constructed with Active Travel in mind. This embedded
principle ensures new developments are placed within close proximity of existing
infrastructure where travel to and from the development can be achieved by means
of ‘Active Travel’.



Development plans are required to safeguard active travel routes highlighted within
the Integrated Network Maps required by the Active Travel Act and ensure their
delivery (para 4.1.32).



Availability and access to public transport to enable people to make medium and
long journeys without being dependent on single occupancy car (para 4.1.35).

Chapter 6 of Planning Policy Wales (PPW) (2018) sets out the Welsh Government’s
objectives to the protection, management and conservation of the historic environment in
Wales and requires that:
•

Decisions are based upon an understanding of the significance of historic assets;

•

Archaeological remains are conserved, both for their own sake and for their role in
education, leisure and economy;

•

The character of historic buildings is safeguarded and changes managed to ensure
that their special architectural and historic interest is preserved;

•

The character or appearance of conservation areas are preserved or enhanced
whilst helping them remain vibrant and prosperous;

•

The special interest of sites of the register of historic parks and gardens in Wales
are preserved; and

•

Areas of registered historic Welsh landscapes are conserved.

6.4.18 Special Protection Areas, Special Areas of Conservation and Ramsar Sites
SACs and SPAs are of European importance. Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Page 100
Regulations (2017) (the Habitats Regulations), all public bodies (including planning authorities)

must have regard to the requirements of the EC Habitats and Birds Directives when carrying
out their functions. SACs and SPAs on land are underpinned by notification as SSSIs and
hence subject to protection afforded by the SSSI provisions. Before authorising development
or adopting a land use plan which is likely to have a significant effect on a SAC or SPA
(including where outside the boundary of the SAC or SPA), planning authorities must carry out
an appropriate assessment of the implications for the designated features, consult NRW and
have regard to NRW’s representations. The development can normally only be authorised or
the plan adopted, if the planning authority ascertains that it will not adversely affect the integrity
of the site, if necessary taking into account any additional measures, planning conditions or
obligations. Development or policies in land use plans for which there is no alternative solution
and which must be carried out for imperative reasons of over-riding public interest may be
authorised notwithstanding a negative assessment of the implications, subject to notifying
Welsh Ministers. Any necessary compensatory measures to protect the overall coherence of
the network of SACs and SPAs must be secured. Ramsar sites are important wetland areas
designated under the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands of International importance. As with
SACs and SPAs, Ramsar sites are underpinned by notification as SSSIs, but are not subject
to the Habitats Regulations. However, Ramsar sites should be treated within the planning
system in the same way as SACs and SPAs.
3.3 TECHNICAL ADVICE NOTES:
3.3.1 The Welsh Government has provided additional guidance in the form of Technical
Advice Notes. The following are of relevance:



3.3.2

Technical Advice Note 5 – Nature Conservation and Planning
Technical Advice Note 12 – Design (2016)
Technical Advice Note 24 – The Historic Environment

Where historic assets are to be affected by a proposed development TAN 24 advises that
is for the applicant to provide the local planning authority with sufficient information to allow
the assessment of their proposals in respect of designated assets and their settings.
TAN24 goes on to state that the following factors should be considered in an assessment:
• The significance of the asset and the contribution the setting makes to that
significance;
• The prominence of the historic asset;
• The expected lifespan of the proposed development;
• The extent of tree cover and its likely longevity; and
• Non-visual factors affecting the setting of the historic asset.

3.4
3.4.1

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE:
In addition to the adopted Local Development Plan, the Council has approved
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG). The following SPG are of relevance:
 Wildlife and Development





Trees, Woodland, Hedgerows and Development Sites
Archaeology and Archaeologically Sensitive Areas
Sustainable Travel SPG

3.5

Other relevant legislation
 Welsh Government Circular 016/2014: The Use of Planning Conditions for
Development Management
 The Planning (Wales) Act (2015)
 Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013- The Active Travel (Wales) Act places a requirement
on local authorities to continuously improve facilities and routes for walkers and
cyclists and to prepare maps identifying existing and potential future routes for their
use. Existing routes are identified on the Existing Route Maps (ERM) and potential
future routes are identified on the Integrated Network Map (INM).

4.
4.1

CONSULTATIONS
NETWORK RAIL : no objection in principle but due to the proposal being next to Network
Rail land and infrastructure, to ensure that no part of the development adversely impacts the

Page 101

safety, operation and integrity of the operational railway, asset protection comments have
been provided which the applicant is strongly recommended to action:
Any works on this land will need to be undertaken following engagement with Asset
Protection to determine the interface with Network Rail assets, buried or otherwise and by
entering into a Basis Asset Protection Agreement, if required, with a minimum of 3months
notice
before
works
start.
Initially
the
outside
party
should
contact
assetprotectionwales@networkrail.co.uk .
The existing fence line/boundary measure must not be disturbed during the construction of
the proposed travel route.
DRAINAGE
Soakaways / attenuation ponds / septic tanks etc, as a means of storm/surface water
disposal must not be constructed near/within 5 metres of Network Rail’s boundary or at any
point which could adversely affect the stability of Network Rail’s property/infrastructure.
Storm/surface water must not be discharged onto Network Rail’s property or into Network
Rail’s culverts or drains. Network Rail’s drainage system(s) are not to be compromised by
any work(s). Suitable drainage or other works must be provided and maintained by the
Developer to prevent surface water flows or run-off onto Network Rail’s property /
infrastructure. Ground levels – if altered, to be such that water flows away from the railway.
Drainage is not to show up on Buried service checks.
LIGHTING
Any lighting associated with the development (including vehicle lights) must not interfere with
the sighting of signalling apparatus and/or train drivers vision on approaching trains. The
location and colour of lights must not give rise to the potential for confusion with the signalling
arrangements on the railway.
4.2

CADW PARKS AND GARDENS: We are in agreement with the conclusions of the Heritage
Impact Assessment and would agree with the embedded and proposed additional mitigation
measures set out in the report. This includes the surface is proposed with the final colour to
be agreed with CADW to achieve a softer finish and to reduce the urbanising effect on the
parkland context and archaeological mitigation as requested by GGAT due to the high
archaeological potential of the area; and consideration of the type and extent of lighting
requirements along the route to minimise visual impact. It is important that trees of historic
significance to the parkland are not adversely affected by the proposals, notably the veteran
oak T4, which should be afforded appropriate protection.
We support the proposed embedded and additional mitigation measures to reduce impacts
on the registered park and garden.

4.3

GLAMORGAN GWENT ARCHAEOLOGICAL TRUST (GGAT): No objection. A Watching
Brief Written Scheme of Investigation (Wardell Armstrong Report no. CA11833, dated August
2020) has also been submitted, which details a methodology for an archaeological watching
brief during all ground intrusion works associated with the proposal. The document meets
current professional standards and presents both a coherent and appropriate mitigation
strategy. To ensure adherence to the stated mitigation strategy we recommend that a
condition should be attached to any consent granted by your Members to ensure compliance
with the document.

4.4

NATIONAL RESOURCES WALES- No comments have been received to date.

4.5

GWENT POLICE: No response has been received.

4.6

NEWPORT ACCESS GROUP: No response has been received.

5.
5.1

INTERNAL COUNCIL ADVICE
HEAD OF STREETSCENE AND CITY SERVICES (HIGHWAYS)- Drawing 0910-AMEY-61XX-DR-C-0002 General Arrangement Sheet 1 of 3 shows the proposed layout from Bassaleg
Road to the entrance to the existing
access
adjacent to 93 Western Avenue.
Page
102

a. The central island of the crossing on Bassaleg Road will need to be a minimum of 2.4m
wide to accommodate the length of a cycle. Inset 1 is shown at scale 1:200 but this is
incorrect and the drawing will need to be revised.
b. The proposal will widen the footway along Western Avenue to 2.5m and replace the
existing kerb line with a fluted surface drainage channel which is hazardous to cyclists and
will isolate the extended area of the foot/cycleway leaving it unlikely to be utilised leading
to conflict between pedestrians and cyclists.
c. Single sided signage dia 956 shared foot/cycleway will need to be replaced with double
sided signs which will indicate the change of use of the route to pedestrian only for
example dia 951 ‘Cycles prohibited’ Glasdon mini ensign bollards are recommended.
d. Visibility splays from the access to the open space adjacent to 93 western Avenue will be
required and should be shown on an amended drawing.
e. Markings showing pedestrians and cycles should be provided on the shared
foot/cycleway.
f. Plan A shows the route across the open space. Repeater road markings should be
provided.
Drawing 0910-AMEY-61-XX-DR-C-0003 General Arrangement Sheet 2 of 3 shows the route
across the open space. Road markings should be provided.
Drawing 0910-AMEY-61-XX-DR-C-0003 General Arrangement Sheet 3 of 3 shows the route
across the open space which should also have repeater markings.
a. Inset 2 shows the junction with Wells Close. Single sided signage dia 956 shared
foot/cycleway will need to be replaced with double sided signs which will indicate the
change of use of the route to pedestrian only for example dia 951 ‘Cycles prohibited’
Glasdon mini ensign bollards are recommended.
b. The end of route sign should be double sided with sign dia 956. Glasdon mini ensign
bollards are recommended with the bollard being located in the centre of the cycleway to
prevent access by cars.
c. An additional bollard should be provided to deter cars prior to the divergence of the cycle
and pedestrian routes
d. The pedestrian road marking should be located to the east, on the pedestrian side of the
hazard warning paving.
A CEMP will be required which should include proposals for HGV access to the open space.
Please note that the construction/engineering details submitted in regard to the proposals
have not been considered as part of the application submission. These details should be
conditioned for approval prior to construction.
I would therefore offer no objection to this application on highway grounds subject to the
receipt of revised drawings addressing the above comments.
5.2

HEAD OF REGENERATION AND REGULATORY SERVICES (CONSERVATION
OFFICER): I defer any comments made by CADW regarding the impact of the development
on the Registered Historic Park and nearby Scheduled Monument. I have no concerns
regarding the potential impact on the setting of any other designated historic assets.

5.3

HEAD OF STREETSCENE AND CITY SERVICES (ECOLOGY OFFICER): Concerns raised
over the loss of trees and the correlation with the arboricultural tree assessment and the loss
of any veteran trees. In addition, the lighting information was insufficient to assess the
impacts of the proposal on the Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) and their
habitats. The bollards could be acceptable but there is no details of lux levels or spill from
the bollard. Statements indicate the bollards would be used at night but does not indicate
morning times. Further details in this respect are needed to assess the impact of the
proposals. Requests were made for an updated ecological assessment and arboriculture
report as well as light levels plan and further details on timings.
Re-consultation was carried out on 8th December following submission of updated and new
ecology information. Following comments were received: Please note due to time constraints, Page
I have not
had the opportunity to review in detail the
103
individual survey reports for dormouse, waterbodies and detailed botanical surveys,

however, the methodology and results are provided in sufficient detail in the Ecological
Impact Assessment to inform my comments.
The Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) has expanded on the detail of the original
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) submitted and included a quantitative analysis of the
habitats affected by the proposal. The direct habitat lost will be minimal in comparison to the
wider site, the types of habitats lost are of low ecological value and will not affect the integrity
of the site. I agree that this is an acceptable conclusion with regards to the direct impacts of
the proposal. Notwithstanding this, I do have concerns that the lack of restrictions on
accessing the site will result in inappropriate use of the wider SINC site which has not been
considered to date. As this is indirect / potential / uncertain impact and not within the control
of the applicant, it is not necessarily something that can be assessed within the context of an
EcIA, but as similar anti-social behaviour has occurred on other sites, the potential for
damage to SINC habitats and potential harm to wildlife that opening up the site will cause
should be considered in the making of the planning decision.
The EcIA identifies one tree (T6) with moderate bat potential that will be removed and
subsequent information submitted show that a further five trees (T1, T2, T3, T5, T14) with
low bat potential are also required to be removed. This is a departure from what had
previously been demonstrated; the original PEA recommended surveys of trees with bat
potential, in discussions with the ecologists, I stated that my preference was for trees with
bat potential to be retained and the scheme amended accordingly to protect those trees,
hence my initial comments requesting the PEA to be updated to reflect this.
Due to the way that bats use tree roosts, surveys are not normally required of trees with low
potential for bats before a planning decision, however surveys are normally required for trees
with moderate potential or higher in order to ensure that the extent that protected species are
affected is adequately considered in the planning decision. In this situation, I think it is
acceptable to take a more pragmatic approach, due to the location of the tree which offers
many other suitable roosting opportunities within close vicinity, meaning that even extensive
surveys might miss typical occasional use, as well as there being plenty of other suitable
alternative natural roosting provision and by means of compensation, artificial roosting
provision can be provided in suitable locations.
The Biodiversity Mitigation, Management and Enhancements Plan (BMMEP) includes
suitable working methodologies, mitigation and enhancements to protect and enhance the
habitat features of the SINC and nearby designated sites and protected species with potential
to be found on site, including bats. However, the mitigation is based upon losing only one
tree and I believe that additional boxes should be provided for each tree with bat potential
that will be lost. Similarly, with bird nest boxes to compensate for the loss of bird nesting
habitat. It would be preferable for the BMMEP to be updated to reflect this prior to the
planning application being decided so that it can be secured with a compliance condition. If
this is not possible with the January committee deadline then a pre-commencement condition
will be required.
The lighting plan produced by ZG Lighting (UK) Ltd (drawing ref 0002119759-E-R003072020) has been updated to show the light spill does not greatly exceed the width of the
path. The bollard chosen has been designed for environmentally sensitive areas; although
introducing any light sources to a previously unlit area will have negative impacts on wildlife
that use the area. The EcIA specifies times during the evening when the lighting will be active
(2000 to 2200 in summer, and 1600 to 2200 in winter) which will be an acceptable
compromise between making the path suitable for use in the evenings and mornings, and
protecting the wildlife interests of the site. Timing of lighting will need to be secured with an
appropriately worded condition if the application is approved.
5.4

HEAD OF REGENERATION AND REGULATORY SERVICES (PUBLIC PROTECTION
MANAGER): No objections to the proposals; but conditions should be attached to any
permission granted to ensure details of waste bins/littering and a construction environmental
management plan

5.5

HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (HIGHWAYS
Page 104- ACTIVE TRAVEL CO-ORDINATOR)- See
comments below from Destination Development Manager.

5.6

LAW AND REGULATION- TOURISM- (DESTINATION DEVELOPMENT MANAGER):
Comments on this proposal are that from a destination development point of view this
application would be supported. It creates a better Active Travel infrastructure with 3 m width.
The legacy going forward is important and this location has had strategic gaps in the Active
Travel links up until now linked to developments west of Tredegar Camp .

5.7

HEAD OF STREETSCENE AND CITY SERVICES (Public Rights of Way Officer): No
objection to the scheme. Though the route from Bassaleg Road to Wells Close is not a
recorded public right of way, it is used regularly by residents and visitors to the Gaer Fort
site. This proposal will provide a significant improvement to the public right of way network
in the area and complement the recent improvements to the route through the site known as
Coed Melyn, which also carries the Sir Howey Valley Walk. The Sir Howey Valley walk enters
the Gear Fort site at the proposed location of the active travel route and while this continues
up to the area of the fort, the proposed route will provide a viable alternative to less able
users.
The proposals will enhance user experience and encourage increased use of the open space
offering benefits to the health and well-being of local residents. The installation of lighting will
help to ensure that the route will be used all year round for both Active Travel and recreational
users. The provided width of 3m will ensure minimal conflict between all user types and the
installation of a chicane system in replacement of the existing kissing gates at the entrances
to the site will help to ensure the route and wider area can be accessed and enjoyed by users
of all abilities.

5.8

HEAD OF STREETSCENE AND CITY SERVICES (TREE OFFICER): No objections subject
to conditions on tree retention, tree protection plan, root protection barrier, Arboriculture
Method Statement and details of the Arboriculturist to carry out the work.

5.9

HEAD OF STREETSCENE AND CITY SERVICES (DRAINAGE)- No response

6.
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS
NEIGHBOURS: 9 Properties including neighbours on Western Avenue, Bassaleg Road and
Wells Close were consulted. A site notice was erected on 11th September 2020 and a press
advert on 26th September 2020. 3 representations were received in respect of the application.
The main issues raised are summarised below: 










Concerns over highway and pedestrian safety when reversing out of current access
(152, Bassaleg Road) and widening the pavement would encourage more people to
use it and create a higher risk of accidents. Not good vision on Western Avenue and
will have to drive over pedestrian crossing.
There is a solution available to the conflict with the access and crossing, by moving
their access to the left but they would appreciate the Council’s assistance to relocate
the access.
The plans appear to be proposing the reduction of road width of Western Avenue
adjacent of our home, the road is very busy in this location and there are a number
of vehicles parked opposite and adjacent to our driveway as people take their dogs
for a walk. We feel these proposals are likely to make congestion in the area much
worse with an increased risk of accidents or near misses at peak times.
The type of crossing being proposed is unclear (Pelican, Zebra etc).
The location of the crossing appears to be next to our driveway and impinges on our
dropped kerb, this location could make entry and exit from our property difficult
especially if there is anyone waiting to cross.
The location of the crossing is within an area where a lot of people park their cars –
either on the road or partly on the pavement. Will the crossing include parking
restrictions to ensure this area is kept clear of parked vehicles at all times? How will
this be enforced?
Will these proposed works result in a reduced speed restriction to 20 mph in the area
of the crossing on Western Avenue, will it be part of a speed table?

Page 105









If the crossing does include a speed table, this is likely to hamper our entry and exit
into our driveway which is already poor through numerous road and footpath levels
and narrow gateways
The proposed location of the crossing is above the stream tunnel. What impact will
these works have on the tunnel? And what impact does the tunnel have on the works?
Could the Council please confirm how the interface between my driveway and the
highway will be improved as currently our car catches on the highway whenever I
entry or leave our home.
We feel these works will result in the need to relay our driveway to coordinate with
the new footpath levels.
We feel the location of the crossing will have a detrimental effect on the value of our
home, we request that Newport City Council arranges for an independent assessment
of the likely impact these works could have on the value of our home be carried out
and given to us to validate to discuss further.
Cyclists on a combined shared route does work well. The Canal bank is an example
for that. But this field/park/fort might be a temptation for scramblers which is far
more dangerous. And they could spoil the nature around them.'

6.2

WARD COUNCILLORS: S. Marshall, M. Whitcutt and D. Wilcox were consulted. No
response received.

7.
7.1

ASSESSMENT
Site Descritption

7.1.1

The current route through the park is currently an unmade path and is aligned close to the
western and southern edges of the park boundary. On entry into the park from Bassaleg
Road (in the north), the route passes through a semi natural broadleaved woodland habitat
and then opens onto a more open aspect of the park with open grassland and scrub as well
as scattered trees and other informal walkways. The park appears to be well used by dog
walkers and ramblers. To the southern boundary just beyond the site edged blue, there is
the railway line and the adjoining River Ebbw. On exit from the park onto Bassaleg Road,
there is a footway and highway verge. There is a crossing with a central reservation
approximately 20m east of the exit from the park. The crossing provides access to Western
Avenue. On exit at Wells Close, the location is a quieter residential close with access via
gates at the end of a turning head.

7.1.2

The site has the Gaer Fort Scheduled Ancient Monument to the north east of the site and the
park is also recognised as a part of the wider Grade II Tredegar House Park and Garden and
a locally
protected
SINC.

Page 106

7.2

Description of Development

7.2.1

The application is proposing an Active Travel route which is approximately 1.4km long and
is predominantly off-road. The route is to be designed in accordance with the Active Travel
Wales design guidance and assessments that have been completed to date. The route
comprises of a shared cycle path connecting Bassaleg Road at the North-West and Wells
Close at South-East of the site.

7.2.2

Width has been designed as 3.0m wide
 Minimum horizontal curvature has been designed to a minimum of 25m except at the
location of the Bassaleg Road access where it is approximately 12.0m radius.
 The vertical curvature, Crest values have been designed to a minimum of 5 (k value).
 Generally, the vertical gradients have been designed to a maximum of 5% except the
Bassaleg Road access increases in gradient to approximately 8-10% for a short
length.
 Bollard lighting is proposed along the route along with sustainable drainage by way
of swales, soakaways and drainage basins.

7.2.3

The proposals also include alterations/improvement to the crossings and footways over
Bassaleg Road and up part of Western Avenue in order to link to the existing active travel
route and footpath no. 384/23/1. The works to the footways and crossings include:





Build-out the existing western footway to a width of 2.50m for a length of 60m.
Provide crossing point at location of existing cycle route over Western Avenue.
Widen footways either side of Bassaleg Road and increase central reservation
crossing to refuge 1 Type B, which is 5.6m length and 2m wide.
Fluted drainage channel required for most of the shared-use route due to level vertical
level differences.

7.3

Principle of Development

7.3.1

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) states that it is Welsh Government policy to require the
use of a sustainable transport hierarchy in relation to new development, which prioritises
walking, cycling and public transport ahead of the private motor vehicles. This is supported
by LDP policies SP1, SP2, SP14, SP15, GP4 and T5 as well as the Sustainable Travel SPG
that promote safer pedestrian and cycle routes through the areas as well as seek to develop
and grow those facilities.

7.3.2

The proposed shared route would replace the currently unmade path which currently links
Bassaleg Road with Wells Close. The existing path is unmade and does not provide access
for all users as the land is undulating, uneven and has no lighting. It is also an unwelcoming
environment where the fear of anti-social behaviour and crime is likely to deter users during
the night and winter periods.

7.3.3

Although the route from Bassaleg Road to Wells Close is not a recorded public right of way,
it is used regularly by residents and visitors to the Gear Fort site. This proposal will provide
a significant improvement to the public right of way network in the area and complement the
recent improvements to the route through the site known as Coed Melyn, which also carries
the Sir Howey Valley Walk. The Sir Howey Valley walk enters the Gear Fort site at the
proposed location of the active travel route and while this continues up to the area of the fort,
the proposed route will provide a viable alternative to less able users. It is considered that a
safer and more attractive route across the park would help promote more sustainable travel
into different areas of Newport and the centre, in favour of the use of the private motor

Page 107

vehicle. The proposals will enhance user experience and encourage increased use of the
open space offering benefits to the health and well-being of local residents.
7.3.4

The installation of lighting will help to ensure that the route will be used all year round for both
Active Travel and recreational users. The provided width of 3m will ensure minimal conflict
between all user types and the installation of a chicane system in replacement of the existing
kissing gates at the entrances to the site will help to ensure the route and wider area can be
accessed and enjoyed by users of all abilities. This scheme proposal complies with the Active
Travel (Wales) Act Guidance and will help Newport City Council deliver its commitments
under the Active Travel (Wales) and Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Acts. The
proposal is considered to be in accordance with Planning Policy Wales and policies SP1,
SP2, SP14, SP15, GP4 and T5 of the Newport Local Development Plan.

7.3.5

As such, it is considered that the principle of the proposal is acceptable, subject to the
scheme complying with all relevant material considerations. In this case, the main issues are
the visual impact of the proposals on Tredegar House Historic Park and Garden and the
setting of the Scheduled Ancient Monumment (Gaer Fort), impacts upon the protected Gaer
Fort Site of Important Nature Conservation (SINC) and woodland as well as the adjacent
Afon Ebbw River SINC. Consideration also needs to be made on the impact upon trees,
archaeology, highway and pedestrian safety and impact upon neighbouring properties.

7.4

Visual Impact

7.4.1

The current route is currently unmade and is aligned close to the western and southern edges
of the park boundary. This boundary is defined by modern metal fencing which encloses the
adjacent railway line. The land has a natural rise and fall with a gentle but noticeable incline
southward reaching its highest point around mid-way before declining gently in a south east
direction towards the south corner of the park. On entry into the park from Bassaleg Road in
the north, the route passes through a semi natural broadleaved woodland habitat and then
opens onto a more open aspect of the park with open grassland and scrub.

7.4.2

The development of a formalised shared route would clearly alter the character and
appearance of the route within the park. The proposed footpath/cycleway is to have a
Natratex sealed surface to provide a surface that is user friendly, which would urbanise the
appearance of the route from the existing unmade pathway. Although the route would
urbanise this part of the site, it must be acknowledged that the site is a park located within
the urban boundary of Newport and not open countryside location where a formal route might
appear out of character. As such, it is considered that the formation of the route through an
urban park would generally be acceptable in respect of visual impact.

7.4.3

Notwithstanding the above and as already indicated, the site is also designated as part of
the Grade II Tredegar House Historic Park and Garden (CADW ref G148) and to the north
east of the park is the Scheduled Gaer Fort (CADW ref MM084). As a consequence of its
location within the park and near to the Gaer Fort, an assessment must be made on the
impact of the shared route on the special qualities of the historic park and garden and also
the setting of the Scheduled Ancient Monument.

7.4.4

As the route is only 3m in width, a large proportion of the historic park and garden would
remain unaltered. However, a Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA) has been submitted with
the application to clearly set out the current historical and evidential value of the site is respect
of the Historic Park and Garden. The site is located within the north east portion of Tredegar
Park. Historic mapping identifies that the area formed part of the wider parkland associated
with Tredegar House, however, it has always been physically separated from the core of the
park by the River Ebbw. The parkland as a whole has historical value through its association
with the Morgan family who first established a park in the late 17th Century, however, the
area of registered park subject of development does not contribute directly to the historical
value of the parkland as a whole. The evidential value of the park stems from the remaining
landscape and built features which offer an understanding of the original design intentions of
the park but in the north east portion (the site), it would appear that there are no remains of
historic avenues or planting which would add anything to this understanding.

Page 108

7.4.5

With respect to the Gaer Fort, the importance of the asset is recognised within its statutory
designation as a scheduled monument. The heritage significance stems from the sum of its
evidential and historic values that relate to its late prehistoric origins, which are illustrated
within the extensive earthwork remains. The monument also has some communal value
being publicly accessible and used by walkers and also forming a distinctive feature of the
wider landscape. The wider landscape setting of the asset is considered to add to an
appreciation of its evidential and historical value with the hillfort forming part of a series of
multivallate and vallate hillforts within the undulating landscape surrounding Newport.

7.4.6

The conclusions of the HIA set out that the area of the registered park subject to the proposed
works does not contribute directly to the historical value of the parkland as a whole. The Gaer
Fort has value but the development of the shared pathway would have no significant impact
upon its setting. In addition, the HIA indicates that along with the Written Scheme of
Investigation (discussed below under Archaeology), the proposed scheme has included the
use of Natratex sealed surface, which can be provided in a variety of colours that can be
agreed by CADW prior to use.

7.4.7

CADW were consulted and following submission of the HIA have indicated that they agree
with the conclusions and proposed additional mitigation measures set out in the report. As
such, the wider visual impact of the proposals are limited and the impact of the shared route
has been designed to limit the impact upon the special qualities of the Grade II Tradegar
Historic Park and Garden and the setting of the Scheduled Ancient Monument. Accordingly,
subject to conditions, the proposal would be acceptable , complying with the requirements of
policies SP9, GP6, CE4 and CE6 of the Adopted LDP 2011-2026.

7.5

Trees

7.5.1

In general, the proposed works would result in the loss of 6 trees and 2 groups of trees. The
trees are located within the proposed route and would clash with the design proposals. A
further two trees and two groups would have pruning works in order to facilitate the
development. A tree survey has been submitted, which provides details of the trees on site
(located on or near the route) and those to be retained or removed as part of the development
or for health reasons.

7.5.2

Specifcally, of the trees and groups to be felled, the tress fall within either Catergory C or U.
The details of the trees and groups to be removed can be cross referenced with the
accompanying tree plan and survey but are detailed below: Category A’: no trees to be felled;
Category B’: No trees to be felled
Category C’: T1, T2, T3 and T14 and G6 and G7 (Trees of low quality with an estimated
remaining life expectancy of at least 10 years, or young trees with a stem diameter below
150 mm)
Category U’: T5 and T6 (Those in such a condition that they cannot realistically be retained
as living trees in the context of the current land use for longer than 10 years

7.5.3

The Council’s Tree officer has not objected to the loss of the Catergory C and U trees on
the site. On consideration of the trees to be felled, there is justifcation that they would need
to be removed as part of the development or for health and safety reasons. There are no
catergory A or B trees to be removed and although it was indicated that one veteran oak
Tree (T4) could be potentially removed, the applicant has now amended the details within
the ecology appraisal to indicate that the route will avoid the tree and seek to proctect it. The
Council Tree Officer has not objected but requested conditions relating tree retention, tree
protection plan, a root protection barrier, Arboriculture Method Statement and details of the
Aborculturist to carry out the work.

7.5.4

Accordingly, the proposal is considered acceptable in respect of its impact upon trees, and
the requested conditions by the tree officer, complying with the relevant policies of the GP5
of the Adopted LDP and the SPG Trees, Woodland, Hedgerows and Development Sites set
out above.
Page 109

7.6.

Ecology

7.6.1

The site is currently undeveloped park grassland designated as a Site of Importance in
Nature Conservation (SINC) allocated as Gaer Fort. The site also passes through a
broadleaved woodland and adjoins the River Ebbw, which would also be locally protected.

7.6.2

As the site would be designated as a mosaic habitat including areas of scrub, bare ground,
grassland and woodland, policies SP9, GP5 and CE8 of the Local Development Plan along
with the Wildlife and Development SPG are relevant. These policies encourage proposals to
be designed to encourage biodiversity and to demonstrate how they avoid, mitigate or
compensate negative impacts to biodiversity. The Councils Wildlife and Development SPG
would also be relevant guidance in this instance. Policy CE8 states:
Proposals affecting locally designated sites will only be permitted where:
I)
There would be no overall loss of the nature conservation resource for which the site
has been designated;
II)
There would be no significant adverse effect on the geological interest of the site;
III)
Appropriate mitigation or compensatory measures can be achieved.

7.6.3

A Preliminary Ecology Appraisal was originally submitted with the application and set out
that the following areas of protected species and sites may be subject to potential adverse
effects from the proposed development:

Statutory designations; River Usk Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and River
Usk

(lower Usk) Special Site of Scientific Interest (SSSI);

Non-statutory designation; Gaer Fort Site of Importance for Nature Conservation
(SINC);

Non-statutory designation; Afon Ebbw River SINC;

Semi-natural broadleaved woodland and broadleaved scattered trees;

Veteran trees;

Watercourses;

Bluebell;

Bats;

Dormouse;

European hedgehog;

Eurasian otter;

Common reptiles;

Amphibians including great crested newts;

7.6.4

In view of the above assessment, the applicant agreed with the Council ecologist that the
following surveys would be carried out to inform the application further:








Preliminary Ground Level Roost Assessment (PGLRA) – bat surveys should be
undertaken of any trees likely to be impacted by disturbance. However, it is
considered that it is not appropriate to fell trees with known or potential bat roosts.
Therefore, the route should be modified to reduce impacts on ecology.
Dormouse-the requirement for survey depends on the amount of potential habitat
that will be lost. If the amount of habitat loss would require a licence if dormice are
present, then surveys will be required.
Bat activity surveys – the Council’s Ecologist agreed that the bat activity surveys
are required to inform the decision with regards to temporary disturbance but
raised that this site is not appropriate for any type of permanent lighting.
Breeding birds – agreed that vegetation clearance undertaken during bird breeding
season (March-August inclusive) should be avoided unless a check for occupied
bird nests is undertaken 48 hours before clearance commences.
Barn owls – as per bats, surveys are necessary to control disturbance impacts but
any trees with known or potential barn owl nests must be retained with an
appropriate buffer.
Reptiles – agreed no surveys required but preparation and implementation of a
Precautionary Working Method
PageStatement
110 is suitable.

7.6.5

On consultation, the Council Ecologist indicated in her initial response that the reports refer
to the possibility of veteran trees being removed (T4 in the arb report, TN3 in the ecology
report) and the lighting information was insufficient to assess the impacts on the SINC and
wildlife that use it. For instance, no lux levels or area of spill from the bollards and no details
of when they will be used in the morning were provided.

7.6.6

In light of the Ecology Officer comments, further lighting details were submitted and the
updated surveys (set out above) along with an Ecology Impact Assessment and a
Biodiversity Mitigation, Management Plan (BMMP) were submitted setting out the impacts,
mitigations, management and enhancement proposed as part of the scheme. The works to
the veteran tree have also been amended; the reports indicate that the route will avoid this
tree. The reports have considered the impacts of the protected sites and species that could
be impacted by the scheme, which amongst other matters, includes the impact of the
development on the protected Gaer Fort SINC as well as the River Afon EBBW SINC (linking
to the River Usk SAC and lower River Usk SSSI) along with loss of trees from the site and
woodland. Along with protected sites, the reports considered potential impacts upon species
such as Great Crested Newts, Bats, Birds, common reptiles, Dormice, European Hedgehog,
Otters, Brown Hare and Invertebrates and how to protect them.

7.6.7

The BMMEP overall aim is to increase the nature conservation value of the habitats on the
land, which are affected by and created as part of the construction of the active travel route.
BMMP sets out a work schedule for protection, mitigation and management of these matters
in the Appendix to the document. The mitigation, management and enhancement works are
scheduled during pre-construction, post construction and operational and are set out below:-

7.6.8

Pre Construction







Tool box talks- Ecologist advice to contractors before works
Implement agreed strategy to remove invasive plant species
Pre felling inspection of trees for bat activity- This relates to a Silver Birch T6 with
moderate potential for Bats. The remaining 5 trees have a low or negligible potential.
If Bat roost activity is found then further surveys as well as a disturbance licence
would need to be obtained as well as mitigation carried out (bat boxes)
Removal of any potential reptile/amphibian/hedgehog hibernacula.
Install protective fencing around areas of retained woodland and hedgerow
vegetation

Construction Phase







Nesting bird checks- during March to August nesting season
Exclusion zones around bird nesting sites
Staged vegetation clearance for reptiles/amphibians/hedgehogs and dormice- April
to September
Use of mammal ramps in any excavations overnight
Tree planting- replacement of those lost as part of the proposals and to enhance
sowing of woodland understory flora
Erection of Bat Boxes, bird boxes, hedgehog houses

Operational and Management Stage





7.6.9

Acid grassland restoration/ bracken Control- 1st and 2nd year
Woodland understorey planting- Annually
Invertebrate habitat piles- Autumn first year
Create reptile and amphibian hibernacula- Autumn first year
Tree surgery/removal- Any tree within the SINC affected by maintenance regimes
as required

The Ecology information sets out that the scheme would not have an adverse impact upon
the priority habitat or the protected species and will conserve and enhance the biodiversity
Page 111
interests on the land. Where the development is likely to have any impact upon the protected

habitats and species, the report has set out appropriate mitigation, enhancements and
management measures. The Council’s Ecologist has been consulted on the updated
information and has indicated in her final response that the Ecological Impact Assessment
has expanded on the detail of the original PEA submitted and included a quantitative analysis
of the habitats affected by the proposal. The direct habitat lost will be minimal in comparison
to the wider site, the types of habitats lost are of low ecological value and will not affect the
integrity of the site. The lighting details have also been considered and are acceptable but it
has been requested that the timing of lighting will need to be secured with an appropriately
worded condition if the application is approved.
7.6.10 However, The Council Ecologist has identified that there is a discrepancy between the tree
survey, which denotes that six trees would be removed and the EcIA, where the ecologist
has indicated that one tree (T6) would be removed. The tree that was considered by the
consultant Ecologist has the most potential to house bats and their habitats whereas the
remaining five have low to negligible possibility of housing bats. Nevertheless, all the trees
to be removed should have been surveyed and mitigation proposed to address the loss of all
6 trees. The Council ecologist has, however, considered that in this situation it is acceptable
to take a more pragmatic approach, due to the location of the tree which offers many other
suitable roosting opportunities within close vicinity as well as there being plenty of other
suitable alternative natural roosting provision. The Biodiversity Mitigation, Management and
Enhancements Plan (BMMEP) includes suitable working methodologies, mitigation and
enhancements to protect and enhance the habitat features of the SINC and nearby
designated sites and protected species with potential to be found on site, including bats.
However, as the bat and bird nest mitigation is based upon losing only one tree rather than
six, it is considered that additional boxes should be provided for each tree with bat/bird
potential that will be lost. Due to the limited time to determine the application, it has been
indicated that a pre-commencement condition will be required for the applicant to produce
an updated BMMEP.
7.6.11 As a consequence, subject to the conditions requested, it is considered that subject to the
scheme being conditioned to comply with the mitigation, management and enhancement
measures set out, the scheme would be acceptable in this regard, complying with the
requirements of LDP policies SP9, GP5 and CE8 of the Local Development Plan along with
the Wildlife and Development SPG.
7.6.12 As the proposal is also within close proximity to the River Ebbw, which is hydrologically linked
to the River Usk- a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and the River Usk (Lower Usk) Site
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) there is a potential for impact upon the SAC.
7.6.13 Therefore the authority is required to prepare a Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) under
regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) prior to the
determination of the planning application. However, the Appropriate Assessment was
submitted to Natural Resources Wales on 16th December for approval and there has not
been sufficient time to receive a response.
7.6.14 Accordingly, it is the Officers recommendation that, if Committee are satisfied that they could
approve the development in principle, they should defer authority to officers to grant the
application consent following agreement from National Resource Wales that the Appropriate
Assessment is acceptable. The appropriate assessment HRA has been prepared and is
detailed below in full.
Appropriate Assessment
The site edged red does not include the protected site or the Avon Ebbw River. The site is
not directly connected or necessary to the management of the river for nature conservation.
In accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 the Local
Planning Authority, prior to determining the application, need to carry out an Appropriate
Assessment (AA), identifying any likely significant effects on the River Usk SAC, either alone
or in combination with other projects or plans. The authority subsequently needs to establish
whether it can be demonstrated that a permission, subject to any conditions or planning
controls, would avoid any adverse
effect to
the integrity of the River Usk SAC.
Page
112

Information has been submitted with a Preliminary Ecology Appraisal (PEA) and surface
water drainage details, which takes into account the ecological impact of the project on the
above mentioned protected site. Subsequent documents, such as an Ecological Impact
Assessment (EcIA) and a Biodiversity Mitigation, Management and Enhancements Plan
(BMMEP) along with waterbody survey, Botanical survey, Dormouse and Bat report have
been submitted to the LPA for consideration.
The submitted information identifies that as the Avon Ebbw River SINC rivers is
hydrologically connected to the SAC, then there is potential therefore, the construction phase
could adversely affect the qualifying features of the designation. The surface water drainage
from the proposed development could also have significant implications on key biodiversity
and ecology interests.
The River Usk is designated as an SAC based primarily on the presence of a number of
migratory and non migratory fish species and otter. Certain fish species known to use the
River Usk contribute to the selection of the river as an SAC site. The fish species listed are
a primary reason for the selection of the River Usk as a SAC are:
• Sea Lamprey
• Brook Lamprey
• River Lamprey
• Twaite Shad
• Atlantic Salmon
• Bullhead
• Allis shad are also an annex 2 species present within the river as a qualifying
feature.
The presence of watercourses of plain to montane levels with Ranunculion fluitantis and
Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation is also a qualifying feature for this sites designation. The
SSSI is designated based on the aquatic habitats and condition of the river and its plant
and animal communities that use the feature across its range. The conservation objectives
of the River Usk SAC are attached in Appendix A.
From a consideration of the protected features of the SAC, the potential hazards from
proposals include
•
•
•
•

Disturbance to protected species from noise and lighting.
Pollution /surface water run-off during construction and operation
Long term discharge from the building into the river
Construction methods, including piling vibrations that could effect protected
species identified ( fish) The rare fish species Allis and Twaite Shad, features of
the river Usk SAC, are especially sensitive to vibration.

Based on the specific proposal to convert and extend (roof top) of the application site
building approximately 110m from the site, the potential hazards to be taken forward from
the above list would be pollution /surface water run-off during construction and long term
discharge. The building exists and there is no scheme to increase lighting on the building or
result in a notable increase in noise that would be over and above the major road network
separating the SAC from the site. Any major works are to the roof of a Listed Building and
as a consequence there is no foundation work or piling operations to be carried out.
Consultation with Natural Resources Wales (NRW) and consultation with the Council
ecologist did not identify any potential risks from the proposal other than surface water from
the construction period and as it is operational. Surface water drainage has the potential to
provide a pathway through which the proposed development could impact the SAC.
Pollution/ Surface/Ground Water Contamination issues during construction to River Usk
While the river is outside of the development boundary, works will be undertaken in close
proximity hydrologically connected river to the SAC. Both the adjoining River and SAC itself
is sensitive to pollution which may lower water quality affecting a wide range of species and
habitat that use it. The potential Impacts during construction include: 

Page 113

Pollution incident during construction

The construction period could potentially result in impacts from the development if pollution
from the construction works were not prevented. The proposed development is located in a
sensitive location, however, the construction site would not be located within or adjacent to
the SAC and construction periods would be temporary their nature.
The Biodiversity Mitigation and Management and Enhancements Plan submitted with the
scheme indicates that the proximity of the onsite stream that connect to the Afon Ebbw River
SINC watercourse will be noted by the contractors (and the presence of Indian balsam which
is located in close proximity to the onsite stream) and care taken throughout the works to
ensure this watercourse is not contaminated as a result of the proposed development. Water
pollution will be minimised and controlled through method statements and risk assessments
of construction activities which will follow construction industry best practice guidance
(Pollution Prevention Guidance (PPG) or Guidance for Pollution Prevention (GPP)) 4 such
as those described in: ‘Works and Maintenance in or near Water’ (GPP5)’, Understanding
Your Environmental Responsibilities – Good Environmental Practices (PP1); Working at
Construction and Demolition Sites (PPG6); Safe Storage and Disposal of Used Oils (GPP8);
Regulatory Guidance available from Gov.UK; The Oil Care Code5; CIRIA’s Environmental
Good Practice on Site (CIRIA, 2010).
Accordingly, there is not anticipated to be a significant effect from the proposed
development by way of pollution from surface water run off during construction or operation
on the protected SAC, however, there are no measures or mitigation embedded in the
scheme at this stage to ensure that the special qualities of the SAC are protected from the
proposed scheme.
As such, in order to protect the special qualities of the SAC, a condition requiring a
biodiversity Construction Environmental Management Plan should be included with any
consent. The condition requested can be attached to any subsequent consent and draft
conditions 1 below refers.
Drainage
The proposed surface water drainage discharge is indicated in the drainage strategy. The
surface water drainage from the site would be collected and conveyed to infiltration basins
via a swale and filter drain running along each side of the cycle track. Using a combination
of different SuDs components in series is known as a SuDs management train and works
effectively to treat water of any pollutants, contributing to standard S3 of the Welsh
Government statutory SuDs standards.
In October 2018, Welsh Government published the ‘Statutory standards for sustainable
drainage systems – designing, constructing, operating and maintaining Surface Water
Drainage Systems’. This standard is now mandatory for new developments with either a
construction area greater than 100m² or more than 1 dwelling. Consequently, this scheme
would be subject to SAB approval due to the construction area and the principles which
underpin the design of surface water management schemes to meet the Standards are as
follows; SuDS schemes should aim to;
• Manage water on or close to the surface and as close to the source of the runoff as
possible;
• Treat rainfall as a valuable natural resource
• Ensure pollution is prevented at source, rather than relying on the drainage system
to treat or intercept it;
• Manage rainfall to help protect people from increased flood risk, and the
environment from morphological and associated ecological damage resulting from
changes in flow rates, patterns and sediment movement caused by the development;
• Take account of likely future pressures on flood risk, the environment and water
resources such as climate change and urban creep;
• Use the SuDS Management Train, using drainage components in series across a
site to achieve a robust surface water management system (rather than using a single
“end of pipe” feature, suchPage
as a pond,
114the serve the whole development);
• Maximise the delivery of benefits for amenity and biodiversity;

• Seek to make the best use of available land through multifunctional usage of public
spaces and the public realm;
• Perform safely, reliably and effectively over the design life of the development taking
into account the need for reasonable levels of maintenance;
• Avoid the need for pumping where possible; and
• Be affordable, taking into account both construction and long term maintenance
costs and the additional environmental and social benefits afforded by the system.
The surface water drainage scheme and its maintenance would be controlled by both NRW
and the SuD Approval Body (SAB) and therefore it is not necessary to ‘double up’ on
matters that are controlled by other public bodies. Accordingly, a compliance condition to
require the applicant to comply with the drainage scheme as submitted can be included
with any consent, which would protect the special features of the adjacent river, the
connected SAC and the protected species.
Accordingly, a compliance condition to require the applicant to comply with the surface
water drainage scheme as submitted.
Combination Effects
Consideration must be given to the cumulative effects of the proposed development when
considered alongside other developments in the area. There have been schemes within
close proximity to the river that remain extant and are detailed in the chart below.
Although the proposals could result in a cumulative impact, these have been subject to the
same HRA assessments and similar conditions/controls. In this respect, it is concluded that
there are no other developments which would result in a cumulative effect and most recent
projects within the proximity of the River Usk has been subject to its own Appropriate
Assessment in which similar conditions were imposed to protect the integrity of the river

Page 115

18/0293

DEVELOPMENT OF 195NO. RESIDENTIAL UNITS, INTERNAL ROAD NETWORKS,
PARKING, LANDSCAPING AND ASSOCIATED WORKS AFFECTING PUBLIC RIGHT
OF WAY 407/1 - LAND TO SOUTH OF GLAN USK PRIMARY SCHOOL, HERBERT
ROAD.

Extant

18/0360

ERECTION OF AN ASPHALT PLANT AND ASSOCIATED ANCILLARY DEVELOPMENT

18/0973

OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR MIXED USE DEVELOPMENT COMPRISING C2
RESIDENTIAL INSTITUTIONS AND C3 RESIDENTIAL AND DRIVE THRU COFFEE
SHOP (A1/A3) ALONG WITH ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE AND FACILITIES LAND AND PROPERTY FORMERLY KNOWN AS ROBERT PRICE TRANSPORT YARD,
CORPORATION ROAD

Extant

18/1169

ERECTION OF 1NO. FIVE STOREY APARTMENT BLOCK AND 1NO. 6 STOREY
APARTMENT BLOCK COMPRISING 76NO. ONE AND TWO BEDROOM DWELLINGS
WITH CAR PARK AND ASSOCIATED WORK - LAND TO SOUTH OF CYRIL STREET,
COVERACK ROAD

Extant

19/0111

DEMOLITION OF BUILDINGS AND ERECTION OF CLASS A1 FOODSTORE WITH
ASSOCIATED ACCESS, CAR PARKING AND LANDSCAPING

Granted with
conditions

19/0599

VARIATION OF CONDITIONS 1 (APPROVED PLANS) OF PLANNING PERMISSION
17/1185 FOR THE VARIATION OF CONDITIONS FOR BULK DRYING AND PELLETING
FACILITY WITH ONSITE ENERGY CENTRE

Granted with
conditions

19/1206

SECTION 73 APPLICATION TO EXTEND TIME FOR IMPLEMENTATION TO 21ST
SEPTEMBER 2022 UNDER CONDITION 01 OF APPLICATION 16/0789 FOR
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT OF 93NO. UNITS - CAR PARK ADJACENT
ENDEAVOUR HOUSE, USK WAY

Granted with
conditions

19/1164
and
19/1165

REPAIR AND RESTORATION OF NEWPORT TRANSPORTER BRIDGE, DEMOLITION
OF EXISTING VISITOR CENTRE, PROVISION OF NEW EXPANDED VISITOR
FACILITIES, NEW LIGHTING SCHEME AND ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING WORKS.
CONSERVATION OF THE ENGINEERING STRUCTURE OF THE BRIDGE, PLUS THE
RESTORATION OF ANCILLARY ELEMENTS INCLUDING THE GONDOLA, MOTOR
HOUSE, ANCHOR HOUSES AND ANCHOR CABLES. DESIGN WORK INCLUDING
THE ANALYSIS OF THE STRUCTURE AND THE SPECIFIC ACTION OF REPAIRS TO
THE STRUCTURE AND ANCILLARY COMPONENTS. AFFECTING PUBLIC RIGHT OF
WAY NEWPORT COASTAL PATH 403/2/1 - TRANSPORTER BRIDGE, BRUNEL
STREET

Granted with
conditions

20/0734

REFURBISHMENT OF NEWPORT MARKET TO COMPRISE MARKET STALLS, FOOD
AND DRINK COURT AND FLEXIBLE WORKSPACE AND RECONFIGURATION OF
EXISTING BUILDING TO ACCOMMODATE RESIDENTIAL FLATS AND LEISURE
USES, SERVICING ARRANGEMENTS AND ASSOCIATED WORKS

Granted with
Conditions

7.7

Archaeology

7.7.1

As the site is located within a Historic Park and Garden along with its proximity to the Gaer
Fort scheduled ancient monument, the site is considered to be an Archaeological Sensitive
area. Policy CE6 and the associated SPG is of relevance and sets out that development
proposals within areas of recognised archaeological interest will have carry out
archaeological impact assessments prior to the application being determined.

7.7.2

A Written Scheme of Investigation (Wardell Armstrong Report no. CA11833, dated August
2020) has been submitted, which details a methodology for an archaeological watching brief
during all ground intrusion works associated with the proposal. Glamorgan Gwent
Archaeological Trust (GGAT) have considered the submission and have indicated that the
document meets current professional standards and presents both a coherent and
appropriate mitigation strategy. They have no objection subject to the scheme adhering to
the stated mitigation strategy. A condition has been requested to ensure compliance with the
approved details and also an informative that sets out the work must be carried out to
appropriate standards.

Page 116

7.7.3

As such, subject to the WSI being carried out in accordance with the details approved by a
qualified person, the works are considered to comply with policy CE6 of the Adopted LDP
2011-2026 and the Adopted SPG on Archaeology and Archaeologically Sensitive Areas.

7.8

Highway/Pedestrian Safety

7.8.1

Bassaleg Road and Western Avenue are well used routes into and out of Newport towards
the M4. Western Avenue is often used as a ‘rat run’ between Bassaleg Road and the M4.
The changes to the footways outside the site on Bassaleg Road and Western Avenue,
therefore, have the potential to have implications on highway and pedestrian safety.

7.8.2

The width of the footway on Bassaleg Road (either side) along with the central reservation
can be increased in width without any signficant implications. There is ample grass verge
either side of the road as well as centrally around the exsiting central reservation, so any
increase in size does not reduce the width of the carriageway.

7.8.3

The proposals also seek to widen the footway on Western Avenue from the corner of the
‘quiet street’ approximately 60m north. The footway is proposed to be widened 600mm to
accommodate cyclists, narrowing the road to 6m. The agent has indicated that the applicant
will look to have double yellow lines to prevent parking on this section, however, there is no
detail on the proposed yellow lines submitted with the application. There are crossings shown
on the road but these already exist to some degree in the locations shown and the works
would look to update the crossing areas to comply with the active travel requirements.

7.8.4

The Head of City Services (Highways) has indicated that the design of the link road provides
a suitable design for the use of both pedestrians and cycles at the same time due to the
generous 3m width. The routes alignment and its interaction with the adopted highway is also
suitable. An increased level of permeability is welcomed at the above locations. Although
they have not raised any objection subject to a CEMP, details of the pedestrian visibility
splays, signage, markings on the road and route as well as positions of lighting bollards would
need to be agreed. In addition, it is indicated that the engineering details have not been
checked and would need to be coniditioned to be agreed by Highways Authority prior to be
carried out on site. The Highways Officer has also indicated that one of the drawings is not
correct, however, the plans appear to have a correct scale and do not need to be amended.

7.8.5

Accordingly, it is considered that subject to the works being carried out to an adoptable
standard, the works do not result in any highway safety implications and the proposal aims
to meet the objectives of Planning Policy Wales by supporting a modal shift towards walking
and cycling.

7.9

Neighbouring issues

7.9.1

The majority of the works are away from residential properties and would not directly impact
any private amenity. The route is largely through a park where public access is already
available. There are residential properties surrounding the park but they area suffcient
distance to ensure that there would not be any overbearing, privacy, light or noise impacts
from the scheme.

7.9.2

There were 3 representations submitted in respect of the application and the neighbouring
concerns related to the widening of the highway at Western Avenue and queries over the
works that would be carried out on the footway and carriageway. It is acknowledged that
there are a number of queries within the represetnations in respect of the proposed works.
All three representations were responded to and the queries regarding the proposals were
answered. For instance, it was confirmed to the residents that the crossings would not be
controlled (Zebra or Pelican) and would be similar to the existing crossings with wider
dropped kerbs in the same location. There is no proposal to reduce the speed, change levels
or introduce a speed table along Western Avenue. The works would not impact upon any
underground culverts beneath Western Avenue and the value of their property would not be
a material consideration.

Page 117

7.9.3

Concerns were raised over the footway being improved outside of existing accesses resulting
in, amongst other things, pedestrian safety concerns. However, the accesses (at No.152,
138 and 136 Western Avenue) and the footway on Western Avenue already exist and
pedestrians and other users can already freely use this area. This is not a new footway but
an improvement to the footway to provide improved facilties for the users. If this was a new
footway, then there could be a new or different conflict, however, as the footway and
accesses already exist, there is no greater impact than the current situation. In addition, the
Highways Authority have not raised any signifcant concerns with respect to the change
proposed.

7.9.4

Similalry, alhough the road will be reduced in width, it would maintain a 6m width, which is
sufficent for a carriagway for cars to pass and repass. Any parked cars causing congestion
would be not be signficantly different if cars are parking on this section of the road currently.
This issue would be outside the remit of the application and would be best dealt with by way
of the Traffic Regulation Order to install yellow lines, which is the intention of the applicant.

7.9.5

In addition, there were also concerns about Scramblers (Motorcross bikes) being able to
access and use the park. The Council Ecologist also raised concerns over the more open
access of the site to scramblers and anti-social behaviour. Although, it is accepted that anti
social behaviour could be concern, the path would be controlled by staggered rails at either
end and a condition has been included to ensure details of the rails can be agreed prior to
their installation. The planning system cannot control all eventualities and any illegal
motorcross bike use on the park would be best dealt with under powers afforded to the police
and would not be a suffcient reason to refuse the application.

7.9.6

Accordingly, there are no signifcant neighbouring concerns that would result in the proposed
works being considered unacceptable, complying with the requirements of GP2 and GP6 of
the Adopted LDP 2011-2026.

7.10

Flooding and Drainage

7.10.1 Although bordering the River Ebbw, the park is north of the river and at a higher position. As
such, it is located outside any C1 or C2 flood risk zones and the works would, in any event,
amount to less vulnerable development.
7.10.2 The Gaer Fort site is approximately 42.2ha in total and predominantly made of permeable
surfaces, made up of grassed hill side with various plants and trees. The existing path
consists of a 1.5m wide unmade track and there is no formal surface water drainage and it
is assumed that it naturally infiltrates into the grassland around the unmade path.
7.10.3 A 3m wide bituminous cycle track is proposed along the existing route. The cycle track will
be 3m equal 0.405ha of impermeable area. It’s proposed to manage runoff from the track via
infiltration basins at various locations along the route. Surface water is to be conveyed to
these basins via a combination of swales and filter drains, creating a SuDs management
train.
7.10.4 The drainage of the site would also be caught by SAB approval and the principles which
underpin the design of surface water management schemes. This would be formally agreed
by the Council’s drainage section under separate powers. The Council’s drainage section
have not responded to the proposals, however, a condition can be attached to the planning
permission to ensure the scheme accords with the SAB strategy set out.
7.11

The site is designated as environmental space by the local development plan. the application
has therefore also been assessed having regard to Policy CE3 environmental spaces and
corridors, which states:
‘In and adjoining the urban and village areas, and in areas identified for comprehensive
development, sites having existing importance for their visual qualities, as wildlife habitats or
for recreational or amenity purposes, will be safeguarded as “environmental spaces and
corridors”, development in these spaces will be permitted only where:
i) the existing or potential environmental qualities of the site will be improved or
complemented;
Page 118

ii) there is no adverse impact on international, European, national, regional or local nature
conservation interest;
iii) there is not a loss, without appropriate replacement, of a recreational, open space, or
amenity resource for the immediate locality unless it can be demonstrated that there is an
excess of provision or facilities can be enhanced through development of a small part of the
site.
Proposals to enhance or improve existing environmental space provision will be encouraged
where practicable. Additional provision will be sought in areas where a deficit has been
identified.
The scheme would include a mitigation, management and enhancement scheme, which
would provide improvements to the SINC and represents an improvement of the park in terms
of the amenity of residents of Newport. The environmental impacts including visual impacts
are manageable as discussed above.
8.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in
its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result
of the proposed decision.

8.2

Equality Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age;
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual
orientation; marriage and civil partnership.

8.3

Having due regard to advancing equality involves:
 removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected
characteristics;
 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ
from the need of other people; and
 encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

8.4

The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It
is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon persons who
share a protected characteristic, over and above any other person, as a result of the
proposed decision.

8.5

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language)
Section 31 of the Act clarifies that impacts on the Welsh language may be a consideration
when taking decisions on applications for planning permission so far as it is material to the
application. This duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this
application. It is considered that there would be no material effect upon the use of the Welsh
language in Newport as a result of the proposed decision.

8.6

Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on public bodies to
carry out sustainable development in accordance with the sustainable development principle
to act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This duty has been
considered during the preparation of Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23, which was signed
off on 1 May 2018. The duty imposed by the Act together with the goals and objectives of
Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23 have been considered in the evaluation of this
application. It is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon
Page
119 of the proposed decision.
the achievement of wellbeing objectives
as a result

9.
9.1

CONCLUSION
The proposed development is considered to be acceptable. It would meet Active Travel
standards and comply with the national sustainable trasnport heirachy, as promoted by
Planning Policy Wales. It would provide a sustainable alternative to the reliance on the private
motor car and support a modal shift towards walking and cycling. It would provide connection
to and from existing cycle routes, services and employment areas. It is considered to have a
negailble impact on the visual amenities of the Tradegar Historic Park and Garden as well
as the setting of the Gaer Fort Scheduled Ancient Monument as well as appropriate mitgation
and enhancement to the protected Gaer Fort SINC as well as being acceotbale in respect to
neighbouring impacts and highway safety. The proposed development is considered to be in
accordance with policies SP1, SP2, SP9, SP14, SP15, SP18, GP2, GP4, GP5 GP6, GP7
CE1, CE3 CE6, CE8, T5 and W3 of the Newport Local Development Plan and Planning
Policy Wales (Edition 10).

10.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS
1. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the following plans and
documents
- 0901-AMEY-61-XX-DR-C-0001 – Site Location
- 0901-AMEY-61-XX-DR-C-0002 – General Arrangement Sheet 1 of 3
- 0901-AMEY-61-XX-DR-C-0003 – General Arrangement Sheet 2 of 3
- 0901-AMEY-61-XX-DR-C-0004 – General Arrangement Sheet 3 of 3
- 0901-AMEY-61-XX-DR-C-0005 – Long Sections
- 0901-AMEY-61-XX-DR-D-0006 – Drainage Layout Sheet 1 of 3
- 0901-AMEY-61-XX-DR-D-0007 – Drainage Layout Sheet 2 of 3
- 0901-AMEY-61-XX-DR-D-0008 – Drainage Layout Sheet 3 of 3
- 0901-AMEY-61-XX-DR-C-0009 – Construction Details
- 0901-AMEY-61-XX-DR-D-0010 – Drainage Details
- SEWFSD 1101_01 - Kerbing Edging and Channelling
- SEWFSD 1101_02 - Footways and Paved Areas
- SEWFSD 1101_04 - Traffic Islands and Pedestrian Refuges
- ref 0002119759-E-R0-03072020- External lighting
Bollard lighting Specification
Design and Access and Planning Statement
Preliminary Ecology Appraisal
Ecology Impact Assessment- inc surveys- bat, dormouse, botanical and waterbody
Biodiversity Mitigation, Management Enhancement Plan (BMMEP)
BS5837 2012 Tree Information
Heritage Impact Statement
Written Scheme of Investigation (August 2020)
Reason: In the interests of clarity and to ensure the development complies with the
submitted plans and documents on which this decision was based.
2. Prior to use, a scheme for the provision of waste provisions/bins including dog bins shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved scheme
shall be implemented prior to use and thereafter maintained for the duration of the use.
Reason: To ensure minimise littering in the vicinity.
3. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has
secured implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with that outlined in “Gaer Hill Fort Cycleway, Tredegar Park, Newport: Watching Brief Written Scheme
of Investigation” (Wardell Armstrong Report no. CA11833, dated August 2020).
Reason: To identify and record any features of archaeological interest discovered during
the works, in order to mitigate the impact of the works on the archaeological resource.

Page 120

4. The surface water drainage shall be carried out in accordance with the drainage strategy
scheme set out within the Drainage Strategy and draw ref 0910-AMEY-61-XX-DR-D-0010
Drainage Details, 0910-AMEY-61-XX-DR-D-0006 Drainage Layout Sheet 1 of 3, 0910AMEY-61-XX-DR-D-0007 Drainage Layout Sheet 2 of 3 and 0910-AMEY-61-XX-DR-D0008 Drainage Layout Sheet 3 of 3
Reason: To ensure adequate surface water drainage is provided to provide adequate
drainage and complying with policy GP3 of the Adopted LDP 2011-2026.
5. No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental Management Plan
(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The CEMP should include:
 Construction methods: details of materials, how waste generated will be managed.
 General Site Management: details of the construction programme including
timetable, details of site clearance; details of site construction drainage,
containments areas, appropriately sized buffer zones between storage areas of
spoil, oils, fuels, concrete mixing and washing areas and any watercourse or
surface drain.
 Pollution Prevention: demonstrate how relevant Guidelines for Pollution Prevention
and best practice will be implemented, including details of emergency spill
procedures and incident response plan.
 Details of the persons and bodies responsible for activities associated with the
CEMP and emergency contact details.
 Steps and procedures that will be implemented to minimise the creation and impact
of noise, air quality*, vibration, dust** and waste disposal resulting from the site
preparation, groundwork and construction phases of the development and manage
Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) access to the site. Measures to minimise the impact
on air quality should include HGV routes avoiding Air Quality Management Areas
and avoid vehicle idling.
The CEMP shall be implemented as approved during the site preparation and construction
phases of the development.
Reason: A CEMP should be submitted to ensure necessary management measures are
agreed prior to commencement of development and implemented for the protection of the
environment during construction.
6. The approved scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the proposed embedded and
proposed additional mitigation measures set out in the Heritage Impact Assessment
produced by Wardell Armstrong.
Reason: To ensure the development protects the special qualities of the Historic Park and
Garden and schedule ancient monument.
7. Prior to use on site, samples of Natratex sealed surface material finish and colour shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall then be carried out using the approved materials.
Reason: To ensure that the development is completed in a manner compatible with its
surroundings and to protects the special qualities of the Historic Park and Garden, complying
with policies GP2, GP6 and GP7 of the Adopted LDP 2011-2026.
8. Notwithstanding the submitted Biodiversity Mitigation, Management Enhancement Plan
(BMMEP), an updated Biodiversity Mitigation, Management Enhancement Plan will be
required to be submitted prior to commencement of development to include the appropriate
bat and bird mitigation due to the loss of 6 trees. The approved scheme shall be carried out
in accordance with the proposed mitigation, enhancement and management measures set
out in the updated document.
Reason: To ensure the development provides ecological net benefit as required in Planning
Policy Wales Edition 10 and safeguarding of protected habitats and protected and priority
species during construction works in accordance with Conservation of Species and Habitats
Regulations 2017 and Environment (Wales) Act 2016
Lighting shall be in accordance

Page 121

9. Except where otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no existing trees
shall be felled, topped or lopped, and no existing hedges shall be removed.
Reason: To protect existing landscape features on the site.
10. No development, to include demolition, shall commence until a Tree Protection Plan (in
accordance with BS 5837:2012) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The Tree Protection Plan shall contain full details of the
following:(a) Trees and hedges to be retained/felled clearly identified and marked on a plan;
(b) Trees and hedges requiring surgery;
(c) The root protection areas to be identified on plan for retained trees and hedges;
(d) The type and detail of the barrier fencing to be used to safeguard the root protection
areas;
(e) The precise location of the barrier fencing, to be shown on plan.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Tree Protection Plan.
Reason: To protect important landscape features within the site.
11. No operations of any description (this includes all forms of development, tree felling, tree
pruning, temporary access construction, soil moving, temporary access construction and
operations involving the use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery), shall
commence on site in connection with the development until the Root Protection Barrier
fencing has been installed in accordance with the approved Tree Protection Plan. No
excavation for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles, deposits or
excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take place within the
Root Protection Area. Erect all weather notices on Heras fencing, 1 per 10 panels, stating ‘
CONSTRUCTION EXCUSION ZONE NO ACCESS’ . The fencing shall be retained for the
full duration of the development, and shall not be removed or repositioned without the prior
written approval of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect important landscape features within the site.
12. No operations of any description, (this includes all forms of development, tree felling, tree
pruning, temporary access construction, soil moving, temporary access construction and
operations involving the use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery), shall
commence on site in connection within the development, until a detailed Arboricultural
Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. (The Arboricultural Method Statement shall contain full details of the following:
(a) Timing and phasing of arboricultural works in relation to the approved development;
(b) Construction exclusion zones;
(c) Protective barrier fencing;
(d) Ground protection;
(e) Special engineering requirements including ‘no dig construction’;
(f) Pre construction tree works;
(g) Approved tree removals;
(h) Access facilitation pruning;
(i) Landscaping;
The development shall be carried out in full compliance with the Arboricultural Method
Statement unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect important landscape features within the site.
13. No development, to include demolition, shall commence until an Arboriculturalist has been
appointed, as first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to oversee the project
(to perform a Watching Brief) for the duration of the development and who shall be
responsible for (c) Supervision and monitoring of the approved Tree Protection Plan;
(d) Once the barrier fencing is erected, the approved Arboricultural Consultant must
inspect and “sign off” in writing and submit a copy of this to the Local Planning
Authority stating that the protective fencing in the correct location and is fit for purposethis will be the first watching Page
brief . 122

(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)

Supervision and monitoring of the approved tree felling and pruning works;
Supervision of the alteration or temporary removal of any Barrier Fencing;
Oversee working within any Root Protection Area;
Reporting to the Local Planning Authority;
The Arboricultural Consultant will provide site progress reports to the Council's Tree
Officer at intervals to be agreed by the Councils Tree Officer.
Reason: To protect important landscape features within the site.
14. The lighting for the approved scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the lighting
details set out on drawing ref 0002119759-E-R0-03072020- External lighting, Bollard lighting
Specification and the mitigation measures set out within the Ecological Impact Assessment.
The lighting shall be installed prior to the use of the active travel path in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the protection of protected species on the site as well as provide an
appropriately lit pathway for pedestrians through the park as well as to reduce anti-social
behaviour.
15. The bollard lighting shall only be used between the hours of 20:00 hours and 22:00 hours
during Spring/Summer Months (March to August) and between 16:00 hours and 22:00
hours during Autumn/Winter months (September to February) on any day.
Reason: To ensure that the protection of protected species on the site as well as amenities
of occupiers of other premises in the vicinity are protected.
16. Prior to their installation, details of the staggered guard rails to be located at either end of the
park entrances (Bassaleg Road/Wells Close) shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The guard rails shall be installed in accordance with the
agreed details prior to the beneficial use of the route through the park.
Reason: To ensure that access to the route is available to pedestrian and cycle users as well
as to ensure that they will be designed to minimise access by motorised vehicles to prevent
anti-social behaviour and protect the habitat of the locally protected SINC.
17. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, further details of surfacing, cycle and road markings,
signage and bollard lighting positions, where appropriate, shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details as approved shall be implemented in
full prior to the first beneficial use of the active travel route and retained at all times thereafter.
Reason:
To ensure the provision of safe on site traffic management to serve the development in the
interests of highway safety.
18. No development, other than demolition, shall commence until further details of pedestrian
visibility splays and sight line areas are shown at the crossing outside 93, Western Avenue
have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved visibility splays shall thereafter be kept free of all obstructions to visibility over a
height of 0.6 metres.
Reason: In the interests of road safety and traffic movement.
19. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, full engineering details of the widths, gradients and
means of construction of all carriageways, footpaths and the central reservation shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the
commencement of development. The development shall be implemented thereafter in
accordance with the approved details.
NOTE TO APPLICANT
01 The development plan for Newport is the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 – 2026
(Adopted January 2015). Policies SP1, SP2, SP9, SP14, SP15, SP18, GP2, GP4, GP5 GP6,
GP7 CE1, CE3 CE6, CE8, T5 and W3 were relevant to the determination of this application.
02 As of 1st October 2012 any connection to the public sewerage network (foul or surface
water sewerage) for the first time will require an adoption agreement with Dwr Cymru Welsh
123 Water on 01443 331155.
Water. For further advice contact DwrPage
Cymru Welsh

03

The proposed development (including any demolition) has been screened under
the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations and it is considered that an
Environmental Statement is not required.

04

Network Rail informatives
Any works on this land will need to be undertaken following engagement with Asset
Protection to determine the interface with Network Rail assets, buried or otherwise
and by entering into a Basis Asset Protection Agreement, if required, with a minimum
of 3months notice before works start. Initially the outside party should contact
assetprotectionwales@networkrail.co.uk .
The existing fence line/boundary measure must not be disturbed during the
construction of the proposed travel route.
DRAINAGE
Soakaways / attenuation ponds / septic tanks etc, as a means of storm/surface
water disposal must not be constructed near/within 5 metres of Network Rail’s
boundary or at any point which could adversely affect the stability of Network Rail’s
property/infrastructure. Storm/surface water must not be discharged onto Network
Rail’s property or into Network Rail’s culverts or drains. Network Rail’s drainage
system(s) are not to be compromised by any work(s). Suitable drainage or other
works must be provided and maintained by the Developer to prevent surface water
flows or run-off onto Network Rail’s property / infrastructure. Ground levels – if
altered, to be such that water flows away from the railway. Drainage is not to show
up on Buried service checks.
LIGHTING
Any lighting associated with the development (including vehicle lights) must not
interfere with the sighting of signalling apparatus and/or train drivers vision on
approaching trains. The location and colour of lights must not give rise to the
potential for confusion with the signalling arrangements on the railway.

05

The archaeological work must be undertaken to the appropriate Standard and
Guidance set by Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (CIfA),
(www.archaeologists.net/codes/ifa) and it is recommended that it is carried out
either by a CIfA Registered Organisation (www.archaeologists.net/ro) or an
accredited Member.

APPENDIX A-CONSERVATION OBJECTIVES OF THE RIVER USK SAC

Background to Conservation Objectives:

(a) Outline of the legal context and purpose of conservation objectives.

Page 124

Conservation objectives are required by the 1992 ‘Habitats’ Directive (92/43/EEC). The aim of the Habitats Directives
is the maintenance, or where appropriate the restoration of the ‘favourable conservation status’ of habitats and species
features for which SACs and SPAs are designated (see Box 1).

In the broadest terms, 'favourable conservation status' means a feature is in satisfactory condition and all the things
needed to keep it that way are in place for the foreseeable future. CCW considers that the concept of favourable
conservation status provides a practical and legally robust basis for conservation objectives for Natura 2000 and Ramsar
sites.

Achieving these objectives requires appropriate management and the control of factors that may cause deterioration
of habitats or significant disturbance to species.

As well as the overall function of communication, Conservation objectives have a number of specific roles:

Conservation planning and management.

The conservation objectives guide management of sites, to maintain or restore the habitats and species in favourable
condition.

Assessing plans and projects.

Article 6(3) of the ‘Habitats’ Directive requires appropriate assessment of proposed plans and projects against a site's
conservation objectives. Subject to certain exceptions, plans or projects may not proceed unless it is established that
they will not adversely affect the integrity of sites. This role for testing plans and projects also applies to the review of
existing decisions and consents.

Monitoring and reporting.

The conservation objectives provide the basis for assessing the condition of a feature and the status of factors that
affect it. CCW uses ‘performance indicators’ within the conservation objectives, as the basis for monitoring and
reporting. Performance indicators are selected to provide useful information about the condition of a feature and the
factors that affect it.

The conservation objectives in this document reflect CCW’s current information and understanding of the site and its
features and their importance in an international context. The conservation objectives are subject to review by CCW
in light of new knowledge.

(b) Format of the conservation objectives

There is one conservation objective for each feature listed in part 3. Each conservation objective is a composite
statement representing a site-specific description of what is considered to be the favourable conservation status of the
feature. These statements apply to a whole feature as it occurs within the whole plan area, although Section 3.2 sets
out their relevance to individual management units.

Page 125

Each conservation objective consists of the following two elements:

1 Vision for the feature

2 Performance indicators

As a result of the general practice developed and agreed within the UK Conservation Agencies, conservation objectives
include performance indicators, the selection of which should be informed by JNCC guidance on Common Standards
Monitoring1.

There is a critical need for clarity over the role of performance indicators within the conservation objectives. A
conservation objective, because it includes the vision for the feature, has meaning and substance independently of
the performance indicators, and is more than the sum of the performance indicators. The performance indicators are
simply what make the conservation objectives measurable, and are thus part of, not a substitute for, the conservation
objectives. Any feature attribute identified in the performance indicators should be represented in the vision for the
feature, but not all elements of the vision for the feature will necessarily have corresponding performance indicators.

As well as describing the aspirations for the condition of the feature, the Vision section of each conservation objective
contains a statement that the factors necessary to maintain those desired conditions are under control. Subject to
technical, practical and resource constraints, factors which have an important influence on the condition of the feature
are identified in the performance indicators.

The ecological status of the water course is a major determinant of FCS for all features. The required conservation
objective for the water course is defined below.

4.1 Conservation Objective for the water course

The capacity of the habitats in the SAC to support each feature at near-natural population levels, as determined by
predominantly unmodified ecological and hydromorphological processes and characteristics, should be maintained as
far as possible, or restored where necessary.

The ecological status of the water environment should be sufficient to maintain a stable or increasing population of
each feature. This will include elements of water quantity and quality, physical habitat and community composition and
structure. It is anticipated that these limits will concur with the relevant standards used by the Review of Consents
process given in Annexes 1-3.

Flow regime, water quality and physical habitat should be maintained in, or restored as far as possible to, a near-natural
state, in order to support the coherence of ecosystem structure and function across the whole area of the SAC.

1 Web link: http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-2199

Page 126

All known breeding, spawning and nursery sites of species features should be maintained as suitable habitat as far as
possible, except where natural processes cause them to change.

Flows, water quality, substrate quality and quantity at fish spawning sites and nursery areas will not be depleted by
abstraction, discharges, engineering or gravel extraction activities or other impacts to the extent that these sites are
damaged or destroyed.

The river planform and profile should be predominantly unmodified. Physical modifications having an adverse effect on
the integrity of the SAC, including, but not limited to, revetments on active alluvial river banks using stone, concrete or
waste materials, unsustainable extraction of gravel, addition or release of excessive quantities of fine sediment, will be
avoided.

River habitat SSSI features should be in favourable condition. In the case of the Usk Tributaries SSSI, the SAC habitat is
not underpinned by a river habitat SSSI feature. In this case, the target is to maintain the characteristic physical features
of the river channel, banks and riparian zone.

Artificial factors impacting on the capability of each species feature to occupy the full extent of its natural range should
be modified where necessary to allow passage, eg weirs, bridge sills, acoustic barriers.

Natural factors such as waterfalls, which may limit the natural range of a species feature or dispersal between naturally
isolated populations, should not be modified.

Flows during the normal migration periods of each migratory fish species feature will not be depleted by abstraction to
the extent that passage upstream to spawning sites is hindered.

Flow objectives for assessment points in the Usk Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy will be agreed between
EA and CCW as necessary. It is anticipated that these limits will concur with the standards used by the Review of
Consents process given in Annex 1 of this document.

Levels of nutrients, in particular phosphate, will be agreed between EA and CCW for each Water Framework Directive
water body in the Usk SAC, and measures taken to maintain nutrients below these levels. It is anticipated that these
limits will concur with the standards used by the Review of Consents process given in Annex 2 of this document.

Levels of water quality parameters that are known to affect the distribution and abundance of SAC features will be
agreed between EA and CCW for each Water Framework Directive water body in the Usk SAC, and measures taken to
maintain pollution below these levels. It is anticipated that these limits will concur with the standards used by the
Review of Consents process given in Annex 3 of this document.

Potential sources of pollution not addressed in the Review of Consents, such as contaminated land, will be considered
in assessing plans and projects.

Levels of suspended solids will be agreed between EA and CCW for each Water Framework Directive water body in the
Usk SAC. Measures including, but not limited to, the control of suspended sediment generated by agriculture, forestry
and engineering works, will be taken to maintain suspended solids below these levels.

Page 127

4.2 Conservation Objective for Features 1-5:
- Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus (EU Species Code: 1095);
- Brook lamprey Lampetra planeri (EU Species Code: 1096);
- River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis (EU Species Code: 1099);
- Twaite shad Alosa fallax (EU Species Code: 1103);
- Allis shad Alosa alosa (EU Species Code: 1102);
- Atlantic salmon Salmo salar (EU Species Code: 1106);
- Bullhead Cottus gobio (EU Species Code: 1163)

Vision for features 1-5

The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are
satisfied:

FCS component

Supporting information/current knowledge

The conservation objective for the water course as
defined in 4.1 above must be met
The population of the feature in the SAC is stable or
increasing over the long term.

Refer to Sections 5.1 to 5.5 for current assessments of
feature populations

Entrainment in water abstractions directly impacts on
population dynamics through reduced recruitment and
survival rates.

Fish stocking can adversely affect population dynamics
through competition, predation, and alteration of
population genetics and introduction of disease.
The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither
being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the
foreseeable future. The natural range is taken to mean
those reaches where predominantly suitable habitat for
each life stage exists over the long term. Suitable
habitat is defined in terms of near-natural hydrological
and geomorphological processes and forms eg. suitable
flows to allow upstream migration, depth of water and
substrate type at spawning sites, and ecosystem
structure and functions eg. food supply (as described in
Sections 2.2 and 5). Suitable habitat need not be
present throughout the SAC but where present must be
secured for the foreseeable future. Natural factors such
as waterfalls may limit the natural range of individual
species. Existing artificial influences on natural range
that cause an adverse effect on site integrity, such as

Some reaches of the Usk SAC are more suitable for some
features than others eg the Senni has important
populations of brook/river lamprey and salmon but is not
used by shad due to its small size and distance from the
estuary. These differences influence the management
priorities for individual reaches and are used to define
the site units described in Section 3.2. Further details of
feature habitat suitability are given in Section 5. In
general, management for one feature is likely to be
sympathetic for the other features present in the river,
provided that the components of favourable
conservation status for the water course given in Section
4.1 are secured.

Page 128

FCS component

Supporting information/current knowledge

physical barriers to migration, will be assessed in view
of 4.2.4

The characteristic channel morphology provides the
diversity of water depths, current velocities and
substrate types necessary to fulfil the habitat
requirements of the features. The close proximity of
different habitats facilitates movement of fish to new
preferred habitats with age. The presence of hard bank
revetments in a number of active alluvial reaches eg
through Brecon and upstream of Abergavenny, adversely
affects the processes that maintain suitable habitat for
the SAC features.

Hydrological processes in the Usk are currently affected
by large abstractions, especially at Prioress Mill and
Brecon Weir. However, there are many smaller
abstractions not considered to cause a problem at
present.

Shad and salmon migration can be affected by acoustic
barriers and by high sediment loads, which can originate
from a number of sources including construction works.
There is, and will probably continue to be, a sufficiently
large habitat to maintain the feature’s population in the
SAC on a long-term basis.

Allis and Twaite shad are affected by range contraction
due to artificial barriers to migration in the Usk. It is likely
that this loss of habitat affects their maintenance in the
SAC on a long-term basis.

Performance indicators for features 1-5

The performance indicators are part of the conservation objective, not a substitute for it. Assessment of plans and
projects must be based on the entire conservation objective, not just the performance indicators.

Attribute

Specified Limits

Comments

Relevant
Unit[s]

This attribute provides evidence of successful
spawning and distribution trends. Spawning sites
known to have been used within the previous 10
years and historical sites considered still to have
suitable habitat, are shown in Annex 4. Spawning
locations may move within and between sites due
to natural processes or new sites may be
discovered over time. Silt beds downstream of all
sites identified in Annex 4 will be sampled for
presence or absence of ammocoetes. Where
apparently suitable habitat at any site is
unoccupied feature condition will be considered
unfavourable.

1-5

Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus :
Performance indicators for feature condition
(a)
Distribution
within catchment

Suitable habitat adjacent
to or downstream of
known spawning sites
should
contain
Petromyzon
ammocoetes.

Page 129

Attribute

Specified Limits

Comments

Relevant
Unit[s]

(b)
Ammocoete
density

Ammocoetes should be
present in at least four
sampling sites each not
less than 5km apart.

This standard CSM attribute establishes a minimum
occupied spawning range, within any sampling
period, of 15km. In the Usk, spawning sites within
units 2 to 5 will be assessed against this attribute.

2-5

Overall catchment mean
>0.1m-2

Although this attribute is not used in CSM for sea
lamprey, baseline monitoring in the Usk gave an
overall catchment mean of 2.27 ammocoetes m-2

(Harvey & Cowx 2003)1

in suitable habitat2, therefore 0.1 m-2 is a
conservative threshold value for unfavourable
condition.

Brook lamprey Lampetra planeri and River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis :
Performance indicators for feature condition
(a)
Age/size
structure
of
ammocoete
population

Samples
<
50
ammocoetes ~ 2 size
classes

(b) Distribution of
ammocoetes within
catchment

Present at not less that
2/3 of sites surveyed
within natural range

Samples
>
50
ammocoetes ~ at least 3
size classes

This gives an indication of recruitment to the
population over the several years preceding the
survey. Failure of one or more years recruitment
may be due to either short or long term impacts or
natural factors such as natural flow variability
therefore would trigger further investigation of the
cause rather than leading automatically to an
unfavourable condition assessment.

2 - 10

The combined natural range of these two species in
terms of ammocoete distribution includes all units
above the tidal limit ie all except unit 1.

2 -10

Presence at less than 2/3 of sample sites will lead
to an unfavourable condition assessment.
No
reduction
distribution
ammocoetes
(c)
Ammocoete
density

in
of

Optimal habitat:
>10m-2
Overall catchment mean:
>5m-2

Reduction in distribution will be defined as absence
of ammocoetes from all samples within a single
unit or sub-unit/tributary, and will lead to an
unfavourable condition assessment.
Optimal habitat comprises beds of stable fine
sediment or sand >15cm deep, low water velocity
and the presence of organic detritus, as well as, in
the Usk, shallower sediment, often patchy and
interspersed among coarser substrate.

2 - 10

Spawning distribution is assessed by kick sampling
for eggs and/or observations of spawning adults. A
representative sample of sites within units 2 to 5
will be monitored at 3 yearly intervals. Absence
from any site in 2 consecutive surveys will result in
an unfavourable condition assessment.

1-5

Twaite shad Alosa fallax and Allis shad Alosa alosa :
Performance indicators for feature condition
(a)
Spawning
distribution

No decline in spawning
distribution

Performance indicators for factors affecting the feature
(a) Flow

Targets are set in relation
to river/reach type(s)

Targets equate to those levels agreed and used in
the Review of Consents (see Annex 1). Shad are
particularly sensitive to flow. The ideal regime is

Page 130

1-5

Attribute

Specified Limits

Comments

Relevant
Unit[s]

one of relatively high flows in March-May, to
stimulate migration and allow maximum
penetration of adults upstream, followed by rather
low flows in June-September, which ensures that
the juveniles are not washed prematurely into
saline waters and grow rapidly under warmer
conditions. The release of freshets to encourage
salmonid migration should therefore be
discouraged on shad rivers during this period.
Atlantic salmon Salmo salar:
Performance indicators for feature condition
(a) Adult run size

Conservation
Limit
complied with at least
four years in five (see 5.4)

CSM guidance states: Total run size at least
matching an agreed reference level, including a
seasonal pattern of migration characteristic of the
river and maintenance of the multi-sea-winter
component.

All

As there is no fish counter in the Usk, adult run size
is calculated using rod catch data. Further details
can be found in the EA Usk Salmon Action Plan.
(b) Juvenile densities

Expected densities for
each sample site using
HABSCORE

CSM guidance states: These should not differ
significantly from those expected for the river
type/reach under conditions of high physical and
chemical quality.

6 – 10

Assessed using electro fishing data.
Performance indicators for factors affecting the feature
Water quality
(a) Biological quality

Biological GQA class A

This is the class required in the CSM guidance for
Atlantic salmon, the most sensitive feature.

6 - 10

(b) Chemical quality

RE1

It has been agreed through the Review of Consents
process that RE1 will be used throughout the SAC
[see Annex 3].

All

Targets are set in relation
to river/reach type(s)

Targets equate to those levels agreed and used in
the Review of Consents [see Annex 1].

All

CSM guidance states that densities should be no
less than 0.2 m -2 in upland rivers (source altitude

2 – 10

Hydromorphology
(a) Flow
Bullhead Cottus gobio :
Performance indicators for feature condition
(a) Adult densities

No less than 0.2 m-2 in
sampled reaches

>100m) and 0.5 m-2 in lowland rivers (source
altitude ÿm). A significant reduction in densities
may also lead to an unfavourable condition
assessment.

Page 131

Attribute

Specified Limits

Comments

Relevant
Unit[s]

(b) Distribution

Bullheads should be
present in all suitable
reaches. As a minimum,
no decline in distribution
from current

Suitable reaches will be mapped using fluvial audit
information validated using the results of
population monitoring. Absence of bullheads from
any of these reaches, or from any previously
occupied reach, revealed by on-going monitoring
will result in an unfavourable condition
assessment.

2 - 10

(c)
Reproduction/age
structure

Young-of-year fish should
occur at densities at least
equal to adults

This gives an indication of successful recruitment
and a healthy population structure. Failure of this
attribute on its own would not lead to an
unfavourable condition assessment.

2 - 10

4.3 Conservation Objective for Feature 6:
- European otter Lutra lutra (EU Species Code: 1355)

Vision for feature 6
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are
satisfied:

FCS component

Supporting information/current knowledge

The population of otters in the SAC is stable or
increasing over the long term and reflects the natural
carrying capacity of the habitat within the SAC, as
determined by natural levels of prey abundance and
associated territorial behaviour.

Refer to Section 5.9 for current assessment of feature
population

The natural range of otters in the SAC is neither being
reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the foreseeable
future. The natural range is taken to mean those
reaches that are potentially suitable to form part of a
breeding territory and/or provide routes between
breeding territories. The whole area of the Usk SAC is
considered to form potentially suitable breeding
habitat for otters. The size of breeding territories may
vary depending on prey abundance. The population size
should not be limited by the availability of suitable
undisturbed breeding sites. Where these are
insufficient they should be created through habitat
enhancement and where necessary the provision of
artificial holts. No otter breeding site should be subject
to a level of disturbance that could have an adverse
effect on breeding success. Where necessary,
potentially harmful levels of disturbance must be
managed.

Survey information shows that otters are widely
distributed in the Usk catchment. While the breeding
population in the Usk is not currently considered to
limited by the availability of suitable breeding sites, there
is some uncertainty over the number of breeding
territories which the SAC is capable of supporting given
near-natural levels of prey abundance.

The safe movement and dispersal of individuals around
the SAC is facilitated by the provision, where necessary,
of suitable riparian habitat, and underpasses, ledges,
fencing etc at road bridges and other artificial barriers.

Restrictions on the movement of otters around the SAC,
and between adjoining sites are currently a particular
concern in the reach through Newport as a result of a

The decline in eel populations may be having an adverse
effect on the population of otters in the Usk.

Page 132

FCS component

Supporting information/current knowledge
continued decrease in undisturbed suitable riparian
habitat.

Performance indicators for feature 6

The performance indicators are part of the conservation objective, not a substitute for it. Assessment of plans and
projects must be based on the entire conservation objective, not just the performance indicators.

Attribute

Specified Limits

Comments

Relevant
Unit[s]

Performance indicators for feature condition
(a) Distribution

Otter signs present at
90% of Otter Survey of
Wales sites

Ref: CCW Environmental Monitoring Report No 19
(2005)3

All

(b) Breeding activity

2 reports of cub/family
sightings at least 1 year in
6

Ref: CCW Environmental Monitoring Report No 19
(2005)3

All

(c)
Actual
and
potential breeding
sites

No decline in number and
quality
of
mapped
breeding sites in subcatchments (see Ref)

Ref: CCW Environmental Monitoring Report No 19
(2005)3

All

In the Usk catchment, 77 actual or potential
breeding sites have been identified, distributed
throughout the catchment on the main river and
tributaries.

3.
APPLICATION DETAILS
No:

20/0705

Ward:

Graig

Type:

Full Application

Expiry Date:

19th January 2021

Applicant:

C Halford

Site:

Lyndon Bassett Funeral Directors Park View Bassaleg Newport
South Wales

Page 133

Proposal:

DEMOLITION OF FORMER MORTUARY AND CHANGE OF USE FROM
MORTUARY TO ADDITIONAL VEHICLE PARKING FOR ANCILLARY
USE BY THE EXISTING AMBULANCE STATION

Recommendation:

GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS

1.
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application site relates to the former mortuary building which is sited to the rear of the
ambulance station located off Park View, Bassaleg. The proposal comprises the demolition
of the former mortuary building and the change of use of the site to provide additional vehicle
parking for ancillary use by the existing ambulance station.

1.2

The application is brought before Planning Committee as it relates to Council owned land.

2.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY
None.

3.
3.1

POLICY CONTEXT
Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015)
Policy SP1 Sustainability favours proposals which make a positive contribution to
sustainable development.
Policy SP3 Flood Risk requires that development should be located away from areas where
flooding is identified as a flood risk. A technical assessment maybe required to should that
the consequences of a flood event can be managed on the site over the lifetime of the
development.
Policy GP2 General Development Principles – General Amenity states that development
will not be permitted where is has a significant adverse effect on local amenity in terms of
noise, disturbance, overbearing, light, odours and air quality. Development will not be
permitted which is detrimental to the visual amenity. Proposals should seek to design out
crime and anti-social behaviour, promote inclusion and provide adequate amenity for future
occupiers.
Policy GP4 General Development Principles – Highways and Accessibility states that
development should provide appropriate access for pedestrians, cyclists and public transport
along with appropriate car parking and cycle storage. Development should not be
detrimental to the highway, highway capacity or pedestrian safety and should be designed
to enhance sustainable forms of transport and accessibility.
Policy GP5 General Development Principles – Natural Environment states that proposals
should be designed to protect and encourage biodiversity and ecological connectivity and
ensure there are no negative impacts on protected habitats. Proposals should not result in
an unacceptable impact of water quality or the loss or reduction in quality of agricultural land
(Grades 1, 2 and 3A). There should be no unacceptable impact on landscape quality and
proposals should enhance the site and wider context including green infrastructure and
biodiversity.
Policy GP7 General Development Principles – Environmental Protection and Public
Health states that development will not be permitted which would cause or result in
unacceptable harm to health.

4.

CONSULTATIONS

4.1

NATURAL RESOURCES WALES: No objection to the application on flood risk grounds
as submitted. Our Flood Risk Map confirms the application site lies entirely within Zone C2
of the Development Advice Maps (DAM) as contained in TAN15 and within the 1% (1 in 100
year) and 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) annual probability flood outlines of the River Ebbw a
designated main river.
TAN15 states development for purposes of Emergency Services should not be permitted in
DAM Zone C2. However, we note the proposed car park would be for ‘ancillary use by the
existing Ambulance Station’. Therefore, on the basis that this proposal does not facilitate an
increase in emergency service operations at the site, we consider the proposals could be
acceptable.
Protected Species

Page 134

We recommend you seek the advice of your in-house ecologist to determine if there is a
reasonable likelihood of bats, a European Protected Species, being present within the
application site. If so, in accordance with Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and
Planning (paragraph 6.2.2) a bat survey may be required.
The survey should be carried out in accordance with ‘Bat Surveys; Good Practice Guidelines
3rd Edition’ published by the Bat Conservation Trust 2016.
5.
5.1

INTERNAL COUNCIL ADVICE
HEAD OF CITY SERVICES HIGHWAYS: No objection.

5.2

HEAD OF CITY SERVICES ECOLOGY OFFICER: The bat survey has been undertaken in
accordance with good practice recommendations. The roost assessment did not record any
features suitable for roosting bats in the building, and therefore no further surveys were
undertaken. Based on the description and photographs provided we can be reasonably
confident in the conclusions of the survey. The report recommends the provision of bird
boxes on the retained buildings to provide net benefit to biodiversity. To ensure the proposal
meets our Section 6 Biodiversity Duty, Planning Policy Wales and LDP policy, this ecological
enhancement should be secured with a condition, if you are minded to grant this permission.

5.3

PLANNING POLICY MANAGER: with reference to the flood risk element of the scheme. TAN
15 is clear that Zone C2 is used to indicate that only less vulnerable development should be
considered subject to application of justification test, including acceptability of consequences.
Emergency services and highly vulnerable development should not be considered. I do not
agree with the applicant’s point that as a car park, the proposal should be considered less
vulnerable. The application states that the parking will be for staff and ambulances
associated with the existing ambulance station and therefore the ancillary nature of the use
leads us to define the use as highly vulnerable.
The comment from NRW supports this; ‘TAN15 states development for purposes of
Emergency Services should not be permitted in DAM Zone C2.’ They go on to note that ‘the
proposed car park would be for ‘ancillary use by the existing Ambulance Station’. Therefore,
on the basis that this proposal does not facilitate an increase in emergency service
operations at the site, we consider the proposals could be acceptable.’ Whilst this stance is
not challenged, there was concern about evidence for this statement. A letter from the
Ambulance Trust confirms that there is no proposed increase in the operation of the
Ambulance Station.

6.

REPRESENTATIONS

6.1

NEIGHBOURS: All properties within 50m of the application site were consulted (77
properties), and a site notice displayed from 13th August 2020, one letter of response: 2
letters of response on the following grounds:
-No objection to the principle of the development
-The new development here is about to come to completion and there are currently 150
houses with the possibility of more in the future. The residents here need to gain entry into
the site from Park View, passing in front of the Ambulance Station.
-Staff at the Station currently park their cars on the left hand side along this road adjacent to
the boundary of Whiteheads Sports Club. This is aggravated when there are events at
Whiteheads and the road is used not only by the station staff but also by members of
Whiteheads as an overflow car park once their own is full. I consider this particularly
dangerous when approaching from the Pye Corner direction turning left into the site. Because
of these parked cars you don’t have a clear view of any vehicle coming towards you out of
the site. There is a short length of double yellow lines from the corner but currently vehicles
entering the site are forced into the hatched yellow road markings, which are obviously put
in
place
to
allow
clearance
for
emergency
vehicles.
-I understand highways department will have an input into the decision on this application so
I would be grateful if they could be aware of my concerns.
-- Referring to the current application, do you know if it is the intention to use the ancillary
parking for staff cars? If so would it be possible to extend the double yellow lines along this
stretch of road at least to the entrance of Whiteheads car park for safety reasons?
-double yellow lines be put opposite the ambulance station. Recently, I was in my daughter's
car turning left from Park View and because
Page cars
135were parked she had to pull round them.

At the same time an ambulance bus was reversing off the station forecourt. Because the
driver had not shut the passenger door the car was hit and actually had to be written off.
-the parked cars block the view of people coming out of Whiteheads car park, so I think
parking should be prohibited.
7.
7.1

ASSESSMENT
The application site is located off Park View, Newport. It comprises the former Bassaleg
Mortuary which is a single storey building along with existing surfaced parking area and is
situated within the Bassaleg area of Newport. To the north, there are existing residential
properties, to the east is the existing ambulance station with parking and the sports and social
club beyond. To the west and south was the former Tredegar Park Golf Club which is
currently subject to redevelopment for residential purposes with the River Ebbw beyond. The
site is accessed via its existing entrance off Deer Park Lane. The mortuary building which is
currently vacant, is to be removed and four car parking spaces provided in its place. The
proposed surface material would be gravelled/hard core.

7.2

The application site lies wholly within the urban development boundary as defined by the
LDP Proposals Map. In addition, the site is unallocated and is a brownfield site. As such
PPW10 and Policy SP1 (Sustainability) of the LDP advocate the development of such
brownfield sites. The site is located in Flood Zone C2 of the Development Advice Maps
(DAM) as contained in TAN15 and within the 1% (1 in 100 year) and 0.1% (1 in 1000 year)
annual probability flood outlines of the River Ebbw a designated main river. The main issues
therefore are impact on residents, highway safety, biodiversity and flooding.

7.3

In terms of residential amenity, the proposed use of the site is for a small parking area on the
periphery of this recently constructed residential estate. This is considered to be a compatible
use due to its limited scale. Adjacent properties could be affected by lights from vehicles, but
suitable boundary treatment could mitigate this. A condition is suggested requiring approval
of boundary treatment. The application is supported by an asbestos demolition and
refurbishment report, demolition method statement which provides good practice
recommendations in regard to the removal of the building. The Public Protection Manager
has offered no objections to the proposal.

7.4

In terms of ecology and policy GP5, a bat survey has been submitted. The survey states that
no evidence of bats was found and that it was considered that the building had negligible
potential for bats. The report recommends soft landscaping of the new car park and the
provision of bird boxes. The Ecology Officer has stated that based on the description and
photographs provided, she is reasonably confident in the conclusions of the survey. The
report recommends the provision of bird boxes on the retained buildings to provide net benefit
to biodiversity. To ensure the proposal meets our Section 6 Biodiversity Duty, Planning Policy
Wales and LDP policy, this ecological enhancement should be secured with a condition it is
considered that the proposal complies with policy GP5 and policy GP2.

7.5

In terms of policy GP4 and highways, the Highways officer offers no objection and states that
the proposal is unlikely to generate significant additional vehicle movements above those
generated by the existing mortuary use and is therefore unlikely to give rise to safety or
capacity issues associated with the local highway network. The parking area is intended to
provide an ancillary parking area for the adjacent ambulance and is therefore unlikely to
increase risk to highways or pedestrian safety and is in accord with policy GP4. The
comments of neighbours are noted. However, they are referring to an existing problem which
is outside the remit of this application. However, the residents’ comments have been passed
on to the Head of City Services who has confirmed that these matters will be investigated
independently of the application.

7.6

The site is located within in Flood Zone C2 of the Development Advice Maps (DAM). TAN 15
is clear that highly vulnerable development is not suitable in Zone C2 and emergency
services falls within a highly vulnerable category. As the site would be used for parking for
staff and ambulances associated with the existing ambulance station, and so would be
ancillary to that use, technically, the car park would comprise a highly vulnerable use.
However, Natural Resources Wales has raised no objection given that the proposal does not
facilitate an increase in emergency service operations at the site.

Page 136

7.8

Section 6.2 of TAN15 states that “all…new development should only be permitted in zones
C1 if determined by the planning authority to be justified in this location. Development,
including transport infrastructure, will only be justified if it can be demonstrated that:i. Its location in zone C is necessary to assist, or be part of, a local authority
regeneration initiative or a local authority strategy required to sustain an existing
settlement; or,
ii Its location in zone C is necessary to contribute to key employment objectives
supported by the local authority, and other key partners, to sustain an existing
settlement or region; and,
iii It concurs with the aims of PPW and meets the definition of previously developed
land (PPW fig 2.1); and,
iv The potential consequences of a flooding event for the particular type of
development have been considered, and in terms of the criteria contained in sections
5 and 7 and appendix 1 found to be acceptable.”

7.9

Whilst the application site is not allocated within the Newport Local Development Plan for a
particular purpose/use, it is located within the settlement boundary and would provide
additional parking for the existing ambulance station. The site also broadly concurs with the
aims of Planning Policy Wales and meets the definition of previously developed land. Whilst
a flood consequence assessment has not been submitted it is considered that the proposal
would not intensify the use of the site beyond its use as a mortuary. It is clearly an ancillary
operation providing four additional car parking spaces for the adjacent Ambulance Station.
The applicant has confirmed that the proposed parking would not facilitate an increase in the
operational capacity of the ambulance station but is proposed to alleviate parking pressure
which is highly constrained. There are 13 ambulances based at the station and there are 34
members of field based staff. This will not increase.as part of the proposal.

7.9

The site has been previously developed comprising a former mortuary and area of
hardstanding. The finish material for the car park would be gravel and a condition requesting
details of finishing materials is suggested to ensure that the surface would be porous. The
proposed development would not therefore increase flood risk elsewhere.

8.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in
its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result
of the proposed decision.

8.2

Equality Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age;
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual
orientation; marriage and civil partnership.

8.3

Having due regard to advancing equality involves:
 removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected
characteristics;
 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ
from the need of other people; and
 encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

8.4

The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It
is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon persons who
share a protected characteristic, over and above any other person, as a result of the
proposed decision.

8.5

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language)

Page 137

Section 31 of the Act clarifies that impacts on the Welsh language may be a consideration
when taking decisions on applications for planning permission so far as it is material to the
application. This duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this
application. It is considered that there would be no material effect upon the use of the Welsh
language in Newport as a result of the proposed decision.
8.6

Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on public bodies to
carry out sustainable development in accordance with the sustainable development principle
to act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This duty has been
considered during the preparation of Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23, which was signed
off on 1 May 2018. The duty imposed by the Act together with the goals and objectives of
Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23 have been considered in the evaluation of this
application. It is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon
the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed decision.

9.
9.1

CONCLUSION
Having regard to the aforementioned policies of the LDP, it is concluded that the proposed
development would be acceptable with regards to amenity, highway safety, biodiversity and
flooding. It is therefore recommended that planning permission is granted subject to
conditions.

10.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS
01 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the following plans and
documents 19406.01, SK01, Bat Scoping Survey, produced by Ecological Services Ltd.
Dated 30th July 2020, version 1.0
Reason: In the interests of clarity and to ensure the development complies with the
submitted plans and documents on which this decision was based
Pre- commencement conditions
02 Prior to the commencement of development, to include demolition, a Construction
/Demolition Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The Construction Environmental Management Plan shall
identify the steps and procedures that will be implemented to minimise the creation and
impact of noise, air quality*, vibration, dust** and waste disposal resulting from the site
preparation, groundwork and construction phases of the development and manage Heavy
Goods Vehicle (HGV) access to the site. Measures to minimise the impact on air quality
should include HGV routes avoiding Air Quality Management Areas and avoid vehicle idling.
The approved Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be adhered to at all times,
unless otherwise first agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
* The Institute of Air Quality Management http://iaqm.co.uk/guidance/
** The applicant should have regard to BRE guide 'Control of Dust from Construction and
Demolition, February 2003
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the vicinity are
protected. In accordance with policy GP2 and GP7 of the LDP
03 No development, other than demolition, shall commence until full details of the proposed
boundary treatments have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The boundary treatments shall be constructed in accordance with the approved
details prior to the first use of the car park and then retained thereafter.
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity in accordance with policy GP2 of the LDP.
Pre – construction conditions

Page 138

04 Prior to the commencement of the development other than demolition, details of the car
park finish materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved
materials. Reason: to ensure adequate drainage in the interest of surface water flooding, in
accordance with policy SP 3 of the LDP.
Pre –occupation conditions
05 Prior to the first use of the car park hereby approved, the Ecological Enhancements
detailed in Section 8 of the submitted report “Bat Scoping Survey, produced by Ecological
Services Ltd. Dated 30th July 2020, version 1.0” shall be implemented in full and shall be
retained as such in perpetuity. Any subsequent amendments shall be provided to the LPA
and agreed in writing. Reason: To ensure the development provides ecological net benefit
as required in Planning Policy Wales Edition 10.
NOTE TO APPLICANT
01 This decision relates to plan Nos: Demolition method statement, Asbestos demolition
/refurbishment survey report , letter from Ambulance Services NHS trust
02 The development plan for Newport is the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 – 2026
(Adopted January 2015). Policies SP1, SP3, GP3, GP4, GP5, GP7 were relevant to the
determination of this application.
03 Due to the minor nature of the proposed development (including any demolition) and the
location of the proposed development, it is considered that the proposals did not need to be
screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations.
04 As of 1st October 2012 any connection to the public sewerage network (foul or surface
water sewerage) for the first time will require an adoption agreement with Dwr Cymru
Welsh Water. For further advice contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water on 01443 331155.

4.
APPLICATION DETAILS
No:

20/0983

Ward:

Type:

Full Application

Expiry Date:

11th January 2021

Applicant:

Pobl Group

Alway

Page 139

Site:

Site Of Former Seven Stiles Public House And Ladyhill Daycare Centre
Aberthaw Road Newport South Wales

Proposal:

REDEVELOPMENT OF THE SITE TO PROVIDE 39NO. DWELLINGS AND
ASSOCIATED ACCESS, INFRASTRUCTURE, PARKING &
LANDSCAPING

Recommendation: GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS SUBJECT TO SECTION 106

LEGAL AGREEMENT WITH DELEGATED POWERS TO REFUSE
THE APPLICATION IN THE EVENT THAT THE AGREEMENT IS
NOT SIGNED WITHIN 4 MONTHS OF THE DECISION
1.
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application seeks full planning permission for the redevelopment of the site to provide
a residential development comprising of 39no. dwelling houses, associated access,
infrastructure, parking and landscaping. The proposal initially submitted included 40no.
dwelling houses, however this has been reduced through negotation of the scheme. The
scheme is proposed as 100% affordable housing and is submited on behalf of Pobl.

1.2

The site is located in the Alway Ward and consists of two elements;
 The former site of the Seven Stiles Public House at the western end of the site and;
 The former site of the Ladyhill Centre at the eastern end of the site. The site of the
Ladyhill Centre is fenced in with a green mesh fence approximately 2.0m high.

1.3

The site forms a roughly triangular shape being approximately 165m east to west and
approximately 90m wide at its widest point narrowing as you proceed westwards. In
general terms it slopes down gently from the north to the south.

1.4

A scheme for the residential redevelopment of the site was submitted for pre application
advice in 2018 and was also submitted to the Design Commission for Wales. As a result of
the feedback provided by the LPA and the DCfW the scheme has evolved into the current
proposal. A further review was undertaken by the DCfW earlier in 2020 with minor revisions
made prior to the statutory public pre application consultation and subsequent submission
of this planning application.

2.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY
Ref. No.
99/0886

Description
ERECTION OF A 3M HIGH SECURITY FENCE

Decision & Date
Withdrawn

01/1234

ERECTION OF 3M HIGH AND 2M HIGH SECURITY FENCING

28 October 1999
GC

08/0551

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING PUBLIC HOUSE AND BUILDINGS
AND
ERECTION
OF
RESIDENTIAL
DEVELOPMENT
COMPRISING 14NO. APARTMENTS AND 9NO. HOUSES

10/0619

CHANGE OF USE FROM BETTING SHOP (A2) TO FISH &
CHIP/TAKEAWAY (A3)

11/0270

PARTIAL DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 03 (EXTRACTION
SYSTEM) OF PLANNING PERMISSION 10/0619 FOR THE
CHANGE OF USE FROM BETTING SHOP (A2) TO FISH &
CHIP/TAKEAWAY (A3)
PARTIAL DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 03 (EXTRACTION
SYSTEM) OF PLANNING PERMISSION 10/0619 FOR CHANGE
OF USE FROM BETTING OFFICE (A2) TO FISH AND CHIP SHOP
(A3)

11/1036

3.
3.1

POLICY CONTEXT
Policy Context

Page 140

04 January 2002
GC
09
2008
GC

December

26 August 2010
R
28 July 2011
R
01 August 2013

The following designations apply to the application site:
 The site is within the urban boundary.
 The western section of the site is allocated as a housing commitment under policy
H1(8) – Severn Stiles for 23 units reflecting the permission in place at the time. The
eastern section of the site is not allocated for any specific use.
 The site is within parking zone 4
 The site is within the 20% Affordable Housing sub market area
Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015)


















Policy SP1 Sustainability favours proposals which make a positive contribution to
sustainable development.
Policy SP2 Health promotes development which has a positive contribution to health
and well-being by being in a sustainable location, close to walking/cycling routes and
green infrastructure.
Policy SP9 Conservation of the Natural, Historic and Built Environment protects
habitats and species as well as Newport’s listed buildings, conservation areas, historic
parks and gardens, scheduled ancient monuments, archaeologically sensitive areas
and landscape designated as being of outstanding historic interest.
Policy SP10 Housing Building Requirements states that provision is made for
11,623 units within the plan period in order to deliver a requirement of 10,350 units. The
plan seeks to deliver 2,061 affordable units.
Policy SP13 Planning Obligations enables contributions to be sought from
developers that will help deliver infrastructure which is necessary to support
development.
Policy SP18 Urban Regeneration supports development which assists the
regeneration of the urban area, particularly the city centre and the reuse of vacant,
underused or derelict land.
Policy GP2 General Development Principles – General Amenity states that
development will not be permitted where is has a significant adverse effect on local
amenity in terms of noise, disturbance, overbearing, light, odours and air quality.
Development will not be permitted which is detrimental to the visual amenity. Proposals
should seek to design out crime and anti-social behaviour, promote inclusion and
provide adequate amenity for future occupiers.
Policy GP4 General Development Principles – Highways and Accessibility states
that development should provide appropriate access for pedestrians, cyclists and public
transport along with appropriate car parking and cycle storage. Development should
not be detrimental to the highway, highway capacity or pedestrian safety and should be
designed to enhance sustainable forms of transport and accessibility.
Policy GP5 General Development Principles – Natural Environment states that
proposals should be designed to protect and encourage biodiversity and ecological
connectivity and ensure there are no negative impacts on protected habitats.
Proposals should not result in an unacceptable impact of water quality or the loss or
reduction in quality of agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 and 3A). There should be no
unacceptable impact on landscape quality and proposals should enhance the site and
wider context including green infrastructure and biodiversity.
Policy GP6 General Development Principles – Quality of Design states that good
quality design will be sought in all forms of development. In considering proposals, a
number of factors are listed which should be considered to ensure a good quality
scheme is developed. These include consideration of the context of the site; access,
permeability and layout; preservation and enhancement; scale and form of the
development; materials and detailing; and sustainability.
Policy GP7 General Development Principles – Environmental Protection and
Public Health states that development will not be permitted which would cause or
result in unacceptable harm to health.
Policy H2 Housing Standards promotes high quality design taking into consideration
the whole life of the dwelling.

Page 141



Policy H3 Housing Density seeks a density of at least 30 dwellings per hectare on
sites of 10 dwellings or more.
 Policy H4 Affordable Housing sets out the affordable housing targets for the four
submarket areas within Newport. For new housing sites of fewer than 10 dwellings
within the settlement boundary, and fewer than 3 dwellings within the village
boundaries, a commuted sum will be sought.
 Policy H9 Housing Estate Regeneration favours the regeneration or improvement of
housing areas.
 Policy T4 Parking states that development will be expected to provide appropriate
levels of parking.
 Policy T5 Walking and Cycling promotes the creation of a network for walking and
cycling, including National Cycle Networks 47, 4 and 88.
 Policy W3 Provision for Waste Management Facilities in Development states that
where appropriate, facilities for waste management will be sought on all new
development.
Supplementary Planning Guidance
 Planning Obligations SPG
 Affordable Housing SPG
 Wildlife and Development SPG
 New Dwellings SPG
 Parking Standards SPG
 Air Quality SPG
 Sustainable Travel SPG
 Trees, Woodland, Hedgerows and Development Sites SPG
4.
4.1

CONSULTATIONS
DWR CYMRU WELSH WATER: No objection subject to a condition stating no surface water
is to drain directly or indirectly into the public sewerage system.

4.2

NEWPORT CIVIC SOCIETY: No response.

4.3

NEWPORT ACCESS GROUP: No response.

4.4

GWENT POLICE: I have no objections to the development in principle, however I do have
some reservations with the layout particularly rear parking with no surveillance from the
dwellings. This is particularly the case for parking for plots 1, 2,7 and 12. Rear parking
courts have been known to suffer higher rates of ASB and criminal damage and for this
reason should be avoided where possible.
If the parking cannot be relocated then I would advise that the parking court will need to be
lit to adoptable street lighting standards BS 5489:2013, and rear access gates should
become self-closing and lockable by way of a key as it is likely that this would become the
primary route from the car park into the dwelling. Rear fencing should also be hit and miss
rather than close boarded to avoid the area feeling completely enclosed and to offer some
level of surveillance over the area. As with all dwellings dusk til dawn lighting should be
provided at the rear doors to give a constant level of illumination during the hours of
darkness.

4.5

SENIOR FIRE PREVENTION OFFICER; The proposed site plan in relation to the above
has been examined and the Fire and Rescue Authority wish the following comments to be
brought to the attention of the committee/applicant. It is important that these matters are
dealt with in the early stages of any proposed development.
The developer should consider the need for the provision of:a. adequate water supplies on the site for firefighting purposes; and
b. access for emergency firefighting appliances.

4.6

SOUTH EAST WALES REGIONAL AMBULANCE OFFICER: No response.

5.

INTERNAL COUNCIL ADVICE

Page 142

5.1

THE HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (HIGHWAYS); The site is located at the junction of
Lliswerry Road and Aberthaw Road and proposes to provide 23 x 2 bedroom houses and
17 x 3 bedroom houses with vehicular access being mainly gained off a new junction from
Lliswerry Road. The proposed new access road leads to 2 parking courts; the first is to the
rear of Plots 1 -12 and provides vehicular access to Plots 1, 2, 7, 11, and 12 with the
second being located at the rear of Plots 21-24 and 31-40 providing vehicular access to
Plots 21, 22-24 and 35-40. The applicant should note that parking courts are unlikely to be
acceptable as an adoptable form of layout under S38 Highways Act. A suitable form of
demarcation between the adoptable road layouts and the private parking courts will be
required, which should incorporate the use of different materials to emphasise the different
type of use to all road users. The remaining 10 dwellings will be accessed off Ladyhill
Court with parking spaces being provided perpendicular to the highway.
The applicant has submitted a comprehensive Transport Assessment which shows that the
proposal is unlikely to give rise to capacity issues associated with the local highway
network and will be acceptable. The Transport Statement also includes Figure 2-3 - Swept
Path Analysis of Refuse Vehicle which shows access to the site for a refuse vehicle with
turning provided adjacent to Plot 13 which will not be acceptable as there is no provision for
bin collection points where residents can leave bins, which will be likely to lead to
obstruction of the highway. The walk length from dwellings 21-21 and 35-40 may also be
considered onerous leading to bins being left indiscriminately either within the development
or on Ladyhill Court. Bin collection points should be provided in locations off the adoptable
highway, out of visibility splays and should include means of retention for the bins to
prevent straying onto the highway and should be shown on an amended drawing.
The site is located within Parking Zone 3 which requires that 2 spaces are provided for 2
bedroom homes, 3 spaces are provided for 3 bedroom homes and 1 visitor space is
provided per 5 units to comply with Newport City Council SPG Parking Standards (August
2015), a total of 105 parking spaces. However, the applicant has chosen to provide 52
allocated parking spaces and 14 visitor parking spaces which is not an acceptable level of
parking for this location.
The application proposes that each 3 bedroom house will have 2 parking spaces, and the 2
bedroom houses will have 1 parking space with 14 shared visitor spaces being provided, a
total of 66 parking does spaces which does not comply with the SPG. However, the
Transport Statement Table 2-2 - Application Site Sustainability Points shows that 10
sustainability points can be awarded to the site, reducing the level of parking required by 2
spaces per unit, with a minimum provision of 1 space per unit. The level of parking
provided will therefore be acceptable, however, the applicant should note that acceptance
of the level of parking provided does not convey any approval to a reduction in parking
spaces due to the type of ownership.
The location of visitor parking spaces will need to be amended as the visitor parking of 1
space per 5 units should take into account the needs of the disabled and should be clearly
identifiable, not located between spaces allocated for residents where they are at risk of
becoming privatised. A revised plan will be required.
A Construction Environmental Management Plan, which should be conditioned, will be
required which should detail:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Site working hours
Contractor parking
Contractor compound
Wheel wash facilities
Dust Suppression
Road Sweep

I would therefore offer an objection to this application on highway grounds, however, I
would be prepared to revise this decision if amended drawings addressing the above
comments were submitted.

Page 143

5.2

THE HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (ECOLOGY); Second comments following submission of
revised layout and updated ecology report:
- Ecological Assessment. Produced by David Clements Ecology Ltd. Dated December
2020
A site visit has been carried out by the ecological consultants to update the 2018 survey.
The site visit did not identify any significant changes on site and the ecologists are not
recommending any follow up surveys, including not repeating the reptile surveys. The visit
was undertaken in December, which is suboptimal for habitat surveys. Considering the type
of habitats affect I do not consider it to be a major limitation in this situation. Due to the lack
of results in the original reptile survey and the condition of the site remaining the same, I
agree that update reptile surveys are not required. Whilst this is a brownfield site (i.e. it has
been previously developed), it does not meet the criteria to be considered priority habitat
under the Newport Local BAP or meet the Open Mosaic priority habitat criteria.
The report makes several recommendations for sensitive working methods which will be
required in order to safeguard protected and priority species during the construction phase.
It also includes suitable ecological enhancements to ensure the development delivers net
benefit for biodiversity. However, the report does not use enforceable language and
therefore can not be secured with an enforceable compliance condition. The Landscape
Strategy (produced by Ainsley Gommon Architects, reference C717-018-F) has scope to
incorporate ecological enhancements in new planting and rain gardens. However, the detail
of plan is lacking species, seed mix specification, planting stock size and densities, and no
details of implementation and aftercare are provided.
If you are minded to grant this application, I would be happy for the working methodologies
and detail of ecological enhancements based on the recommendations submitted to be
secured with a pre-commencement condition if you think appropriate. Suggested wording
for conditions is provided below. Please note it is important that pre-commencement
conditions for method statements specify that information must be provided prior to
site preparation (site clearance, vegetation clearance, etc.) to ensure that protected
species are appropriately safeguarded during this phase.
Biodiversity Construction Method Statement
No development or site preparation shall take place or material or machinery brought onto
the site until a Biodiversity Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The content of the method statement shall
include details of measures to safeguard protected and priority species including during the
constructions works, based on the information provided in “Ecological Assessment.
Produced by David Clements Ecology Ltd. Dated December 2020”. The content of the
method statement shall include, as a minimum the:
a) Purpose and objectives for the proposed works in relation to protection of identified
species;
b) Detailed working methods necessary to achieve stated objectives;
c) Timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed
phasing of construction; and
d) Persons responsible for implementing the works.
The approved CMS shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period
strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
local planning authority.
Reason: Safeguarding of protected and priority species during construction works in
accordance with LDP policy GP5, the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1982, and Section 7 of
the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan
A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan shall be submitted to, and be approved in
writing by, the local planning authority prior commencement of the development. The content
of the plan shall be based upon recommendations in “Ecological Assessment. Produced by
David Clements Ecology Ltd. Dated December 2020” and layout shown on “Landscape
Strategy, produced by Ainsley Page
Gommon
Architects, reference C717-018-F” and must
144
include:

1. Detailed plans showing;
a. Retained and existing vegetation
b. Soft landscape details, to include: means of protection, planting plans,
specifications including cultivation and other operations associated with plant
and grass establishment, schedules of plants, noting species, sizes, numbers
and densities.
c. Implementation methodology and timetable
2. Management strategy detailing:
a. Aims and objectives of management and appropriate options to achieve them.
b. Prescriptions for management actions and a work schedule capable of being
rolled forward over a minimum of 25 years
c. Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan.
d. Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The approved Landscape Planting and Management shall be adhered to and implemented
in perpetuity, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To provide net benefit in accordance with LDP policy GP5, Planning Policy Wales
and Section 7 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.
These comments are based on the layout and information provided at this time, should the
proposal alter please re-consult and we reserve the right to make new representation.
5.3

THE HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (LANDSCAPE); It is likely that the provided site layout will
be very confusing for pedestrians. It is very difficult to determine whether the particular
route is on private land or the route is a public footpath. The route which starts from New
Estate road and leads to Plot 1 back garden gate. Moreover, there is a series of steps
between plot 4 and 5. All the above gives the impression that the route is available for the
public. Some significant changes with the approach to pedestrian circulations may be
needed for the current version for the design.
Landscape strategy for the site is not particularly strong. The design offers a number of
green areas which are poorly connected to each other and integrated into the site design.
The site would benefit from a legible pedestrian route connecting green spaces.
The landscape arrangement around the existing fish bar requires more thought as the
property Nr 11 looks very close to it.
Boundary treatment for the site is concerning as railings are extensively used and it was
difficult to understand the logic behind some decisions such as the installation of short
sections of railings as shown in Figure 2. It is suggested to consider a soft landscape solution
for this kind of situations. A low hedge may help achieve the same result as railing; however,
it can be les visually intrusive and can create a better result from landscape and placemaking
perspective.

5.4

THE HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (DRAINAGE); No response.

5.5

THE HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (TREES); No objection subject to mitigation for the loss of
the Norway Maple tree.

5.6

THE HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (LEISURE); No response.

5.7

THE HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (ACTIVE TRAVEL); No response.

5.8

THE HEAD OF REGENERATION AND REGULATORY SERVICES (HOUSING); Newport’s
current Local Housing Market Assessment shows an annual unmet need for 38 additional
affordable housing units in this area. There are currently 1,274 households with active
applications for rehousing seeking accommodation in this area, of which 526 are in need of
two and three bedroom accommodation as planned in this development. As such I would
welcome this development which will make a valuable contribution to meeting housing need
in Newport.

5.9

THE HEAD OF LAW AND REGULATION
(ENVIRONMENTAL
HEALTH);
Page
145

I do have concerns regarding the proposed development/ layout of the site, particularly in
terms of the close proximity of the residential accommodation to an existing Commercial
Premise (Farries Fish Bar).
Newport City Council have not received any light, odour and/or noise complaints relating to
the business. If planning permission is granted; the Council may receive complaints of this
nature. The Commercial Premise is outside of this planning application, however in order
for me to make an informed decision, I also make reference to planning permission
10/0619.
On reviewing the proposed site layout/topography, there is a possibility that the external
flood lighting on the Commercial Premise may impact the proposed residential dwellings
(light trespass/ intrusion), but note that the applicant has no control over the external flood
lighting on the Commercial Premise and therefore I can’t require a floodlighting report.
Therefore I recommend that the applicant liaises with the Commercial Premise in relation to
this point and if the Council does receive complaints from future residents in relation to the
external flood lighting attached to the Commercial Premise, the Council would have to look
to resolve the matter using environmental protection legislation.
The Commercial Premises has the potential to produce odour (two stacks on the roof) that
may adversely impact on the proposed residential accommodation (external and internal).
On reviewing Planning permission 10/0619, Condition 3 which relates to the extraction
system of the Commercial Premise, this has not been discharged and previous refused
discharge (Planning application no 11/1036 and 11/0270). I recommend that the Councils
Planning Department open an enforcement case in respect of planning permission
10/0619. If the Council, do receive complaints from future residents in relation to odour, the
Council would have to look to resolve the matter using environmental protection legislation.
Noise Assessment
The Commercial Premises has the potential to produce noise
(plant/equipment/shutters/hours of operation/ deliveries etc) that may adversely impact on
the proposed residential accommodation (external and internal). Therefore, the applicant is
required to assess the noise impact of the existing Commercial Premise with regards to the
proposed residential accommodation.
A Noise impact assessment is required and if appropriate, measures to be taken to mitigate
excess noise impact. The information should be prepared by a person with appropriate
acoustic qualifications and should be with full regard to BS 4142:2014 ‘Methods for rating
and assessing industrial and commercial sound’ and any other relevant guidance.
Road Traffic Noise
The south part of the proposed development site runs along Aberthaw Road. There is a
steady volume of traffic using this road and two bus stops near to the site. Motorised
vehicles accelerating and decelerating around on-street parked vehicles and speed bumps
(vehicles vibrate) may also contribute to road traffic noise.
Therefore, the application will be required to submitted, a full noise assessment to
demonstrate the following condition (below) can be met. If the development will impact
residents then a detailed scheme of noise mitigation measures shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Road Traffic Noise – Internal
No development, other than demolition, shall commence until a scheme has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide that all
habitable rooms exposed to external road traffic noise in excess of 55 dBA Leq 16 hour
[free field] during the day [07.00 to 23.00 hours] or 45 dBA Leq 8 hour [free field] at night
[23.00 to 07.00 hours] shall be subject to sound insulation measures to ensure that all such
rooms achieve an internal noise level of 35 dBA Leq 16 hour during the day and 30 dBA
Leq 8 hour at night. The submitted scheme shall ensure that habitable rooms subject to
sound insulation measures shall be able to be effectively ventilated without opening
windows. No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved sound insulation and ventilation
measures have been installed to that property in accordance with the approved details.
The approved measures shall bePage
retained146
thereafter in perpetuity. Reason: To ensure that
the amenities of future occupiers are protected.

Road Traffic Noise - External
No development, other than demolition, shall commence until a scheme has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide that the
maximum day time noise level in outdoor living areas exposed to external road traffic noise
shall not exceed 50 dBA Leq 16 hour [free field]. The scheme of noise mitigation as
approved shall be constructed in its entirety prior to the first occupation of any dwelling and
shall be retained thereafter in perpetuity. Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future
occupiers are protected.
Contamination – Unforeseen
Any unforeseen ground contamination encountered during development, to include
demolition, shall be notified to the Local Planning Authority as soon as is practicable.
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority as unnecessary, an
appropriate ground investigation and/or remediation strategy shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the approved strategy shall be
implemented in full prior to further works on site. Following remediation and prior to the
occupation of any building, a Completion/Verification Report, confirming the remediation
has being carried out in accordance with the approved details, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Reason: To ensure that any potential
risks to human health or the wider environment which may arise as a result of potential land
contamination are satisfactorily addressed.
Construction Environmental Management Plan
Prior to the commencement of development, to include demolition, a Construction
Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The Construction Environmental Management Plan shall identify
the steps and procedures that will be implemented to minimise the creation and impact of
noise, air quality*, vibration, dust** and waste disposal resulting from the site preparation,
groundwork and construction phases of the development and manage Heavy Goods
Vehicle (HGV) access to the site. Measures to minimise the impact on air quality should
include HGV routes avoiding Air Quality Management Areas and avoid vehicle idling. The
approved Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be adhered to at all times,
unless otherwise first agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
* The Institute of Air Quality Management http://iaqm.co.uk/guidance/
** The applicant should have regard to BRE guide 'Control of Dust from Construction and
Demolition, February 2003
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the vicinity are
protected.
Advisory – Construction Operating Hours
To protect the amenity of existing residents, the following recommendation with regards to
construction times should be attached to any permission granted;
(i) Construction Hours – Non-Piling
No development, (including land raising and demolition if required) shall be carried out
other than between the hours of 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday and between the hours
of 08.00 and 13.00 on Saturdays.
(ii) Construction Hours – Piling
Notwithstanding the requirements of part (i), no construction work involving piling shall be
carried out on the site other than between the hours of 08.00 and 17.00 Mondays to
Fridays and no construction work involving piling shall be carried out on Saturdays,
Sundays or Bank Holidays.
(iii) Prior Approval – Out of Hours
Prior approval will be required for any construction to take place outside permitted times
and on Sundays and Bank Holidays, where it would create noise audible at the boundary of
any residential property.
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the vicinity are
protected
Advisory - EV Charging points

Page 147

To encourage the uptake of zero emission vehicles in efforts to reduce air pollution it is
recommended a number of the parking spaces are installed with electric vehicle charging
points. Cabling could be installed in the remainder of the parking spaces to allow for
additional charging points to be installed at a later stage.
5.10

THE HEAD OF REGENERATION AND REGULATORY SERVICES (PLANNING POLICY);
Principle of Development
The site is within the urban settlement boundary and its redevelopment is therefore
acceptable in principle and consistent with the LDP sustainability and urban regeneration
objectives of Policies SP1 – Sustainability and SP18 – Urban Regeneration. Its
redevelopment is welcomed and will make use of vacant scrubland formerly occupied by a
pub and day centre.
Ecology and Trees
The views of the Ecologist should be sought, however, to establish any mitigation
measures that may be necessary given that the site has been vacant for some time and
has patches of grass. In addition, there are two large trees on the site, that are to remain,
but views of the tree officer should be sought to ensure the construction period of the
proposal do not have a detrimental impact upon them.
Residential
The western section of the site is allocated as a housing commitment under Policy H1(8) –
Severn Stiles for 23 units reflecting the permission that was in place at the time of LDP
adoption. The principle of residential development is therefore established on the site and
is the prominent use in the locality. Redevelopment of the site for residential use,
particularly affordable housing, is considered to be acceptable subject to satisfying the
relevant policies of the plan relating to standard Development Management considerations,
such as parking, access, etc. The suggested density exceeds the required 30 dph
threshold and therefore satisfy Policy H3 – Housing Mix and Density.
The location of the chip shop and proximity of the sports hall and existing residential
properties means that the impact on nearby residential properties should from the proposed
development should be considered and where necessary mitigation for the benefit of
existing and new residents/businesses.
Conclusion
Redevelopment of the site for residential development is supported subject to satisfying
detailed development management considerations.

5.11

THE HEAD OF REGENERATION
CONTRIBUTIONS MANAGER);

AND

REGULATORY

SERVICES

(PLANNNG

1. Introduction
Council policy stipulates that affordable housing is exempt from contributing towards leisure
and education planning obligations. However, in order to safeguard any future Council
infrastructure liabilities, there is a requirement to provide a S106 legal agreement in the
event that any of the dwellings are sold or rented on the open market
Prior to commencement of the development, the Owner and/or Developer will notify the
Council in writing of the number and type of dwellings which are to be ‘open market’
dwellings. As such, the following formulas would apply:
A. Affordable Housing
Provide 20% affordable housing on-site (mix and type to be agreed with the Council prior to
commencement). Alternatively, in exceptional circumstances, an off-site commuted sum

Page 148

could be agreed (in accord with the Affordable Housing SPG) for the provision of affordable
housing for the City of Newport.
Affordable Housing Sum will be index linked to the RPI and paid prior to occupation of 50%
of the development
B. Education
The development falls within the catchment area of Llanwern High School, Alway Primary
School and Ysgol Gymraeg Casnewydd Primary School. Whilst it is recognised that no
education contribution is requested for affordable housing, it is necessary to ensure that
dwellings sold or rented on the open market will adhere to the following formula:


Number of secondary pupils generated by market dwellings in excess of available
capacity at Llanwern High School (prior to commencement) x £29,741 = Secondary
Education Sum;



Number of primary pupils generated by market dwellings in excess of available capacity
at Alway Primary School and Ysgol Gymraeg Casnewydd Primary School (prior to
commencement) x £19,034 = Primary Education Sum.

All Education Sums will be index linked to the BCIS and paid prior to occupation of 50% of
the development
C. Leisure
There is a deficit of equipped and formal play provision within the Alway Ward.
Whilst it is recognised that no leisure contribution is requested for affordable housing
dwellings, it is necessary to build-in safeguards to ensure that any dwellings sold or rented
on the open market, will be subject to leisure planning obligation contributions. As such,
any ‘open market’ dwellings will be subject to a financial leisure contribution, based on the
following formula:


Number of two bed ‘open market’ dwellings x £3,815;



Number of three bed ‘open market’ dwellings x £5,724

All Leisure Sums will be index linked to the RPI and paid prior to occupation of 50% of the
development
D. Administration Fee
The Council charges an Administration Fee for progressing and subsequent monitoring of
S106 planning agreements. The fee is calculated on the basis of 2% of the total financial
contribution being sought under the agreement, or 20% of the planning application fee,
whichever is the greater, subject to a minimum fee of £200. Fee to be paid prior to
commencement
6.
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS
NEIGHBOURS: All properties within 100m of the application site were consulted (244
properties), 3no. site notices displayed and a press notice published in South Wales Argus.
No responses have been received.

6.2

COUNCILLORS HARVEY/TRUMAN: no objections to this planning application, in fact we
will be happy to see something built on this site as soon as possible.

7.
7.1

ASSESSMENT
The application site comprises an area of previously developed land approximately 1.2ha in
size. It is broadly triangular in shape and
the southern
Page
149 boundary is formed by Aberthaw Road

with there being a low stone retaining wall in place. The eastern boundary is formed by
Ladyhill Crescent, a parking court, some housing and St Teilo’s Church. The northern
boundary consists of two blocks of terraced bungalows and a community building. The site
is bisected by a footway leading from Aberthaw Road to Farries Fish and Chip Shop, which
was approved planning permission under planning application 10/0619.
7.1.1

The site is predominantly covered with hardstanding resulting from the former buildings, as
well as semi-improved grassland, scrub habitats and a number of small trees. The buildings
were demolished approximately 8 years ago and some rubble remains in compacted piles.
The local vernacular of the area to the immediate south comprises a mix of 1960s/70s
terraced two-storey housing and three-storey apartments, which are well-spaced from each
other by open green space. Their general form comprises back gardens to the rear of the
units and front entrances and communal footways to the fronts, with no designated car
parking provided. The finishing materials of the houses comprise of a mix of various
coloured bricks and concrete tiled roofs, and the apartments are finished in buff render with
concrete tiled roofs. The two-storey semi-detached dwellings to the northwest of the site on
Lliswerry Road date from 1930s. The dwellings are finished in white painted render with
terracotta coloured tiled roofs.

7.1.2

With regards to public transport, there are east and westbound bus stops located
immediately to the south of the site on Aberthaw Road; as well as north and southbound
stops to the east of the site along Aberthaw Avenue. The nos.6 and 6A services travel
between Alway and the city centre, via Maindee, and offer three services per hour at peak
times. The no.7 service offers hourly buses, travelling between the city centre and
Ringland, via Alway and the Royal Gwent Hospital.

7.1.3

In terms of education provision, Alway Primary School is located approximately 350 metres
to the west of the site, with Llanwern High School located approximately 1km to the east.
There are a number of other primary schools also located within a 2km radius of to the west
of the site.

7.1.4

There are no public rights of way affecting the site.

7.2

Planning History

7.2.1

Planning permisssion was granted for 14no. apartments and 9no. houses on the former
Seven Styles Public House area to the west of the site and this area is allocated in the Local
Development Plan for 23no. residential units. This permission however, was never
implemented and as such has expired.

7.3

The Proposal

7.3.1

The proposal is to construct 39no. two storey residential general needs affordable semidetached and terraced dwelling houses. There are four house types proposed, broken down
into a mix of 20no. two bedroom properties and 19no. three bedroom properties. The
proposals also include landscaping, car parking and associated infrastructure.

7.3.2

To the western portion of the site, the proposed Plots 1-10 follow the highway along the
boundary of the site from west, to north, to east. To their rear is a parking court within the
southern portion of the site. Plots 11 & 12 sit within the south of the site. The primary
elevations face away from the parking court, albeit that it is well overlooked by rear
fenestration from the dwellings. A number of parking spaces are proposed off Lliswerry
Road and the new estate road also.

7.3.3

With regards to the eastern portion of the site, the proposed plots are sited so as to relate
to the existing roads of Aberthaw Road and Ladyhill Court, with dwellings within the site
facing onto internal access road, ensuring parking spaces are overlooked. Plots 13-16 and
31-39 form a southern cluster and are accompanied by a ‘pocket park’ with proposed
planting in the south eastern corner of the site. Plots 17-30 comprise the northern parcel;
and the parking court located within the middle. The existing low-level retaining wall along
the southern boundary on Aberthaw
Road150
is retained, addressing the gently but
Page
consistently sloping site topography.

7.3.4

The proposal seeks to close the former public house access route into the northwest of the
site. A new vehicle access will be formed from Lliswerry Road, to the northwest. The
existing road to the northwest is proposed to be widened to a width of approximately 5.5m.
The proposed new access includes 2.0m wide footways on the western side of the road.
The widened road will lead to two separate parking courts located within the southwest and
east of the site. Additional parking spaces are located along the internal road. The majority
of parking spaces are accessed off the western route.

7.3.5

The existing access to the northeast is retained and enhanced with landscaping improving
the existing parking island. The access serves plots 25 to 33, their car parking provision,
and 6no. visitor spaces. Footways are located either side of the access into the site. The
footway along the east of the site links to the existing footpath to Aberthaw Avenue. A
footpath links Ladyhill Court to an internal access road, and number of footpaths within the
site ensure good pedestrian accessibility, and provide a number of links to Aberthaw Road
to the south.

7.3.6

65 no. car parking spaces are provided, which seeks to account for the residents of the
proposed development, as well as visitors. This is based on 51 spaces provided for
residents along with 14no. visitor spaces.

7.3.7

The scheme proposes small pockets of landscaping and planting throughout, however the
main provision is the pocket park located in the south eastern corner of the site. There is a
linkpath proposed centrally towards the eastern boundary and a rain garden to be centrally
located at the southern edge of the site adjacent to Aberthaw Road. A number of benches
have been strategically placed throughout.

7.4

The Principle of Development

7.4.1

The former Seven Stiles Public House site is allocated within the Local Development Plan
for the provision of 23no. residential units and the remainder of the site is previously
developed land within the defined settlement boundary. The site is currently vacant and it is
considered that the provision of residential development within the urban area is consistent
with Policy SP18 of the Newport Local Development Plan and its general brownfield
strategy. The site also provides a 36no. units per hectare density, which exceeds the
minimum provision of 30no. units per hectare as set out in Policy H3. As such, the principle
of development is considered to be established.

7.5

Highways and Access

7.5.1

The application has included a comprehensive Transport Assessment and the Head of City
Services (Highways) is satisfied that the proposal is unlikely to give rise to capacity issues
associated with the local highway network and as such is acceptable. The Transport
Assessment includes Swept Path Analysis of Refuse Vehicle with turning provided adjacent
to Plot 13. The Head of City Services (Highways) has raised concerns as there is no provision
for bin collection points where residents can leave bins, which could lead to obstruction of
the highway. Concerns are also raised at the walk length of some properties which could
lead to bins being left indiscriminately either within the development or on Ladyhill Court. It
has been advised that bin collection points should be provided in locations off the adoptable
highway.

7.5.2

The revised proposed layout of the site includes 51no. parking spaces and 14no. visitor
parking spaces, totalling 65no. spaces overall for the site. The Parking Standards SPG
(adopted August 2015) requires 2no. spaces per two bedroom property, 3no. spaces per
three bedroom property and 1no. visitor spaces per five units. Subsequently, the parking
requirement for the site in accordance with the SPG would be 97no. resident spaces and
8no. visitor spaces. Planning Policy Wales 10 states that “parking standards should be
applied flexibily and allow for the provision of lower levels of parking and creation of high
quality development”. In order to provide further parking in this instance would mean the loss
of affordable housing units to accommodate the spaces or the loss of garden/amenity space
or landscaped areas.The schedule of parking is broken down in the below table;

Page 151

House Type
A – 4 Person 2 Bedroom
B – 4 Person 3 Bedroom
C – 5 Person 3 Bedroom
D – 4 Person 2 Bedroom

Number of Parking Spaces
1 Space per Dwelling (Plot 10
has 2 spaces)
1 Space per Dwelling
2 Spaces per Dwelling
1 Space per Dwelling

Parking Shortfall
1 Space per dwelling (apart
from Plot 10)
2 Spaces per Dwelling
1 Space per Dwelling
1 Space per Dwelling

Figure 1 – Schedule of Parking
7.5.3

The site is located within a highly sustainable area and is within walking distance of a number
of local facilities and amenities. The below table has been taken from the Transport
Assessment to illustrate the close links the site shares with these amenities and the
sustainability criteria achieved;

Figure 2 – List of Local Amenities, their distance and walking time.
7.5.4

Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 states that the sustainable transport hierachy must be a
key principle in the preparation of development plans, including site allocations and when
considering and determining planning applications. In depth and detailed analysis of the
sustainability credentials of the site have been provided within the Transport Assessment
and the proposal has clearly given due consideration to the sustainable principles of the site
in order to reduce car dependency. This includes location of bus stops and their service
frequency, the walking and cycling catchment area and accessibility by bicycle, amongst
other data which contribute to the conclusion that the highly sustainable location of the site
offers a wide range of non-car travel options would be available to the future residents of the
proposed redevelopment.

Page 152

7.5.5

The below table makes an assessment of the sites sustainability points in accordance with
that set out in the Parking Standards SPG (adopted August 2015).

Figure 3 – Application Site Sustainability Points
7.5.6

The Head of City Services (Highways) has confirmed that 10 sustainability points can be
awarded to the site, reducing the level of parking required by 2no. spaces per unit, with a
minimum of 1no. space provided per unit. The level of parking provided within the site is
therefore considered to be acceptable. It has been stated however, that the applicant
should note that acceptance of the level of parking provided does not convey any approval
to a reduction in parking spaces due to the type of ownership. A revised parking plan has
been submitted in response to the Head of City Services (Highways) comments regarding
disabled spaces for visitors and these have been allocated as per the advice.

7.5.7

Overall, the Head of City Services (Highways) has offered an objection to the proposed
scheme based on the parking courts being in an unadoptable format, the walk length from
certain plots and that there are no bin collection points allocated and that the visitor parking
did not take into account the needs of the disabled. It is considered that all of these aspects
could be controlled via the proposed conditional regime and there is no reason to anticipate
these issues cannot be resolved. The site provides a much needed redevelopment of a site
which is located in a highly sustainable location and complies with the sustainable
principles of PPW10, without significant highway safety concerns being raised. Therefore,
on balance it is considered that the proposal complies with the aims of Policy GP4 and T4
of the NLDP 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015) and the Parking Standards SPG (adopted
August 2015).

7.6

Design and Layout

7.6.1

PPW10 requires proposals to contribute to the concept of Placemaking, which is a holistic
approach to the planning and design of development and spaces, focused on positive
outcomes. Placemaking draws upon an area’s potential to create high quality development
and public spaces that promotes people prosperity, health, happiness and well being. Good
placemaking should consider the context, function and relationships between a development
site and its wider surroundings.

7.6.2

The site is located within a predominantly residential area but has been vacant for a number
of years and during that time has been enclosed by hoarding and fencing. It is clear that the
site has suffered from issues of anti-social behaviour and fly tipping and as such it is
important that the proposed design and layout integrates the site into its surrounding area
successfully. In particular the site is constrained by a Fish and Chip Shop located centrally
between the two land parcels and this lies outside of the control of the applicant. This
particular aspect constrains the overall layout of the site and attention clearly needs to be
given to the relationship with the development area.

7.6.3

The scheme has been designed to provide active frontage around the perimeter of the site
with properties fronting onto Aberthaw Road, Lliswerry Road and Ladyhill Crescent. At the
corners of the site and at street corners within the site the properties are dual aspect, which
prevents there being blank side elevations in prominent locations. This avoids the
development from turning its back to the surrounding area annd creates interaction between
the existing and proposed development, which in turns creates active frontage and
surveillance that helps to integrate Page
the site153
into the existing settlement appropriately.
Particularly along the southern and western boundaries of the site the proposed dwellings

are generally set back with intervening landscaping laying between the highway and the
principle elevation, which creates a sense of space and is a common characteristic of the
many properties within the local vicinity. As a result of creating the frontage onto site
boundaries this does lead to the creation of two parking courts being located internally within
the site, which both stem off the main access road through the site. However, these parking
courts are generally well surveillanced and are overlooked by the surrounding properties,
which is welcomed. Having these parking courts located off the main adopted road creates
a clear sense of hierachy within the site and contributes to the legibility. The main road and
parking areas are proposed to be of a different material that will give a clear separation
between the two and subject to these materials being acceptable and landscaping of the
parking area (both controlled by condition), these are not considered to create an
overconcentration of car parking within the site.
7.6.4

The site is considered to offer good pedestrian links throughout, with horizontal and vertical
desire lines provided, increasing permeability through the site and into the wider area, which
provides good legibility. Pedestrian access is provided off Ladyhill Court and Aberthaw Road
with internal pathways linking centrally through the site and to the north, with the existing
stepped access to the south west being retained. Opportunity for landscaping within the site
is fairly limited and this will be assessed in greater detail within the relevant section of this
report, however during the negotiation of the scheme the removal of a residential unit has
opened up an opportunity for a ‘pocket park’ to be provided within the south eastern corner
of the site, which will provide residents with a valued area of open space. To the south of the
existing fish and chip shop it is proposed to keep this area open and a rain garden is
proposed, which will contribute to the SuDS strategy for the site. Proposed properties to the
east have been set back and landscaping is provided in order to retain the open nature of
this area and provide an acceptable relationship with the commercial premises.

7.6.5

The scheme proposes four house types that will each be two storey, however each will be of
a different design and appearance.
House Type A – 4 Person 2 Bedroom

7.6.6

This house type is a two bedroom gable end terrace property constructed of external facing
brick walls and standing seam metal pitched roof, which would have a ridge height of 7.65
metres. The property provides a hall, lounge, kitchen/diner and w/c at ground floor and 2no.
bedrooms and bathroom at first floor. There are three rows of four terraced properties across
the site.

Page 154

House Type B – 4 Person 3 Bedroom

7.6.7

This house type is a three bedroom property which is able to be built as the middle property
of a terrace of three or as a pair of semi-detached properties. It is constructed of an external
facing brick with a standing seam metal roof, which would have a ridge height of 7.6 metres
and gable at the front and rear. The property provides lounge, w/c and kitchen/diner at ground
floor and 3no. bedrooms and bathroom at first floor. There are six of these properties across
the site.
House Type C – 5 Person 3 Bedroom

7.6.8

This house type is three bedroom dual aspect property which is to be located within
prominent location across the site, with 13 proposed in total. It is proposed to be of an
external facing brick appearance with standing seam metal roof with gable at the front and
rear and height of 7.65 metres. 10 out of the 13 proposed will have a constrasting brick at
ground and first floor, with the remaining 3 having a matching brick throughout. The layout
will consist of hallway, lounge, kitchen/diner and w/c at ground floor and 3no. bedrooms and
bathroom at first floor.

Page 155

House Type D – 4 Person 2 Bedroom

7.6.9

This house type is a two bedroom property of external facing brick and standing seam metal
roof. It would have a gable at the front and rear with a height of 7.60 metres in total. This
house type will form a row of terrace properties in three locations across the site and there
will be 8 in total. The layout will consist of lounge, kitchen/diner and w/c at ground floor and
2no. bedrooms and bathroom at first floor.

7.6.10 It is considered that the two storey scale and massing of the proposed dwellinghouses are
inkeeping with the prevailing scale of the surrounding dwellings. Within the immediate vicinity
of the site there is a mix to the character and appearance of the existing properties and this
allows the scheme to have some flexibility in its design, without resulting in too much of a
constrast to the neighbouring area. The design of the proposed dwellings will provide a
consistent character across the development, albeit providing a mix of house types which
avoids mundane rows of the same property. The local materials palette comprises of
predominantly red and buff facing brick and roughcast and smooth render. There is also a
mix of roof forms in the area ranging from hipped roofs, gable roofs with quite shallow pitches
and monopitch roofs of a tiled finish. More recent development to the east of the site has
incorporated metal roof coverings. The proposed dwellings are predominantly of a light/buff
facing brick appearance with standing seam metal roofs and have architectural detaling such
as brick soldier courses and contrasting brick under window openings. Contemporary
modern bay windows are proposed in many front elevations and whilst not stated, it is
understood the window and door openings would be aluminium. Final materials can be
sought via conditional discharge.

7.6.11 There would be a variety of boundary treatments ranging between brick walls, close board
fencing and metal rails within the proposed development. It is recognised that good
boundary treatments are a significant factor in creating a sense of place and an
environment, which improves visual and residential amenity. Areas that are visually
prominent within the site are proposed to be brick walls as opposed to fencing and the
properties fronting onto the external boundaries are predominantly low level metal railings
to maintain the open nature of the area. This is considered to provide a higher quality finish
in these areas that have more prominent public views. In order to ensure satisfactory
treatments, a condition can be attached to any consent requesting full details of these
boundary treatments and also to prevent other boundary treatments being installed to the
front of properties in the future unless otherwise agreed.
7.6.12 Overall, it is considered that the proposal would result in a design and layout of the site that
would provide good permeability throughout the site and into the wider area by providing
desire lines, it would have share a positve relationship with the surrounding street scape due
to the active frontage along site boundaries and would be of an overall scale and appearance
with is inkeeping with the local character. As such, it is considered that the proposal complies
with the aims of Policy GP6 of the NLDP 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).
7.7

Existing and Future Residential Amenity

Page 156

7.7.1

The New Dwelling SPG is the relevant guidance when assessing the impact of the
proposed development on the residential amenity of neighbouring properties; and amenity
provided for future occupiers. The main function of the SPG is to:
i) To ensure that occupants of new dwellings have reasonable living conditions;
ii) To ensure that new dwellings do not deprive persons in existing dwellings of reasonable
living conditions; and
iii) To protect the character and appearance of the natural and built environments.

7.7.2

It is generally considered that each of the house types offered provides a satisfactory level
of residential amenity owing to their size, layout and provision of openings to provide natural
light and ventilation. All properties are DQR compliant as the scheme is 100% social housing.
In order to provide a sufficient level of outdoor amenity space the SPG states that it is desired
for new dwellinghouses to have 1 square metre of outdoor space for every square metre of
the units footprint. It is also stated that in most cases a back garden should extend 10 metres
from the rear elevation of a house.

7.7.3

It is acknowledged that whilst most of the properties meet the 1sqm to 1sqm ratio there are
some that do not. However, as a result of the revised plans there is not considered to be any
properties that would offer a garden space small enough to result in an adverse impact on
the residential amenity of the future occupiers. Again, there are a number of gardens that do
not extend 10 metres in depth as desired, however there are no examples whereby this would
result in an unnacceptable relationship between facing windows of properties. Therefore, no
harm has been identified as a result of some gardens not being 10 metres in depth. The initial
layout raised concerns due to the distance between the rear elevation of Plot 8 and the side
elevation of Plot 9, the rear elevation of Plot 21 and the side elevation of Plot 20, the rear
elevation of Plot 29 and the side elevation of Plot 28 and the rear elevation of the originally
proposed Plot 34 and the side elevation of Plot 35. As a result of layout changes and the
removal of the intially proposed Plot 34, it is considered that these relationships are now
acceptable and any overbearing impact and/or loss of light has been mitigated for, as such
offering sufficient residential amenity to future occupiers.

7.7.4

In terms of neighbouring occupiers the key impact would be the impact on 13-15 Ladyhill
Green and 158-162 Lliswerry Road i.e. the two blocks of terraced bungalows to the north of
the site. These effectively backed onto the now demolished Ladyhill Centre having minimal
rear gardens and limited buffering between them and the community uses in the centre.
This was somewhat offset by the level changes on the site.

7.7.5

In terms of 158-162 the proposal would see an area of landscaping and an access road
being provided to the rear of the bungalows. Historically these units had close proximity to
a large public house and a substantial community centre and as such would have expected
significant activity at close quarters at the rear of the bungalows. The demolition means
these intrusive uses have now ceased. As such, the proposal would inevitably be seen as a
worsening over the current situation but this is not considered to be to an unacceptable
level. This is due to the change in levels within the site with the new development being set
down and the nearest dwellings being approximately 22.5 metres from the rear façade of
these bungalows with opportunity for intervening landscaping. In terms of 13-15 Ladyhill
Green these are similar with a limited rear garden a palisade fencing, which means the rear
gardens are currently visible from Ladyhill Court, which reinforces the idea that they are not
commonly used. They are certainly not especially private being very visible from the public
domain. The existing retaining wall would remain and the application site is approximately
2.0 metres lower in height. Again, given the current unused state of the site there would be
some worsening on the residential amenity of these properties, however given the change
in levels this is not considered to be unacceptable. It would be necessary to condition that
the first floor side window opening serving the bathroom of Plot 25 is to be obscure glazed
and non-opening in order to protect neighbouring amenities.

7.7.6

Overall, it is considered that on balance the scheme provides a satisfactory level of
residential amenity for the future occupiers of the site and also will preserve the residential
amenity of neighbouring residential properties and overall character and appearance of the
built environment. The proposal complies
with157
the aims of Policy GP2 of the NLDP 2011Page
2026 (adopted January 2015) and the New Dwelling SPG (adopted August 2015).

7.8

Noise

7.8.1

Owing to the design and layout of the site providing active frontage along site boundaries,
there is potential for road traffic noise impact along Aberthaw Road, which has a steady
volume of traffic as well as two bus stops near the site. The Head of Law and Regulation
(Environmental Health) has requested that it is conditioned that a noise assessment is
submitted that demonstrates habitable rooms and external amenity space exposed to road
traffic noise meet satisfactory noise levels. Depending on the results of the assessment
mitigation may be required for sound insulation and ventilation, however it is considered that
this could reasonably be achieved, if necessary.

7.8.2

The Head of Law and Regulation (Environmental Health) does have concerns in relation to
the close proximity of the residential accomodation to the existing commercial premise of
Farries Fish Bar. Whilst no complaints have been received in relation to light, odour and/or
noise complaints relating to the business, if planning permission is approved the Council may
receive complaints of this nature. This commercial premise is located outside of the
application site and as such the applicant has no control over how it is managed. Although it
is understood that the applicant is in communication with the land owner in relation to
providing upgraded bin storage etc. however this would be a private arrangement outside of
the planning process. Planning permission was approved in 2010 under application 10/0619
and hours of operation are restricted from 11:00-23:00 Monday to Saturday, and at no times
of Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays and outside of these hours the premises shall be
vacated and closed to the public. The LPA therefore has control over hours of operation.
There is also a condition controlling noise emitted from plant located at the site. The premises
has extraction equipment, however two applications to discharge the details of this were
previously refused in 2011 due to a lack of information being submitted at the time. The
equipment has therefore not been authorised by the LPA and it is unclear whether the current
equipment is acceptable. That being said, no complaints have been received. Depending on
when the equipment was installed, the LPA may have control over this through planning
legislation, however in the worst case scenario, if this equipment was now imune from any
enforcement action, the Head of Law and Regulation (Environmental Health) has confirmed
that should the Council receive any complaints this could be resolved using Environmental
Protection Legislation.

7.8.3

Overall, whilst the location of the commercial premises is not considered to be preferable, it
is acknowledged that this is outside of the control of the applicant and there are mechanisms
available which would allow a certain level of control for the Council to deal with this as a
statutory nuisance should any complaints occur. There is also a case of caveat emptor
whereby future occupiers of nearby properties would be aware of the existing business and
the potential disturbance this may (or may not) cause. In relation to the potential for road
traffic noise, it is considered that if necessary, proposed mitigation is achievable and could
be undertaken by the developer. On balance, it is considered that the proposal complies with
the aims of Policy GP7 of the NLDP 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).

7.9

Landscaping, Trees and Ecology

7.9.1

Given the nature of the site as being brownfield land there is potential for certain protected
species and their habitats to be harmed by the proposed redevelopment of the site. As
such, an Ecological Assessment has been undertaken and submitted with the application.
Owing to the date of the previous assessment taken over two years ago, an updated
survey and report has been submitted. The site as a whole has been classed as a relatively
new brownfield site, with limited habitat features to support nesting birds, common
invertebrates and possibly foraging/commuting bats. Therefore, it is considered to be of
local value for wildlife. It is generally concluded that the site could be redeveloped without
causing significant adverse impacts to wildlife, however the report states that a scheme of
ecological mitigation/enhancement will need to be included to provide new habitat features
within the new development. Appropriate recommendations have been made which include
Page
158
bird boxes being installed on suitable
trees
and on new buildings, planting of native

broadleaved tree and shrub species to provide additional habitat for fauna, planting of
wildlife friendly plants as well as drawing up a Wildlife Protection Plan for the site clearance
and a detailed 5 year biodiversity management plan. It is considered that submission of the
recommended measures can be controlled via conditional discharge prior to
commencement of site clearance.
7.9.2

In terms of the landscaping of the site, an indicative landscape plan has been submitted
with the scheme. This revised scheme includes a ‘pocket park’ to the south east of the site,
along with link at the eastern boundary and proposed rain garden at the southern
boundary. Proposed trees and/or planting are proposed site wide in order to soften the
visual impact of the development and many of the proposed dwellings will have green
frontage due to being set back from the site boundaries and internal highways. The Head of
City Services (Landscaping) has commented that the site layout may be confusing for
pedestrians as it is difficult to determine whether some routes are on private land or a
public footpath. However, it is considered that the pedestrian linkage throughout the site is
a merit of the scheme and allows users to internally access the different areas of the site
with ease. Concerns have been raised in relation to railings being extensively used where
as in some sections a low hedge would be sufficient and would provide a greener and
softer solution. However, the hard and soft landscaping of the site will be conditioned, as
will boundary treatments and it is considered that these finer details can be agreed at a
later date. The low railings are considered to be a less intrusive boundary treatment,
particularly in public facing areas, that offers a suitable definition of plot boundaries. As a
result of the removal of a plot in the south east corner of the site, the number of railings
required has naturally reduced. Overall, it is considered that the general landscaping
strategy for the site is broadly acceptable and details can be agreed at a later date.

7.9.3

In order to achieve a suitable relationship between Plot 8 and 9 unfortunately an existing
Norway Maple tree is proposed to be removed. Whilst this is regrettable and in normal
circumstances would not typically be considered acceptable, the Head of City Services
(Trees) has placed weight on the fact that the scheme is providing 100% social housing
and has significant merit. In this instance, the Tree Officer has accepted the loss of the tree
on the basis that a replacement will be planted on site. This would be controlled by way of
condition to ensure that an acceptable replacement is planted.

7.9.4

Overall, it is considered that the proposal complies with the aims of Policy GP4 of the
NLDP 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).

7.10

Waste

7.10.1 Within the curtilage of each property there is sufficient space for the storage of refuse and
each property will present refuse and recycling for collection. Refuse vehicle tracked testing
has been provided showing a refuse vehicle is capable of turning on the adopted highway
within the site, however should the developer wish for the refuse vehicle to access private
land i.e. the parking courts then an indemnity agreement would need to be signed. A
sample waste indemnity agreement can be found within the Waste Storage and Collection
SPG (adopted January 2020). It is apparent that waste refuse vehicles already access
Ladyhill Court to collect the refuse of the existing properties located here. It is anticipated
that the proposed dwellings to the east of the site would present their refuse for collection
on Ladyhill Court. It is considered that storing refuse within the external curtilage of
residential properties and presenting for collection at the highway is considered to be
acceptable. As such, it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with Policy W3 of
the NLDP 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015) and the Waste Storage and Collection SPG
(adopted January 2020).
7.11

Drainage

Page 159

7.11.1 Welsh Water have confirmed that there is capacity for foul water within the public sewerage
network and have requested a condition in relation to the disposal of foul water flows. The
development requires approval of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) features, in
accordance with national standards and the developer requires an application to the SuDS
Approval Body.
7.12

Summary

7.12.1 Overall, it is considered that the proposal offers a sustainable redevelopment of the existing
site which is currently vacant and subject to anti-social behaviour issues, fly tipping and
generally does not make a positive contribution to the surrounding area. As has been set
out within the sub sections of this report, it is considered that the proposal complies with the
relevant local planning policies and also Planning Policy Wales Edition 10. It is considered
that the scheme has considered the demographic of the future occupiers and provides
housing that is of high quality and with sufficient amenity to meet local need and within a
highly sustainable location in an existing residential area that will allow occupiers to not be
dependent on private modes of transport. The scheme provides pedestrian permeability
through desire lines which lead to the wider residential area and local amenities. Public
space is limited but the revised layout provides a pocket park where local residents can
meet and this creates a nice setting as you enter the site from the south east. A number of
benches are proposed around the site which would provide small pockets of open space
with more purpose. The primary route into the site is clear and defined and with the smaller
parking courts located off this, there is a clear hierarchy and legibility to the site. It is
generally considered that good placemaking has been achieved for a scheme of this scale.
7.13

Section 106 Planning Obligation matters

7.13.1 In accordance with Policy SP13 of the adopted Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026
and the adopted Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Guidance, development will
be required to help deliver more sustainable communities by providing, or making
contributions to, local and regional infrastructure in proportion to its scale and the
sustainability of the location.
7.13.2 In this case the application is for affordable housing with the applicant being Pobl.
Contributions towards affordable housing, education and leisure would not be required where
the scheme is delivering affordable housing.
7.13.3 In order to safeguard the Authority a section 106 planning obligation is required to secure the
affordable housing, education and leisure contributions should any of the units by sold as
private market housing. The section 106 sets out formulas for calculating the sums should
this scenario arise. The applicant has agreed to these terms.
8.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in
its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result
of the proposed decision.

8.2

Equality Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age;
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual
orientation; marriage and civil partnership.

8.3

Having due regard to advancing equality involves:

Page 160





removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected
characteristics;
taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ
from the need of other people; and
encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

8.4

The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It
is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon persons who
share a protected characteristic, over and above any other person, as a result of the
proposed decision.

8.5

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language)
Section 31 of the Act clarifies that impacts on the Welsh language may be a consideration
when taking decisions on applications for planning permission so far as it is material to the
application. This duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this
application. It is considered that there would be no material effect upon the use of the Welsh
language in Newport as a result of the proposed decision.

8.6

Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on public bodies to
carry out sustainable development in accordance with the sustainable development principle
to act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This duty has been
considered during the preparation of Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23, which was signed
off on 1 May 2018. The duty imposed by the Act together with the goals and objectives of
Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23 have been considered in the evaluation of this
application. It is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon
the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed decision.

9.
9.1

CONCLUSION

10.

The proposed development is considered to have significant regeneration benefits
and is to make a positive contribution to the affordable housing mix in the area in
accordance with local and national policies. The proposed residential properties will
provide an adequate level of amenity for future occupants and the residential
amenities of existing nearby residents will be protected, whilst achieving good
placemaking principles.
RECOMMENDATION

GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS SUBJECT TO SECTION 106 LEGAL
AGREEMENT WITH DELEGATED POWERS TO REFUSE THE APPLICATION IN
THE EVENT THAT THE AGREEMENT IS NOT SIGNED WITHIN 3 MONTHS OF
THE DECISION
01 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the following plans and
documents; Drawing No.111 - TYPE A - 4P2B GA Plans & Elevations REV D; Drawing No.
112 - TYPE B - 4P3B GA Plans & Elevations REV D; Drawing No.113 - TYPE C - 5P3B
Side Entry GA Plans & Elevations - Contrasting ... REV D; Drawing No.114 - TYPE C 5P3B Side Entry GA Plans & Elevations - Brick REV D; Drawing No.115 - TYPE D - 4P2B
Terrace GA Plans and Elevations REV C; Drawing No.116 - TYPE D - 4P2B Terrace GA
Plans and Elevations - End Terrace REV C; Drawing No. 15 Proposed Site Plan REV L;
Drawing No. 18 - Landscape Strategy REV F; Drawing No. 20 - Site Elevations REV G;
Drawing No. 21 - Site Elevations Seven Stiles REV F; Drawing No. 71 - Site Elevations
Ladyhill REV D; Drawing No.16 - House Typology & Services Strategy REV K; 16336-03
Proposed Finishes and Kerbing 1 of 2; 16336-03 Proposed Finishes and Kerbing 2 of 2;
16336-10 Proposed Drainage Layout 1 of 2; 16336-11 Proposed Drainage Layout 2 of 2;
Ecological Assessment (Updated December 2020); Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage
Strategy; Transport Statement Rev 00 (17th June 2020); Planning Statement (October
Page
161 Report (8th April 2020).
2020); Tree Survey, Categorisation and
Constraints

Reason: In the interests of clarity and to ensure the development complies with the
submitted plans and documents on which this decision was based
Pre- commencement conditions
02 Prior to the commencement of development, to include demolition, a Construction
Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Construction Environmental Management Plan shall identify the
steps and procedures that will be implemented to minimise the creation and impact of noise,
air quality*, vibration, dust** and waste disposal resulting from the site preparation,
groundwork and construction phases of the development and manage Heavy Goods Vehicle
(HGV) access to the site. Measures to minimise the impact on air quality should include HGV
routes avoiding Air Quality Management Areas and avoid vehicle idling. The approved
Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be adhered to at all times, unless
otherwise first agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
* The Institute of Air Quality Management http://iaqm.co.uk/guidance/
** The applicant should have regard to BRE guide 'Control of Dust from Construction and
Demolition, February 2003
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the vicinity are
protected in accordance with Policy GP2.
03 No operations of any description (this includes all forms of development, tree felling, tree
pruning, temporary construction access, soil moving and operations involving the use of
motorised vehicles or construction machinery), shall commence on site in connection with
the development until the Root Protection Barrier fencing has been installed in accordance
with the approved Tree Protection Plan in relation to Tree No.1. No excavation for
services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles, deposits or excavation of
soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take place within the Root
Protection Area. The fencing shall be retained for the full duration of the development, and
shall not be removed or repositioned without the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To protect important landscape features within the site in accordance with Policy
GP5 NLDP 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).
04 No development or site preparation shall take place or material or machinery brought onto
the site until a Biodiversity Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The content of the method statement shall
include details of measures to safeguard protected and priority species including during the
constructions works, based on the information provided in “Ecological Assessment.
Produced by David Clements Ecology Ltd. Dated December 2020”. The content of the
method statement shall include, as a minimum the:
a) Purpose and objectives for the proposed works in relation to protection of identified
species;
b) Detailed working methods necessary to achieve stated objectives;
c) Timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed
phasing of construction; and
d) Persons responsible for implementing the works.
The approved CMS shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period
strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
local planning authority.
Reason: Safeguarding of protected and priority species during construction works in
accordance with LDP policy GP5, the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1982, and Section 7 of
the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.
05 A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan shall be submitted to, and be approved
in writing by, the local planning authority prior commencement of the development. The
content of the plan shall be based upon recommendations in “Ecological Assessment.
Produced by David Clements Ecology Ltd. Dated December 2020” and layout shown on
“Landscape Strategy, produced by Ainsley Gommon Architects, reference C717-018-F”
and must include:
1. Detailed plans showing; Page 162
a. Retained and existing vegetation

b. Soft landscape details, to include: means of protection, planting plans,
specifications including cultivation and other operations associated with
plant and grass establishment, schedules of plants, noting species, sizes,
numbers and densities.
c. Details and locations of proposed bird boxes
d. Implementation methodology and timetable
2. Management strategy detailing:
a. Aims and objectives of management and appropriate options to achieve
them.
b. Prescriptions for management actions and a work schedule capable of being
rolled forward over a minimum of 25 years
c. Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the
plan.
d. Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The approved Landscape Planting and Management shall be adhered to and implemented
in perpetuity, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To provide net benefit in accordance with LDP policy GP5, Planning Policy Wales
and Section 7 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.
06 Prior to the commencement of development, other than demolition, written approval of
the Local Planning Authority is required for a scheme of hard and soft landscaping and tree
planting for the site, including details of the pocket park and link path and associated street
furniture (indicating the number, species, heights on planting and positions of all trees and
shrubs and a tree to replace the removed Norway Maple). This shall include full details of
permanent protective fencing to all trees located within or adjacent to highway or parking
areas and barriers or walling to shrub planning adjacent to parking areas (to prevent
damage). The approved scheme shall be carried out in its entirety by a date not later than
the end of the full planting season immediately following the completion of that
development. Thereafter, the trees and shrubs shall be maintained for a period of 5 years
from the date of planting in accordance with an agreed management schedule. Any trees or
shrubs which die or are damaged shall be replaced and maintained until satisfactorily
established. For the purposes of this condition, a full planting season shall mean the period
from October to April.
Reason: To safeguard the rights of control of the Local Planning Authority in these respects
and to ensure that the site is landscaped in a satisfactory manner in accordance with Policy
GP2 and GP5 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).
07 No development, other than demolition, shall commence until a scheme has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide that all
habitable rooms exposed to external road traffic noise in excess of 55 dBA Leq 16 hour [free
field] during the day [07.00 to 23.00 hours] or 45 dBA Leq 8 hour [free field] at night [23.00
to 07.00 hours] shall be subject to sound insulation measures to ensure that all such rooms
achieve an internal noise level of 35 dBA Leq 16 hour during the day and 30 dBA Leq 8 hour
at night. The submitted scheme shall ensure that habitable rooms subject to sound insulation
measures shall be able to be effectively ventilated without opening windows. No dwelling
shall be occupied until the approved sound insulation and ventilation measures have been
installed to that property in accordance with the approved details. The approved measures
shall be retained thereafter in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected in accordance with
Policy GP2 and GP7.
08 No development, other than demolition, shall commence until a scheme has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide that the
maximum day time noise level in outdoor living areas exposed to external road traffic noise
shall not exceed 50 dBA Leq 16 hour [free field]. The scheme of noise mitigation as approved
shall be constructed in its entirety prior to the first occupation of any dwelling and shall be
retained thereafter in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected in accordance with
Policy GP2 and GP7.
09 Prior to the commencement of development
a scheme for the installation of electronic
Page 163
charging points to parking spaces shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local

planning authority. The scheme shall then be implemented as approved prior to the first
occupation of the development and be retained in a usable condition in perpetuity.
Reason: In the interest of promoting low emission forms of travel and to ensure compliance
with Policy GP7 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 – 2026 (Adopted January
2015)
10 Notwithstanding the information submitted, full details of external finishes of the
dwellinghouses hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of construction. The development shall be
completed in accordance with the details agreed.
Reason: To ensure a high quality finish to built development and compatibility with existing
built form in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy GP6 of the Newport
Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).
11 Notwithstanding the details submitted, full details of the parking court areas shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the
commencement of development (excluding demolition). The development shall be
completed in accordance with the details approved and retained thereafter.
Reason: To safeguard the rights of control of the Local Planning Authority in these respects
and to ensure that the site is landscaped in a satisfactory manner in accordance with Policy
GP2 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).
12 Notwithstanding the details submitted, prior to the commencement of development,
other than demolition, full details to include the materials and heights of proposed boundary
treatments shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be completed in accordance with the details agreed and retained in
that state thereafter.
To ensure a high quality finish to built development and compatibility with existing built form
in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy GP6 of the Newport Local
Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).
Pre –occupation conditions
13 Prior to the occupation of any dwellinghouse hereby approved, space for the parking of
vehicles shall be provided to serve the unit in accordance with the details shown on
“Drawing No.015 – Proposed Site Plan Rev L”. Thereafter, the parking spaces shall be
kept available for such use at all times.
Reason: To ensure that adequate off-street parking provision is made in the interests of
highway safety in accordance with Policy GP4 of the Newport Local Development Plan
2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).
14 Prior to the occupation of Plot 25, 28 and 39 the first floor bathroom opening in the side
elevation shall be fitted with a non-opening and obscure glazed window and retained in that
state thereafter.
Reason: In order to protect the residential amenity of the neighbouring properties in
accordance with Policy GP2 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted
January 2015).
15 Prior to the occupation of the final residential unit hereby approved the ‘Pocket Park’ and
‘Link Path’ shall be made available for public use in accordance with the scheme of
landscaping as approved under the discharge of Condition 06 and retained in that state
thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and landscaping of the site in accordance
with Policy GP2 and GP5 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted
January 2015).
General conditions
16 Any unforeseen ground contamination encountered during development, to include
demolition, shall be notified to the Local Planning Authority as soon as is practicable. Unless
otherwise agreed in writing by thePage
Local Planning
164 Authority as unnecessary, an appropriate
ground investigation and/or remediation strategy shall be submitted to and approved in

writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the approved strategy shall be implemented in
full prior to further works on site. Following remediation and prior to the occupation of any
building, a Completion/Verification Report, confirming the remediation has being carried out
in accordance with the approved details, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that any potential risks to human health or the wider environment which
may arise as a result of potential land contamination are satisfactorily addressed in
accordance with Policy GP7.
17 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order),
Schedule 2, Part 1, no development within Classes A and E shall be carried out without the
prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory form of development takes place and to protect the
amenities of occupiers of adjoining properties in accordance with Policy GP2 and GP6 of the
Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).
18 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any order revoking or re-enacting that order),
schedule 2, part 2, class A, other than those approved no wall, fence, gate, hedge or other
means of enclosure shall be erected or planted forward of the front wall of the dwelling(s)
hereby permitted without the prior written permission of the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and highway safety in accordance
with Policy GP2 and GP4 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted
January 2015).
19 The existing steps at the south of the site onto Aberthaw Road shall be retained in
accordance with the details shown on approved document “Drawing No.015 – Proposed Site
Plan Rev L”.
Reason: In order to provide sufficient pedestrian access to the site in accordance with Policy
SP1 and GP2 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015).
NOTE TO APPLICANT
01 This decision relates to plan Nos: Drawing No.111 - TYPE A - 4P2B GA Plans &
Elevations REV D; Drawing No. 112 - TYPE B - 4P3B GA Plans & Elevations REV D;
Drawing No.113 - TYPE C - 5P3B Side Entry GA Plans & Elevations - Contrasting ... REV
D; Drawing No.114 - TYPE C - 5P3B Side Entry GA Plans & Elevations - Brick REV D;
Drawing No.115 - TYPE D - 4P2B Terrace GA Plans and Elevations REV C; Drawing
No.116 - TYPE D - 4P2B Terrace GA Plans and Elevations - End Terrace REV C; Drawing
No. 15 Proposed Site Plan REV L; Drawing No. 18 - Landscape Strategy REV F; Drawing
No. 20 - Site Elevations REV G; Drawing No. 21 - Site Elevations Seven Stiles REV F;
Drawing No. 71 - Site Elevations Ladyhill REV D; Drawing No.16 - House Typology &
Services Strategy REV K; Ecological Assessment (Updated December 2020); Flood Risk
Assessment and Drainage Strategy; Transport Statement Rev 00 (17th June 2020);
Planning Statement (October 2020); Tree Survey, Categorisation and Constraints Report
(8th April 2020); PAC Report and Appendices; Design and Access Statement;
C717.900_M_3DAerialView1_A3; C717.901_L_3DAerialView2_A3; C717.902_L
_3DAerialView3_A3; C717.903_K_3DAerialView4_A3; C717.904_L_3DAerialView5_A3;
C717.905_K_3DAerialView6_A3; C717.906_F_3DAerialView7_A3; C717.907_E_
3DAerialView8_A3; 16336-01 Existing Site Survey 1 of 2; 16336-02 Existing Site Survey 2
of 2; 16336-03 Proposed Finishes and Kerbing 1 of 2; 16336-03 Proposed Finishes and
Kerbing 2 of 2; 16336-10 Proposed Drainage Layout 1 of 2; 16336-11 Proposed Drainage
Layout 2 of 2.
02 The development plan for Newport is the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 – 2026
(Adopted January 2015). Policies SP1, SP2, SP9, SP10, SP13, SP18, GP2, GP4, GP5, GP6,
GP7, H2, H3, H4, H9, T4, T5 and W3 were relevant to the determination of this application.

Page 165

03 As of 1st October 2012 any connection to the public sewerage network (foul or surface
water sewerage) for the first time will require an adoption agreement with Dwr Cymru
Welsh Water. For further advice contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water on 01443 331155.
04 The proposed development (including any demolition) has been screened under
the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations and it is considered that an
Environmental Statement is not required.

Page 166

5.
APPLICATION DETAILS
No:

20/1032

Ward:

Type:

Full Application

Expiry Date:

9th January 2021

Stow Hill

Applicant:

D Guscott

Site:

Station Buildings, Ground And First Floors Information Station
Queensway Newport NP20 4AX

Proposal:

CHANGE OF USE OF GROUND AND FIRST FLOOR OF INFORMATION
STATION BUILDING TO CO-WORKING OFFICE/CREATIVE SPACE

Recommendation:

GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS

1.
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application seeks planning permission for the change of use of the ground and first floor
of the Information Station, Queensway, Newport. The proposed use allow for B1 (offices)
use of these floors.

1.2

The application is brought before Planning Committee as the Council has an interest in the
building.

2.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

10/1266

17/0657

3.
3.1

Change of use of ground Granted with conditions
floor from railway station
booking hall to customer
service centre including
external alterations to
elevations
to
include
renewed windows and
door openings and new
hvac plant equipment and
screening to be installed
on the roof
Change of use of 3no. Granted with conditons
floors
Only from B1 (offices) to
mixed use B1
(offices)
and
D1
(educ
ation)

POLICY CONTEXT
Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (adopted January 2015)
Policy SP1 Sustainability favours proposals which make a positive contribution to
sustainable development.

Page 167

Policy SP2 Health promotes development which has a positive contribution to health and
well-being by being in a sustainable location, close to walking/cycling routes and green
infrastructure.
Policy SP9 Conservation of the Natural, Historic and Built Environment protects habitats
and species as well as Newport’s listed buildings, conservation areas, historic parks and
gardens, scheduled ancient monuments, archaeologically sensitive areas and landscape
designated as being of outstanding historic interest.
Policy SP12 Community Facilities promotes development of new community facilities such
as places of worship, cemeteries, health centres, nurseries, museums, public halls, cinemas,
concert halls, allotments, leisure use etc. Development that affects existing community
facilities should be designed to retain or enhance essential facilities.
Policy GP2 General Development Principles – General Amenity states that development
will not be permitted where is has a significant adverse effect on local amenity in terms of
noise, disturbance, overbearing, light, odours and air quality. Development will not be
permitted which is detrimental to the visual amenity. Proposals should seek to design out
crime and anti-social behaviour, promote inclusion and provide adequate amenity for future
occupiers.
Policy GP4 General Development Principles – Highways and Accessibility states that
development should provide appropriate access for pedestrians, cyclists and public transport
along with appropriate car parking and cycle storage. Development should not be
detrimental to the highway, highway capacity or pedestrian safety and should be designed
to enhance sustainable forms of transport and accessibility.
Policy CE6 Archaeology states that proposals in areas known to have archaeological
interest or potentially have archaeological interest will be required to undertake an
archaeological impact assessment.
Policy CE7 Conservation Areas sets out the criteria that development proposals within or
adjacent to the conservation area must comply with in order to preserve or enhance the
conservation area.
Policy CF12 Protection of Existing Community Facilities permits the change of use of
buildings currently used for community facilities provided alternative provision can be made
in the vicinity or it can be demonstrated that the existing provision is surplus to the needs of
the community.
Policy T4 Parking states that development will be expected to provide appropriate levels of
parking.
3.2

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE:
In addition to the adopted Local Development Plan, the Council has approved
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG). The following SPG are of relevance:
 Archaeology and Archaeologically Sensitive Areas
 Sustainable Travel SPG.

4.
4.1

CONSULTATIONS
NETWORK RAIL: No response.

4.2

GLAMORGAN GWENT ARCHAEOLOGICAL TRUST: No response.

5.
5.1

INTERNAL COUNCIL ADVICE
PLANNING POLICY MANAGER: refers to Local and National Policies and Supplementary
Planning Guidance. The proposal would see the creation of a flexible working space (use
class B1) which is in line with the employment aims of the LDP and the Councils economic
growth strategy. The sustainable location of the proposal is welcomed but clarification is
sought as to how the management of parking at the site (17 spaces & 5 bike storage spaces)
will be managed. It is noted that the original permission conditioned a management of this
issue for the purpose of highway safety and it is considered that it might be appropriate to
add such a condition this time. The other key policy consideration is the loss of the current
use. The 2010 permission noted that the use was for a customer service centre which was
considered to provide a community facility type function. Therefore, policies SP12 and CF12
are relevant and both look to retain such facilities. In this case the ‘information station’ will
not be a lost facility because the Council has committed to its relocation and therefore
alternative provision of equal benefit
to the
population of Newport is maintained. The site is
Page
168
located opposite a Listed building (54-55 High Street), the City Centre Conservation Area

and within an archaeologically sensitive area. However, the application does suggest any
external or below ground alterations and would therefore not raise an objection on this basis.

The proposal is supported in principle but will need to ensure that the highway impacts are
adequately dealt with as well as other general policy matters such as waste facilities and
archaeology.
5.2

HEAD OF STREETSCENE AND CITY SERVICES (HIGHWAYS): The site is located within
Zone 1 and is therefore in close proximity to a number of public transport links, facilities and
services. I would therefore offer no objection to the application

5.3

HISTORIC BUILDINGS AND CONSERVATION OFFICER: No Objection. As long as no
external alterations are proposed there is no reason why this development will have a
material impact on the setting designated historic assets.

6.
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS
NEIGHBOURS: All properties that share a common boundary with the application site were
consulted 11 No properties) and a site notice displayed. No representations were received.

7.
7.1

ASSESSMENT
The site is located on the Queensway, and is a five storey building formally in use as the
central Railway Station. The main building is neighboured by a disused two storey building
to the east and main rail station to the west. The Queensway is a high traffic volume road
separating the Station building from the main retail area of the City Centre with pedestrian
access into the core predominantly via Cambrian Road and High Street. The ground floor is
currently used as a face to face drop in centre along with Council office space on the first
floor. A car park area sited to the east of the building which currently provides parking for the
Face to face centre which is currently managed in accordance with an approved car parking
management scheme.

7.2

It is proposed that the ground floor and first floor of the station building will operate as a
flexible co-working office space to support the regeneration of the city centre. Businesses
will access the facility on a membership basis, with access to hot-desking, private offices,
meeting rooms and business support services.

7.3

Planning permission was recently granted (17/0657) to use the remainder of the building (i.e.
second, third and fourth floors) as a mixed use of B1 (offices) and D1 (education), allowing
Cardiff University to occupy those floors as a ‘software academy’, with associated office
space. The proposals / use of these three upper floors are unaffected by this application. No
external changes are proposed.

7.4

The premises would function as follows:
Ground floor – Change to B1 use to operate as flexible co-working office space on a
membership basis.
First Floor – To remain as B1 office. The floor will accommodate single and double office
units with meeting rooms.

7.5

It is proposed that the functions of the Information and Contact Centre would be relocated to
the Central Library & Museum building. A change of use application for this relocation has
been submitted (application number 20/1171) which is currently going through its
consultation period.

7.6

In support of the application the applicant has stated that currently, Newport has a chronic
lack of both large ‘Grade A’ premises and smaller flexible co-working facilities. This has
proved prohibitive to high value and high growth occupiers, and become a barrier to
economic growth and sustainable City Centre activity leading to reduced employment
opportunity. In order to support the economic development of the City Centre, an increase in
available commercial space that is desirable to well-paying knowledge based businesses is
Page
169 the commercial environment to capture
essential. The flexibility of the proposal
will provide

both start-up and growth businesses in knowledge based sectors that previously would be
lost to the City Centre, it would also seek to retain graduates of the National Software
Academy to grow the base of digital/technology business in Newport.

7.7

The 2010 application permitted the change of use of the former station building to a customer
service centre which was considered to provide a community facility. Policies SP12 and CF12
are relevant and both look to retain such facilities. SP12 states that development that affects
existing community facilities should be designed to retain or enhance essential facilities.
Policy CF12 permits the change of use of buildings currently used for community facilities
provided alternative provision can be made in the vicinity. It is considered that the proposal
is not at odds with these policies as the Council has committed to the relocation of the
Information Station to the Museum and Library as stated above.

7.8

The site is opposite a listed building and the boundary of the Town Centre Conservation area.
The Conservation Officer has stated that as long as no external alterations are proposed,
which is the case, there is no reason why this development will have a material impact on
the setting designated historic assets. It is considered therefore that the proposal will not be
at odds with policies SP9 and CE7 and the character of the conservation area will be
maintained. The site is located within an Archaeological sensitive area, however as only
internal works are proposed within an existing converted building, it is unlikely that there will
be any impact upon archaeological features.

7.9

In terms of highways and policy GP4, the Information Station is located within the City Centre
in Zone 1, in close proximity to the train station, other forms of public transport and cycle
routes. It is considered to be in a highly sustainable location; as a result, it does not require
the provision of on-site parking, as confirmed by the Council’s Highways Officer. The scheme
therefore accords with policy T4 of the LDP and the Council’s Parking Standards (August
2015). However, given the number of potential users of the building and the lack of limited
on-site parking facilities in accordance with the Sustainable Travel SPG, it is recommended
that a condition be attached requiring the submission of a travel plan which should aim to
encourage users to use sustainable forms of transport. A condition is imposed to require a
scheme for the management of the parking area to be submitted, given that the building is to
be occupied by a different occupier and so there is likely to be a need to alter its management.

8.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in
its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result
of the proposed decision.

8.2

Equality Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age;
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual
orientation; marriage and civil partnership.

8.3

Having due regard to advancing equality involves:
 removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected
characteristics;
 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ
from the need of other people; and
 encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

8.4

The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It
is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon persons who
share a protected characteristic, over and above any other person, as a result of the
Page 170
proposed decision.

8.5

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language)
Section 31 of the Act clarifies that impacts on the Welsh language may be a consideration
when taking decisions on applications for planning permission so far as it is material to the
application. This duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this
application. It is considered that there would be no material effect upon the use of the Welsh
language in Newport as a result of the proposed decision.

8.6

Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on public bodies to
carry out sustainable development in accordance with the sustainable development principle
to act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This duty has been
considered during the preparation of Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23, which was signed
off on 1 May 2018. The duty imposed by the Act together with the goals and objectives of
Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23 have been considered in the evaluation of this
application. It is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon
the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed decision.

9.
9.1

CONCLUSION
Having regard to the aforementioned policies of the LDP, it is concluded that the proposed
development would be acceptable with regards to amenity, impact on community facility and
highways, subject to a travel plan being submitted. It is therefore recommended that planning
permission is granted subject to conditions.

10.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS
01 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the following plans and
documents; Site Location Plan and Indicative Floor Plans dated 2020.
Reason: In the interests of clarity and to ensure the development complies with the submitted
plans and documents on which this decision was based
Pre –occupation conditions
02 Prior to first beneficial occupation of the property for the use hereby approved, a travel
plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The travel
plan shall be implemented as approved thereafter.
Reason: To promote sustainable forms of transport.
03 Prior to the beneficial occupation of the ground and first floors of the building as approved,
a scheme for the management of the car parking area shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The parking area shall be managed at all times
accordingly.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
NOTE TO APPLICANT
01 The development plan for Newport is the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 – 2026
(Adopted January 2015). Policies SP1, SP2, SP9, SP12, GP2, GP4, CE7, CF12 of the Local
Development Plan and the Sustainable Travel SPG T4 were relevant to the determination of
this application.
02 Due to the minor nature of the proposed development (including any demolition) and the
location of the proposed development, it is considered that the proposals did not need to be
screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations.
03 As of 1st October 2012 any connection to the public sewerage network (foul or surface
water sewerage) for the first time will require an adoption agreement with Dwr Cymru
Welsh Water. For further advice contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water on 01443 331155.

Page 171

6.
APPLICATION DETAILS
No:

20/1091

Ward:

Beechwood

Type:

Full Application

Expiry Date:

12th January 2021

Applicant:

C. Davies

Site:

68 Clevedon Road Newport NP19 8ND

Proposal:

PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION

Recommendation:

GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS

1.
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application is presented to planning committee as the applicant is a member of staff or
closely associated with a member of staff in the Regeneration, Investment and Housing
Service area.

1.2

The application seeks consent for the erection of a single storey extension to the rear of
no.68 Clevedon Road. The property is a detached dwelling located within the Beechwood
ward.

2.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY
97/0479

ERECTION OF SIDE EXTENSION AND LOFT
CONVERSION

GRANTED WITH
CONDITIONS

3.
3.1

POLICY CONTEXT
Policies GP2 (General Amenity) and GP6 (Quality of Design) of the Newport Local
Development Plan 2011 – 2026 (Adopted January 2015) are relevant to the determination of
this application. The House Extensions and Domestic Outbuildings Supplementary Planning
Guidance (adopted January 2020) is also relevant to the determination of this application.

4.
4.1

CONSULTATIONS
None.

5.
5.1

INTERNAL COUNCIL ADVICE
None.

6.
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS
NEIGHBOURS: All neighbours with a common boundary (4no properties) were consulted
and no comments were received.

7.
7.1

ASSESSMENT
The proposed single storey rear extension would measure a width of 3.445m, a depth of
2.921m, an eaves height of 2.8m and a ridge height of 3.6m and would be set in 0.4m from
the boundary. Both the walls of the extension and the roof would be finished in materials to
match the host dwelling. Fenestration would consist of white upvc doors and windows in the
rear elevation of the extension.

Page 172

7.2

The neighbouring property, no.70 Clevedon Road, is set at a lower level than the application
property. Notwithstanding this, the neighbouring property is set away from the boundary so
that the proposed extension would be located 6m from the dwelling itself. There are no
windows proposed in the side elevation of the extension facing toward the neighbouring
property. Therefore, it is considered that owing to its scale and location, the proposed single
storey rear extension would not result in a harmful impact on residential amenity by reason
of loss of light, overbearing impact and loss of privacy, in accordance with policy GP2.

7.3

The property currently benefits from a single storey extension on part of the rear elevation.
The proposed extension would be the same depth as the existing extension. The rear
elevation also contains ground and first floor bay windows. The ground floor bay window
would be removed in order for the proposed extension to be erected. The first floor bay would
remain, albeit be slightly reduced in scale in order to accommodate the extension below.
Whilst this relationship appears slightly awkward, as it is on the rear elevation and not readily
visible from public vantage points, it is considered that the proposed single storey rear
extension would not result in a harmful impact on visual amenity and would not detract from
the character and appearance of the host dwelling and surrounding streetscape.

8.
8.1

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in
its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result
of the proposed decision.

8.2

Equality Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age;
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual
orientation; marriage and civil partnership.

8.3

Having due regard to advancing equality involves:
 removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected
characteristics;
 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ
from the need of other people; and
 encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

8.4

The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It
is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon persons who
share a protected characteristic, over and above any other person, as a result of the
proposed decision.

8.5

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language)
Section 31 of the Act clarifies that impacts on the Welsh language may be a consideration
when taking decisions on applications for planning permission so far as it is material to the
application. This duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this
application. It is considered that there would be no material effect upon the use of the Welsh
language in Newport as a result of the proposed decision.

8.6

Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on public bodies to
carry out sustainable development in accordance with the sustainable development principle
to act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This duty has been
considered during the preparation of Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23, which was signed
off on 1 May 2018. The duty imposed by the Act together with the goals and objectives of
Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23 have been considered in the evaluation of this

Page 173

application. It is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon
the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed decision.

9.
9.1

CONCLUSION
By reason of its location, scale and design, it is considered that the proposed single storey
rear extension would not result in a harmful impact on visual and residential amenity and
would accord with policies GP2 and GP6 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 –
2026 (Adopted January 2015).

10.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS
01 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the following plans and
documents: Proposed Plans Drawing No.KD1776/2.
Reason: In the interests of clarity and to ensure the development complies with the
submitted plans and documents on which this decision was based
02 The external surfaces of the extension hereby permitted shall only be of materials to
match those of the existing building, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority.
Reason: To ensure the development is completed in a manner compatible with its
surroundings in accordance with policy GP6.
03 No window or door openings shall be formed in the side elevation of the single storey
rear extension hereby approved without the prior written permission of the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To protect the privacy and any perceived overlooking of adjoining residents in
accordance with policy GP2.
NOTE TO APPLICANT
01 This decision relates to plan Nos: Site Location Plan, Existing and Site Plans Drawing
No.LD1776/1 and Proposed Plans Drawing No.KD1776/2.
02 The development plan for Newport is the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 – 2026
(Adopted January 2015). Policies GP2 and GP6 were relevant to the determination of this
application.
03 As of 1st October 2012 any connection to the public sewerage network (foul or surface
water sewerage) for the first time will require an adoption agreement with Dwr Cymru
Welsh Water. For further advice contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water on 01443 331155.
04 Due to the minor nature of the proposed development (including any demolition) and the
location of the proposed development, it is considered that the proposals did not need to be
screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations.

Page 174

7.
APPLICATION DETAILS
No:

20/1096

Ward:

Caerleon

Type:

Full Application

Expiry Date:

19th January 2021

Applicant:

Sergeant

Site:

95 Trinity View Caerleon Newport South Wales NP18 3SW

Proposal:

PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION WITH ROOF TERRACE
AND ADDITION OF FIRST FLOOR ACCESS DOOR

Recommendation:

GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS

1.
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application is presented to planning committee as the applicant is closesly associated
with a member of staff in the Regeneration, Investment and Housing Service area.

1.2

The application seeks consent for the erection of a single storey side extension over the
existing lower ground floor level with a roof terrace and addition of a first floor access door.
The property is a three storey detached dwelling located within the Caerleon ward. The
extension would contain a new window in the front elevation and new patio doors in the side
elevation leading to a juliet balcony.

2.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY
No relevant site history.

3.
3.1

POLICY CONTEXT
Policies GP2 (General Amenity) and GP6 (Quality of Design) of the Newport Local
Development Plan 2011 – 2026 (Adopted January 2015) are relevant to the determination of
this application. The House Extensions and Domestic Outbuildings Supplementary Planning
Guidance (adopted January 2020) is also relevant to the determination of this application.

4.
4.1

CONSULTATIONS
None.

5.
5.1

INTERNAL COUNCIL ADVICE
None.

6.
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS
NEIGHBOURS: All neighbours with a common boundary and opposite (9no properties) were
consulted and no comments were received.

7.
7.1

ASSESSMENT
The property currently benefits from a single storey garage attached to the side of the
property with a roof terrace on top. The proposed scheme consists of building an additional
storey on top of the garage with a roof terrace on top of the extension. An additional first floor
door would need to be inserted in order
to provide
Page
175access to the roof terrace. The extension
itself would measure a depth of 6.05m, a width of 2.65m and a height of 3.15m which would

result in the side of the property having an overall height of 5.88m. A glass balustrade would
be installed around the roof terrace in its entirety and would measure a height of 0.94m. The
extension would be finished in brick to match the host dwelling.
5.2

The surrounding area is residential consisting of detached properties wrapping up and
around Trinity View. Balconies and raised roof terraces such as the one currently at the
property are common amongst properties surrounding the site. Due to the topography of the
site and the presence of raised balconies, there are elements of existing overlooking present
at the surrounding properties.

5.3

The properties opposite the application site are located at least 25m from the proposed
extension. The House Extensions and Domestic Outbuildings SPG states that ‘protected
windows that face one another should be at least 21m apart.’ Whilst not directly applicable,
the nature of the guidance could be applied here. It is considered that there is adequate
distance between the extension/roof terrace and neighbouring properties opposite to protect
privacy. The property adjacent to the site, no.97, is located 2.3m from the extension at its
closest and 6m at its furthest. The neighbouring property benefits from a raised roof terrace
off the front elevation. The property faces further south than the application property. The
existing roof terrace offers views toward the neighbour’s roof terrace, as such, it is not
considered that the proposed roof terrace, albeit a floor higher, would result in a harmful
impact on privacy over and above the existing situation. Notwithstanding this, the
neighbouring roof terrace, being located on the front elevation of the property, is highly visible
from the public highway offering limited privacy in any case. The neighbour’s have no
windows in the side elevation of the property. Overall, it is considered that the proposed
extension and roof terrace would not result in a harmful impact on residential amenity by
reason of loss of privacy, loss of light or overbearing impact.

5.4

The Council’s House Extensions and Domestic Outbuildings SPG states ‘a raised amenity
space should relate sympathetically to the existing building and the streetscape by virtue of
its size, design and materials.’ The extension is proposed to be finished in brick to match the
host dwelling. Whilst the property is at an elevated position from the road, and the
development is located to the side of the property, when travelling south east down Trinity
View the extension would not be visible and when travelling north west up Trinity View the
extension would only be partially visible until almost directly outside the dwelling. The area
benefits from detached properties of varying scale and design. As such, it is not considered
that the proposed extension and roof terrace would detract from the character of the property
and wider area. Therefore, it is not considered that the proposed development would result
in a harmful impact on visual amenity and would not detract from the character and
appearance of the property and wider streetscape.

8.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in
its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result
of the proposed decision.

8.2

Equality Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age;
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual
orientation; marriage and civil partnership.

8.3

Having due regard to advancing equality involves:
 removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected
characteristics;
 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ
from the need of other people; and

Page 176



encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

8.4

The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It
is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon persons who
share a protected characteristic, over and above any other person, as a result of the
proposed decision.

8.5

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language)
Section 31 of the Act clarifies that impacts on the Welsh language may be a consideration
when taking decisions on applications for planning permission so far as it is material to the
application. This duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this
application. It is considered that there would be no material effect upon the use of the Welsh
language in Newport as a result of the proposed decision.

8.6

Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on public bodies to
carry out sustainable development in accordance with the sustainable development principle
to act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This duty has been
considered during the preparation of Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23, which was signed
off on 1 May 2018. The duty imposed by the Act together with the goals and objectives of
Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23 have been considered in the evaluation of this
application. It is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon
the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed decision.

9.
9.1

CONCLUSION
By reason of its location, scale and design it is not considered that the proposed development
would result in a harmful impact on residential or visual amenity, in accordance with policies
GP2 and GP6 of the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 – 2026 (Adopted January 2015).

10.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS
01 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the following plans and
documents: Proposed Floor Plans and Proposed Elevations.
Reason: In the interests of clarity and to ensure the development complies with the
submitted plans and documents on which this decision was based
02 The external surfaces of the extensions hereby permitted shall only be of materials to
match those of the existing building.
Reason: To ensure the development is completed in a manner compatible with its
surroundings in accordance with policy GP6.
03 Prior to the first use of the roof terrace hereby approved, details of a 1.8m high privacy
screen to the rear of the terrace shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local
planning authority and shall be erected in accordance with the approved plans and retained
thereafter.
Reason: To protect the privacy of neighbouring occupiers in accordance with policy GP2.
NOTE TO APPLICANT
01 This decision relates to plan Nos: Location and Site Plan, Existing Floor Plans, Existing
Elevations, Proposed Floor Plans and Proposed Elevations.
02 The development plan for Newport is the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 – 2026
(Adopted January 2015). Policies GP2 and GP6 were relevant to the determination of this
application.

Page 177

03 As of 1st October 2012 any connection to the public sewerage network (foul or surface
water sewerage) for the first time will require an adoption agreement with Dwr Cymru
Welsh Water. For further advice contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water on 01443 331155.
04 Due to the minor nature of the proposed development (including any demolition) and the
location of the proposed development, it is considered that the proposals did not need to be
screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations.

8.
APPLICATION DETAILS
No:

20/0446

Ward:

St Julians

Type:

Full Application

Expiry Date:

11th January 2021

Applicant:

Ms J Jerman

Site:

20A East Usk Road Newport South Wales NP19 7AG

Proposal:

CONSTRUCTION OF A 2NO. BEDROOM HOUSE AND ASSOCIATED
WORKS (DEVELOPMENT PURSUANT TO PERMISSION 14/0997)

Recommendation: Refused
1.
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application seeks full planning permission for the construction of a two bedroom house
and associated works at 20A East Usk Road.

1.2

There is considerable planning history at the site and most recently a Certificate of lawfulness
(LDC) was refused. The LDC was applied for to demonstrate that a previous planning
permission for a new dwelling at the site had been implemented. However, as precommencement conditions had not been discharged, the application was refused and the
certificate was not issued.

1.3

The previous consent for a new dwelling has lapsed and there is no fall-back position at the
site.

1.4

The application is being considered by Planning Committee at the request of Councillor
Hourahine.

2.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY
03/1295

CONVERSION
OF
EXISTING
COMMERCIAL Granted
PROPERTY TO DOMESTIC DWELLING HOUSE
Conditions

with

11/0784

CONVERSION OF LOCK-UP TO A TWO BEDROOM Granted
RESIDENTIAL DWELLING
Conditions

with

14/0997

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING LOCK-UP BUILDING AND Granted
ERECTION OF A TWO BEDROOM DWELLING AND Conditions
ASSOCIATED
WORKS
(AMENDMENT
TO
PERMISSION 11/0784)

with

20/0240

CERTIFICATE
OF
LAWFUL
DEVELOPMENT
Page 178 IMPLEMENTATION
(EXISTING) TO DEMONSTRATE

Refused

OF PLANNING PERMISSION 14/0997 WITHIN 5 YEARS
OF DATE OF DECISION

3.
3.1

POLICY CONTEXT
Newport Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (Adopted January 2015):
Policy SP1 Sustainability favours proposals which make a positive contribution to sustainable
development.
Policy SP3 Flood Risk ensures development is directed away from flood risk areas.
Policy SP13 Planning Obligations enables contributions to be sought from developers that
will help deliver infrastructure which is necessary to support development.
Policy GP2 General Development Principles – General Amenity states that development will
not be permitted where it has a significant adverse effect on local amenity in terms of noise,
disturbance, overbearing, light, odours and air quality. Development will not be permitted
which is detrimental to the visual amenity. Proposals should seek to design out crime and
anti-social behaviour, promote inclusion and provide adequate amenity for future occupiers.
Policy GP4 General Development Principles – Highways and Accessibility states that
development should provide appropriate access for pedestrians, cyclists and public transport
along with appropriate car parking and cycle storage. Development should not be
detrimental to the highway, highway capacity or pedestrian safety and should be designed
to enhance sustainable forms of transport and accessibility.
Policy GP6 General Development Principles – Quality of Design states that good quality
design will be sought in all forms of development. In considering proposals, a number of
factors are listed which should be considered to ensure a good quality scheme is developed.
These include consideration of the context of the site; access, permeability and layout;
preservation and enhancement; scale and form of the development; materials and detailing;
and sustainability.
Policy GP7 General Development Principles – Environmental Protection and Public Health
states that development will not be permitted which would cause or result in unacceptable
harm to health.
Policy H4 Affordable Housing sets out the affordable housing targets for the four submarket
areas within Newport. For new housing sites of fewer than 10 dwellings within the settlement
boundary, and fewer than 3 dwellings within the village boundaries, a commuted sum will be
sought.
Policy T4 Parking states that development will be expected to provide appropriate levels of
parking.
Relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance
Parking Standards SPG
Planning Obligations SPG
New Dwellings SPG
Waste Storage and Collection SPG
Wildlife and Development SPG

4.
4.1

CONSULTATIONS
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES (NRW): We have significant concerns with the proposed
development as submitted. We recommend you should only grant planning permission if
the following requirements are met and you attach the following condition to the permission.
Otherwise, we would object to this planning application.
Requirement 1: A Flood Consequences Assessment (FCA) is required to demonstrate the
risks and consequences of flooding can be managed to an acceptable level.
Condition 1: Removal of relevant Permitted Development Rights to restrict development
that could compromise the integrity of the Flood Defence Wall or impede our access to
inspect, maintain and improve the Flood Defence Wall
Please inform us, in accordance with paragraph 11.7 of TAN15, if you are minded to grant
permission for the application contraryPage
to our advice.
179

4.2

DWR CYMRU – WELSH WATER: We can confirm capacity exists within the public sewerage
network in order to receive the domestic foul only flows from the proposed development site.
Surface Water Drainage: The proposed development may be subject to Schedule 3 of the
Flood and Water Management Act 2010. The development therefore may require approval
of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) features, in accordance with national standards,
and is strongly recommended that the developer engage in pre-application consultation with
the Local Authority, as the relevant SuDS Approval Body (SAB). Should it be determined that
SAB consent is not required, we request that if you are minded to grant Planning Consent
for the above development that the following Conditions and Advisory Notes listed below are
included within the consent to ensure no detriment to existing residents or the environment
and to Dwr Cymru Welsh Water's assets.
Condition: No surface water shall be allowed to connect, either directly or indirectly, to the
public sewerage system unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to
protect the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no detriment to the
environment.

5.
5.1

INTERNAL COUNCIL ADVICE
HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (HIGHWAYS): Highways do not object to the application.
The proposed development provides sufficient pedestrian and vehicular access and
parking, as seen on drawing No 705/02 rev B. For Information Planning permission
does not give a right to excavate in the highway. The applicant will have to apply for
permission to create the vehicle crossing over the footway.

5.2

PUBLIC PROTECTION MANAGER: I refer to the above application passed to the Noise
and Neighbourhood Team for comment. I have no objections to the above planning
application.

5.3

HEAD OF STREETSCENE (ECOLOGY OFFICER): Due to the position and current
condition of the site, I would agree with the original position that subject to appropriate
control of construction methods/timing and lighting, no further information to inform the
application.
However, since the 2014 application, the need for all developments to provide net benefit
for biodiversity has been strengthened in the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 (Section 6
Biodiversity Duty), Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, 2018) and subsequent advice issued
by WG (Dear CPO letter, dated 23rd October 2019). Significant weight can be given to the
absence of biodiversity enhancements and recent PINS decisions have upheld lack of
biodiversity enhancements as an acceptable reason for refusal. If the application is refused
I recommend that you consider this as an additional reason for refusal of the current
application.

5.4

HEAD OF CITY SERVICES (WASTE MANAGER): We anticipate the property will be
serviced by kerbside provision of waste and recycling collections.

6.
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS
NEIGHBOURS: Properties with a common boundary and opposite were consulted (5no
properties) and a site notice was displayed. No response received.

6.2

COUNCILLOR HOURAHINE: I would request that it be determined by the Planning
Committee because of:
1. The long history of applications for this site.
2. The complex nature of the previous refusal for planning.
3. The precedent that may be established causing planning blight for areas in my constituency
and have consequences for other areas of the City.
4. The reasons cited by Mr Bowkett as agent for the applicant.

7.
7.1

ASSESSMENT
The site was previously occupied by a commercial lock-up which stood adjacent to 20 East
Pagedwelling.
180 Planning permission was granted under
Usk Road which is an end-of terrace

11/0784 for the conversion of the property to a dwelling. That permission was not
implemented and in 2014 planning permission was granted for the demolition of the lock-up
building and the erection of a dwelling.
7.2

Given the location of the site within the urban boundary and being residential in character,
the main considerations of this application are design, impact on neighbouring amenity and
highways considerations. The site is directly adjacent to the river Usk and within flood zone
C1 and therefore flood risk is also a key consideration.

7.3

The design of the proposed dwelling sought under this application is the same as previously
granted under 14/0997. It was noted under that application that the property would be broadly
of the same scale and design as the existing lock up building with the ridge height the same
as the adjoining property. The internal layout would comprise a lounge/dining room at ground
floor with a single storey rear annex accommodating a kitchen. The property would have two
en-suite bedrooms at first floor. A bay window is proposed to the side elevation at ground
floor and a first floor balcony is proposed to the side elevation to take advantage of the views
over the river. A vehicle hard-standing to the side of the property would provide space for
two cars and a bin storage area. The property would be served by an adequately sized rear
garden. Whilst the façade of the property would not be strictly in keeping with neighbouring
properties in terms of the arrangements of windows, it was considered that in view of the run
down appearance of the lock up that previously occupied the site, the proposals are
considered to represent an improvement in the visual amenity of the area.

7.4

The proposals would not result in an overbearing impact or overlooking of neighbouring
windows or gardens and are acceptable in terms of neighbouring amenity.

7.5

2no off-street parking spaces would be provided to the side of the property and the Head of
City Services has confirmed no objections are offered. Suitable refuse storage would be
provided in the garden of the property.

7.6

The Council’s Ecology officer has advised that whilst no objection is offered to the
proposals subject to control of timings and construction methods, since the 2014
application, the need for all developments to provide net benefit for biodiversity has been
strengthened in the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 (Section 6 Biodiversity Duty), Planning
Policy Wales (Edition 10, 2018) and subsequent advice issued by WG (Dear CPO letter,
dated 23rd October 2019). The proposals lack suitable enhancement details and whilst the
comments of the Ecology officer are duly noted, it is considered that if planning permission
were forthcoming such enhancement, which is proportionate to the scale and nature of the
development, could be required by condition.

7.7

The application proposes highly vulnerable development (new dwelling). NRW advise that
Flood Risk Map confirms the site to be within Zone C1 of the Development Advice Map
(DAM) contained in TAN15 and the 1% (1 in 100 year) and 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) annual
probability fluvial flood outlines and 0.5% (1 in 200 year) and 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) annual
probability tidal flood outline of the River Usk.

7.8

TAN 15 Tests
Section 6.2 of TAN 15 refers specifically to justifying the location of development and that
such development should only be permitted within zone C1 if determined by the planning
authority to be justified in that location and demonstrated that:
i)
ii)

Its location in zone C is necessary to assist, or be part of, a local authority
regeneration initiative or a local authority strategy required to sustain an existing
settlement; or
It location in zone C is necessary to contribute to key employment objectives
supported by the local authority, and other key partners to sustain an existing
settlement or region;

and,
iii)

It concurs with the aims of PPW
and meets
Page
181the definition of previously developed land
(PPW fig 2.1); and

iv)

The potential consequences of a flooding event for the particular type of development
have been considered, and in terms of the criteria contained in sections 5 and 6 and
appendix 1 found to be acceptable.

For the purposes of this report, criterion (i) to (iii) are referred to as Test 1 as this relates to
the site justification and criterion (iv) which has a number of tests is referred to as Tests 2 to
12.
7.9

Test 1 – Justification
Its location in zone C is necessary to assist, or be part of, a local authority regeneration
initiative or a local authority strategy required to sustain an existing settlement
Located within the settlement boundary, Officers consider that the development is necessary
as part of a local authority strategy required to sustain an existing settlement.

7.10

It concurs with the aims of PPW and meets the definition of previously developed land
(PPW fig 2.1)
PPW defines previously developed land as:
Previously developed land is that which is or was occupied by a permanent structure
(excluding agricultural or forestry buildings) and associated fixed surface infrastructure. The
curtilage of the development is included, as are defence buildings, and land used for mineral
extraction and waste disposal where provision for restoration has not been made through
development management procedures.
The proposal satisfies this test.

7.11

Tests 2 to 12 – Consequences of Flooding

7.12

It is for the applicant to demonstrate through submission of an FCA, that the potential
consequences of flooding can be managed to an acceptable level. The application is not
supported by a Flood Consequence Assessment. It is therefore not possible to assess the
proposal under the TAN 15 justification framework. NRW advise that they would object to the
proposals in the absence of a flood consequence assessment.

7.13

NRW note the email dated the 16/06/2020 submitted as supporting information, in which
the applicant’s agent states that a FCA is not required due to the Flood Defence Wall
(FDW). However, the FDW is designed to protect against flooding during a 0.5% annual
probability tidal flood event with a 50 year allowance for climate change. TAN15 and
Welsh Government clarification letter of 23 August 2016 (ref. CL-03-16) requires new
residential development to be designed flood free during a 0.5% annual probability
flood event with a 100 year allowance for climate change, i.e. the proposed site should
be flood free during the predicted 0.5% tidal event for the year 2120. Therefore, the FDW
is not designed to protect the new dwelling over its lifetime.

7.14

The proposed dwelling and associated development is directly adjacent to the Flood Defence
Wall (FDW). NRW advise it is essential that the integrity of the FDW is not compromised and
it remains accessible in the future for inspection, maintenance and improvement purposes.
NRW would have concerns over any further development which could impede their access
to inspect, maintain and improve the FDW in the future. As such, to ensure there are no
permanent structures located within 2 metres of the brick face of the wall NRW advise that
permitted development rights be removed if planning permission is forthcoming.

7.15

It is noted that Councillor Hourahine has raised concerns that the refusal of the application
may set a precedent resulting in planning blight for areas that are in flood zones. However,
every application must be considered on its own merits having regard to the nature of the
development and the risks. The location of a site within a flood risk area does not mean
that planning permission will automatically be refused. Planning permission was recently
182which is within close proximity to this site and
granted for nine new dwellings onPage
Bath Street

within Flood zone C1. In that instance the application was accompanied by a Flood
Consequence Assessment and no objection was raised by NRW. In this instance there is
no FCA and the risks are unknown and there is no evidence that any such risks can be
acceptably managed. This is a material consideration to be given significant weight as the
proposal is for highly vulnerable development thereby putting life and property at significant
potential risk.
The failure to provide a Flood Consequences Assessment is reason alone to refuse
permission in this case and whilst location and site history have been considered they do
not outweigh this objection.
7.16

Section 106 Planning Obligation matters
Summary
In accordance with Policy SP13 of the adopted Newport Local Development Plan 20112026 and the adopted Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Guidance,
development will be required to help deliver more sustainable communities by providing, or
making contributions to, local and regional infrastructure in proportion to its scale and the
sustainability of the location. In this case, section 106 planning obligations are required to
mitigate the impact of the development in accordance with the table below.
Service
Area that
requires
planning
obligation

Purpose of
planning
obligation

Planning obligation
initially sought by
Planning Authority

Summary Heads of
Terms agreed by
applicant(s)

Viability
Issues?

Regeneration
Investment
and Housing

Commuted
contribution of
£667 for
affordable
housing
provision
based on a
20% target

Not applicable

Full Heads of Terms
agreed

No

Heads of Terms Agreed by Applicant
The applicant has confirmed that they agree in full to the above Heads of Terms. Whilst the
applicant has agreed in full to the Heads of Terms no signed legal agreement has been
provided for the commuted sum contribution. This would ordinarily be dealt with by a Section
106 Legal Agreement if planning permission were forthcoming. However, Dear Chief
Planning Officer letter of December 2018 advised that LPAs should consider including the
lack of an obligation as a reason for refusal in order to avoid appellants seeking an award of
costs on the grounds that the LPA has introduced a new reason for refusal at the appeal
stage.
8.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in
its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result
of the proposed decision.

8.2

Equality Act 2010

Page 183

The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age;
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual
orientation; marriage and civil partnership.
8.3

Having due regard to advancing equality involves:
 removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected
characteristics;
 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ
from the need of other people; and
 encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

8.4

The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It
is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon persons who
share a protected characteristic, over and above any other person, as a result of the
proposed decision.

8.5

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language)
Section 31 of the Act clarifies that impacts on the Welsh language may be a consideration
when taking decisions on applications for planning permission so far as it is material to the
application. This duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this
application. It is considered that there would be no material effect upon the use of the Welsh
language in Newport as a result of the proposed decision.

8.6

Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on public bodies to
carry out sustainable development in accordance with the sustainable development principle
to act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This duty has been
considered during the preparation of Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23, which was signed
off on 1 May 2018. The duty imposed by the Act together with the goals and objectives of
Newport’s Well-Being Plan 2018-23 have been considered in the evaluation of this
application. It is considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon
the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed decision.

9.
9.1

CONCLUSION
The redevelopment of the site for residential purposes is not objected to in principle and has
merit given the urban location of the site and its former commercial use. However, the site is
within a flood risk area. The nature of the proposed use is highly vulnerable residential
accommodation and the application is not supported by a Flood Consequence Assessment.
Therefore the risks of flooding are unknown and there is no evidence they can be acceptably
managed. This is contrary to national and local planning policy and in a plan led system, this
factor is a significant objection. Furthermore, there is no fall-back use at the site and given
the location which is directly adjacent to the river, the speed of inundation is likely to be fast.
Natural Resources Wales has objected to the proposals in the absence of this information
and must be notified if the application is granted against their recommendation.

9.2

Whilst the applicant has agreed in full to the Heads of Terms no signed legal agreement has
been provided for the commuted sum contribution.

9.3

It is therefore recommended that the application is refused.

10.

RECOMMENDATION
REFUSED
01 The development has a significant adverse effect on interests of acknowledged
importance, namely safety and residential amenity, by increasing risk to occupiers and their
property in an area at risk from flooding. No information has been submitted that mitigates
this objection, contrary to Policy SP3 of the Local Development Plan for Newport 2011-

Page 184

2026 (Adopted January 2015) and Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk
(TAN15) (July 2004).

02 The proposed development will have a significant adverse impact upon interests of
acknowledged importance, namely affordable housing. No signed legal agreement has
been provided for the commuted sum contribution to assist the Council in meeting its ongoing requirement for affordable housing. This is contrary to Policy H4 of the Newport Local
Development Plan 2011 – 2026 (Adopted January 2015).
NOTE TO APPLICANT
01 This decision relates to plan Nos: 705/02B, 705/04A.
02 The development plan for Newport is the Newport Local Development Plan 2011 – 2026
(Adopted January 2015). Policies Policy SP1, SP3, SP13, GP2, GP4, GP6, GP7, H4 and T4
were relevant to the determination of this application.
03 As of 1st October 2012 any connection to the public sewerage network (foul or surface
water sewerage) for the first time will require an adoption agreement with Dwr Cymru
Welsh Water. For further advice contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water on 01443 331155.
04 The proposed development (including any demolition) has been screened under the
Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations and it is considered that an Environmental
Statement is not required.

Page 185

This page is intentionally left blank

APPLICATION DETAILS
No:

19/1212

Ward:

Type:

Full

Expiry Date:

6TH MAY 2021

Applicant:

EMYR DAVIES, REDROW

Caerleon

University Of Wales College Newport College Crescent Caerleon
Newport NP18 3NS

Site:

Proposal:

PARTIAL DEMOLITION, REFURBISHMENT AND CONVERSION OF MAIN
BUILDING TO 44 FLATS, CONVERSION OF TJ WEBLY BUILDING TO
2NO. DWELLINGS, CONVERSION OF TY HYWEL BUILDING TO 2NO.
RESIDENTIAL UNITS (1 FLAT AND 1 HOUSE), CONVERSION OF
FELTHORPE TO 1NO. DWELLING, DEMOLITION OF OTHER EXISTING
BUILDINGS AND CONSTRUCTION OF 170 NO. DWELLINGS, OPEN
SPACE, LANDSCAPING, ENGINEERING AND INFRASTRUCTURE
WORKS TO INCLUDE RETENTION OF LISTED GATE PIERS

1.

LATE REPRESENTATIONS

1.1

NEIGHBOUR RESPONSE: 9 late representations have been received objecting to the
proposal for the following reasons:


Pollution and air quality within the one way system – the development will make this worse;
Infrastructure constraints notably traffic impacts and narrow roads. The development will
add additional traffic and risk;



Extremely more concerning are the level of pollutants at Children’s height . Children
between the ages of three to eleven that attend school on the very same street. Where
large amounts of HGVs pound the narrow ( 10 foot wide in parts) street, together with
domestic traffic. Twice a day they, and residents are exposed to congestion of up to forty
minutes for the school run. Also times of double parking and church ceremonies. The width
between road and school yard where they assemble, play and have games, being a mere
pavement away;



The route for construction traffic has come to light of late. Using College Glade, Eastfield
Road, Anthony Drive and Lodge Road is unacceptable due to pollution factors. HGVs
making use of residential streets will impact public health and public safety.



Pollution levels are already above government targets in Caerleon’s Air Quality
Management Area and are breaching targets for nitrogen dioxide levels. This area being
close to the play area of a primary school makes it even more important to drastically
reduce traffic. Having additional daily journeys will exacerbate this as more expensive
electric cars are not a consideration for most.



It has been too early to evaluate the impact of extra traffic due to the opening of the Grange
a hospital. Staff have been asked to use the dual carriageway thus obviating the need to
use the already overused bridge in Caerleon and the over-polluted High Street. Drivers are
very likely to use the most convenient route which may well be through Caerleon.



Traffic levels in Caerleon are high already. As examples there is heavy traffic daily on the
bridge and banking up Belmont Hill.



Health services are already stretched and there is often a wait of three weeks gap for a GP
appointment. Were the practice to expand there is no guarantee that a GP could be
recruited.

Page 187



Having so many new houses in the area will impact local schools where it would seem that
capacity is already a cause for concern.



With the high profile given to the tragic death of Ella Kissi-Debrah and the landmark ruling
confirming that her health was damaged by pollution from vehicles, AND the fact that
Newport City Council has already refused a planning application for residential
development at the Campus (because of the impact on peoples’ health from the extra traffic
generated), I would find it shocking if you were to now approve it.



To re-route lorries through the estate seems a very retrograde step. The roads are barely
wide enough for cars and this will lead to hold-ups and congestion. I cannot believe that
lorries polluting the air are to be re-routed through a residential area. Apart for the air
pollution the danger to children is immense, these are estate roads not main thoroughfares.
This will lead to traffic queues right through the estate, we will constantly be reversing to
allow lorries through, College Glade will be impassable, there is nowhere on the estate that
two lorries or vans can pass, and with more food deliveries being needed there are more
delivery vans on the estate at present.



Caerleon is over-developed as it is and cannot support any further housing, the access to
the village is very limited and at busy times I fear that Emergency vehicles could not get
through the village. The narrowness of the roads and the bridge cannot support any more
traffic without destroying the ethos of the village. This will devalue the area and existing
properties.



The proposed HGV route for access to the site shows a total lack of concern for
environmental issues. Apparently, rather than change traffic flow along College Crescent to
a two way system for the duration of the build it is proposed that the heavy lorries take a
long diversion along College Glade, Anthony Drive, Lodge Hill and Lodge Road to reach
the site.The proposed route also passes a school. This extra journey is burning more fossil
fuels and unnecessarily increasing air pollution to a large area of Caerleon. The proposed
route is using roads not intended for large amounts of HGVs. There have been numerous
accidents and these will increase with the extra volume of traffic and also with the size of
the vehicles involved.



It was obvious from the location of the poorly organised initial Consultation meeting held by
Redrow at Newport High School Old Boys Rugby Club that the company had little regard
for Caerleon and its residents and their main concern was to maximise profits. This
outrageous plan to divert HGVs through a residential housing estate must not be allowed to
happen.



Has the proposed route via College Glade and the Lodge been surveyed and a report on
its suitability been undertaken?



If so, has it been published and made available to those residents affected ?



Was this route suggested by Redrow and accepted by the local authority without due
diligence?



Has the environmentally alternative route from Ponthir Road into College Crescent been
considered or did Redrow not want this route to be considered ?



Until full and open disclosure is made available to residents I feel that no decisions should
be made at the imminent planning meeting.



However, with regard to the HGV route, I would ask you if it is acceptable for large lorries to
be taking this route for six years, not only damaging the wellbeing of people who live in the
250 homes alongside 1.3 miles of affected roads, but also the additional 598 properties on
adjoining streets that have to drive on these roads to leave or return to their homes?



There is a straightforward alternative, which would only impact on 3 properties that
exist on a residential unclassified road, and covers approximately twenty meters.
Page
Surely, a solution that is infinitely
more188
equitable than what is proposed?



With reference to the map below, the proposed route is the blue line. What I consider is a
more viable alternative is to utilize the small area of road denoted by a red mark ie College
Crescent between College Road and Ponthir Road (which is a B Class road, and therefore
acceptable for use by large HGVs).




This small stretch of roadway would need to be made ‘two-way’ for the period of
construction. Hardly unsurmountable, I would have thought?



The fact that College Crescent is currently ‘one way’ seems to be the only justification for
not considering it as an alternative way to take HGVs into and away from the Campus.



Why is this obvious solution being so readily overlooked?? Why is it deemed
acceptable to inconvenience thousands of residents on the Lodge in preference to a
handful who live on College Crescent??



any alleged reductions in pollution levels and traffic volume over the past 12
months, have been falsely deflated, and as such should be disregarded. It should
also be noted, that ironically, the fact that the University has been closed for several years,
will have reduced the amount of traffic in Caerleon and hence pollution levels in the area for

Page 189

the time it has been closed. Opening the site up again for any new development, but
especially houses will only reverse any such benefits.


The suggestion that putting electric car chargers at each house on the site is a benefit and
has any significant merit at all is insulting our intelligence, and nothing more than window
dressing – if the residents don’t have all electric cars what difference will that make? None.



It should be noted that the proposed plans actually add a further health and safety concern,
as the new proposed traffic route is dangerous. The College Glade route through to the
Lodge estate to either the Lodge Road entrance or re-opening the Belling Close entrance is
not practical, and actually dangerous. Moreover, it would appear that the Newport planning
officers have no understanding of the area, as this route has always been deemed
unsuitable for buses, so how can it now magically be suitable for the huge lorries, and other
construction traffic when residential cars struggle to get through?



To describe such proposals as “not ideal” shows total and utter disregard for the health and
safety of local residents, seeming to consider nothing more than shifting additional pollution
levels by merely looking at a map of the area. In fact, the actual proposal of such an
unsuitable traffic route via College Glade, is in itself an acknowledgment of the
inevitable adverse affect on pollution levels that such a development would cause if
the plans were to be passed. Rather than alleviating the problem, this proposal would
simply create another pollution hotspot in Caerleon on College Glade and Lodge estates.
Because, regardless of whichever road is used to take traffic to the building site, increased
air pollution will be the inevitable effect. And, what about the inevitable resulting noise
pollution? Passing these plans would be an affront to the right of local residents to
clean air, and as such, the council and especially the planning committee would be
complicit in endangering the health of its citizens.

2.

OFFICER RESPONSE TO LATE REPRESENTATIONS

2.1

This proposal differs to the proposal previously refused. It is for significantly fewer
residential units and excludes commercial development.
Traffic and air quality
assessments in relation to the new proposal show negligible effects on traffic and air quality
considerations having regard to an agreed fallback position. This includes consideration of
the AQMA in Caerleon for operational traffic. No objections are raised by the Head of City
Services or the Public Protection Manager on traffic capacity, highway safety and air
quality/health grounds.

2.2

The construction route forms part of the application proposal and details of it are included
within the Construction Environmental Management Plan. Swept path analysis has shown
it to be appropriate for a 16.5m articulated lorry in terms of technical highway assessment.
However, officers do consider that appropriate conditional controls are required in relation
to construction traffic routing matters and have further considered the wording of the
condition in the published agenda and hereby recommend some minor changes to it. A
revised condition is included below.

2.3

With reference to the alternative construction route off College Crescent, this does not form
part of the proposals and cannot be imposed upon the applicants. It would require a
change to Traffic Orders, a matter regulated by the Head of City Services and not the Local
Planning Authority. Officers consider the proposed route acceptable subject to conditions.
The Head of City Services has considered this alternative route and has confirmed that it is
not acceptable from a technical highway perspective in any case. It would require changes
to traffic orders/signage, which would need to form part of separate Highway Legal
Agreement and does not form part of this application; There is poor visibility to the South
East of the junction of College Crescent/Lodge Road; vehicles turning left from College
Crescent onto Ponthir Road will come directly into conflict with oncoming vehicles due
the narrowness, or indeed perceived narrowness, of this part of Ponthir Road; Whilst right
turning manoeuvres from Ponthir Road into College Crescent may be possible, left turn
manoeuvres into College Crescent may be problematic due to the topography of the
junction; A short term change such
as this190
will have a considerable impact on the way that
Page

vehicles travel around Caerleon. The Highways Officer considers that this could result in
driver error due to historic understanding of the one way system.

View of Ponthir Road/College Crescent junction when approaching from the north.
2.4

In officer view the use of this junction for HGV traffic is not appropriate and not a suitable or
acceptable alternative. Any change to well established one way traffic systems will
invariably cause confusion particularly as the arrangement is short term and only to suit a
specific development and type of vehicle (i.e. construction). Notwithstanding, this does not
form part of the application being considered and cannot be secured. The Local Planning
Authority has no power or legal authority to require a change in the highway network such
as this. There is no demonstrable and significant adverse effects arising from the proposed
construction route and all evidence provided and assessed confirms the route is
appropriate. There is no technical evidence that indicates otherwise. There are no plans to
open up a vehicular or construction access off Bellin Close. The construction route
proposed includes large sections used by bus routes at present. Buses are between 9 and
11m long. All other matters raised in the late representations received are considered in
the published officer report.

3.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

3.1

GRANTED WITH CONDITIONS SUBJECT TO A S106 AGREEMENT

WITH DELEGATED POWER TO REFUSE THE APPLICATION IF
THE S106 AGREEMENT IS NOT SIGNED WITHIN 4 MONTHS OF
THE COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION TO GRANT PLANNING
PERMISSION
Revised condition 30
No more than 44 one way HGV movements per week or 8 one way HGV movements per
day – Monday to Saturday only (whichever is the lower figure) will use the construction
vehicle route hereby approved in association
with191
this development. This shall include all
Page
such vehicles, including those associated with demolition, site preparation, construction

and associated activities required by the development. For the purposes of this condition
the largest HGV vehicle permissible along the route will be a 6 axle articulated lorry of no
more than 16.5m length and no more than 5 one way movements of this type of vehicle
will be allowed along the route in any calendar week – Monday to Saturday only. All
construction, delivery and demolition related vehicles shall only use the route in
accordance with the Construction Environmental Management Plan (revision G) that
supports this application and the time, day and route restrictions contained therein. No
construction, site preparation or demolition traffic shall travel through the Air Quality
Management Area of Caerleon or access site via College Crescent.
Reason: To safeguard residential amenity, human health and highway safety and in
accordance with policy SP1, GP2 and GP4 of the adopted Local Development Plan.

Page 192

APPLICATION DETAILS
No:

20/0705

Ward:

Graig

Type:

Full Application

Expiry Date:

29TH SEPTEMBER 2020 EXTENDED 19TH JANUARY 2021

Applicant:

C HALFORD WELSH AMBULANCE NHS SERVICE TRUST C/O AGENT

Site:

Lyndon Bassett Funeral Directors Park View Bassaleg Newport South Wales

Proposal:

DEMOLITION OF FORMER MORTUARY AND CHANGE OF USE FROM MORTUARY
TO ADDITIONAL VEHICLE PARKING FOR ANCILLARY USE BY THE EXISTING
AMBULANCE STATION

1.

LATE REPRESENTATIONS

1.1

Consultation response received as follows
GRAIG COMMUNITY COUNCIL: No objections

2.

OFFICER RESPONSE TO LATE REPRESENTATIONS

2.1

It is considered that the proposal remains acceptable.

3.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

3.1

The recommendation remains to grant with conditions.

Page 193

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5.

Report
Appeal Decisions
Part 1
Date:

6th January 2021

Item No:

Insert item number here

Subject

Appeal Decisions

Purpose

To record the outcome of recent planning appeals

Author

Head of Regeneration, Investment and Housing

Wards

Caerleon, Liswerry and St Julians

Summary In consultation with the Chair or Deputy Chair of Planning Committee, the Acting Head of
Regeneration, Investment and Housing has delegated powers to determine planning
applications previously determined by Planning Committee. The following planning
appeal decisions are reported to help inform future decisions.

Proposal

To accept the appeal decisions as a basis for informing future decisions.

Action by Development and Regeneration Manager
Timetable Not applicable
This report was prepared without consultation because it is a record of recent planning
appeals to help inform future decisions.

Page 195

Background
The reports contained in this schedule provide information on recent appeal decisions.
The purpose of the attached reports is to inform future decision-making. This will help ensure that future
decisions benefit the City and its communities by allowing good quality development in the right locations
and resisting inappropriate or poor quality development in the wrong locations.
The applicant has a statutory right of appeal against the refusal of permission in most cases. There is no
Third Party right of appeal against a decision.
Work is carried out by existing staff and there are no staffing issues. It is sometimes necessary to employ
a Barrister to act on the Council’s behalf in defending decisions at planning appeals. This cost is met by
existing budgets. Where an application is refused against Officer advice, during this interim arrangement,
the Acting Head of Regeneration, Investment and Housing, along with the Chair/Deputy Chair of Planning
Committee will be required to assist in defending their decision at appeal.
Where applicable as planning considerations, specific issues relating to sustainability and environmental
issues, equalities impact and crime prevention impact of each proposed development are addressed in
the relevant report in the attached schedule.
Financial Summary
The cost of defending decisions at appeal is met by existing budgets. Costs can be awarded against the
Council at an appeal if the Council has acted unreasonably and/or cannot defend its decisions. Similarly,
costs can be awarded in the Council’s favour if an appellant has acted unreasonably and/or cannot
substantiate their grounds of appeal.
Risks
The key risk relating to appeal decisions relates to awards of costs against the Council.
An appeal can be lodged by the applicant if planning permission is refused, or if planning permission is
granted but conditions are imposed, or against the Council’s decision to take formal enforcement action.
Costs can be awarded against the Council if decisions cannot be defended as reasonable, or if it behaves
unreasonably during the appeal process, for example by not submitting required documents within
required timescales. Conversely, costs can be awarded in the Council’s favour if the appellant cannot
defend their argument or behaves unreasonably.
An appeal can also be lodged by the applicant if the application is not determined within the statutory time
period. However, with major developments, which often require a Section 106 agreement, it is unlikely
that the application will be determined within the statutory time period. Appeals against non-determination
are rare due to the further delay in receiving an appeal decision: it is generally quicker for applicants to
wait for the Planning Authority to determine the application. Costs could only be awarded against the
Council if it is found to have acted unreasonably. Determination of an application would only be delayed
for good reason, such as resolving an objection or negotiating improvements or Section 106 contributions,
and so the risk of a costs award is low.
Mitigation measures to reduce risk are detailed in the table below. The probability of these risks occurring
is considered to be low due to the mitigation measures, however the costs associated with a public inquiry
can be very significant. These are infrequent, so the impact is considered to be medium.

Page 196

Risk

Decisions
challenged at
appeal and
costs awarded
against the
Council.

Impact of
Risk if it
occurs*
(H/M/L)
M

Probability
of risk
occurring
(H/M/L)
L

What is the Council doing or
what has it done to avoid the
risk or reduce its effect

Who is responsible
for dealing with the
risk?

Ensure reasons for refusal can
be defended at appeal;

Head of RIH with
Chair/Deputy of
Planning
Committee

Ensure planning conditions
imposed meet the tests set out
in Circular 016/2014.

Head of RIH with
Chair/Deputy of
Planning
Committee

Provide guidance to Head of
RIH/Chair/Deputy of Planning
Committee regarding relevant
material planning
considerations, conditions and
reasons for refusal.

Development
Services Manager
and Senior Legal
Officer

Ensure appeal timetables are
adhered to.

Planning Officers

Appeal lodged M
L
Avoid delaying the
against nondetermination of applications
determination,
unreasonably.
with costs
awarded
against the
Council
* Taking account of proposed mitigation measures

Development
Services Manager

Links to Council Policies and Priorities
Not applicable. This report is a record of decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate and/or Welsh
Ministers.
Options Available
To accept the appeal decisions as a basis for informing future decisions.
Preferred Option and Why
To accept the appeal decisions as a basis for informing future decisions.

Comments of Chief Financial Officer
In the normal course of events, there should be no specific financial implications arising from the
determination of planning applications.

Page 197

There is always a risk of a planning decision being challenged at appeal. The costs of defending decisions
and any award of costs must be met by existing budgets.

Comments of Monitoring Officer
There are no legal implications other than those referred to in the report or detailed above.

Staffing Implications: Comments of Head of People and Business Change
Development Management work is undertaken by an in-house team and therefore there are no staffing
implications arising from this report. Officer recommendations have been based on adopted planning
policy which aligns with the Single Integrated Plan and the Council’s Corporate Plan objectives.
Local issues
Not applicable. This report is a record of decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate and/or Welsh
Ministers.

Equalities Impact Assessment and the Equalities Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 contains a Public Sector Equality Duty which came into force on 06 April 2011. The
Act identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age; disability; gender reassignment;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation; marriage and civil partnership.
The new single duty aims to integrate consideration of equality and good relations into the regular business
of public authorities. Compliance with the duty is a legal obligation and is intended to result in better
informed decision-making and policy development and services that are more effective for users. In
exercising its functions, the Council must have due regard to the need to: eliminate unlawful discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and other conduct that is prohibited by the Act; advance equality of opportunity
between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do not; and foster good relations
between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. The Act is not overly
prescriptive about the approach a public authority should take to ensure due regard, although it does set
out that due regard to advancing equality involves: removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by
people due to their protected characteristics; taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected
groups where these differ from the need of other people; and encouraging people from protected groups
to participate in public life or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low.
An Equality Impact Assessment for delivery of the Development Management service has been
completed and can be viewed on the Council’s website.

Children and Families (Wales) Measure
Not applicable. This report is a record of decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate and/or Welsh
Ministers.

Consultation
Not applicable. This report is a record of decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate and/or Welsh
Ministers.

Background Papers
Not applicable

Dated: 6th January 2021

Page 198

Reference
Address
Development
Appellant
Officer Decision
Committee Decision
Appeal Decision

Reference
Address
Development
Appellant
Officer Decision
Committee Decision
Appeal Decision

Reference
Address
Development
Appellant
Officer Decision
Committee Decision
Appeal Decision

Planning Application Appeal
19/1273
100 Caerleon Road, Newport, NP19 7GZ
Retention of use of dwelling as 6 bed HMO
Mr N. Petersen
Refuse
N/A
Allowed
Planning Application Appeal
19/0970
Cefn y Gelli, Belmont Hill, Caerleon, Newport,
NP18 1JX
Retention of two retaining walls to rear of property
Mr M. Thomas
Refuse
N/A
Allowed

Planning Application Appeal
20/0459
Land and buildings formerly known as Coal Yard,
to Southwest of 1 Hathaway Street, Newport
2No. semidetached 2No. bedroom houses with
associated parking and amenity space
Ms. R. Stewart
Refuse
N/A
Dismissed

Page 199

This page is intentionally left blank

